JMIR Cancer

Impact Factor (2024): 3.3 Volume 7 (2021), Issue 2 ISSN 2369-1999 Editor in Chief: Naomi Cahill, PhD, RD

Contents

Original Papers

XSL•F0 RenderX

Digital Biomarkers of Symptom Burden Self-Reported by Perioperative Patients Undergoing Pancreatic Surgery: Prospective Longitudinal Study (e27975)	
Carissa Low, Meng Li, Julio Vega, Krina Durica, Denzil Ferreira, Vernissia Tam, Melissa Hogg, Herbert Zeh III, Afsaneh Doryab, Anind Dey 3	
Virtual Mind-Body Programming for Patients With Cancer During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study (e27384)	
Nicholas Emard, Kathleen Lynch, Kevin Liou, Thomas Atkinson, Angela Green, Bobby Daly, Kelly Trevino, Jun Mao	34
Associations Among Wearable Activity Tracker Use, Exercise Motivation, and Physical Activity in a Cohort of Cancer Survivors: Secondary Data Analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey (e24828)	
Steven De La Torre, Donna Spruijt-Metz, Albert Farias.	44
A Novel Behavioral Intervention for Rural Appalachian Cancer Survivors (weSurvive): Participatory Development and Proof-of-Concept Testing (e26010)	
Kathleen Porter, Katherine Moon, Virginia LeBaron, Jamie Zoellner.	56
A Home-Based Mobile Health Intervention to Replace Sedentary Time With Light Physical Activity in Older Cancer Survivors: Randomized Controlled Pilot Trial (e18819)	
Cindy Blair, Elizabeth Harding, Charles Wiggins, Huining Kang, Matthew Schwartz, Amy Tarnower, Ruofei Du, Anita Kinney.	72
Home-Based Telehealth Exercise Intervention in Early-On Survivors of Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Feasibility Study (e25569)	
Genevieve Lambert, Nathalie Alos, Pascal Bernier, Caroline Laverdière, Dahlia Kairy, Kenneth Drummond, Noémi Dahan-Oliel, Martin Lemay, Louis-Nicolas Veilleux.	95
Cancer Clinicians' Views Regarding an App That Helps Patients With Cancer Meet Their Information Needs: Qualitative Interview Study (e23671)	
Rebecca Richards, Paul Kinnersley, Kate Brain, Fiona Wood.	112
Data Integration to Improve Real-world Health Outcomes Research for Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer in the United States: Descriptive and Qualitative Exploration (e23161)	
Michael Grabner, Cliff Molife, Liya Wang, Katherine Winfree, Zhanglin Cui, Gebra Cuyun Carter, Lisa Hess.	123
Clinicopathological Criteria Predictive of Recurrence Following Bacillus Calmette-Guérin Therapy Initiation in Non–Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer: Retrospective Cohort Study (e25800)	
Joseph Plasek, John Weissert, Tracy Downs, Kyle Richards, Kourosh Ravvaz.	139

Review

The Value of Web-Based Patient Education Materials on Transarterial Chemoembolization: Systematic	
Georgios Sideris, Aikaterini-Themis Vyllioti, Danai Dima, Michael Chill, Njogu Njuguna.	12

Viewpoint

XSL•FO RenderX

Development of a Digital Patient Education Tool for Patients With Cancer During the COVID-19 Pandemic	
(e23637)	
Sena Turkdogan, Gabriel Schnitman, Tianci Wang, Raphael Gotlieb, Jeffrey How, Walter Gotlieb.	28

Original Paper

Digital Biomarkers of Symptom Burden Self-Reported by Perioperative Patients Undergoing Pancreatic Surgery: Prospective Longitudinal Study

Carissa A Low¹, PhD; Meng Li¹, MS; Julio Vega¹, PhD; Krina C Durica¹, MA; Denzil Ferreira², PhD; Vernissia Tam³, MD; Melissa Hogg⁴, MD; Herbert Zeh III⁵, MD; Afsaneh Doryab⁶, PhD; Anind K Dey⁷, PhD

¹Mobile Sensing + Health Institute, Center for Behavioral Health, Media, and Technology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

⁶Systems and Information Engineering, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, United States

⁷Information School, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Carissa A Low, PhD Mobile Sensing + Health Institute Center for Behavioral Health, Media, and Technology University of Pittsburgh 3347 Forbes Ave Suite 200 Pittsburgh, PA, 15213 United States Phone: 1 4126235973 Email: lowca@upmc.edu

Abstract

Background: Cancer treatments can cause a variety of symptoms that impair quality of life and functioning but are frequently missed by clinicians. Smartphone and wearable sensors may capture behavioral and physiological changes indicative of symptom burden, enabling passive and remote real-time monitoring of fluctuating symptoms

Objective: The aim of this study was to examine whether smartphone and Fitbit data could be used to estimate daily symptom burden before and after pancreatic surgery.

Methods: A total of 44 patients scheduled for pancreatic surgery participated in this prospective longitudinal study and provided sufficient sensor and self-reported symptom data for analyses. Participants collected smartphone sensor and Fitbit data and completed daily symptom ratings starting at least two weeks before surgery, throughout their inpatient recovery, and for up to 60 days after postoperative discharge. Day-level behavioral features reflecting mobility and activity patterns, sleep, screen time, heart rate, and communication were extracted from raw smartphone and Fitbit data and used to classify the next day as high or low symptom burden, adjusted for each individual's typical level of reported symptoms. In addition to the overall symptom burden, we examined pain, fatigue, and diarrhea specifically.

Results: Models using light gradient boosting machine (LightGBM) were able to correctly predict whether the next day would be a high symptom day with 73.5% accuracy, surpassing baseline models. The most important sensor features for discriminating high symptom days were related to physical activity bouts, sleep, heart rate, and location. LightGBM models predicting next-day diarrhea (79.0% accuracy), fatigue (75.8% accuracy), and pain (79.6% accuracy) performed similarly.

Conclusions: Results suggest that digital biomarkers may be useful in predicting patient-reported symptom burden before and after cancer surgery. Although model performance in this small sample may not be adequate for clinical implementation, findings support the feasibility of collecting mobile sensor data from older patients who are acutely ill as well as the potential clinical value of mobile sensing for passive monitoring of patients with cancer and suggest that data from devices that many patients

²Information Technology and Electrical Engineering, University of Oulu, Oulu, Finland

³Department of Surgery, New York-Presbyterian Hospital & Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, NY, United States

⁴NorthShore University HealthSystem, Evanston, IL, United States

⁵Department of Surgery, UT Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, United States

already own and use may be useful in detecting worsening perioperative symptoms and triggering just-in-time symptom management interventions.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e27975) doi:10.2196/27975

KEYWORDS

mobile sensing; symptom; cancer; surgery; wearable device; smartphone; mobile phone

Introduction

Cancer treatments such as chemotherapy and surgery cause a variety of symptoms and side effects that can impair subjective quality of life and functioning. Across a variety of cancer types, fatigue, pain, nausea, and other physical symptoms are highly prevalent and often severe [1,2], and many patients experience multiple symptoms simultaneously [3]. Patients who report more significant symptoms tend to exhibit worse performance status and functional ability [4,5]. Unfortunately, symptoms remain undetected by clinicians up to half of the time [6,7], limiting opportunities for timely and effective clinical management and resulting in undue patient suffering and functional impairment.

Remotely monitoring symptoms between hospital or clinic visits may improve our ability to capture severe or bothersome symptoms when they begin to emerge [8]. Smartphones, now owned by 81% of adults and increasing proportions of older adults, those living in rural areas, and all racial groups, offer new opportunities for remote symptom monitoring [9]. Systems leveraging smartphones for real-time patient-reported outcome (PRO) assessment during outpatient chemotherapy have been demonstrated to be feasible [10,11] and to reduce chemotherapy-related morbidity [12]. Although daily PRO symptom data are valuable, long-term assessment of PROs (eg, over months or years of chemotherapy) is burdensome. Indeed, previous work suggests that patients become significantly less compliant at recording symptoms over time [13], with patient compliance dropping to below 50% after 1 month in one longitudinal study [14]. Developing a remote symptom monitoring system that is less reliant on patient compliance may enable longitudinal symptom tracking and management throughout cancer treatment and even after treatment is completed, when symptoms persist for many survivors.

Smartphones are equipped with a rich array of sensors capable of measuring many behavioral and contextual variables, including mobility, location, ambient light and noise, and social interactions [15]. Most users keep their smartphones within arm's reach at all times and spend over 4 hours per day interacting with the device [16]. Thus, smartphones can gather digital traces as individuals go about their daily routines. From these raw digital data, meaningful behavioral features such as number of unique locations visited, number of outgoing calls placed, and average level of ambient noise detected during the night can be calculated to provide information about behavior patterns in real-world contexts [17].

Smartwatches and other wearable commercial activity monitors are also becoming more widely used, with about 1 in 5 adults using a wearable device [9]. Wearable devices contain sensors such as accelerometers and photoplethysmography which can provide continuous information about activity, sleep, and physiology (eg, heart rate). Together, these mobile sensing technologies enable objective assessment of behavioral patterns that may reflect worsening health status, including severe or increasing symptoms. Moreover, this high-density, multimodal, and objective data collection can be completed with minimal burden to patients; this feature makes this approach highly scalable and appropriate for remotely monitoring patients, even older patients and those who are acutely ill and even over long periods. Given evidence that physical activity and sleep behaviors as well as heart rate have prognostic value in oncology, technology that enables passive quantification of these metrics holds considerable promise for clinical cancer research [18-20].

Applying machine learning classification to smartphone sensor data has been shown to accurately discriminate depressed from nondepressed individuals [21], to recognize depressive and manic episodes in patients with bipolar disorder [22-24], to predict mental health indicators in schizophrenia [25], and to detect binge drinking and other substance use [26]. These methods can also shed light on *which* behavioral features are most useful for detecting or predicting mental health states or risky behaviors. Work applying this approach to passively detect physical health status in patients with cancer is more limited, but results from 14 recent small studies suggest that wearable and smartphone sensor data are related to symptom burden, quality of life, and other clinical oncology outcomes [27].

The perioperative context is an especially critical time for remote patient monitoring, as complications after cancer surgery are common and can escalate into re-admissions that may be preventable if detected and managed earlier. Results from similar studies of patients undergoing surgical oncology procedures found that accelerometer data were useful for quantifying differences in postoperative recovery [28] and for predicting re-admission risk [29]. In this study, we aimed to examine whether smartphone and wearable sensors can be useful in detecting overall patient-reported symptom burden as well as 3 specific physical symptoms (fatigue, pain, and diarrhea) among patients undergoing pancreatic cancer surgery, a complex but potentially curative procedure with postoperative morbidity rates as high as 40% [30].

Methods

Participants

Potential study participants were identified for the study by their surgical oncology care team. Men and women aged 18 years or older who were scheduled for pancreatic surgery at a large academic cancer center were eligible and were enrolled at their

XSL•FO

preoperative clinic visit. Of 72 eligible and approached patients, 60 consented to participate in this study. Surgery was canceled for 4 patients, and 2 withdrew from the study prior to surgery due to poor health or feeling overwhelmed. An additional 10 had insufficient sensor data for analyses based on data cleaning thresholds (described in detail later), leaving 44 participants in our analytic sample (mean age 65.7 years, range 40-82; 41% [18/44] female; 93% [41/44] white). Most patients were undergoing surgery (75% [33/44] robotic, 16% [7/44] open, 9% [4/44] laparoscopic) for pancreatic cancer (36/44, 82%), with the remainder undergoing surgery for benign conditions (eg, pancreatic cysts). Participants were enrolled from January to September 2017.

Study Procedure

Study assessments began prior to surgery and continued during inpatient recovery after surgery (mean 7-day stay, range 2-22) and for 60 days after postoperative discharge. A total of 13/44 patients (30%) were re-admitted to the hospital at some point during the 60 days. At their preoperative visit, participants were provided with an Android smartphone with the AWARE app installed [31]. AWARE was used to passively collect smartphone sensor data, including movement and approximate location of the phone, device use, metadata about call and SMS events, and ambient light and noise levels. AWARE was also used to collect patient-reported symptom ratings each morning; participants rated the severity of 10 physical and psychological symptoms (pain, fatigue, sleep disturbance, trouble concentrating/remembering things, feeling sad or down, feeling anxious or worried, shortness of breath, numbness or tingling, nausea, diarrhea or constipation) on a scale from 0 (not present) to 10 (as bad as you can imagine). These symptoms were selected because they reflect common core symptoms during oncology treatment [32] and the symptom severity rating format was adapted from the MD Anderson Symptom Inventory [33]. AWARE stored this information on the device and transmitted deidentified data to a secure server over a secure network connection when the device was connected to Wi-Fi. Participants were asked to keep the phone charged and with them at all times and to use the phone for communication as much as possible.

Participants were also given a Fitbit Charge 2 device to wear for the duration of the study, which they were invited to keep after study completion. The Fitbit collected data about activity, sleep, and heart rate. The Fitbit Charge 2 has been shown to measure activity and sleep parameters with acceptable accuracy in older free-living adults [34].

After study completion, participants returned the mobile phones to the study team and received a compensation of US \$150. The University of Pittsburgh institutional review board approved all study procedures.

Data Processing and Analytic Approach

Patient-Reported Symptoms

To compute daily symptom burden scores, we summed all 10 symptom ratings to create a composite reflecting total daily symptom burden (mean 15, range 0-97). We then calculated the mean daily symptom burden for each individual patient and then subtracted individual means from each of that patient's

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e27975
```

daily symptom burden scores and categorized the resulting residual into average or below average (residual of daily score – individual mean ≤ 0) or high (residual of daily score – individual mean > 0). This approach allowed us to classify each day as a high or low symptom burden day, adjusting for each individual's typical level of reported symptoms. Approximately 35.99% (487/1353) of all days were classified as high symptom days (proportion of high symptom days for individual patients ranged from ranged from 0% [0/11] to 80% [8/10]). As the data set was imbalanced, we used the support vector machine synthetic minority over-sampling technique (SVM SMOTE) to resample the minority class. We also examined 3 specific physical symptoms (pain, fatigue, and diarrhea because these were the most common in our sample) using a similar approach.

Passive Smartphone and Wearable Sensor Data

We computed day-level (24 hours from midnight to midnight) behavioral features from both AWARE and Fitbit data using our Reproducible Analysis Pipeline for Data Streams (RAPIDS) [35]. Accelerometer, activity recognition, application, battery, call, conversation, light, location, SMS text message, and screen features were extracted from AWARE data. Heart rate, step, and sleep features were extracted from Fitbit data. For sleep, features were extracted for any sleep episodes that ended on that day to capture both overnight main sleep and naps. In total, we extracted 213 features from smartphone and Fitbit data; feature descriptions can be found in RAPIDS documentation [35,36]. We also included 3 additional features judged to be important for symptom prediction: (1) days since surgery, because symptoms tended to considerably increase immediately after surgery and then decline over time; (2) most recent symptom burden score, given that high symptom burden scores today tended to predict high symptom burden tomorrow; and (3) participant's average symptom burden score up to current time point, given the substantial between-participant variability in the range of symptom severities reported. Because symptom ratings were completed each morning, sensor data were used to predict the next day's symptom burden class.

We dropped sensor and symptom data from the date of surgery (as devices were with caregivers while patients were in the operating room) and from days that the patient was hospitalized (both after surgery and during any subsequent re-admissions, as we anticipated behavioral patterns to differ systematically in the hospital and we are most interested in detecting symptoms when patients are not in a health care setting).

To clean data, we first excluded days with less than 20 hours of sensor data and participants with fewer than 5 days of sensor data. We then dropped features missing more than 30% of values (days) or with 0 variance as well as days missing more than 30% of values (features). We merged sensor data with high/low symptom labels, then again filtered out participants with less than 5 days of valid labeled sensor feature data. After data cleaning, we had 1353 (mean 30.75, range 5-67 per patient) days of sensor data including 142 features from 44 patients.

On average, participants were missing 7.25% of data values (range 0%-19.08%). For each participant, we imputed continuous missing data as follows: (1) missing features in the training set (ie, subset of data used to train the model) were

XSL•FO RenderX

replaced with the average of the 2 closest days; (2) missing features in the test set (ie, subset of data used to evaluate model performance) were replaced with the last valid day's feature from the training set; and (3) if a participant is missing a specific feature, replace it with the average from the rest of the participants' data. We imputed categorical missing data as follows: (1) missing features were replaced with the mode of that participant's training data; (2) if a participant is missing a specific feature, replace it with the mode of the remaining participants' training data.

Categorical features were converted into integer representation via one-hot encoding. Because the scale of features will not influence the results of tree-based algorithms (eg, light gradient boosting machine [LightGBM]), we normalized numerical features with either min-max, z-score, or scikit-learn package's robust scaler for the rest of the models. A total of 75 features were selected via mutual information.

We evaluated a number of different binary classifiers, including logistic regression, k-nearest neighbors, support vector machine, random forest, gradient boosting, extreme gradient boosting, and LightGBM. Model performance (ability of the model to generate predicted binary class labels [0 vs 1] that match true class labels) was compared with several baselines: majority class, random weighted classifier, and decision tree using days since surgery, most recent score, and average score (ie, the 3

nonsensor features used in our models). We used nested cross-validation. Three-fold cross-validation was considered for the inner loop to tune hyperparameters and leave-one-day-out cross-validation was considered for the outer loop to evaluate performance and calculate accuracy, precision, recall, F1, and area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) across all folds. Because our ultimate goal is real-time clinical implementation of these algorithms, we trained models only on past data from that participant as well as data from other participants (ie, data collected after the test day were not included in the training set for that fold). The code for feature extraction and analysis is available online [37].

Results

Models using LightGBM performed best for the population model. We used 0 as the random seed, 200 as the number of boosted trees, and 128 as the maximum tree leaves. The learning rate was chosen from {0.008, 0.01, 0.012} and the subsample ratio of columns when constructing each tree was chosen from {0.68, 0.7, 0.72}. Using this approach, models using smartphone and wearable feature data were able to correctly predict whether the next day would be a high symptom day with 73.5% accuracy (0.611 recall for the high symptom class and 0.772 AUC). This model surpassed the accuracy and performance of all 3 baseline models (Table 1).

 Table 1. Performance of population models classifying next-day symptom class.^a

Method	Accuracy (%)	Precision0 (%)	Recall0 (%)	F10 (%)	Precision1 (%)	Recall1 (%)	F11 (%)	Macro F1 ^b (%)	AUC (%)
Baseline1: majority class	64.5	64.5	100.0	78.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	39.2	50.0
Baseline2: random weighted classifier	54.1	64.4	64.4	64.4	35.5	35.5	35.5	50.0	50.0
Baseline3: decision tree with nonsensor features	67.5	75.5	73.3	74.4	54.0	57.0	55.5	64.9	65.1
LightGBM	73.5	78.9	80.4	79.7	63.2	61.1	62.2	70.9	77.2

^a0=average or lower than average symptom burden; 1=higher than average symptom burden.

^bMacro F1 score refers to the average of the 2 F1 scores.

The most important features included the most recent symptom burden score, days since surgery, average symptom burden score, duration of active and exertional activity bouts, minimum heart rate, number of unique activities, time spent at the most frequent location, maximum ambient lux, total duration of time awake and asleep, and total duration of the heart rate in cardio zone (70%-84% of the participant's maximum heart rate) and peak zone (85%-100% of the participant's maximum heart rate; Figure 1). In this plot, features with many instances in red with SHAP (SHapley Additive exPlanations) [38] value greater than 0 had a positive relationship with symptom burden (eg, longer median duration of nonexertional episodes related to high symptom burden), whereas those in blue had an inverse association (eg, shorter total duration of active bouts related to high symptom burden). We also generated population models for diarrhea, fatigue, and pain, respectively. All steps are the same as above except for the target values. Instead of calculating the labels based on the summation of all 10 symptom ratings, diarrhea score or fatigue score or pain score is applied directly.

Like the overall symptom burden results, LightGBM models outperformed all 3 baseline models and predicted next-day diarrhea with 79.0% accuracy (AUC 83.41%), next-day fatigue with 75.8% accuracy (AUC 80.29%), and next-day pain with 79.6% accuracy (AUC 83.48%; Table 2). Location features are very important for diarrhea prediction, while step features and sleep features are very important for fatigue prediction and pain prediction, respectively. The most recent symptom burden score, days since surgery, and average symptom burden score are the most important features for all symptoms.

Low et al

Figure 1. Density scatter plot showing SHapley Additive exPlanation (SHAP) values for each feature, reflecting how much impact each feature has on model output. Features with many instances in red with SHAP values greater than 0 are positively associated with symptom burden, while those with many blue instances are inversely associated with symptom burden.



Table 2.	Performance of population models classifying next-day diarrhea or fatigue or pain symptom class (1=higher than average) from wearable and
smartphc	one sensors.

Target (symptom) and method	Accuracy (%)	Precision0 (%)	Recall0 (%)	F10 (%)	Precision1 (%)	Recall1 (%)	F11 (%)	Macro F1 (%)	AUC (%)
Diarrhea			Y			Y			·
Baseline1: majority class	67.4	67.4	100.0	80.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	40.3	50.0
Baseline2: random weighted classifier	56.0	67.4	67.4	67.4	32.5	32.5	32.5	49.9	49.9
Baseline3: decision tree with nonsensor features	73.2	82.0	77.2	79.5	57.9	64.9	61.2	70.3	71.0
LightGBM	79.0	85.0	83.7	84.3	67.3	69.4	68.3	76.3	83.4
Fatigue									
Baseline1: majority class	64.7	64.7	100.0	78.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	39.3	50.0
Baseline2: random weighted classifier	54.3	64.7	64.7	64.7	35.3	35.3	35.3	50.0	50.0
Baseline3: decision tree with nonsensor features	67.0	75.9	71.8	73.8	53.0	58.2	55.4	64.6	65.0
LightGBM	75.8	81.2	81.5	81.4	65.9	65.5	65.7	73.5	80.3
Pain									
Baseline1: majority class	70.4	70.4	100.0	82.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	41.3	50.0
Baseline2: random weighted classifier	58.4	70.5	70.4	70.4	29.6	29.6	29.6	50.0	50.0
Baseline3: decision tree with nonsensor features	74.4	82.4	81.0	81.7	56.5	58.8	57.6	69.7	69.9
LightGBM	79.6	85.7	85.3	85.5	65.4	66.0	65.7	75.6	83.5

Discussion

The purpose of this prospective longitudinal study was to evaluate passive smartphone and wearable sensor features as predictors of symptom burden in perioperative patients undergoing pancreatic surgery. Results suggest that machine learning models developed using mobile sensor data were more accurate than non–sensor-based baseline models in predicting whether the next-day patient-reported overall symptom burden would be higher than average for that patient. The most important features for symptom prediction included features related to physical activity, heart rate, and location. Models also accurately predicted next-day diarrhea, fatigue, and pain, although the most important features in each model differed across specific symptoms.

This work contributes to a small but growing literature investigating associations between consumer mobile sensors and clinical outcomes in oncology [27]. Similar to studies of patients undergoing chemotherapy [39] and hematopoietic cell transplant [40], features related to physical activity were most strongly related to fluctuations in physical symptom severity. Feature importance revealed that these were not simple features such as daily step counts but rather features reflecting patterns of activity and included measurements from both wearable Fitbit devices (eg, number, total duration, and maximum duration of active bouts) and smartphones (eg, duration of nonexertional episodes from phone accelerometer, number of unique activities recognized). Heart rate and sleep features were also important, suggesting that future work in this area should consider using wearable devices that enable collection of 24-hour behavioral and physiological data and examination of circadian rest-activity rhythms previously linked to outcomes in patients with cancer [41].

Because wearable and smartphone sensor data can be collected continuously as patients go about their daily lives, requiring minimal effort or attention from patients or their caregivers, mobile sensing offers an opportunity for long-term remote patient monitoring over months or years of cancer treatment and survivorship. This study supports the feasibility of collecting mobile sensor data, even from patients who are seriously ill during times of acute sickness and recovery. Despite undergoing invasive surgery and (for most patients) grappling with one of the deadliest cancer diagnoses, over 80% of participants had sufficient sensor data for analyses. This is also noteworthy given that the average age of patients was over 65 and that, as these data were collected in 2017, participants varied considerably in their comfort and familiarity with mobile technology.

Although models trained on past mobile sensor data outperformed baseline models, model performance still may not be adequate for clinical implementation. For example, recall of the high overall symptom burden class (when timely clinical action would be needed) was only 61%, meaning nearly 40% of high symptom days would be missed by our model. This may be due in part to the relatively small sample and data set, the use of study-provided (rather than personal) smartphones, or the powerful effect of major abdominal surgery and prolonged hospitalization on patient symptom profiles as well as behavior. Future studies with larger samples that collect data using their own personal devices over a period with less dramatic shifts in symptoms and behavior may yield better model performance. In future studies with larger data sets more robust to class imbalance, setting a higher threshold for severe symptoms requiring care provider attention or intervention may also result in more clinically useful models. Regardless, mobile sensor data may be a useful complement to patient-reported symptom data, allowing for a more personalized and adaptive delivery of symptom ratings when behavioral fluctuations are detected, reducing patient burden and improving early capture of worsening side effects and symptoms. Predictive models based on sensor and patient-reported data could also be used to deliver symptom self-management instructions to patients, an approach demonstrated to benefit patients undergoing pancreatic cancer surgery [42].

Given the small data set, we focused on building population models that used data from all other participants, which also may have constrained model performance. Because each participant had on average only 30 rows of data, individual models were unstable, but with more training data could be useful in learning patterns based on each participant's behavior and its relationship to symptoms and developing more accurate predictions. Developing models based on similar subgroups of participants (based on demographic, clinical, or behavioral factors) could be a useful approach for future work and could yield superior results to a single population model.

Strengths of the study include longitudinal sensor data collection over a wide perioperative window, from presurgery to 60 days after discharge following pancreatic surgery. We considered a wide range of features from both wearable and smartphone sensors and examined prediction of next-day overall symptom burden as well as next-day pain, fatigue, and diarrhea specifically. Our models were also trained on past data only so that we could evaluate how well models could perform if implemented in real-world clinical settings.

This study suggests that digital biomarkers may be useful in predicting patient-reported symptom burden during cancer treatment. In an ongoing study, we are following up on this work by collecting 3 months of smartphone and wearable sensor data as well as daily symptom reports from a large sample of patients undergoing outpatient chemotherapy. With a larger outpatient sample using their own smartphones, we hope to improve upon the models developed here and to use real-time next-day symptom predictions to deliver more timely and personalized symptom management support.



Acknowledgments

This work was supported in part by the Center for Machine Learning and Health at Carnegie Mellon University through the Pittsburgh Health Data Alliance, the National Cancer Institute (K07CA204380 and R37CA242545), the Hillman Fellows for Innovative Cancer Research Program funded by the Henry L. Hillman Foundation, and the Robotic Surgery Research Grant from the Society of American Gastrointestinal and Endoscopic Surgeons. We gratefully acknowledge Lillian Smith for her assistance with data collection and management.

Conflicts of Interest

MH receives an unrestricted education grant from Intuitive Surgical. All other authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Henry DH, Viswanathan HN, Elkin EP, Traina S, Wade S, Cella D. Symptoms and treatment burden associated with cancer treatment: results from a cross-sectional national survey in the U.S. Support Care Cancer 2008 Jul;16(7):791-801. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-007-0380-2] [Medline: 18204940]
- Reilly CM, Bruner DW, Mitchell SA, Minasian LM, Basch E, Dueck AC, et al. A literature synthesis of symptom prevalence and severity in persons receiving active cancer treatment. Support Care Cancer 2013 Jun;21(6):1525-1550 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-012-1688-0] [Medline: 23314601]
- Cleeland CS, Zhao F, Chang VT, Sloan JA, O'Mara AM, Gilman PB, et al. The symptom burden of cancer: Evidence for a core set of cancer-related and treatment-related symptoms from the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Symptom Outcomes and Practice Patterns study. Cancer 2013 Dec 15;119(24):4333-4340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.28376] [Medline: 24114037]
- 4. Hensing T, Cella D, Yount S. The impact of ECOG performance status on quality of life symptoms in patients with advanced lung cancer. JCO 2005 Jun;23(16_suppl):8099-8099. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2005.23.16_suppl.8099] [Medline: 27946508]
- West HJ, Jin JO. JAMA Oncology Patient Page. Performance Status in Patients With Cancer. JAMA Oncol 2015 Oct;1(7):998. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.3113</u>] [Medline: <u>26335750</u>]
- Atkinson TM, Ryan SJ, Bennett AV, Stover AM, Saracino RM, Rogak LJ, et al. The association between clinician-based common terminology criteria for adverse events (CTCAE) and patient-reported outcomes (PRO): a systematic review. Support Care Cancer 2016 Aug;24(8):3669-3676. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3297-9] [Medline: 27260018]
- Fromme EK, Eilers KM, Mori M, Hsieh Y, Beer TM. How accurate is clinician reporting of chemotherapy adverse effects? A comparison with patient-reported symptoms from the Quality-of-Life Questionnaire C30. J Clin Oncol 2004 Sep 1;22(17):3485-3490. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.03.025] [Medline: 15337796]
- 8. Schneider S, Stone AA. Ambulatory and diary methods can facilitate the measurement of patient-reported outcomes. Qual Life Res 2015 Jun 23:497-506. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-1054-z] [Medline: 26101141]
- 9. Anderson M. Mobile Technology and Home Broadband 2019. 2019 Jun 13. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/</u>2019/06/13/mobile-technology-and-home-broadband-2019/ [accessed 2021-04-04]
- Falchook AD, Tracton G, Stravers L, Fleming ME, Snavely AC, Noe JF, et al. Use of mobile device technology to continuously collect patient-reported symptoms during radiation therapy for head and neck cancer: A prospective feasibility study. Adv Radiat Oncol 2016;1(2):115-121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.adro.2016.02.001] [Medline: 28740878]
- Weaver A, Young AM, Rowntree J, Townsend N, Pearson S, Smith J, et al. Application of mobile phone technology for managing chemotherapy-associated side-effects. Ann Oncol 2007 Nov;18(11):1887-1892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdm354] [Medline: 17921245]
- 12. Kearney N, McCann L, Norrie J, Taylor L, Gray P, McGee-Lennon M, et al. Evaluation of a mobile phone-based, advanced symptom management system (ASyMS) in the management of chemotherapy-related toxicity. Support Care Cancer 2009 Apr;17(4):437-444. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-008-0515-0] [Medline: 18953579]
- Judson TJ, Bennett AV, Rogak LJ, Sit L, Barz A, Kris MG, et al. Feasibility of long-term patient self-reporting of toxicities from home via the Internet during routine chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2013 Jul 10;31(20):2580-2585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.6804] [Medline: 23733753]
- Min YH, Lee JW, Shin Y, Jo M, Sohn G, Lee J, et al. Daily collection of self-reporting sleep disturbance data via a smartphone app in breast cancer patients receiving chemotherapy: a feasibility study. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(5):e135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3421] [Medline: 24860070]
- Harari GM, Lane ND, Wang R, Crosier BS, Campbell AT, Gosling SD. Using Smartphones to Collect Behavioral Data in Psychological Science: Opportunities, Practical Considerations, and Challenges. Perspect Psychol Sci 2016 Nov;11(6):838-854. [doi: 10.1177/1745691616650285] [Medline: 27899727]
- 16. Andrews S, Ellis DA, Shaw H, Piwek L. Beyond Self-Report: Tools to Compare Estimated and Real-World Smartphone Use. PLoS One 2015;10(10):e0139004 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139004] [Medline: 26509895]
- Mohr DC, Zhang M, Schueller SM. Personal Sensing: Understanding Mental Health Using Ubiquitous Sensors and Machine Learning. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2017 May 08;13:23-47. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-044949</u>] [Medline: <u>28375728</u>]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e27975

- Friedenreich CM, Neilson HK, Farris MS, Courneya KS. Physical Activity and Cancer Outcomes: A Precision Medicine Approach. Clin Cancer Res 2016 Oct 01;22(19):4766-4775 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0067</u>] [Medline: <u>27407093</u>]
- 19. Kloter E, Barrueto K, Klein SD, Scholkmann F, Wolf U. Heart Rate Variability as a Prognostic Factor for Cancer Survival - A Systematic Review. Front Physiol 2018;9:623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00623] [Medline: 29896113]
- Li Y, Cai S, Ling Y, Mi S, Fan C, Zhong Y, et al. Association between total sleep time and all cancer mortality: non-linear dose-response meta-analysis of cohort studies. Sleep Med 2019 Aug;60:211-218. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sleep.2019.03.026</u>] [Medline: <u>31182327</u>]
- Saeb S, Zhang M, Karr CJ, Schueller SM, Corden ME, Kording KP, et al. Mobile Phone Sensor Correlates of Depressive Symptom Severity in Daily-Life Behavior: An Exploratory Study. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(7):e175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4273] [Medline: 26180009]
- 22. Doryab A, Frost M, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Kessing L, Bardram J. Impact factor analysis: combining prediction with parameter ranking to reveal the impact of behavior on health outcome. Pers Ubiquit Comput 2014 Sep 21;19(2):355-365. [doi: 10.1007/s00779-014-0826-8]
- 23. Frost M, Doryab A, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Kessing L, Bardram J. Supporting disease insight through data analysis: refinements of the monarca self-assessment system. In: UbiComp '13: Proceedings of the 2013 ACM international joint conference on Pervasive and ubiquitous computing. New York, NY: Association for Computing Machinery; 2013 Presented at: UbiComp '13: The 2013 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September, 2013; Zurich, Switzerland p. 133-142. [doi: 10.1145/2493432.2493507]
- Grünerbl A, Muaremi A, Osmani V, Bahle G, Ohler S, Tröster G, et al. Smartphone-based recognition of states and state changes in bipolar disorder patients. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2015 Jan;19(1):140-148. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2014.2343154] [Medline: 25073181]
- 25. Wang R, Aung M, Abdullah S. CrossCheck: toward passive sensing and detection of mental health changes in people with schizophrenia. 2016 Sep Presented at: Proceedings of the ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing. Sept;. Heidelberg, Germany; 2016; Heidelberg, Germany p. 886-897. [doi: 10.1145/2971648.2971740]
- Bae S, Ferreira D, Suffoletto B, Puyana JC, Kurtz R, Chung T, et al. Detecting Drinking Episodes in Young Adults Using Smartphone-based Sensors. Proc. ACM Interact. Mob. Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2017 Jun 30;1(2):1-36. [doi: 10.1145/3090051]
- 27. Low CA. Harnessing consumer smartphone and wearable sensors for clinical cancer research. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-00351-x] [Medline: 33134557]
- Panda N, Solsky I, Huang EJ, Lipsitz S, Pradarelli JC, Delisle M, et al. Using Smartphones to Capture Novel Recovery Metrics After Cancer Surgery. JAMA Surg 2020 Feb 01;155(2):123-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2019.4702] [Medline: 31657854]
- 29. Low CA, Bovbjerg DH, Ahrendt S, Choudry MH, Holtzman M, Jones HL, et al. Fitbit step counts during inpatient recovery from cancer surgery as a predictor of readmission. Ann Behav Med 2018 Jan 05;52(1):88-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kax022] [Medline: 29538623]
- Strobel O, Neoptolemos J, Jäger D, Büchler MW. Optimizing the outcomes of pancreatic cancer surgery. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2019 Jan;16(1):11-26. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41571-018-0112-1</u>] [Medline: <u>30341417</u>]
- 31. Ferreira D, Kostakos V, Dey A. AWARE: mobile context instrumentation framework. Frontiers in ICT 2015 Apr 20;2:6. [doi: <u>10.3389/fict.2015.00006</u>]
- Reeve BB, Mitchell SA, Dueck AC, Basch E, Cella D, Reilly CM, et al. Recommended patient-reported core set of symptoms to measure in adult cancer treatment trials. J Natl Cancer Inst 2014 Jul;106(7):dju129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju129] [Medline: 25006191]
- 33. Cleeland CS, Mendoza TR, Wang XS, Chou C, Harle MT, Morrissey M, et al. Assessing symptom distress in cancer patients: the M.D. Anderson Symptom Inventory. Cancer 2000 Oct 01;89(7):1634-1646. [Medline: <u>11013380</u>]
- 34. Tedesco S, Sica M, Ancillao A, Timmons S, Barton J, O'Flynn B. Validity Evaluation of the Fitbit Charge2 and the Garmin vivosmart HR+ in Free-Living Environments in an Older Adult Cohort. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jun 19;7(6):e13084 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13084] [Medline: 31219048]
- Vega J, Li M, Aguillera K, Goel N, Joshi E, Durica KC, et al. RAPIDS: Reproducible Analysis Pipeline for Data Streams Collected with Mobile Devices. J Med Internet Res Preprints. URL: <u>https://preprints.jmir.org/preprint/23246</u> [accessed 2020-08-18]
- 36. RAPIDS. URL: <u>https://www.rapids.science</u> [accessed 2021-02-21]
- 37. Low C, Li M, Vega J, Durica K, Ferreira D, Tam V, et al. carissalow/rhythms-population: v1.0.1. 2021 Mar 17. URL: https://zenodo.org/record/4613698#.YHixf5NKiu5
- Lundberg SM, Erion G, Chen H, DeGrave A, Prutkin JM, Nair B, et al. From Local Explanations to Global Understanding with Explainable AI for Trees. Nat Mach Intell 2020 Jan;2(1):56-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s42256-019-0138-9] [Medline: 32607472]

- Low CA, Dey AK, Ferreira D, Kamarck T, Sun W, Bae S, et al. Estimation of Symptom Severity During Chemotherapy From Passively Sensed Data: Exploratory Study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 19;19(12):e420 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9046] [Medline: 29258977]
- 40. Bennett AV, Reeve BB, Basch EM, Mitchell SA, Meeneghan M, Battaglini CL, et al. Evaluation of pedometry as a patient-centered outcome in patients undergoing hematopoietic cell transplant (HCT): a comparison of pedometry and patient reports of symptoms, health, and quality of life. Qual Life Res 2016 Mar;25(3):535-546. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-1179-0] [Medline: 26577763]
- 41. Innominato PF, Komarzynski S, Palesh OG, Dallmann R, Bjarnason GA, Giacchetti S, et al. Circadian rest-activity rhythm as an objective biomarker of patient-reported outcomes in patients with advanced cancer. Cancer Med 2018 Sep;7(9):4396-4405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.1711] [Medline: 30088335]
- 42. Gustavell T, Sundberg K, Langius-Eklöf A. Using an Interactive App for Symptom Reporting and Management Following Pancreatic Cancer Surgery to Facilitate Person-Centered Care: Descriptive Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jun 17;8(6):e17855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17855] [Medline: 32554375]

Abbreviations

AUC: area under the ROC curve LightGBM: light gradient boosting machine PRO: patient-reported outcome RAPIDS: Reproducible Analysis Pipeline for Data Streams ROC: receiver operating characteristic SHAP: SHapley Additive exPlanations SVM SMOTE: support vector machine synthetic minority over-sampling technique

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 15.02.21; peer-reviewed by P Innominato, W Wood; comments to author 08.03.21; revised version received 17.03.21; accepted 29.03.21; published 27.04.21.

 Please cite as:

 Low CA, Li M, Vega J, Durica KC, Ferreira D, Tam V, Hogg M, Zeh III H, Doryab A, Dey AK

 Digital Biomarkers of Symptom Burden Self-Reported by Perioperative Patients Undergoing Pancreatic Surgery: Prospective

 Longitudinal Study

 JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e27975

 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e27975

 PMID:33904822

©Carissa A Low, Meng Li, Julio Vega, Krina C Durica, Denzil Ferreira, Vernissia Tam, Melissa Hogg, Herbert Zeh III, Afsaneh Doryab, Anind K Dey. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 27.04.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

The Value of Web-Based Patient Education Materials on Transarterial Chemoembolization: Systematic Review

Georgios Antonios Sideris¹, MD; Aikaterini-Themis Vyllioti², MD; Danai Dima³, MD; Michael Chill¹, MD; Njogu Njuguna¹, MD

¹Department of Radiology, Baystate Medical Center, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Springfield, MA, United States

²School of Life Sciences, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

³Department of Medicine, Tufts Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Georgios Antonios Sideris, MD Department of Radiology Baystate Medical Center University of Massachusetts Medical School 759 Chestnut Street Springfield, MA, 01199 United States Phone: 1 4133029024 Email: <u>siderismd@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Thousands of web searches are performed related to transarterial chemoembolization (TACE), given its palliative role in the treatment of liver cancer.

Objective: This study aims to assess the reliability, quality, completeness, readability, understandability, and actionability of websites that provide information on TACE for patients.

Methods: The five most popular keywords pertaining to TACE were searched on Google, Yahoo, and Bing. General website characteristics and the presence of Health On the Net Foundation code certification were documented. Website assessment was performed using the following scores: DISCERN, Journal of the American Medical Association, Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level, Flesch Reading Ease Score, and the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool. A novel TACE content score was generated to evaluate website completeness.

Results: The search yielded 3750 websites. In total, 81 website entities belonging to 78 website domains met the inclusion criteria. A medical disclaimer was not provided on 28% (22/78) of website domains. Health On the Net code certification was present on 12% (9/78) of website domains. Authorship was absent on 88% (71/81) of websites, and sources were absent on 83% (67/81) of websites. The date of publication or of the last update was not listed on 58% (47/81) of websites. The median DISCERN score was 47.0 (IQR 40.5-54.0). The median TACE content score was 35 (IQR 27-43). The median readability grade level was in the 11th grade. Overall, 61% (49/81) and 16% (13/81) of websites were deemed understandable and actionable, respectively. Not-for-profit websites fared significantly better on the Journal of the American Medical Association, DISCERN, and TACE content scores.

Conclusions: The content referring to TACE that is currently available on the web is unreliable, incomplete, difficult to read, understandable but not actionable, and characterized by low overall quality. Websites need to revise their content to optimally educate consumers and support shared decision-making.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews CRD42020202747; https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42020202747

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e25357) doi:10.2196/25357

KEYWORDS

RenderX

transarterial chemoembolization; interventional radiology; interventional oncology; liver cancer; hepatocellular carcinoma; internet; patient education; systematic review

Introduction

Background

The World Wide Web has greatly facilitated access to medical knowledge for consumers. Nowadays, 6 to 7 of 10 internet users browse the web in search of health-related answers [1,2]. In fact, consumers are four times more likely to turn to the internet first rather than to a physician [3]. Although most users still believe that physicians are the most trustworthy information source, more than half shape their health-related decisions based on information they obtain from the web and may consequently decide against visiting a medical professional [1-4]. However, the quality of websites is often questionable. Websites may contain distracting information and incomprehensible content and may not meet the standards to facilitate medical decision-making [5-9].

Health literacy (defined as the ability to read, understand, and act on health-related information) is a major determinant of the way people process the information they obtain from the web [10,11]. Older people or those with a low educational level tend to have poor health literacy; practice ineffective ways of web searching; and are more vulnerable to physical, emotional, or financial harm caused by inaccurate information [12-14]. As approximately 36% of adults in the United States lack adequate health literacy, the need for reliable and comprehensible websites has become more critical [11,15].

Patients may be skeptical and nervous when they are referred for a procedure they are unfamiliar with and may lack the capacity to fully process the educational materials they are provided [16]. This holds true for interventional radiology (IR) procedures that, despite their multiple applications and benefits, are not widely known to the general public. Although minimally invasive procedures are generally preferred among patients, there is still a considerable lack of awareness of procedures performed by interventional radiologists [17,18].

One of the most widely used procedures in the armamentarium of interventional oncology is transarterial chemoembolization (TACE), which is recommended as the standard of care for select cases of primary or metastatic liver tumors [19]. Web-based content referring to TACE can be found on a wide range of websites (eg, scientific journals, patient blogs, and commercial websites), most of which target medical professionals rather than the average reader. The availability of high-quality, consumer-friendly websites is essential to ascertain that patients can accurately self-educate and make informed decisions. Improved patient education may also have clinical benefits, as it has been linked to more favorable outcomes, such as lower rates of postchemoembolization pain [20].

Studies evaluating websites that provide patient information on IR procedures have been published previously. McEnteggart et al [21] assessed the readability of websites discussing 7 IR procedures (central venous catheter placement, vertebroplasty, varicocele embolization, deep vein thrombosis treatment, transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt, uterine artery embolization, and peripheral artery angioplasty) and found their readability to be below the recommended grade level. Murray

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25357
```

et al [22], Alderson et al [23], and Lee et al [24] evaluated the quality and readability of websites referring to uterine artery, varicocele, and pelvic vein embolization, respectively. Website quality was found to be fair, and readability was suboptimal. However, to date, no study has evaluated web-based patient education resources referring to TACE.

Objective

The aim of this study is to evaluate the reliability, quality, readability, and completeness (using a novel content score) of websites that provide patient information about TACE.

Methods

Overview

A protocol delineating the objectives of the study, the outcomes of interest, and assessment criteria was registered with the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (identification number CRD42020202747). This systematic review was performed according to the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement [25].

Study Design

A keyword analytic tool named *Keywords Everywhere* was used to identify the most common keywords pertaining to TACE that are used in web searches globally [26]. The five keywords that were isolated, followed by their respective search volume (average number of searches performed per month over the last 12 months), were as follows: *tace* (40,500), *tace procedure* (6600), *chemoembolization* (2400), *tace in hcc* (1300), and *transarterial chemoembolization* (1300).

The three most popular search engines based on global traffic rankings were selected: Google, Yahoo, and Bing [27]. The website search was performed on May 24, 2020. Web browser cookies and search history were erased so that the search was not influenced by the reviewer's prior searches. Geolocation was turned off before the search to eliminate any geographical bias. The first 250 results of the five keyword searches on each of the three search engines were downloaded on a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. Duplicate websites were initially eliminated by the Remove duplicates tab in the Excel sheet. As URL addresses with minor alterations (eg, http vs https) can redirect to the same website, all the remaining website links were opened by one reviewer (GAS), who manually removed the rest of the Inaccessible duplicates. websites or websites with password-restricted access were excluded.

After removal of duplicate and inaccessible links, websites were excluded if they were (1) not in English, (2) irrelevant, (3) discussing TACE using less than 300 words (similar to the study by Hirsch et al [28]), (4) clearly addressing a scientific audience (eg, journal articles, medical newsletters, and treatment guidelines), (5) containing only medical education materials (eg, lecture slides and e-books), (6) providing only discharge instructions, (7) containing only audiovisual material (video), and (8) describing personal experiences of patients (eg, blogs, diaries, and commentaries). Websites discussing TACE with drug-eluting beads or embolization therapy for liver cancer were

XSL•FO

considered relevant. Eligible websites that directed to a PDF file were also included.

Webpages that belonged to the same domain and served as a succession of one another were evaluated as a website entity. Webpages that belonged to the same domain but served as an independent and stand-alone resource were evaluated separately. Website screening and extraction of website characteristics were performed by one reviewer (GAS). Comprehensive website assessment was performed by 2 medical doctors (GAS and ATV). To limit bias, only one of the 2 reviewers had experience with TACE (GAS). Both reviewers worked independently on a predefined Excel spreadsheet. Discrepancies were resolved through discussion.

Website Characteristics

Websites were categorized based on website owners into four categories: nonacademic hospitals (eg, community health care institutions), academic hospitals (eg, university health care institutions), not-for-profit organizations (eg, governmental or nongovernmental organizations and medical societies), and for-profit organizations (eg, private medical groups and commercial companies). The website owner, country of origin, date of creation, and date of the last update were extracted. The presence of a privacy statement and medical disclaimer and the number of images, videos, and advertisements were documented. The word count of each website was measured via a web browser extension named Word Counter Plus [29]. Only the words in the main text contributed to the total word count, whereas the text on the margins of the webpage, the contact information, and the references were disregarded. Websites with supplemental video content were excluded from the word count analysis. However, information from the videos was considered when evaluating the content of a website.

Health On the Net Foundation Code

The Health On the Net (HON) Foundation Code of Conduct is a certification provided by a board of experts (HON Foundation) to websites containing objective and transparent medical information [30]. Websites should adhere to the following eight principles: (1) authority (content is written only by medical professionals), (2) complementarity (information supports and does not replace the physician-patient relationship), (3) confidentiality (readers' privacy is protected), (4) attribution (sources of information are provided), (5) justifiability (claims are balanced and objective), (6) transparency (contact details of authors are provided), (7) financial disclosure (sources of funding are provided), and (8) advertising (advertised and editorial content are clearly distinguished). A browser extension named *HONcode Toolbar* was used to identify the websites that carried the HON code badge [31].

Website Assessment Tools

Journal of the American Medical Association Score

The Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA) score was generated to assess the reliability of health-related websites [32]. It comprises four benchmarks: (1) authorship (name, credentials, and affiliations of authors), (2) attribution (references and copyright), (3) currency (creation and review

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25357

date), and (4) disclosure (ownership, sponsorship, advertising, underwriting, commercial funding arrangements or support, and conflict of interest). The total JAMA score ranges from 0 to 4. Points are awarded based on whether the subdivisions of each benchmark are addressed. Websites mentioning an editorial board for the entire website but not specifically for the TACE-related page were not given credits for authorship.

DISCERN Instrument

The DISCERN instrument has been widely used to evaluate the quality of written health information (Multimedia Appendix 1) [33]. It consists of 16 questions, each receiving points from 1 (definitive *no*) to 5 (definitive *yes*). Questions 1-8 assess the reliability of the material, questions 9-15 assess the quality of the content regarding treatment choices, and question 16 is a rating of the overall quality of the publication. To limit subjectivity between the 2 reviewers, the grading system for each question was standardized in advance, based on the DISCERN manual. The total DISCERN score spans between 16 and 80 and breaks down as excellent (68-80), good (55-67), fair (42-54), poor (29-41), and very poor (16-28).

TACE Content Score

To evaluate the completeness of the information provided by websites, a novel scoring system was created based on the 2017 Society of Interventional Radiology Quality Improvement guidelines [34] and on our expert opinion (Multimedia Appendix 2). Our TACE content score consists of 35 key points that fall under the following categories: (1) background, (2) indications, (3) contraindications, (4) benefits, (5) preoperative considerations, (6) procedure description, (7) postoperative considerations, (8) additional treatments, and (9) risks. The key points were selected based on what information is expected to be found in materials that provide information to patients. Technical aspects, such as nomenclature or size of chemoembolic agents, were not considered relevant for patients and were therefore not included in our scoring system. Each key point was awarded 2 points for full mention, 1 point for partial mention, and 0 points for no mention. Total TACE content scores are hinged between 0 and 70.

Flesch Reading Ease Score and Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level

The Flesch Reading Ease Score (FRES) and Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level (FKGL) are mathematical formulas that take into account the number of words per sentence and the number of syllables per word to quantify the readability of written materials [35]. The FRES measures the complexity of the text and corresponds to the writing style difficulty proposed by the US Department of Health and Human Sciences. The FKGL corresponds to the grade level that the reader must have to comprehend the text. Although the two scores consist of the same core metrics, they correlate inversely, so a website with a higher FRES would have a lower FKGL. Formulas such as the Gunning Fox Index that take into account the total number of complex words (ie, words that contain more than three syllables) were not preferred in our study, as many medical terms (including the word chemoembolization) contain more than three syllables. FRES and FKGL indexes were used instead,

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

as they are the most widely used and do not solely weigh polysyllabic words.

Text from each webpage was copied and pasted on a free web-based readability checker named *Readability Formulas* [36]. The selection of words for readability assessment was the same as the aforementioned selection of words for the calculation of word count. The two scores were calculated after text formatting (addition of full stops when absent, removal of references and hyperlinks, removal of bullets, and addition of commas when the listed items were single words). Websites with video content were excluded from readability analysis.

The average reading level of the US population is eighth grade; therefore, it has been suggested that website content should be written at the 6th grade level or lower [37].

Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool

The Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT) was developed by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality of the US Department of Health and Human Sciences to evaluate the understandability and actionability of patient education materials (printable or audiovisual) [38]. Understandability refers to the ability of the material to be understood by readers of varying levels of literacy, whereas actionability refers to the extent to which the material points out the potential actions that readers must take. Overall, PEMAT consists of 19 items measuring understandability and 7 items

measuring actionability. Each item is scored as 0 (*disagree*), 1 (*agree*), or NA (*not applicable*) when appropriate. The sum of all awarded points gets divided by the number of total possible points. The quotient multiplied by 100 gives the final PEMAT score for each subdivision. Materials with scores above 70% are considered adequately understandable and actionable [38].

Statistical Analysis

Medians and interquartile ranges were calculated for continuous variables, whereas frequencies and percentages were calculated for categorical variables. The chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables among the website categories. Continuous variables were compared among website categories using one-way analysis of variance and Kruskal-Wallis test. Correlation between continuous variables was examined using Pearson or Spearman rank correlation coefficients. Statistical significance was set at P<.05. Analyses were performed using SPSS software, version 20.0 (IBM Corporation).

Results

Search Results

A total of 3750 websites were extracted from the three search engines. Overall, 86 URLs belonging to 78 unique website domains met the inclusion criteria (Multimedia Appendix 3). After grouping the URLs with split chemoembolization content, 81 website entities were evaluated (Figure 1).



Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis) flow diagram.



Website Characteristics

The included websites originated from 11 different countries, 62% (50/81) of which were from North America. Of the 81 websites, 15 (19%) belonged to nonacademic hospitals, 29 (36%) belonged to academic hospitals, 21 (26%) belonged to not-for-profit organizations, and 16 (20%) belonged to for-profit organizations.

A privacy statement was provided on 86% (70/78) of website domains. The presence of a privacy statement did not vary by website category. A medical disclaimer was present on 72% (56/78) of website domains. Not-for-profit websites were significantly associated with the presence of a medical disclaimer (χ^2_3 =2.8; *P*=.005), whereas for-profit websites were significantly associated with the absence of a medical disclaimer (χ^2_3 =3.7; *P*<.001).

No illustrations or videos were used on 56% (45/81) of the websites. Of 81 websites, 21 (26%) used only one image and 13 (16%) used more than one image, whereas supplemental videos were used in 5 (6%) websites. Advertisements were displayed on 6% (5/81) of the websites, most of which (4/5, 80%) were in the for-profit category.

The median word count was 765 words (IQR 518.3-1152.3; Table 1). Not-for-profit websites were associated with a significantly higher word count than nonacademic hospitals and for-profit websites (P=.04 and P=.01, respectively). There was a positive correlation between word count and total JAMA score (r_s =+0.463; P<.001), total DISCERN score (r_s =+0.786; P<.001), total TACE content score (r=+0.665; P<.001), and PEMAT actionability score (r_s =+0.548; P<.001).

Table 1. Assessment results per website category and overall.

Assessment tools	Nonacademic hospitals (n=15), median (IQR)	Academic hospitals (n=29), median (IQR)	Not-for-profit organizations (n=21), median (IQR)	For-profit organizations (n=16), median (IQR)	Total (N=81), median (IQR)
Word count	678 (435.3-873.8)	718 (501.5-1268.8)	1091 (792.5-1785.5)	544 (403.0-763.0)	765 (518.3- 1152.3)
Journal of the Ameri- can Medical Associa- tion	1.17 (0.83-1.17)	1.17 (0.83-1.50)	1.67 (1.33-2.25)	1.25 (0.83-1.67)	1.33 (0.83-1.75)
DISCERN	45.0 (37.0-52.0)	47.0 (37.5-54.0)	55.0 (49.0-62.0)	43.5 (34.0-46.0)	47.0 (40.5-54.0)
Transarterial chemoembolization content score	31.0 (29.0-43.0)	34.0 (26.5-41.5)	42.0 (35.0-46.0)	31.0 (23.3-33.8)	35.0 (27.0-43.0)
Flesch Reading Ease Score	43.1 (31.1-52.8)	47.9 (36.1-62.6)	48.9 (45.3-58.4)	41.9 (31.6-48.4)	47.0 (38.7-57.8)
Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level	11.2 (10.0-12.9)	10.8 (8.3-13.4)	10.6 (8.7-11.8)	11.9 (10.4-12.7)	11.2 (8.9-12.6)
PEMAT ^a understand- ability	0.75 (0.66-0.79)	0.77 (0.69-0.81)	0.77 (0.69-0.85)	0.69 (0.54-0.77)	0.75 (0.69-0.81)
PEMAT actionability	0.00 (0.00-0.40)	0.40 (0.00-0.60)	0.40 (0.00-0.70)	0.00 (0.00-0.40)	0.00 (0.00-0.60)

^aPEMAT: Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool.

HON Code

The HON code certification was present on 12% (9/78) of the included website domains. Per category, there were 0% (0/14) HON-certified website domains in the nonacademic, 4% (1/28) in the academic, 24% (5/21) in the not-for-profit, and 20% (3/15) in the for-profit categories. No significant association was found between website categories and the presence of HON codes.

Websites with a HON code certification had higher total JAMA scores (P=.001) but did not have a significantly higher total DISCERN score, TACE content, FRES, FKGL, or PEMAT score.

JAMA Score

The median JAMA score was 1.33 (IQR 0.83-1.75; Table 1). Information about authorship was absent on 88% (71/81) of the websites (Table 2). Of 81 websites, 8 (10%) mentioned author qualifications, 7 (9%) of which were authored or coauthored

by a medical doctor. Sources of information were provided by 17% (14/81) of the websites (range 1-14 references). The date of publication of the latest update was mentioned in 42% (34/81) of websites. The median years since publication and update were 5.50 (IQR 2.25-9.75) and 1.50 (IQR 0.25-2.75), respectively. Only 11% (9/81) of the websites provided full disclosure.

Not-for-profit websites had significantly higher total JAMA scores than all other categories (P=.001 for nonacademic hospitals, P=.008 for academic hospitals, and P=.04 for for-profit organizations; Table 1). Not-for-profit websites were significantly associated with the presence of full disclosure and full attribution (P=.003 and P=.06, respectively).

There was a positive correlation between the total JAMA score and total DISCERN score (r_s =+0.579; *P*<.001), total TACE content score (r_s =+0.344; *P*=.002), FRES (r_s =+0.356; *P*=.002), and FKGL (r_s =-0.315; *P*=.006).



Table 2. Performance of websites on subdivisions of Journal of the American Medical Association benchmarks per category.

Aspects of benchmark disclosed on the website		Nonacademic hospi- tals (n=15), n (%)	Academic hospi- tals (n=29), n (%)	Not-for-profit organi- zations (n=21), n (%)	For-profit organiza- tions (n=16), n (%)	Total (N=81), n (%)
Authorship		·				
Name of author		0 (0)	2 (7)	4 (19)	3 (19)	9 (11)
Credentials of author		1 (7)	2 (7)	3 (14)	2 (13)	8 (10)
Affiliations of author		1 (7)	1 (3)	2 (10)	2 (13)	6 (7)
Adherence to all aspects	of benchmark	0 (0)	1 (3)	1 (5)	2 (13)	4 (5)
Attribution						
References		0 (0)	2 (7)	8 (38)	4 (25)	14 (17)
Copyright information		15 (100)	28 (97)	18 (86)	15 (94)	76 (94)
Adherence to all aspects	of benchmark	0 (0)	2 (7)	7 (33)	4 (25)	13 (16)
Currency						
Date created		3 (20)	7 (24)	9 (43)	2 (13)	21 (26)
Date updated		0 (0)	8 (28)	12 (57)	2 (13)	22 (27)
Adherence to all aspects	of benchmark	0 (0)	5 (17)	3 (14)	1 (6)	9 (11)
Disclosure						
Site ownership		15 (100)	29 (100)	21 (100)	16 (100)	81 (100)
Sponsorship, advertising commercial funding arra support	, underwriting, ngements, or	7 (46.7)	11 (37.9)	11 (52)	7 (44)	36 (44)
Conflicts of interest		0 (0)	1 (3)	8 (38)	3 (19)	12 (15)
Adherence to all aspects	of benchmark	0 (0)	0 (0)	6 (29)	3 (19)	9 (11)

DISCERN Score

The median DISCERN score was 47 (IQR 40.5-54.0), corresponding to fair quality (Table 1). No website had a total DISCERN score in the *excellent* range. The median score in the *Overall quality* section was 3.

The questions with the lowest scores were *No TACE* and *Sources*, whereas *How TACE works* and *Relevance to patients*

were the questions with the highest scores (Figure 2). The median score in the *Bias and balance* section was 4. Mention of benefits did not receive a more favorable scoring compared with risks, and vice versa (mean rank 30.48 vs 32.29; P=.27). No additional resources for further reading were provided on 21% (17/81) of the websites. The median score in the *Shared decision making* section was 1.

Figure 2. Distribution of scores on each component of the DISCERN score. Scores range from 1 (definitive no, red) to 5 (definitive yes, dark green). TACE: transarterial chemoembolization.



Not-for-profit websites had significantly higher total DISCERN scores than all other website categories (P=.006 for nonacademic hospitals, P=.03 for academic hospitals, and P<.001 for for-profit organizations; Table 1). They also scored higher in certain subdivisions (*Currency*, *Bias and balance*, *Reference to uncertainty*, and *Risks*) compared with all other categories (P<.05), and in *How TACE works* and in *Overall quality* compared with for-profit websites (P<.05).

Higher DISCERN scores were associated with higher TACE content scores (*r*=+0.701; *P*<.001).

TACE Content Score

The median TACE content score was 35 (IQR 27-43; Table 1). Of 81 websites, only 4 (5%) websites reached a completeness of \geq 70%, whereas only 1 (1%) website reached 90% completeness.



Nearly all (78/81, 96%) websites mentioned the involvement of both chemotherapeutic and embolic agents in the procedure (Figure 3). Of 81 websites, 24 (30%) did not mention that the procedure is performed by an interventional radiologist; 45 (56%) websites failed to mention that the procedure involves exposure to x-rays along with injection of a contrast agent; 34 (42%) websites did not mention that TACE is offered when tumors are not amenable to curative treatments; 36 (45%) websites did not mention the nonchemotherapeutic medications that patients receive perioperatively; and 54 (67%) websites did not mention that certain medications need to be held before the procedure. The most underrepresented section was *Contraindications*, as 37% (30/81) of the websites failed to mention a single contraindication.

Figure 3. Distribution of scores on each component of the transarterial chemoembolization–content score. Scores range from 0 (no mention, blue) to 2 (full mention, yellow). TACE: transarterial chemoembolization.



No benefits were mentioned on 5% (4/81) of the websites. Of 81 websites, 43 (53%) mentioned one or two benefits, whereas 34 (42%) websites mentioned two or more benefits. The most frequently mentioned benefit was "*less chemotherapy side effects*" (51/81, 63%), whereas the least commonly mentioned benefit was "*bridging to liver transplantation*" (42/81, 52%).

No risks were mentioned on 11% (9/81) of the websites. Of 81 websites, 14 (17%) mentioned one or two risks, whereas 58 (72%) mentioned three or more risks. The most commonly mentioned risks were "*postembolization syndrome*" (mentioned on 67/81, 83% of websites) and "*liver dysfunction*" (mentioned on 46/81, 57% of websites), whereas the least commonly mentioned risks were "*postoperative death*" (not mentioned on 64/81, 79% of websites) and "*nontarget embolism*" (not mentioned on 55/81, 68% of websites).

Not-for-profit websites had higher total TACE content scores than academic and for-profit websites (P=.04 and P=.001, respectively; Table 1). They also had significantly higher scores in *Risks* compared with all other categories (P=.01 for nonacademic hospitals, P<.001 for academic hospitals, and P<.001 for for-profit organizations) and in *Procedure description* compared with for-profit websites (P=.001). For-profit websites had a significantly lower score in *pre- and*

postprocedure considerations compared with academic (P=.04) and not-for-profit websites (P=.009). No statistically significant difference existed between website categories in terms of background, indications, contraindications, benefits, and additional treatments.

Flesch Reading Ease Score and Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level

The median FRES was 47.0 (IQR 38.7-57.8), and the median FKGL was 11.2 (IQR 8.9-12.6), corresponding to difficult degrees of readability (Table 1). Of the 76 websites, only 2 (3%) had a readability level of 7th grade, whereas 0 (0%) websites were within the recommended readability level of 6th grade or lower (Table 3). Moreover, 0 (0%) websites had an FRES corresponding to the *easy* or *very easy* readability level. Most websites (48/76, 63%) were deemed *difficult* or *very difficult* to read.

No significant difference was found in the FRES and FKGL between the website categories (Table 1). Websites with a higher FRES were associated with higher total DISCERN scores (r=+0.411; P<.001) and total TACE content scores (r=+0.250; P=.03). Websites with a lower FKGL were associated with higher total DISCERN scores (r=-0.392; P<.001) and total TACE content scores (r=-0.289; P=.01).



Table 3.	Percentage of websites	per each Elesch Reading	z Ease Scale category a	and corresponding	Flesch-Kincaid Gr	ade Level
Table 5.	r creentage or websites	per caen riesen Reading	g hase scale category a	ind corresponding	s riesen-Kinealu Ora	auc Level

Flesch Reading Ease Scale	US Department of Health and Human Sciences writing style difficulty	Corresponding grade	Number of websites (n=76), n (%)	Corresponding Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level, median (IQR)
91-100	Very easy	5th	0 (0)	N/A ^a
81-90	Easy	6th	0 (0)	N/A
71-80	Fairly easy	7th	2 (3)	6.7 (6.4-7.0)
61-70	Standard	8th-9th	13 (17)	8.0 (7.4-8.5)
51-60	Fairly difficult	10th-12th	13 (17)	9.2 (8.8-10.6)
31-50	Difficult	College student	37 (49)	11.7 (11.0-12.6)
0-30	Very difficult	College graduate	11 (15)	15.1 (14.4-16.3)

^aN/A: not applicable.

Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool

The median understandability score was 0.75 (IQR 0.69-0.81; Table 1). Of 81 websites, 49 (61%) scored higher than 70% on the understandability score; 11 (14%) websites had distracting content; and 17 (21%) websites used medical vocabulary without adequate explanation (Table 4). Of the 36 websites that used visual aids (images or videos), 17 (47%) were deemed useful and 18 (50%) displayed captions.

The median actionability score was 0.0 (IQR 0.0-0.6; Table 1). Of 81 websites, 13 (16%) websites scored higher than 70% on the actionability score; 42 (52%) websites scored zero; 39 (48%) websites provided at least one action that consumers should take with regards to TACE (eg, holding certain home medications before the procedure, refraining from certain

activities after the procedure, and discussing their concerns with their doctor; Table 4).

There were no significant correlations between the website category and PEMAT performance (Table 1). There was a positive correlation between PEMAT understandability and total DISCERN scores (r_s =+0.271; P=.02). There was a positive correlation between PEMAT actionability and total DISCERN score (r_s =+0.336; P=.002) and total TACE content score (r_s =+0.376; P=.001). There was a positive correlation between PEMAT understandability or actionability scores and the FRES (r_s =+0.372, P=.001 and r_s =+0.704, P<.001, respectively) and a negative correlation between PEMAT understandability or actionability or actionability or actionability or r_s =-0.695, P<.001, respectively).



 Table 4. Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool for understandability and actionability and performance of websites per website category.

Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool items		demic ls	Academi tals	c hospi-	Not-for-p ganizatio	profit or- ns	For-profit organi- zations		Total	<u> </u>
	n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n
Understandability		•								
Content										
The material makes its purpose completely evident.	14 (93)	15	29 (100)	29	20 (95)	21	16(100)	16	79 (98)	81
The material does not include information or content that distracts from its purpose.	13 (87)	15	28 (97)	29	19 (91)	21	10 (63)	16	70 (86)	81
The material uses common, everyday lan- guage.	15 (100)	15	25 (86)	29	19 (91)	21	13 (81)	16	72 (90)	81
Medical terms are used only to familiarize the audience with the terms.	10 (67)	15	21 (72)	29	20 (95)	21	13 (81)	16	64 (79)	81
The material uses active voice.	8 (53)	15	19 (66)	29	9 (43)	21	7 (44)	16	43 (53)	81
Use of numbers										
Numbers appearing in the material are clear and easy to understand.	9 (100)	9	22 (100)	22	21 (100)	21	12 (100)	12	64 (100)	64
The material does not expect the user to perform calculations.	15 (100)	15	29 (100)	29	20 (95)	21	15 (94)	16	79 (98)	81
Organization										
The material breaks or <i>chunks</i> information into short sections.	15 (100)	15	26 (90)	29	20 (95)	21	14 (88)	16	75 (93)	81
The material's sections have informative headers.	15 (100)	15	26 (93)	29	21 (100)	21	12 (75)	16	74 (91)	81
The material presents information in a logical sequence.	14 (93)	15	23 (79)	29	19 (91)	21	8 (50)	16	64 (79)	81
The material provides a summary.	0 (0)	15	0 (0)	29	1 (5)	21	0 (0)	16	1(1)	81
Layout and design										
The material uses visual cues to draw atten- tion to key points.	13 (80)	15	21 (76)	29	16 (76)	21	9 (56)	16	59 (73)	81
Text on the screen is easy to read (<i>for audio-visual content</i>).	N/A ^a	N/A	1 (100)	1	N/A	N/A	2 (100)	2	3 (100)	3
The material allows the user to hear the words clearly (<i>for audiovisual content</i>).	1 (100)	1	1 (100)	1	N/A	N/A	1 (50)	2	3 (75)	4
Use of visual aids										
The material uses visual aids whenever they could make content more easily understood.	1 (7)	15	6 (21)	29	3 (14)	21	6 (38)	16	16 (20)	81
The material's visual aids reinforce rather than distract from the content.	1 (20)	5	6 (46)	13	4 (50)	8	6 (60)	10	17 (47)	36
The material's visual aids have clear titles or captions.	0 (0)	5	7 (54)	13	5 (63)	8	6 (60)	10	18 (50)	36
The material uses illustrations and pho- tographs that are clear and uncluttered.	3 (60)	5	12 (92)	13	8 (100)	8	8 (80)	10	31 (86)	36
The material uses simple tables with short and clear row and column headings.	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Actionability										
The material clearly identifies at least one action the user can take.	5 (33)	15	18 (62)	29	11 (52)	21	5 (31)	16	39 (48)	81
The material addresses the user directly when describing actions.	5 (33)	15	18 (62)	29	11 (52)	21	5 (31)	16	39 (48)	81

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25357

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2021 | vol. 7 | iss. 2 |e25357 | p.21 (page number not for citation purposes)

Pat	ent Education Materials Assessment Tool items	ems Nonacademic hospitals		Academic hospi- tals		Not-for-profit or- ganizations		For-profit organi- zations		Total	
		n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n	n (%)	Total, n
	The material breaks down any action into man- ageable, explicit steps.	1 (7)	15	11 (38)	29	7 (33)	21	2 (13)	16	21 (26)	81
	The material provides a tangible tool whenever it could help the user take action.	0 (0)	15	6 (21)	29	5 (24)	21	2 (13)	16	13 (16)	81
	The material provides simple instructions or examples of how to perform calculations.	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	The material explains how to use charts, graphs, tables, or diagrams to take actions.	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	The material uses visual aids whenever they could make it easier to act on the instructions.	0 (0)	15	0 (0)	29	0 (0)	21	1 (6)	16	1 (1)	81

^aN/A: not applicable.

Discussion

Principal Findings

TACE is a valuable treatment option for select cases of primary or metastatic liver tumors. As such, it will remain a reason for thousands of web searches by patients with liver cancer and their families. Despite the multitude of available websites, no previous study has explored the reliability, quality, readability, understandability, actionability, and completeness of websites providing consumer-directed information on TACE. Our systematic review demonstrates that these websites are generally unreliable and are characterized by fair quality, insufficient content, adequate understandability, and poor readability and actionability.

There is no consensus regarding the optimal method for rating health-related websites. To date, there has been considerable heterogeneity among studies in terms of search engines or keywords used, number of screened websites, inclusion criteria, parameters evaluated, and assessment tools. Some studies focus only on one parameter (eg, readability) [21,39-41], whereas others address quality and content as well [23,24,28,42-44]. Multiple quality and readability assessment tools exist, the selection of which relies on the discretion of the study group. On the contrary, the assessment of the content provided by websites is topic-specific and requires a scoring tool dedicated to the topic of interest.

Many studies have generated *topic-specific scores* to evaluate the accuracy and completeness of websites [28,42-44]. In this study, we generated a novel TACE-specific score that includes 35 key points, which we believe should be covered by any website that aspires to adequately educate patients on TACE. Our results showed that, on average, websites had 50% completeness, indicating a significant lack of content. Although the procedure was adequately described, certain benefits and risks were missed by many websites, and contraindications were largely neglected. One striking finding of our study is that almost 30% of websites failed to mention that the procedure was performed by an interventional radiologist. Of note, one website stated that the procedure was performed by *a technician*. Given the challenge of raising public awareness that IR has been

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25357
```

RenderX

facing, not only in the general public but also in the oncology community, emphasizing the performing specialty is of utmost importance [18,45].

Another important finding of our study is the strikingly poor reporting of authorship, currency, and references in the included websites, irrespective of their category. Mention of these features is essential for any health-related website that aspires to provide credible information and gain the trust of readers [14]. Moreover, 28% (22/78) of websites did not provide a medical disclaimer. A medical disclaimer would remind readers that the accuracy of the content provided is not guaranteed and that direct patient-physician discussion is irreplaceable. A study of 512 participants showed that 60% of people believe that the information they find on the internet is the same as or better than the information provided by their doctors [46]. Therefore, a medical disclaimer would highlight that health decision-making cannot be shaped solely based on self-education and that consultation with a medical professional is essential. Ideally, disclaimers should be readily visible on the same page as the medical content, instead of an obscure spot at the bottom of a website, as in most websites we evaluated. Readers are very unlikely to specifically search for disclosure statements [47].

The lack of these reliability parameters is also reflected by the low percentage (9/78, 12%) of websites that carried the HON certification. As a simple identifier of website objectivity and transparency, the HON code badge directs internet users toward more reliable websites. Our results showed that websites carrying a HON badge had higher JAMA scores, which is expected because these 2 indices share certain similar parameters. However, the presence of HON certification was *not* associated with more favorable scores on the quality, completeness, and readability tools that we used. This proves that these websites may be trustworthy but may not adequately describe the health-related topic or may do so but in a way that is not reader friendly. Therefore, the HON badge should not be perceived as the sole identifier of high-quality websites.

There are dozens of readability formulas available for quantitative readability assessment [40]. Generally, their main presumption is that longer sentences and longer words are more difficult to read. Although this may hold true, it does not

consider the coherence of the text or the literal complexity of the words. For instance, a short word would be considered easy to read by the formulas, but it may be too sophisticated for the average reader. Moreover, readability results may vary based on word sampling, text formatting, and calculation tools [48].

To avoid a one-sided approach to readability, we chose to evaluate websites using PEMAT as an additional tool. PEMAT is not a formula-based readability index but a subjective scoring system dedicated to health-related materials. It evaluates the website holistically, taking into consideration not only the text but also the organization of the information, the effectiveness of the multimedia, and the presence of distracting content. These factors determine how likely the website is to engage readers and hold their attention.

The results from our readability assessment showed that the median readability level of the websites was at the 11th grade level, well above the recommended 6th grade threshold. This indicates that patients with low health literacy are at a disadvantage, as they would not be able to comprehend the web-based resources available for TACE. Although 61% (49/81) of websites were deemed understandable, 21% (17/81) of the websites used medical terms without adequate explanation, and 14% (11/81) of the websites had distracting content. Moreover, approximately half of the websites did not mention a single action that readers must take. Suggesting clear actions would enable readers to make informed decisions about their care and therefore improve their health literacy [49,50].

Websites with a higher word count scored better on the TACE content and PEMAT actionability scores. This is expected, as more words tend to provide more content and therefore more complete information. However, websites need to find the right *balance* between providing adequate content and maintaining optimal readability. Our results showed that websites with a higher word count were *not* significantly associated with higher PEMAT understandability scores. Therefore, longer texts need to provide comprehensible information without distracting the reader.

The websites we evaluated seemed to underestimate the value of multimedia, as 56% (45/81) of websites did not use a single illustration or video. Of the websites that provided visual aids, only half were considered to be reinforcing or adequately captioned. Visual aids deliver information in a way that is more familiar to some patients and do not require a high level of literacy [51]. Given that TACE is a procedure unfamiliar to the general public, the use of multimedia could be helpful in describing the process in a simplified manner. Spoken animation has been found to be the most efficient way of communicating complex health information to people with low health literacy and could prove useful in the context of TACE [52].

Not-for-profit websites were found to provide the most reliable, high-quality, and complete content compared with all other website categories, as reflected by the significantly higher scores in JAMA, DISCERN, and TACE- content scores. They also mentioned more risks and were deemed less biased. This is in line with other studies that have found more favorable quality scores on nonprofit websites [22,43,53-55]. Nonprofit organizations aspire to educate the public in an objective and

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25357

XSI•FC

balanced way without seeking direct financial benefits, as opposed to hospitals and companies. As such, they appear to be trustworthy sources of patient information.

Recommendations for Website Developers

When creating a website that aspires to provide health education, content creators need to consult medical professionals with expertise on the desired topic. The name and credentials of the author, the date of creation and of last update, and the references should by no means be neglected so that the reader is ascertained that the information is credible and reliable. A medical disclaimer should be considered an essential feature and should be clearly and distinctly located on the webpage.

There are multiple ways to enhance the learning process of website users. Illustrations and animated videos remarkably increase the understandability of the presented content and therefore should be more broadly used. Summary tables may draw attention to take-away points in a simplified way and aid in the decision-making process. Brief interactive quizzes at the end of the article could also consolidate the reader's knowledge. The presence of resources for additional reading is helpful in directing patients to other useful websites with pertinent information.

An average web user does not have the capacity to screen websites and proceed to those that address consumers. A useful addition to search engines would be to create a web browser extension that would provide a sign next to each health-related website (similar to the HON code badge), stating whether it is appropriate for consumer education. Another option for websites would be to either have two separate versions, one for consumers and one for professionals (eg, UpToDate [56] and Merck manual [57]), or provide plain-language summaries (eg, Cochrane evidence [58]). These suggestions would enable patients to be readily directed to websites that provide information in the lay language.

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. Quality assessment tools may introduce a subjective bias; however, a considerable attempt was made to standardize the grading process. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion, and no interrater variability was measured. No blinding existed between the reviewers and the website owner. Furthermore, a new scoring system for TACE has been suggested, which has not been validated by other studies. Website rank on the search engines was not documented, as websites may appear on different ranks depending on the search history and location of each user. Content provided by supplementary videos (when available) was considered; however, websites providing only video content and foreign-language websites were excluded. Studies assessing such websites could shed further light on the quality of existing resources. Finally, websites are dynamic and may have been updated by the time the quality assessment took place.

Conclusions

To our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate web-based resources that provide information about TACE to patients. Our comprehensive assessment showed that the materials currently

available on the web are unreliable, difficult to read, easy to understand but difficult to act upon, and do not provide complete information about TACE. Websites were characterized by fair quality and did not meet the standards for shared decision-making. Website developers are encouraged to revise their content and provide transparent, complete, and readable resources so that patients can make informed and safe decisions. Certain suggestions are made that could help high-quality and reader-friendly websites become more accessible to consumers.

Acknowledgments

No funding was received for this study. The authors would like to thank Dr G Karamitros for helping with the conceptualization of the study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 DISCERN score. [DOCX File, 14 KB - cancer_v7i2e25357_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Transarterial chemoembolization content score. [DOCX File , 16 KB - cancer_v7i2e25357_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 List of included websites. [DOCX File , 28 KB - cancer v7i2e25357 app3.docx]

References

- 1. Fox S, Duggan M. Health Online. Pew Research Center. 2013 Jan 15. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2013/</u> 01/15/health-online-2013/ [accessed 2020-05-15]
- 2. European citizens' digital health literacy? European Commission.: Flash Eurobarometer 404 TNS Political & Social; 2014 Sep. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/flash/fl_404_en.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-24]
- 3. Hesse BW, Nelson DE, Kreps GL, Croyle RT, Arora NK, Rimer BK, et al. Trust and sources of health information: the impact of the Internet and its implications for health care providers: findings from the first Health Information National Trends Survey. Arch Intern Med 2005;165(22):2618-2624. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.165.22.2618] [Medline: 16344419]
- 4. Yigzaw KY, Wynn R, Marco-Ruiz L, Budrionis A, Oyeyemi SO, Fagerlund AJ, et al. The association between health information seeking on the internet and physician visits (The Seventh Tromsø Study Part 4): population-based questionnaire study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Mar 5;22(3):e13120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13120] [Medline: 32134387]
- Fowler GE, Baker DM, Lee MJ, Brown SR. A systematic review of online resources to support patient decision-making for full-thickness rectal prolapse surgery. Tech Coloproctol 2017 Nov 3;21(11):853-862 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10151-017-1708-7] [Medline: 29101494]
- Musbahi A, Brown L, Reddy A, Viswanath Y, Rao M, Gopinath B. Systematic review of online patient resources to support shared decision making for bariatric surgery. Int J Surg 2020 Feb;74:34-38. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijsu.2019.12.021</u>] [Medline: <u>31883844</u>]
- Baker DM, Marshall JH, Lee MJ, Jones GL, Brown SR, Lobo AJ. A systematic review of internet decision-making resources for patients considering surgery for ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2017 Dec;23(8):1293-1300. [doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001198] [Medline: 28708807]
- Bruce JG, Tucholka JL, Steffens NM, Neuman HB. Quality of online information to support patient decision-making in breast cancer surgery. J Surg Oncol 2015 Nov;112(6):575-580 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jso.24046] [Medline: 26417898]
- Ogasawara R, Katsumata N, Toyooka T, Akaishi Y, Yokoyama T, Kadokura G. Reliability of cancer treatment information on the internet: observational study. JMIR Cancer 2018 Dec 17;4(2):e10031 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10031] [Medline: 30559090]
- 10. Sbaffi L, Rowley J. Trust and credibility in web-based health information: a review and agenda for future research. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 19;19(6):e218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7579] [Medline: 28630033]
- 11. Mahadevan R. What Is Health Literacy? Center for Health Care Strategies. 2013 Oct. URL: <u>https://www.chcs.org/resource/health-literacy-fact-sheets/</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]

- 12. Keselman A, Arnott Smith C, Murcko AC, Kaufman DR. Evaluating the quality of health information in a changing digital ecosystem. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 08;21(2):e11129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11129] [Medline: 30735144]
- 13. Feufel MA, Stahl SF. What do web-use skill differences imply for online health information searches? J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2051] [Medline: 22695686]
- 14. Zulman DM, Kirch M, Zheng K, An LC. Trust in the internet as a health resource among older adults: analysis of data from a nationally representative survey. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(1):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1552] [Medline: 21324832]
- 15. Hansberry DR, Agarwal N, Baker SR. Health literacy and online educational resources: an opportunity to educate patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2015 Jan;204(1):111-116. [doi: <u>10.2214/AJR.14.13086</u>] [Medline: <u>25539245</u>]
- 16. Sims MJ, Rilling WS. Psychosocial management of distress in interventional radiology patients with cancer. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol 2006 Sep;9(3):101-105. [doi: 10.1053/j.tvir.2007.02.001] [Medline: 17561212]
- Baerlocher MO, Asch MR, Puri G, Vellahottam A, Myers A, Andrews K. Awareness of interventional radiology among patients referred to the interventional radiology department: a survey of patients in a large Canadian community hospital. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2007 May;18(5):633-637. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvir.2007.02.034</u>] [Medline: <u>17494845</u>]
- Heister D, Jackson S, Doherty-Simor M, Newton I. An evaluation of trends in patient and public awareness of IR. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2018 May;29(5):661-668. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2017.11.023] [Medline: 29571952]
- 19. Young M, Savio J. Hepatic Chemoembolization. Florida: StatPearls Publishing; Feb 12, 2021:00. [Medline: 29939599]
- 20. Wang ZX, Li L, Tao FY. Health education helps to relieve postembolization pain during hepatic arterial chemoembolization therapy. J Pain Res 2018 Sep;Volume 11:2115-2121. [doi: 10.2147/jpr.s166333] [Medline: 30319286]
- 21. McEnteggart GE, Naeem M, Skierkowski D, Baird GL, Ahn SH, Soares G. Readability of online patient education materials related to IR. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2015 Aug;26(8):1164-1168. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2015.03.019] [Medline: 25935147]
- 22. Murray TE, Mansoor T, Bowden DJ, O'Neill DC, Lee MJ. Uterine artery embolization: an analysis of online patient information quality and readability with historical comparison. Academic Radiology 2018 May;25(5):619-625. [doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2017.11.007] [Medline: 29331361]
- 23. Alderson J, O'Neil D, Redmond C, Mulholland D, Lee M. Varicocele embolization: an assessment of the quality and readability of online patient information. Acad Radiol 2020 Jun;27(6):841-846. [doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2019.08.005] [Medline: 31494004]
- 24. Lee RJ, O'Neill DC, Brassil M, Alderson J, Lee MJ. Pelvic vein embolization: an assessment of the readability and quality of online information for patients. CVIR Endovasc 2020 Oct 18;3(1):52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s42155-020-00143-0] [Medline: 32886198]
- 25. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Br Med J 2009;339:b2535 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19622551</u>]
- 26. Keywords Everywhere. URL: https://keywordseverywhere.com [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 27. Top 15 Best Search Engines. eBizMBA. URL: <u>http://www.ebizmba.com/articles/search-engines</u> [accessed 2020-05-24]
- 28. Hirsch M, Aggarwal S, Barker C, Davis CJ, Duffy JM. Googling endometriosis: a systematic review of information available on the Internet. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2017 Dec;216(5):451-458.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.11.1007] [Medline: 27840143]
- 29. Roberts S. Word Counter Plus. Chrome Webstore. 2018. URL: <u>https://chrome.google.com/webstore/detail/word-counter-plus/</u> <u>fpjegfbcdijjfkceenlfoehpcakfgldj?hl=en</u> [accessed 2020-05-24]
- 30. Boyer C, Selby M, Scherrer JR, Appel RD. The Health On the Net Code of Conduct for medical and health Websites. Comput Biol Med 1998 Sep;28(5):603-610. [doi: 10.1016/s0010-4825(98)00037-7] [Medline: 9861515]
- 31. HONcode Toolbar. Chrome Webstore.: Health On The Net Foundation; 2019. URL: <u>https://chrome.google.com/webstore/</u> <u>detail/honcode-toolbar/migljoiadpobjnfkpmbpjekghdiilneb?hl=en</u> [accessed 2020-05-24]
- 32. Silberg WM, Lundberg GD, Musacchio RA. Assessing, controlling, and assuring the quality of medical information on the internet: caveant lector et viewor--Let the reader and viewer beware. J Am Med Assoc 1997 Apr 16;277(15):1244-1245. [Medline: 9103351]
- Charnock D, Shepperd S, Needham G, Gann R. DISCERN: an instrument for judging the quality of written consumer health information on treatment choices. J Epidemiol Commun Health 1999 Feb;53(2):105-111 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10396471]
- 34. Gaba RC, Lokken RP, Hickey RM, Lipnik AJ, Lewandowski RJ, Salem R, et al. Quality improvement guidelines for transarterial chemoembolization and embolization of hepatic malignancy. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2017 Sep;28(9):1210-1223.e3. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2017.04.025]
- 35. Flesch R. A new readability yardstick. J Appl Psychol 1948 Jun;32(3):221-233. [doi: <u>10.1037/h0057532</u>] [Medline: <u>18867058</u>]
- 36. Readability Formulas.: My Byline Media URL: https://readabilityformulas.com [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 37. Safeer RS, Keenan J. Health literacy: the gap between physicians and patients. Am Fam Physician 2005 Aug 01;72(3):463-468 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 16100861]
- Shoemaker SJ, Wolf MS, Brach C. Development of the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT): a new measure of understandability and actionability for print and audiovisual patient information. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Sep;96(3):395-403. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2014.05.027] [Medline: 24973195]

- AlKhalili R, Shukla PA, Patel RH, Sanghvi S, Hubbi B. Readability assessment of internet-based patient education materials related to mammography for breast cancer screening. Acad Radiol 2015 Mar;22(3):290-295. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acra.2014.10.009</u>] [Medline: <u>25488695</u>]
- 40. Hansberry DR, John A, John E, Agarwal N, Gonzales SF, Baker SR. A critical review of the readability of online patient education resources from RadiologyInfo.Org. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2014 Mar;202(3):566-575. [doi: 10.2214/AJR.13.11223] [Medline: 24555593]
- 41. Fitzsimmons PR, Michael BD, Hulley JL, Scott GO. A readability assessment of online Parkinson's disease information. J R Coll Physicians Edinb 2010 Dec;40(4):292-296. [doi: 10.4997/JRCPE.2010.401] [Medline: 21132132]
- 42. Ferreira G, Traeger AC, Machado G, O'Keeffe M, Maher CG. Credibility, accuracy, and comprehensiveness of internet-based information about low back pain: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 07;21(5):e13357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13357] [Medline: 31066689]
- 43. Nassiri M, Bruce-Brand RA, O'Neill F, Chenouri S, Curtin PT. Surfing for hip replacements: has the "internet tidal wave" led to better quality information. J Arthroplasty 2014 Jul;29(7):1339-1344.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.arth.2014.01.009</u>] [Medline: <u>24559520</u>]
- Fisher JH, O'Connor D, Flexman AM, Shapera S, Ryerson CJ. Accuracy and reliability of internet resources for information on idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2016 Jul 15;194(2):218-225. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201512-2393OC] [Medline: 26849779]
- 45. Keller EJ, Vogelzang RL. Who we are and what we can become: the anthropology of IR and challenges of forming a new specialty. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2018 Dec;29(12):1703-1704.e2. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2018.07.021] [Medline: 30502878]
- 46. Diaz JA, Griffith RA, Ng JJ, Reinert SE, Friedmann PD, Moulton AW. Patients' use of the internet for medical information. J Gen Intern Med 2002 Mar;17(3):180-185 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11929503</u>]
- 47. Eysenbach G, Köhler C. How do consumers search for and appraise health information on the world wide web? Qualitative study using focus groups, usability tests, and in-depth interviews. Br Med J 2002 Mar 09;324(7337):573-577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7337.573] [Medline: 11884321]
- Wang L, Miller MJ, Schmitt MR, Wen FK. Assessing readability formula differences with written health information materials: application, results, and recommendations. Res Social Adm Pharm 2013;9(5):503-516. [doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2012.05.009] [Medline: 22835706]
- 49. National action plan to improve health literacy. US Department of Health and Human Services. 2010. URL: <u>https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/Health_Literacy_Action_Plan.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-06-02]
- 50. Mitus AJ, Coughlin L. The value of actionable content in a clinical setting: access to better information facilitates enhanced cancer care. Am Health Drug Benefits 2013 Mar;6(2):104-106 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24991350]
- Frentsos J. Use of videos as supplemental education tools across the cancer trajectory. Clin J Oncol Nurs 2015 Dec;19(6):E126-E130. [doi: <u>10.1188/15.CJON.E126-E130</u>] [Medline: <u>26583647</u>]
- 52. Meppelink CS, van Weert JC, Haven CJ, Smit EG. The effectiveness of health animations in audiences with different health literacy levels: an experimental study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 13;17(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3979] [Medline: 25586711]
- 53. Nassiri M, Bruce-Brand RA, O'Neill F, Chenouri S, Curtin P. Perthes disease: the quality and reliability of information on the internet. J Pediatr Orthop 2015;35(5):530-535. [doi: 10.1097/BPO.00000000000312] [Medline: 25254387]
- 54. Haragan AF, Zuwiala CA, Himes KP. Online information about periviable birth: quality assessment. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019 Jun 7;2(1):e12524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12524] [Medline: 31518325]
- Liebl P, Seilacher E, Koester M, Stellamanns J, Zell J, Hübner J. What cancer patients find in the internet: the visibility of evidence-based patient information analysis of information on German websites. Oncol Res Treat 2015;38(5):212-218. [doi: 10.1159/000381739] [Medline: 25966768]
- 56. Patient Education. UpToDate. URL: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/table-of-contents/patient-education</u> [accessed 2020-08-24]
- 57. Merck Manual Consumer Version. Merck & Co, Inc. URL: <u>https://www.merckmanuals.com/home</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 58. Plain language summaries. Cochrane Community. URL: <u>https://community.cochrane.org/style-manual/</u> <u>cochrane-review-specific/plain-language-summaries</u> [accessed 2020-08-24]

Abbreviations

FKGL: Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level
FRES: Flesch Reading Ease Score
HON: Health On the Net
IR: interventional radiology
JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association
PEMAT: Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool
TACE: transarterial chemoembolization



Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 28.10.20; peer-reviewed by J Appalasamy, N Fijacko, P Rzymski; comments to author 14.03.21; revised version received 21.03.21; accepted 29.03.21; published 07.05.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Sideris GA, Vyllioti AT, Dima D, Chill M, Njuguna N The Value of Web-Based Patient Education Materials on Transarterial Chemoembolization: Systematic Review JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e25357 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25357

doi:<u>10.2196/25357</u> PMID:<u>33960948</u>

©Georgios Antonios Sideris, Aikaterini-Themis Vyllioti, Danai Dima, Michael Chill, Njogu Njuguna. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 07.05.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Development of a Digital Patient Education Tool for Patients With Cancer During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Sena Turkdogan¹, MPH, MD; Gabriel Schnitman², MSc, MD; Tianci Wang³, MSc; Raphael Gotlieb⁴, MSc; Jeffrey How⁵, MPH, MD; Walter Henri Gotlieb⁶, MD, PhD

¹Department of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

²Department of Experimental Surgery, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

³Department of Physiology, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁴Precare Inc, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁵Department of Gynecologic Oncology and Reproductive Medicine, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States ⁶Division of Gynecologic Oncology, Jewish General Hospital, Montreal, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Tianci Wang, MSc Department of Physiology McGill University 3649 Promenade Sir-William-Osler Montreal, QC, Canada Phone: 1 5144757717 Email: <u>tianci.wang@mail.mcgill.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a large portion of oncology consultations have been conducted remotely. The maladaptation or compromise of care could negatively impact oncology patients and their disease management.

Objective: We aimed to describe the development and implementation process of a web-based, animated patient education tool that supports oncology patients remotely in the context of fewer in-person interactions with health care providers.

Methods: The platform created presents multilingual oncology care instructions. Animations concerning cancer care and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic as well as immunotherapy and chemotherapy guides were the major areas of focus and represented 6 final produced video guides.

Results: The videos were watched 1244 times in a period of 6 months. The most watched animation was the COVID-19 & Oncology guide (viewed 565 times), followed by the video concerning general treatment orientations (viewed 249 times) and the video titled "Chemotherapy" (viewed 205 times). Although viewers were equally distributed among the age groups, most were aged 25 to 34 years (342/1244, 27.5%) and were females (745/1244, 59.9%).

Conclusions: The implementation of a patient education platform can be designed to prepare patients and their caregivers for their treatment and thus improve outcomes and satisfaction by using a methodical and collaborative approach. Multimedia tools allow a portion of a patient's care to occur in a home setting, thereby freeing them from the need for hospital resources.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e23637) doi:10.2196/23637

KEYWORDS

digital health; eHealth; patient education; COVID-19

Introduction

Over the past few months, the drastic escalation of the COVID-19 pandemic has imposed unprecedented challenges to the global health care system. Oncology patients are among the most vulnerable populations. Compared to patients without cancer, oncology patients are at a higher risk of contracting

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23637

RenderX

(18% vs 0.29%), as well as developing (39% vs. 8%), severe complications of COVID-19 [1,2]. Liu et al [3] recently examined the use of telehealth in oncology during the pandemic and discussed health care services that can be provided through digital means. Indeed, telemedicine visits have been rapidly adopted to prevent disease transmission, and the uptake of digital tools that facilitate remote networking has increased significantly

[4,5]. However, despite the increasing value of telehealth and the development of vast educational resources, little has been implemented to address demands from the patients' perspective [6,7]. Most patient education platforms that are available attempt to explain, in simple terms, the technical and medical aspects of a certain condition while limiting the information regarding what patients wish to learn, such as information about their treatment or recovery process. Additionally, these resources have not been properly studied by academia and face difficulty in penetrating large scales of usage and feedback.

The development of digital education tools for oncology patients could fill an unmet need in the growing telehealth environment, thereby empowering patients and reducing anxiety [6]. An ideal patient education tool that addresses this demand should function in support of care by medical professionals and provide knowledge and instructions tailored to oncology patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, the material presented should be based on updated medical information and be readily accessible and understandable.

The COVID-19 crisis has emphasized the demand for an organized, evidence-based, digital medical education tool that can satisfy patients' needs for knowledge. Although health information has become readily available on the internet, they are often ill adapted to the population's health literacy [8]. Furthermore, the lack of screening of published materials results in a heightened risk of misinformation [9]. Numerous studies have underlined the value of eHealth in the context of the pandemic and have provided evidence of the effectiveness of digital tools [7].

We propose an approach to the development of video guides for a web-based education platform for oncology patients that ensures that patients are equipped with adequate and accurate medical information. Similar strategies have been explored for the management of other diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic, such as the use of a storyboard-style, web-based education tool for patients undergoing otolaryngologic surgery [10]. The implementation of an oncology patient education tool that allows patients to provide feedback and communicate digitally could contribute toward overcoming challenges during this emotionally taxing period by alleviating anxiety and confusion, especially those among newly diagnosed oncology patients.

Methods

This is a descriptive study on the development process of a tool for addressing oncology patients' needs for educational information during the COVID-19 pandemic. The creation of this tool was conducted with a web-based platform via a collaborative process that united efforts from university, industry, and hospital departments. The platform was created to serve as an engaging access portal for patients to intuitively navigate information.

This study was conducted from April to August 2020, that is, after the pandemic became a well-established global threat that forced health care institutions to deliver patient education via novel procedural methods.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23637
```

This study's procedures were performed in 4 major steps. The first step was topic selection. The topics covered in the education materials sought to directly target oncology patients' informational needs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Patients' informational needs were identified by consulting a cancer network consisting of patient advocates, nurses, physicians, and other health care professionals. Patients' opinions were also obtained either via one-on-one, in-person conversations or from written texts that were submitted to an anonymous, nonstandardized suggestion box located in the oncology center.

The second step was content development. Initially, a broad literature review was performed on medical databases such as UpToDate and PubMed. The topics searched were oncology and COVID-19, and this led to a list of determined topics to be mentioned. A summary of all relevant information was created, and a main document containing the content was developed. Afterward, this information was adapted into a video script and analyzed for language and cultural adjustments according to the target population.

The third step was video production. To aid patients' comprehension and connect with a diverse population, the delivery method chosen was animated videos with audio voice-overs that were spoken clearly. The videos were created by professionals via animation software and offered on our web-based platform [11]. Audio and text were presented in English and French, and subtitles in 20 languages were offered to accommodate for the various cultural backgrounds of the patient population.

The fourth step was implementation and feedback gathering. Implementation was carried out on the web-based platform and presented to patients by the oncology health care teams during consultations. Resources were explained to patients during their clinical visit in the same way as when they would be handed an information pamphlet. Patients were able to access the platform at any time, and feedback was obtained in order to identify patient needs. Patients were able to ask questions, communicate their concerns, and provide feedback directly on the platform or during their consultations. Multiple iterations were carried out based on feedback from health care professionals and patient representatives. Data analytics was performed, which allowed for assessments of acquisition, conversion, and behavior. These analytical data sets provided constant suggestions for improvements to find the balance between the standardization of content and the personalization of educational experiences to individual needs.

All data used were anonymous and summarized in a password-protected, web-based database. The data analysis was performed using Microsoft Office Excel software (licensed version 16.36).

Results

The creation of well-balanced, evidence-based patient education videos required a multidisciplinary team from different branches of health care and digital media that encompassed professionals such as physicians, nurses, psychologists, social workers, and

XSL•FO RenderX

graphic designers. This approach ensured the accuracy, validity, and efficiency of the medical information included in the script.

Based on the information obtained from health care professionals and oncology patients, the selected topics for the videos were related to cancer treatment options, good practices of self-care, and disease prevention for oncology patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. Animations concerning cancer care and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic as well as immunotherapy and chemotherapy guides were the major areas of focus and represented 6 final produced video guides. A sample video guide that was developed during this process as well as 2 screenshots can be found in Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2.

The first guide addressed hospital treatments for oncology patients that have been maintained during the pandemic, which was the biggest demand from patients. The aim was to demonstrate treatment options for cancer care and procedures for hospital attendance and to provide general follow-up information. The second guide contained a general overview of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disease, its symptoms, general preventive measures, and treatment perspectives. The third guide was developed to address essential information on infection prevention and alert signs for oncology patients during the pandemic. Some of the topics mentioned in this video were

Table 1. Demographic data (N=1244).

related to SARS-CoV-2, handwashing techniques, symptoms, and complications. The fourth guide addressed the mental health consequences of the social isolation resulting from the pandemic. It presented a brief contextualization of the reasons behind psychological distress and techniques for improving mental well-being during home care for oncology patients. The fifth and sixth guides were related to oncology treatments (namely, immunotherapy and chemotherapy) that may still be occurring during the social isolation period and therefore require specific attention.

The length of each guide varied from 6 minutes (video: "COVID-19 for Oncology") to 13.5 minutes (video: "Chemotherapy"). In order to create a welcoming viewing environment for patients, scenarios for the animations were created to represent either health care institutions or a house, depending on the context of the content being presented. The videos were watched 1244 times in a period of 6 months. The most watched animation was the COVID-19 & Oncology guide (viewed 565 times), followed by the video concerning general treatment orientations (viewed 249 times) and the video titled "Chemotherapy" (viewed 205 times). Although viewers were equally distributed among the age groups, most viewers were female (745/1244, 59.9%). Demographic data are shown in Table 1.

Characteristics	Viewers, n (%)
Sex	
Male	499 (40.1)
Female	745 (59.9)
Age (years)	
18-24	153 (12.3)
25-34	342 (27.5)
35-44	214 (17.2)
45-54	193 (15.5)
55-64	174 (14)
>65	168 (13.5)

Discussion

Principal Findings

In the field of oncology, digital patient education is relatively new and lacks an organized strategy. Nonetheless, research studies have provided promising insights. A study conducted by Sun et al [12] assessed the effectiveness of a multimedia self-management intervention for patients with lung cancer, which consisted of a video, a handbook, and phone calls for discussing disease pathophysiology and recovery care. Significantly improved postoperative emotional quality of life scores were reported from the intervention group; upward trends in the assessments of self-efficacy and surgery-related knowledge were also reported [12]. Digital media for patient education offers various advantages over traditional media (eg, pamphlets or handouts), as depicted in Table 2. Among the various digital tools, the use of multimedia or videos has been shown to be more effective than the use of pure texts [8,13]. Walker and Podbilewicz-Schuller [13] reported that patients with breast cancer who received videotaped education prior to their consultations reported higher satisfaction and reduced stress levels as well as better preparedness when asking questions during the consultations compared to those who received information booklets. Among the different formats of videos available, animations possess the advantage of illustrating complex materials in a vivid way to facilitate understanding. When combined with the guidance of spoken texts, animations may boost people's ability to process information by simultaneously exciting their audio and visual receptive channels [14,15]. A recent study demonstrated that

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23637
```

Turkdogan et al

Table 2. Comparison among different media of patient education.

Characteristics	Digital education	Traditional education	Ideal education for patients with cancer
Accessibility	Free home access	Hospital-dependent access	Easy home access
Content	Flexible and adaptable	Fixed	Reliable
Circulation	On the internet globally	Local distribution	Personal devices
Cost	High implementation cost and low maintenance cost	High implementation cost and high maintenance cost	Free of charge

We intended for our tool and the proposed approach to the development process to maintain a high fidelity to evidence-based information while attempting to adapt them to a more engaging medium and effective platform that accommodated content that was in line with the cognitive theory of multimedia learning (CTML). An important aspect of adapting the CTML to patient education is reviewing language content to limit medical jargon and ensure that it is written at a comprehension level that accommodates different health literacy levels [16]. Studies have shown that patients understand medical information better when it is provided (ie, spoken) at a conversational pace and individual speed control is available, when simple words are used, and when a restricted amount of information is presented [14-16]. Additionally, while it is acceptable for medical videos to be as long as needed to provide enough time for vital information to be thoroughly discussed, people should also be considerate of the attention spans of a diverse audience. Detailed or complicated medical guides could be divided into several chapters to promote better engagement and retention.

Another important aspect to consider when developing a web-based medical education platform is its accessibility. Our proposed web-based platform could be accessed for free and without temporal or spatial limits, which provided patients with a channel for central, authoritative sources of medical information at home. Although this may present a financial challenge for the development of any innovation, we believe that this is crucial for achieving the conduction of adequate educational processes. To optimize support for patients with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic, developing an accessible platform was an imperative action for health care institutions. Collaborations with the health care professionals provided patients with an introduction to the platform and allowed us to validate the platform. As such, these collaborations represented an important link to the implementation process. Partnerships between industry representatives, universities, and health care institutions were established to produce this multifaceted and integrative platform.

The acquisition of feedback from patients and health care professionals for regular evaluation and improvement was also an important aspect of our proposed tool. Through a web-based platform, we were able to obtain regular data and feedback, which allowed for modifications to be made constantly according to patients' demands. An example of feedback that generated modifications was the fact that we were able to

XSL•F() RenderX analyze the average age of the viewers that was reported by the platform, which was different from what we expected. This information, in turn, allowed us to adapt the characters shown in the videos. Such data can also serve as indicators for making possible changes in language, style, or scenarios. This adaptability is an important advantage of using animated guides that is not present in live-action videos or printed materials.

Finally, attention to viewers' diversity in terms of cultural and linguistic backgrounds is valuable in effective communication, which in turn increases viewers' engagement and comprehension [17]. This effect may additionally be magnified for target populations such as individuals with hearing impairments, individuals with low literacy levels, or minority language speakers [18,19]. Multimedia education may aid in this context by increasing oncology patients' participation in the healing process, which is vital for better outcomes, as it improves self-care, decision making, and the overall understanding of diseases and treatments [7]. Our proposed platform addresses this diversity and maintains medical accuracy by offering animated video guides in multiple languages and the possibility of individualizing the content to target certain demographics.

This study presents limitations that are intrinsic to the methodological approach and to the implementation process. Patients were not randomized, and intervention outcomes were not quantitatively measured. The results were provided based on the descriptive analysis of the intervention, and no statistical inference testing was applicable. Future studies should pursue analyzing factors that influence oncology patients' engagement with digital education resources as well as outcome measures, such as medication adherence, the number of hospital visits, and pain control.

Conclusion

The implementation of an animated patient education platform can be designed to prepare patients and their caregivers for their treatment in an attempt to improve outcomes and satisfaction, by using a methodical and collaborative approach. Multimedia tools allow a portion of a patient's care to occur in a home setting, thereby freeing them from the need for hospital resources. During the pandemic, the rapid adoption of web-based care might not be sufficient to cover a patient's oncology and emotional needs. We describe the framework for producing and implementing web-based animations that serve as educational tools for oncology patients and their personal support networks.

Acknowledgments

One of the coauthors (JH) currently receives funding from the National Institutes of Health T32 Training Grant (grant CA101642 JH). Coauthors GS and TW received salary support from their respective internship programs, as listed in the *Conflicts of Interest* section. The video guides were endorsed by a grant from a Canadian government health body. No companies have paid the authors to write this article.

Authors' Contributions

ST contributed to the implementation of the research, the data analysis, and the writing of the manuscript. GS contributed to the literature review, the design and implementation of the research, the data analysis, and the writing of the manuscript. TW contributed to the literature review, the implementation of the research, and the writing of the manuscript. RG contributed to the design and implementation of the research, and the writing of the manuscript. THe data analysis, and the writing of the manuscript. The data analysis, and the writing of the manuscript. JH and WHG contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript. The authors had full access to the data in this study and were responsible for the final decision to submit this paper for publication.

Conflicts of Interest

Coauthor RG is the founder of the company Precare Inc, which was our partner in developing the medical guide presented in this paper. Coauthor ST is the Chief Medical Officer at Prepare Inc. Coauthor GS was enrolled in and received salary support from the government-funded Mitacs Research Internship program and was affiliated with Precare through the program. No financial support was provided directly or indirectly by Precare. Coauthor TW was enrolled in and received salary support from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada–funded MedTech Talent Accelerator program and was affiliated with Precare through the program. No financial support was provided directly or indirectly by Precare. Southor TW was encluded MedTech Talent Accelerator program and was affiliated with Precare through the program. No financial support was provided directly or indirectly by Precare. There are no other conflicts of interest to declare.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Still images of animated videos. [PNG File, 2518 KB - cancer_v7i2e23637_app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Sample video: oncology care during the COVID-19 pandemic. [MP4 File (MP4 Video), 18929 KB - cancer v7i2e23637 app2.mp4]

References

- Dai M, Liu D, Liu M, Zhou F, Li G, Chen Z, et al. Patients with cancer appear more vulnerable to SARS-CoV-2: A multicenter study during the COVID-19 outbreak. Cancer Discov 2020 Jun;10(6):783-791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-0422] [Medline: 32345594]
- Liang W, Guan W, Chen R, Wang W, Li J, Xu K, et al. Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China. Lancet Oncol 2020 Mar;21(3):335-337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30096-6] [Medline: 32066541]
- Liu R, Sundaresan T, Reed ME, Trosman JR, Weldon CB, Kolevska T. Telehealth in oncology during the COVID-19 outbreak: Bringing the house call back virtually. JCO Oncol Pract 2020 Jun;16(6):289-293. [doi: <u>10.1200/OP.20.00199</u>] [Medline: <u>32364826</u>]
- 4. Mann DM, Chen J, Chunara R, Testa PA, Nov O. COVID-19 transforms health care through telemedicine: Evidence from the field. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jul 01;27(7):1132-1135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa072] [Medline: 32324855]
- Mercantini P, Lucarini A, Mazzuca F, Osti MF, Laghi A. How technology can help in oncologic patient management during COVID-19 outbreak. Eur J Surg Oncol 2020 Jun;46(6):1189-1191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2020.04.050] [Medline: 32389524]
- Pappot N, Taarnhøj GA, Pappot H. Telemedicine and e-Health solutions for COVID-19: Patients' perspective. Telemed J E Health 2020 Jul;26(7):847-849. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2020.0099</u>] [Medline: <u>32329654</u>]
- Penedo FJ, Oswald LB, Kronenfeld JP, Garcia SF, Cella D, Yanez B. The increasing value of eHealth in the delivery of patient-centred cancer care. Lancet Oncol 2020 May;21(5):e240-e251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30021-8] [Medline: 32359500]
- Meppelink CS, van Weert JCM, Haven CJ, Smit EG. The effectiveness of health animations in audiences with different health literacy levels: an experimental study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 13;17(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3979] [Medline: 25586711]

- 9. Manning DL, Dickens C. Health literacy: more choice, but do cancer patients have the skills to decide? Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2006 Dec;15(5):448-452. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2006.00687.x] [Medline: 17177901]
- Sell E, Chao T, Shah M, Rajasekaran K. Creation of educational videos for patients undergoing nonelective surgery: Tools for the COVID-19 era. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2020 Jul;163(1):83-85. [doi: <u>10.1177/0194599820925043</u>] [Medline: <u>32366158</u>]
- 11. Oncology. Precare. URL: <u>https://precare.ca/oncology/</u> [accessed 2021-06-10]
- Sun V, Raz DJ, Ruel N, Chang W, Erhunmwunsee L, Reckamp K, et al. A multimedia self-management intervention to prepare cancer patients and family caregivers for lung surgery and postoperative recovery. Clin Lung Cancer 2017 May;18(3):e151-e159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2017.01.010] [Medline: 28233696]
- 13. Walker MS, Podbilewicz-Schuller Y. Video preparation for breast cancer treatment planning: results of a randomized clinical trial. Psychooncology 2005 May;14(5):408-420. [doi: 10.1002/pon.858] [Medline: 15386757]
- 14. Mayer RE. Multimedia Learning, Second Edition. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; 2009.
- Pusic MV, Ching K, Yin HS, Kessler D. Seven practical principles for improving patient education: Evidence-based ideas from cognition science. Paediatr Child Health 2014 Mar;19(3):119-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/pch/19.3.119</u>] [Medline: <u>24665218</u>]
- 16. Safeer RS, Keenan J. Health literacy: the gap between physicians and patients. Am Fam Physician 2005 Aug 01;72(3):463-468 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 16100861]
- 17. Teutsch C. Patient-doctor communication. Med Clin North Am 2003 Sep;87(5):1115-1145. [doi: 10.1016/s0025-7125(03)00066-x] [Medline: 14621334]
- 18. World Health Organization. WHO Guideline: Recommendations on Digital Interventions for Health System Strengthening. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2019.
- Hoving C, Visser A, Mullen PD, van den Borne B. A history of patient education by health professionals in Europe and North America: from authority to shared decision making education. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Mar;78(3):275-281. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2010.01.015</u>] [Medline: <u>20189746</u>]

Abbreviations

CTML: cognitive theory of multimedia learning

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.08.20; peer-reviewed by A Lau, G Baumblatt; comments to author 07.10.20; revised version received 24.01.21; accepted 02.06.21; published 21.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Turkdoogn S. Sohnitu

Turkdogan S, Schnitman G, Wang T, Gotlieb R, How J, Gotlieb WH Development of a Digital Patient Education Tool for Patients With Cancer During the COVID-19 Pandemic JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e23637 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23637 doi:10.2196/23637 PMID:34101611

©Sena Turkdogan, Gabriel Schnitman, Tianci Wang, Raphael Gotlieb, Jeffrey How, Walter Henri Gotlieb. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 21.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Virtual Mind-Body Programming for Patients With Cancer During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study

Nicholas Emard¹, MS; Kathleen A Lynch², MS, MPH; Kevin T Liou¹, MD; Thomas Atkinson², PhD; Angela K Green², MD, MSc; Bobby Daly², MD, MBA; Kelly Trevino², PhD; Jun J Mao¹, MD, MSCE

¹Bendheim Integrative Medicine Center, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, United States ²Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, United States

Corresponding Author: Jun J Mao, MD, MSCE Bendheim Integrative Medicine Center Department of Medicine Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center 1429 First Ave New York, NY, 10021 United States Phone: 1 646 888 0866 Email: maoj@mskcc.org

Abstract

Background: Patients with cancer are particularly vulnerable to stress and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic. Social distancing is critical for patients with cancer; however, it can also reduce their access to psychosocial coping resources.

Objective: The aim of this study was to explore patient experiences to generate a model of how virtual mind-body programs can support the psychosocial well-being of patients with cancer.

Methods: We conducted a qualitative study among patients (aged ≥ 18 years) who participated in a virtual mind-body program offered by a National Cancer Institute–designated Comprehensive Cancer Center during the COVID-19 pandemic. The program consisted of mind-body group therapy sessions of fitness, yoga, tai chi, dance therapy, music therapy, and meditation. Live integrative medicine clinicians held each session via Zoom videoconferencing for 30-45 minutes. In semistructured phone interviews (n=30), patients were asked about their overall impressions and perceptions of the benefits of the sessions, including impacts on stress and anxiety. Interviews were analyzed using grounded theory.

Results: Among the 30 participants (average age 64.5 years, SD 9.36, range 40-80, 29 female), three major themes were identified relating to experiences in the virtual mind-body program: (1) the sessions helped the patients maintain structured routines and motivated them to adhere to healthy behaviors; (2) the sessions enhanced coping with COVID-19-related-stressors, allowing patients to "refocus" and "re-energize"; and (3) the sessions allowed patients to connect, fostering social relationships during a time of isolation. These themes informed the constructs of a novel behavioral-psychological-social coping model for patients with cancer.

Conclusions: Virtual mind-body programming supported patients with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic through a behavioral-psychological-social coping model by enhancing psychological coping for external stressors, supporting adherence to motivation and health behaviors, and increasing social connection and camaraderie. These programs have potential to address the behavioral, psychological, and social challenges faced by patients with cancer during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic. The constructs of the conceptual model proposed in this study can inform future interventions to support isolated patients with cancer. Further clinical trials are needed to confirm the specific benefits of virtual mind-body programming for the psychosocial well-being and healthy behaviors of patients with cancer.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e27384) doi:10.2196/27384

KEYWORDS

cancer; fitness; meditation; stress; COVID-19; qualitative; coping; wellbeing; psychosocial; virtual health

Introduction

The outbreak of SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19, increased the stress levels of many individuals due to the threat of infection, news of overwhelmed healthcare institutions, and disruptions to daily life [1]. Stress levels may be exceptionally high for patients with cancer; social distancing is critical for this population because they are more susceptible to severe illness and mortality due to COVID-19 [2,3]. However, necessary stay-at-home orders and social distancing measures—which restrict access to parks and exercise facilities—have contributed to a worldwide decrease in physical activity [4] and a loss of usual support networks and other potential coping strategies for stress [5,6]. Thus, there is a critical need to address the enormous psychosocial burden of the COVID-19 pandemic for patients with cancer.

Patients with cancer often experience behavioral [7], psychological [8,9], and social [10] challenges, which are associated with worse cancer-related outcomes [11]. During the COVID-19 pandemic, patients have experienced higher levels of mental distress due to concerns regarding access to safe physical activity [12], significant life and health stressors [13], and loneliness [14]. For example, decreased physical activity due to social distancing or lack of adequate equipment can adversely affect the quality of life of patients with cancer and their mental health [12]. A survey (n=555) of women with current or previously diagnosed ovarian cancer showed that 89% reported "significant cancer worry" due to COVID-19 [15]. In Italy, in a prospective evaluation of patients with lymphoma, 75% of patients stated that "their worries had increased during the pandemic," and over one-third met diagnostic criteria for anxiety and depression [16]. Patients with cancer may also experience "alarmingly high rates of stress" and "extraordinarily high symptom burden," which necessitate increased vigilance among oncology providers [13]. In the Netherlands, patients with cancer expressed concerns of loneliness and fears of being in the hospital or not seeing their family due to COVID-19 [17]. Programs that address behavioral, psychological, and social stressors while complying with social distancing measures are critically important for supporting the quality of life of patients with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Mind-body therapies, such as meditation, yoga, and tai chi, have been shown to reduce stress and anxiety in patients with cancer and enhance their quality of life [18,19]. The American Society of Clinical Oncology and the Society for Integrative Oncology recommend mind-body therapies for treating cancer-related anxiety [20,21]. Exercise has also been effective for patients with cancer in combatting anxiety [22], reducing fatigue and pain [23,24], and improving quality of life [25]. Despite these benefits, patients with cancer and survivors may be limited in their ability to participate in these activities, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. Further, the pandemic has challenged society to operate virtually to comply with social distancing mandates [26,27], indicating a need for innovative approaches to support individuals affected by cancer. In response to these concerns, we rapidly implemented a virtual mind-body program through the Integrative Medicine Service (IMS) at a tertiary National Cancer Institute–designated Comprehensive Cancer Center [28]. The program consisted of a series of virtual, synchronous classes offering a variety of rigorously tested mind-body therapies led by an IMS clinical therapist. The objective of this study was to explore patient experiences of the virtual program to generate a model of how virtual mind-body programs can support the psychosocial well-being of patients with cancer.

Methods

Therapy Sessions

We conducted virtual mind-body group therapy sessions using the Zoom video conferencing platform [29] beginning on April 1, 2020. Patients were contacted through the cancer center's patient messaging portal about virtual programs offered during the COVID-19 pandemic. Once registered, patients chose from a variety of weekly classes, which were held 1-4 times per week for 30-45 minutes. A licensed IMS clinician (eg, licensed dance therapist, certified yoga instructor, nurse specialist/physical trainer) with specific expertise in the oncology setting led each session. Patients could choose to participate in as many sessions as they preferred. Activities ranged from more movement-based (fitness, yoga, dance therapy, or tai chi) to meditative (guided meditation, Zen breathing, or listening to music therapy played by a licensed music therapist). All clinicians provided an overview of the session, 25-40 minutes of content, and 5 minutes for feedback and discussion. Because the program was developed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we conducted qualitative interviews for quality improvement between April and August 2020. The hospital's Institutional Review Board approved a retrospective protocol for the analysis of the quality improvement data.

Qualitative Interview Procedure

At the conclusion of the sessions, clinicians asked for volunteers to provide feedback on the virtual session. An IMS staff member with qualitative research training (NE) contacted the participants and arranged a telephone interview. The interviews lasted 10-35 minutes and followed a semistructured interview guide generated by study team members with content (JJM, KTL) and methodological (KAL, NE) expertise. The interview guide was organized into the following domains: (1) overall impressions, (2) perception of the benefits of the session, including impacts on stress and anxiety, and (3) unmet needs and recommendations for improvement. Consistent with the practice of semistructured interviewing, the interviewer asked flexible probing questions to further explore relevant themes and topics as they emerged. Probes were iteratively developed throughout the study period based on emerging participant feedback and iterative analysis. Interviews were conducted until thematic saturation was obtained [30], transcribed verbatim, and deidentified to ensure patient privacy.

Interview Sampling Approach

We purposively sampled participants across session types to ensure representative feedback about each modality. However,

participants were allowed-and encouraged-to participate in any virtual mind-body sessions; multiple sessions were often discussed during interviews. As this was a grounded theory study, iterative analysis of transcripts informed our subsequent sampling approach. As we aimed to create a generalized model of how virtual mind-body programs can support the psychosocial well-being of patients with cancer, we sought theoretical saturation across subgroups (ie, saturation across movement-based and meditation-based sessions). Ultimately, the three constructs reported in this manuscript were explored and refined based on participant experiences across integrative medicine (IM) modalities.

Qualitative Analysis

Two trained qualitative researchers (KAL, NE) independently coded transcripts using a grounded theory approach to facilitate the development of a coping model [31]. The transcripts were first coded in their entirety using an open coding process, wherein the coding team highlighted significant statements and assigned a descriptive or interpretive label. Through consensus meetings, the team refined common labels (eg, impacts on stress and anxiety, social isolation) into codes. This process was facilitated by analytic memo-writing: during this open-coding phase, researchers wrote margin notes on inductively emerging patterns, which were turned into codes. Then, the codebook was solidified and applied across all transcripts, data were compared against the codes (focused coding), and discrepancies in coding were resolved via consensus. Once all transcripts were coded, the lead coder (KAL) reviewed the data to ensure that all significant statements had been assigned a label. Then, the team completed a process of axial coding in which coded statements were condensed into categories, compared, and grouped under thematic labels supported by the text, thereby grounding each category in the data. The code categories were reviewed and refined via group consensus meetings (eg, "impact on life in quarantine" "impact on routines"). To identify the final constructs of the model, the researchers completed a selective coding phase, wherein statements housed within each category where recoded to identify primary themes. Each category was

iteratively revisited to identify instances of theoretical saturation, defined as the point at which no new relevant data, coding, or themes emerge. During this phase, analytic memos were used to refine our theoretical categories. After reviewing a code category, researchers independently wrote memos on the key theoretical implications (eg, "socialization as a means of coping"), which were discussed in consensus meetings. To achieve consensus on the final model, coders met with team members who have expertise in IM delivery (JJM, KTL) and refined the constructs as needed. The qualitative software NVivo Pro 12.0 (QSR International) [32] was used to facilitate the analysis and store the final codebook.

Results

A total of 30 patients participated in qualitative interviews to achieve thematic saturation (Table 1). The majority of the sample was female (29/30, 97%) and White (25/30, 83%), with an average age of 64.5 years (SD 9.36). Participants had various tumor types; breast cancer was the most common (11/30, 37%). Some participants were in active treatment, while others were in survivorship. Although the interviews focused on participant experiences with a single mind-body modality, the majority of participants participated in multiple sessions. Fitness (22/30, 73%), yoga (17/30, 57%), and tai chi (16/30, 53%) were the most popular modalities, which is supported by the authors' previous publication regarding the feasibility and acceptability of virtual mind-body programs [28].

Grounded theory analysis identified three major themes related to participant experiences in the virtual mind-body program. These themes indicated that the program (1) promoted positive health behaviors, (2) enhanced psychological coping, and (3) fostered social engagement. Taken together, these three themes informed the constructs of our behavioral-psychological-social coping model, which proposes ways in which virtual mind-body programs can support patients with cancer (Figure 1). Each of these themes and their resulting constructs are explored in detail below (summarized in Table 2).


Table 1. Participant demographics (N=30).

Emard et al

Characteristic	Value
Mean age (years) (SD, range)	64.5 (9.36, 40.0-80.0)
Sex, n (%)	
Male	1 (3)
Female	29 (97)
Race, $n(\%)^a$	
White	25 (83)
Asian	4 (13)
Black	1 (3)
Cancer type, n (%) ^b	
Breast	11 (37)
Ovarian	4 (13)
Lung	3 (10)
Uterine	2 (7)
Lymphoma	2 (7)
Tongue	2 (7)
Colon	1 (3)
Bladder	1 (3)
Liver	1 (3)
Pancreatic	1 (3)
Prostate	1 (3)
Skin	1 (3)
Primary class attendance (interview focus), n (%)	
Fitness	5 (17)
Dance	5 (17)
Guided meditation	5 (17)
Music	5 (17)
Yoga	5 (17)
Tai chi	3 (10)
Zen breathing	2 (7)
Overall class attendance, n (%)	
Fitness	22 (73)
Yoga	17 (57)
Tai chi	16 (53)
Dance	14 (47)
Guided meditation	12 (40)
Music	13 (43)
Zen breathing	9 (30)

^a Percentage for race adds up to (99%) because percentages were rounded.

^b Percentage for cancer type adds up to (99%) because percentages were rounded.

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 1. Behavioral-Psychological-Social Coping model of how virtual mind-body programs can support the psychosocial well-being of cancer patients.



Table 2. Major theoretical constructs and associated coding.

Construct	Code category	Major codes
Health behaviors	Impacts on daily life	Maintain movement or routineBehavior changePositive motivation and inspiration
Psychological coping	Impacts on stress and anxiety	Impact on stress and anxietyEffect on mood"Distraction" from other stressors
Social engagement	Perception of benefit	Social camaraderieReduced isolationWeb-based access

Promotion of Positive Health Behaviors

As people worldwide began to practice social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic, appointments and social events were canceled, leaving the study participants with a large amount of unstructured time. Participating in the virtual sessions became a way to retain a sense of daily routine, as one music participant described:

[The classes] give my day structure. I look forward to it. I can sort of plan [my day]. I'm home and I'm cleaning, [and] I can have that to look forward to.

This sense of routine became a way to cope with COVID-19-related stress. Patients described the virtual programming as "something to look forward to" amid an uncertain future. Regularly scheduled virtual live classes also motivated participants to engage with health behaviors while social distancing. Discussing their struggle with home-based exercise, a tai chi participant stated:

Yeah, it's great because I try to do exercises on my own, but it's not regular. And, this kind of keeps me regular. Because, it's like "oh it's 1:30, I have to do Tai Chi" and it's kind of like an incentive or motivation. And, especially when there's someone on

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e27384

RenderX

the other side encouraging you to move or that you can do it.

An option for virtual classes was especially welcome to patients who had been physically active prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. The classes became a way to maintain physical activity and movement when other options for exercise were suddenly unavailable:

But these classes are really, really excellent. And help you in confined spaces and need to get some exercise, you know? [...] Before, I used to swim every day and walk in and ride my bike all over the city. You know, it's... now I don't have that.

As a population vulnerable to infection, patients with cancer feel extra pressure to adhere to social distancing guidelines. As the fitness participant describes above, this results in long periods of time in "confined spaces." Some participants, fearful of infection, described barely leaving their homes while COVID-19 cases peaked:

[I]n March and April I didn't go out much and I wasn't even walking, which is my one major, you know, exercise. So... getting back to movement and moving throughout the day at whatever time, you know, it's really helpful.

For these participants, the virtual classes created a structure to engage in physical activity, promoting positive health behaviors without placing participants at risk of exposure.

Enhancement of Psychological Coping

Across interviews, participants expressed that the virtual classes enabled them to cope with the daily uncertainties of the COVID-19 pandemic. Feeling inundated with new and often-conflicting information, patients found the sessions to be a grounding experience. As one music participant described:

I think as a patient, lots of times the problem is that you have all these kind of racing thoughts [...] you feel quite like engaged in these classes. Like it can really make you focus on the current session.

Participants of the meditative sessions—music, Zen breathing, and guided meditation—found the virtual sessions to be "refocusing" events. By concentrating on their breathing and sensory experiences (ie, calming sounds, visualizations), patients felt that they were able to redirect their attention from external stressors, as one meditation participant stated:

I think I have less stress after the session. And it... because it's calming and it's refocusing, and it helps with channeling the energies in a different place.

Similarly, participants of the movement-based sessions—fitness, dance, yoga, and tai chi—perceived a reduction in stress due to the virtual sessions. For these participants, the virtual sessions were a "re-energizing" event, presenting a distraction from COVID-19–related anxieties. In the words of a dance participant:

It's almost like taking a shower you [are] getting rejuvenated. Now, you can recreate the whole world, right? You sit down, you're nice and calm and your body feels like you're relaxed and you don't have a care in the world about what's going on around you.

Additionally, one participant discussed that yoga classes were particularly helpful after the abrupt transition to isolation:

It [the class] helps, it really helps. Especially in the beginning when all this started, everybody was so stressed. This has helped me a lot to keep my mind out of all this stuff [...] now it's a little easier, but it still really helps me.

Both movement- and meditative-based sessions became ways for the participants to cope with the uncertainties surrounding COVID-19, particularly in the context of cancer care. As a result, participants across interviews described feeling both less anxious and less stressed after the classes:

I'm feel[ing] less stressed, I feel relaxed, I feel energized and that continues afterward. I mean, I find it really, it helps. It really helps dealing with the stress and anxiety of this whole quarantine time.

Fostering Social Engagement

Cancer can be socially isolating, and participants perceived this isolation to be amplified during the COVID-19 pandemic. As one music participant described, the upheavals created by the

pandemic caused her to feel cut off—socially and physically—from friends and loved ones:

[Y]ou feel really alone. Fortunately, I have my husband so at least I'm not like completely alone, but still that's the only way you get to connect with other people. Some of my friends, they are really busy with kids at home, and with working from home... yeah, somehow, they actually turned out to be even busier than before. So sometimes I don't feel very...like I don't want to bother them all the time.

As she went on to describe, the virtual sessions became a way to connect with friends she had met during previous in-person classes:

So, this [class] keeps you feeling you're connected to the community and some fellow patients you happen to see are attending the same session, and it was like, "Wow, it's you" and all this and then we start texting each other. Sometimes I receive these surprise texts is like, "Oh, is it you in the session?" And it just feels... like you need some excitement and surprises, like once in a while. So this provides like a platform for people to continue interacting that way.

Participants discussed the benefit of seeing other patients with cancer and survivors via virtual classes. Faced with unique stressors and concerns during the COVID-19 pandemic, the participants found it comforting to connect with other participants going through a similar experience. As one yoga participant stated, the classes helped her feel "less alone":

It's helped me to calm down and feel like you're not alone. There are other people doing it and going through this also.

A few participants also stated that virtual programming enabled them to engage in mind-body group sessions for the first time. These participants were unable to attend the pre–COVID-19 in-person classes at the hospital due to geographic, time, or mobility constraints, as in the case of one dance participant:

I'm on oxygen. And if this was anything that was done at the Integrative Medicine Center, I would never go—because of the location. So, you know, this gives me a chance to participate.

Therefore, in addition to enabling isolated patients to virtually reconnect, virtual programming enabled other patients to engage for the first time.

The Behavioral-Psychological-Social Coping Model

The three major themes identified in our analysis informed our coping model (Figure 1). Virtual mind-body programs have the potential to support patients with cancer in three interrelated ways. (1) Regularly scheduled classes motivate participants to maintain positive health behaviors and create a sense of structure and routine. (2) Through accessing therapies that allow patients to "refocus" and "re-energize," participants can enhance their ability to psychologically cope with external stressors. (3) Virtual, synchronous sessions, which enable participants to see and communicate with one another, facilitate social connection and camaraderie during a time of isolation and expand access

to vulnerable individuals. Taken together, these three constructs provide a model for how virtual mind-body programming can support psychosocial well-being among patients with cancer.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The COVID-19 pandemic disproportionately impacts the psychosocial well-being of patients with cancer and survivors due to the unique stressors they encounter as a result of public health measures. This study identifies the constructs of how virtual mind-body services can promote healthy behaviors, enhance psychological coping, and facilitate social connections for patients with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic and potentially beyond, particularly for patients with limited physical access to the IMS. These qualitative themes form the basis of a behavioral-psychological-social coping model informing how virtual mind-body services can be an accessible and scalable way to address patients' psychosocial challenges.

Our study adds to emerging literature regarding how virtual tools, such as virtual mind-body programming, can address psychological symptoms patients with cancer face during the COVID-19 pandemic. Avancini et al [33] encouraged the use of telehealth and virtual programs for at-home exercises to increase social support and adhere to exercise guidelines. A review of web-based interventions to address the psychosocial needs of patients with cancer demonstrated "promise" in addressing pain, depression, and quality of life measures [34]. Additionally, access to clinicians through virtual web-based visits and telehealth can address existing barriers to care and has potential to fill important gaps in quality cancer care [35]. Our study builds on this literature by providing a model for how virtual mind-body programs can benefit patients with cancer. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have implemented a virtual tool that specifically identifies points of intervention for maintaining healthy behaviors, addressing psychological issues, and enhancing social connection among isolated patients with cancer.

Research on the benefits of mind-body programs for patients with cancer has focused on mindfulness through the individual use of apps or websites [36-38]. Previous mindfulness interventions are either nonsynchronous (ie, prerecorded, with no opportunities for real-time interaction) or focused on a specific cancer type. The intervention described in this study overcomes barriers to in-person delivery while offering packaged mind-body therapies to patients with all cancer types. Additionally, the program provided multiple modalities, offering patients a choice and a sense of control in selecting programs that met their needs and preferences. Real-time participant interaction with IMS clinicians and fellow patients can help treat loneliness and increase social interaction, which can, in turn, reduce the uncertainty and stressors faced by many patients with cancer [11]. The constructs of the coping model proposed in this study can inform future interventions to support isolated patients with cancer, even after the COVID-19 pandemic.

The virtual mind-body program in this study used an accessible pre-existing video conferencing platform to disseminate

therapeutic modalities to patients. By using existing technologies, this program offers a more scalable model for adapting services from in-person to virtual. Although apps or software may be appealing, the costs associated with their development and maintenance may not be sustainable for all programs [39]. According to the Pew Research Center, approximately three quarters of Americans have broadband high-speed internet access at home, and a growing number use their smartphones to access the internet [40]. Thus, an internet-based program using a pre-existing user-friendly platform may provide an accessible and sustainable alternative to in-person services for patients and their providers.

Although the profound isolation associated with the COVID-19 pandemic is a unique experience, barriers to accessing IM, loneliness, and mental distress are common among patients with cancer; the virtual mind-body program has potential to provide well beyond the current benefits pandemic. The behavioral-psychological-social coping model proposed in this study complements other biopsychosocial frameworks [41,42] by focusing on the behavioral, psychological, and social aspects of virtual mind-body programs while being attentive to the unique experiences and challenges of patients with cancer. This model can be used to guide the development and evaluation of future virtual mind-body programs and can provide a structure for addressing the interconnected issues that patients with cancer face. Future application of this model may benefit clinical services and research by providing a multifaceted and patient-informed mechanism of coping with psychological distress.

Limitations

This study has a number of limitations. The sample is primarily female and White due to the nature of the voluntary interviews, and the results may not be generalizable to other populations. Although we interviewed patients with a range of cancer types, patients with breast cancer were overrepresented in this sample. Further, virtual classes may not be accessible to all patients due to limited internet or technology access, such as patients in rural areas with low bandwidth. Data on Medicare telemedicine reimbursements suggests that virtual access disparities are especially prominent in patients with lower socioeconomic status, who are older than 85 years, and who are in communities of color [43]. Additionally, mind-body classes were provided in the context of clinical care rather than in a controlled research project with participants who self-selected to participate. Therefore, the themes are based on the perspectives of patients and survivors who participated in the program and agreed to complete an interview. Differentiating programs for patients on active treatment and those in survivorship phases can further guide future interventions.

Conclusion

This study identified how virtual mind-body programs can support adherence to health behaviors, enhance psychological coping with external stressors, and increase social connection and camaraderie when in-person services are not accessible. The COVID-19 pandemic provided an opportunity to better understand the broader experiences of isolated patients with cancer, enabling us to identify critical points of intervention.

(SL•FO

The virtual mind-body model proposed here has the potential to support patients with cancer to address the behavioral, psychological, and social challenges that they face during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the IM clinicians and administrative staff and the Patient and Family Advisory Council for Quality at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center for making this program possible. This work was supported in part by a National Institutes of Health/National Cancer Institute Cancer Center grant (P30 CA008748) and the Translational and Integrative Medicine Research Fund at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center.

Authors' Contributions

All authors contributed to the conception and design. NE and KAL acquired the data. NE, KAL, KTL, and JJM analyzed and interpreted the data. All authors contributed to the drafting and provided final approval of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

JJM reports grants from Tibet Cheezheng Tibetan Medicine Co, Ltd, and from Zhongke Health International, LLC, outside the submitted work.

References

- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 06;17(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729] [Medline: 32155789]
- 2. Liang W, Guan W, Chen R, Wang W, Li J, Xu K, et al. Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China. Lancet Oncol 2020 Mar;21(3):335-337. [doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(20)30096-6]
- Kuderer NM, Choueiri TK, Shah DP, Shyr Y, Rubinstein SM, Rivera DR, COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium. Clinical impact of COVID-19 on patients with cancer (CCC19): a cohort study. Lancet 2020 Jun 20;395(10241):1907-1918 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31187-9] [Medline: 32473681]
- 4. Tison GH, Avram R, Kuhar P, Abreau S, Marcus GM, Pletcher MJ, et al. Worldwide effect of COVID-19 on physical activity: a descriptive study. Ann Intern Med 2020 Nov 03;173(9):767-770. [doi: <u>10.7326/m20-2665</u>]
- Ueda M, Martins R, Hendrie PC, McDonnell T, Crews JR, Wong TL, et al. Managing cancer care during the COVID-19 pandemic: agility and collaboration toward a common goal. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2020 Mar 20:1-4. [doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2020.7560] [Medline: 32197238]
- Saini KS, de Las Heras B, de Castro J, Venkitaraman R, Poelman M, Srinivasan G, et al. Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on cancer treatment and research. Lancet Haematol 2020 Jun;7(6):e432-e435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30123-X] [Medline: 32339482]
- Romero SAD, Brown JC, Bauml JM, Hay JL, Li QS, Cohen RB, et al. Barriers to physical activity: a study of academic and community cancer survivors with pain. J Cancer Surviv 2018 Dec;12(6):744-752 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0711-y] [Medline: 30182150]
- Andreotti C, Root JC, Ahles TA, McEwen BS, Compas BE. Cancer, coping, and cognition: a model for the role of stress reactivity in cancer-related cognitive decline. Psychooncology 2015 Jun 06;24(6):617-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3683] [Medline: 25286084]
- 9. Addington-Hall J. The legacy of cancer on depression and anxiety. Lancet Oncol 2013 Jul;14(8):675-676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(13)70238-9]
- 10. Lepore S, Revenson T. Social constraints on disclosure and adjustment to cancer. Soc Personal Psychol Compass 2007;1(1):313-333. [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00013.x]
- Young AM, Ashbury FD, Schapira L, Scotté F, Ripamonti CI, Olver IN. Uncertainty upon uncertainty: supportive care for cancer and COVID-19. Support Care Cancer 2020 Sep 2;28(9):4001-4004 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-020-05604-9</u>] [Medline: <u>32613372</u>]
- 12. Newton RU, Hart NH, Clay T. Keeping patients with cancer exercising in the age of COVID-19. JCO Oncol Pract 2020 Oct;16(10):656-664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/OP.20.00210] [Medline: 32603253]
- Miaskowski C, Paul S, Snowberg K, Abbott M, Borno H, Chang S, et al. Stress and symptom burden in oncology patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Pain Symptom Manage 2020 Nov;60(5):e25-e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.08.037</u>] [Medline: <u>32889039</u>]
- Adams RN, Mosher CE, Winger JG, Abonour R, Kroenke K. Cancer-related loneliness mediates the relationships between social constraints and symptoms among cancer patients. J Behav Med 2018 Apr;41(2):243-252 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s10865-017-9892-5</u>] [Medline: <u>28983735</u>]

- Frey MK, Ellis AE, Zeligs K, Chapman-Davis E, Thomas C, Christos PJ, et al. Impact of the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic on the quality of life for women with ovarian cancer. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 Nov;223(5):725.e1-725.e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.06.049] [Medline: 32598911]
- Romito F, Dellino M, Loseto G, Opinto G, Silvestris E, Cormio C, et al. Psychological distress in outpatients with lymphoma during the COVID-19 pandemic. Front Oncol 2020;10:1270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01270] [Medline: 32754447]
- Schellekens MPJ, van der Lee ML. Loneliness and belonging: exploring experiences with the COVID-19 pandemic in psycho-oncology. Psychooncology 2020 Sep 22;29(9):1399-1401 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5459</u>] [Medline: <u>32628307</u>]
- 18. Carlson LE, Zelinski E, Toivonen K, Flynn M, Qureshi M, Piedalue K, et al. Mind-body therapies in cancer: what is the latest evidence? Curr Oncol Rep 2017 Aug 18;19(10):67. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11912-017-0626-1</u>] [Medline: <u>28822063</u>]
- Latte-Naor S, Mao JJ. Putting integrative oncology into practice: concepts and approaches. J Oncol Pract 2019 Jan;15(1):7-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JOP.18.00554] [Medline: <u>30629900</u>]
- 20. Lyman GH, Greenlee H, Bohlke K, Bao T, DeMichele AM, Deng GE, et al. Integrative therapies during and after breast cancer treatment: ASCO endorsement of the SIO Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol 2018 Sep 01;36(25):2647-2655. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.79.2721] [Medline: 29889605]
- Greenlee H, Balneaves LG, Carlson LE, Cohen M, Deng G, Hershman D, Society for Integrative Oncology. Clinical practice guidelines on the use of integrative therapies as supportive care in patients treated for breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2014 Nov;2014(50):346-358 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgu041] [Medline: 25749602]
- 22. Craft LL, Vaniterson EH, Helenowski IB, Rademaker AW, Courneya KS. Exercise effects on depressive symptoms in cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2012 Jan;21(1):3-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0634] [Medline: 22068286]
- 23. Brown JC, Huedo-Medina TB, Pescatello LS, Pescatello SM, Ferrer RA, Johnson BT. Efficacy of exercise interventions in modulating cancer-related fatigue among adult cancer survivors: a meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2011 Jan;20(1):123-133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0988] [Medline: 21051654]
- 24. McNeely ML, Parliament MB, Seikaly H, Jha N, Magee DJ, Haykowsky MJ, et al. Effect of exercise on upper extremity pain and dysfunction in head and neck cancer survivors: a randomized controlled trial. Cancer 2008 Jul 01;113(1):214-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23536] [Medline: 18457329]
- Ferrer RA, Huedo-Medina TB, Johnson BT, Ryan S, Pescatello LS. Exercise interventions for cancer survivors: a meta-analysis of quality of life outcomes. Ann Behav Med 2011 Feb;41(1):32-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-010-9225-1] [Medline: 20931309]
- 26. Hong Y, Lawrence J, Williams D, Mainous I. Population-level interest and telehealth capacity of US hospitals in response to COVID-19: cross-sectional analysis of Google search and national hospital survey data. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Apr 07;6(2):e18961 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18961] [Medline: 32250963]
- Kramer A, Kramer KZ. The potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on occupational status, work from home, and occupational mobility. J Vocat Behav 2020 Jun;119:103442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103442] [Medline: 32390661]
- 28. Trevino KM, Raghunathan N, Latte-Naor S, Polubriaginof FCG, Jensen C, Atkinson TM, et al. Rapid deployment of virtual mind-body interventions during the COVID-19 outbreak: feasibility, acceptability, and implications for future care. Support Care Cancer 2021 Feb;29(2):543-546 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05740-2] [Medline: 32902712]
- 29. Security guide. Zoom Video Communications Inc. 2016. URL: <u>https://d24cgw3uvb9a9h.cloudfront.net/static/81625/doc/</u> Zoom-Security-White-Paper.pdf [accessed 2020-10-12]
- 30. Bowen GA. Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: a research note. Qual Res 2008 Feb 01;8(1):137-152. [doi: 10.1177/1468794107085301]
- 31. Charmaz K. Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide through Qualitative Analysis. London, UK: SAGE Publications; 2006.
- 32. Jackson K, Bazeley P, Jackson K, Bazeley P. Qualitative Data Analysis With NVivo. London, UK: SAGE Publications; 2019.
- Avancini A, Trestini I, Tregnago D, Wiskemann J, Lanza M, Milella M, et al. Physical activity for oncological patients in COVID-19 era: no time to relax. JNCI Cancer Spectr 2020 Dec;4(6):pkaa071 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jncics/pkaa071] [Medline: <u>33385107</u>]
- Agboola SO, Ju W, Elfiky A, Kvedar JC, Jethwani K. The effect of technology-based interventions on pain, depression, and quality of life in patients with cancer: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2015 Mar 13;17(3):e65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4009] [Medline: 25793945]
- Nekhlyudov L, Duijts S, Hudson SV, Jones JM, Keogh J, Love B, et al. Addressing the needs of cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Cancer Surviv 2020 Oct;14(5):601-606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-020-00884-w] [Medline: 32335850]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e27384
```

- 36. Cillessen L, Schellekens MPJ, Van de Ven MOM, Donders ART, Compen FR, Bisseling EM, et al. Consolidation and prediction of long-term treatment effect of group and online mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for distressed cancer patients. Acta Oncol 2018 Oct;57(10):1293-1302. [doi: 10.1080/0284186X.2018.1479071] [Medline: 29932784]
- Russell L, Ugalde A, Orellana L, Milne D, Krishnasamy M, Chambers R, et al. A pilot randomised controlled trial of an online mindfulness-based program for people diagnosed with melanoma. Support Care Cancer 2019 Jul;27(7):2735-2746. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4574-6] [Medline: 30506103]
- 38. Kubo A, Kurtovich E, McGinnis M, Aghaee S, Altschuler A, Quesenberry C, et al. A randomized controlled trial of mHealth mindfulness intervention for cancer patients and informal cancer caregivers: a feasibility study within an integrated health care delivery system. Integr Cancer Ther 2019;18:1534735419850634 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735419850634] [Medline: 31092044]
- 39. Pohl M. It costs \$425,000 on average to develop an mHealth app. Research 2 Guidance. 2018. URL: <u>https://research2guidance.</u> com/it-costs-425000-dollars-on-average-to-develop-an-mhealth-app-download-free-whitepaper/ [accessed 2020-10-12]
- 40. Internet/broadband fact sheet. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/</u> <u>internet-broadband/</u> [accessed 2020-10-12]
- 41. Engel GL. The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. Science 1977 Apr 08;196(4286):129-136. [doi: 10.1126/science.847460] [Medline: 847460]
- 42. Stucki G. International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF): a promising framework and classification for rehabilitation medicine. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2005 Oct;84(10):733-740. [doi: 10.1097/01.phm.0000179521.70639.83] [Medline: 16205428]
- Roberts ET, Mehrotra A. Assessment of disparities in digital access among Medicare beneficiaries and implications for telemedicine. JAMA Intern Med 2020 Oct 01;180(10):1386-1389. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.2666</u>] [Medline: <u>32744601</u>]

Abbreviations

IM: integrative medicine IMS: Integrative Medicine Service

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 22.01.21; peer-reviewed by AM Lopez, S Six; comments to author 25.02.21; revised version received 02.04.21; accepted 07.04.21; published 08.06.21.

Please cite as:

Emard N, Lynch KA, Liou KT, Atkinson T, Green AK, Daly B, Trevino K, Mao JJ Virtual Mind-Body Programming for Patients With Cancer During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e27384 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e27384 doi:10.2196/27384 PMID:33882018

©Nicholas Emard, Kathleen A Lynch, Kevin T Liou, Thomas Atkinson, Angela K Green, Bobby Daly, Kelly Trevino, Jun J Mao. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 08.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Associations Among Wearable Activity Tracker Use, Exercise Motivation, and Physical Activity in a Cohort of Cancer Survivors: Secondary Data Analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey

Steven De La Torre¹, MPH; Donna Spruijt-Metz^{1,2,3}, MFA, PhD; Albert J Farias^{1,4}, MPH, PhD

¹Department of Preventive Medicine, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

²Dornsife Center for Economic and Social Research, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

³Department of Psychology, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

⁴Norris Comprehensive Cancer Center, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Albert J Farias, MPH, PhD Department of Preventive Medicine Keck School of Medicine University of Southern California 2001 N. Soto St. Los Angeles, CA, 90033 United States Phone: 1 323 442 7252 Email: albertfa@usc.edu

Abstract

Background: Cancer survivors who meet physical activity (PA) recommendations (\geq 150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity [MVPA] per week) experience better health outcomes. With the growing availability of wearable activity trackers (WATs), it may be easier to track PA. However, it is unknown what motivates survivors to use these devices.

Objective: The aim of this study is to investigate the associations among motivations for exercise, previous WAT use for tracking a health goal or activity, and meeting the recommended amount of PA among a cohort of cancer survivors.

Methods: Data on WAT users who reported having a previous cancer diagnosis were analyzed from the National Cancer Institute's Health Information National Trends Survey 5 Cycle 3. All survivors with complete information on demographics, exercise motivations (internal guilt, external pressure, physical appearance, and exercise enjoyment), previous WAT use (yes or no), and minutes of MVPA per week (N=608) were included. Multivariate logistic regression models were used to test these associations. A separate cluster analysis was conducted to identify the profiles of exercise motivation that were associated with reporting WAT use.

Results: The mean age of the cohort was 66.9 years (SD 12.1). The majority were non-Hispanic White (473/608, 78.8%) and female (322/608, 54.9%), and skin cancer was the most commonly reported diagnosed cancer (154/608, 27.8%). Survivors who reported using WATs to track a health goal or activity were 1.6 times more likely to meet MVPA recommendations than those who did not use WATs (odds ratio [OR] 1.65, 95% CI 1.03-2.65; P=.04). When exercise motivations were assessed independently, survivors who reported not feeling any internal guilt as an exercise motivation were 73% less likely to report having used a WAT than those who felt any internal guilt (OR 0.27, 95% CI 0.14-0.54; P<.001). A total of 3 distinct motivational profiles emerged from the cluster analysis. WAT users had an increased probability of membership in profile 3, which was characterized as being strongly motivated to exercise by internal guilt, physical appearance, and exercise enjoyment (OR 4.5, 95% CI 2.1-9.7; P<.001).

Conclusions: Among this cohort, survivors who reported using WATs to track a health goal or activity were significantly more likely to report meeting PA recommendations. Survivors who reported feeling internal guilt as an exercise motivation were significantly more likely to report using WATs to track a health goal or activity. When examining clusters of motivation, survivors who reported previous WAT use were more likely to report being motivated to exercise by a mix of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations, including internal guilt, exercise enjoyment, and physical appearance. Given the health benefits of PA for cancer

survivors, technology-focused interventions that use WATs and target exercise motivation may aid in cancer survivors meeting the level of recommended PA.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e24828) doi:10.2196/24828

KEYWORDS

mHealth; mobile health; cancer survivors; exercise; physical activity; motivation; wearable electronic devices; fitness trackers

Introduction

Background

There are more than 16.9 million cancer survivors living in the United States, and this number is expected to reach more than 22.1 million by 2030 [1]. From 1997 to 2014, obesity increased more rapidly among adult cancer survivors than in the general population [2]. Furthermore, there is a higher prevalence of obesity among cancer survivors from underrepresented populations, such as Hispanics, compared with White cancer survivors [3-8]. In addition, Hispanic breast cancer survivors tend to have lower levels of physical activity (PA) than their non-Hispanic White counterparts [9]. Obesity has several negative health consequences that affect cancer survivors. Obesity puts survivors at a greater risk for cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and cancer recurrence [10-14]. In addition, accumulation of adipose tissue can inhibit effective cancer treatment [15].

PA plays an important role in reducing obesity and increasing quality of life among breast, colorectal, prostate, and multiple site cancer survivors [16-18]. PA can help reduce morbidity and mortality and alleviate the negative side effects of chemotherapy, including fatigue, nausea, disturbed sleep, decreased activity, and impaired quality of life [19-22]. Thus, guidelines from the American Cancer Society recommend that cancer survivors engage in at least 150 minutes per week of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) [23]. However, only 17% to 37% of breast cancer survivors in the United States adhere to these recommendations and most tend to exercise less after treatment [24-27].

Cancer survivors have unique health-related physical and psychological challenges resulting from the acute and long-term effects of cancer, including declines in physical functioning, decreased exercise motivation, and increased levels of anxiety and fatigue [28-31]. Innovative approaches are required to address these challenges. Wearable activity trackers (WATs) are promising tools for addressing these barriers. As of 2020, approximately 1 in 5 US adults (21%) say they regularly wear a smart watch or wearable fitness tracker [32]. WATs that monitor PA act as a motivational tool for increasing awareness of sedentary behavior and are useful for measuring and tracking activity at home or any location [33]. One of the benefits of WATs is that they have the ability to measure a variety of activity-related outcomes, including steps, distance, heart rate, active minutes, calories, and sleep, with high validity and reliability [34,35]. A large systematic review found that using WATs significantly increased the daily step count (P<.001), MVPA (P<.001), and energy expenditure (P=.03) in adult populations [36]. Owing to the rapid advances and relatively low cost of WATs, a growing amount of research has

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e24828
```

XSL•FO

successfully incorporated WATs into interventions to increase PA, reduce obesity, and manage chronic conditions such as breast cancer [22,37]. Results from a qualitative study of breast cancer survivors found that survivors reported acceptance of using WATs, confidence, and comfort in using them, and that using WATs increased their motivation for PA [38]. WATs may also be helpful for promoting PA among cancer patients who are still receiving primary therapy for the disease [39,40]. In addition, WATs have been shown to increase self-awareness of PA and reinforce progress toward meeting PA goals [41]. WATs also show promise as a tool to reduce disparities among patients with cancer and cancer survivors by overcoming barriers such as access to health care providers and health monitoring [42]. WATs are cost-effective, can be widely distributed, have the potential to minimize user burden, and provide immediate feedback in an enjoyable experience for users [43].

Overall, WATs may overcome some limitations of traditional in-person programs for PA and weight management for cancer survivors, such as overcoming travel barriers, decreasing user burden, and addressing time or schedule constraints [30,44,45].

To aid in interpreting the underlying behavior regulations associated with motivation, we examined exercise motivation through the lens of self-determination theory (SDT) [46]. SDT distinguishes between two sources of motivation that regulate a person's behavior: intrinsic (internal) and extrinsic (external). Intrinsic motivation is defined as engaging in an activity or behavior because of the inherent satisfaction a person gets. An intrinsically motivated person experiences enjoyment, accomplishment, and excitement when engaging in the behavior or action. Extrinsic motivation refers to engaging in a behavior to obtain an outcome outside of what is inherently achieved through doing a behavior. This can include social rewards, such as praise, disapproval avoidance, or monetary incentives.

Furthermore, SDT distinguishes between different types of extrinsic motivation by their style of regulation on behavior. For example, controlled regulation is the least autonomous form of extrinsic motivation. In this regulation style, behavior is primarily driven by externally administered rewards and punishments. Individuals operating from this type of motivation typically experience externally regulated behavior as controlling or alienating, leading to an externally perceived locus of causality or control [47]. In another regulation type, introjected regulation, people will perform actions to avoid feeling guilty or anxious or to satisfy their ego or pride. Although this style is still strongly externally controlled, introjection represents a type of regulation that is also contingent on ego and self-esteem. Although this regulation style is internal to the person, introjected behaviors are not experienced as fully self-determined and still operate from an external locus of control [47]. SDT conceptualizes these motivations as a constant

continuum moving between amotivation, or having no motivation, to fully self-determined motivation [46,48]. SDT postulates that meeting goals and changing behavior are more likely to occur if motivation is self-determined or autonomous [24]. Previous studies have demonstrated the efficacy of adapting and mapping SDT concepts to exercise motivations in understanding health behavior [49], particularly mapping guilt onto introjected regulation [48,50,51].

There is still a lot of uncertainty around understanding what motivates cancer survivors to engage in PA. One of the challenges to PA engagement among survivors is that they tend to have lower exercise motivation after diagnosis and treatment [24]. However, some studies have examined exercise motivation among cancer survivors, specifically through the framework of SDT. One study found that breast cancer survivors who meet PA recommendations have higher scores of intrinsic motivation and autonomous regulation, similar to exercise enjoyment as a motivation in this study, than those who did not reach PA guidelines [52]. Other research also indicates that intrinsic motivation is significantly associated with greater long-term exercise adherence [48].

Objectives

Cancer survivors who meet PA recommendations experience better health outcomes. With the growing availability and implementation of WATs, it may be easier to track PA, but it is still unknown what motivates cancer survivors to wear these devices. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to investigate the relationship among motivations for exercise (internal guilt, pressure from others, physical appearance, and exercise enjoyment), reported previous use of WATs to track health goals, and meeting the recommended amount of PA (\geq 150 minutes of MVPA per week) among a cohort of cancer survivors.

Methods

Data Source

First administered in 2002-2003 by the National Cancer Institute, the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) is a biennial, cross-sectional survey of a nationally representative sample of noninstitutionalized American adults aged 18 years and older that is used to assess the context in which people access and use health information. There are 13 iterations of HINTS, and this study uses the 13th iteration released in January 2020, HINTS 5 Cycle 3, which represents data collected from January to April 2019. Each HINTS iteration has been approved through an expedited review by the Westat Institutional Review Board and deemed exempt by the US National Institutes of Health Office of Human Subjects Research Protections. A total of 5438 people participated in HINTS 5 Cycle 3. In this cycle, the overall response rate was 30.3%. For descriptive analysis, sample weighting was used to provide nationally representative US estimates. The HINTS survey uses weights that are designed to provide population level estimations utilizing a modified Horvitz-Thompson estimator and Jackknife replication method [53].

Participants

In this study, all cancer survivors who completed a survey for cycle 3 in 2019 with complete information on demographic variables, WAT use, exercise motivation, and minutes of MVPA per week were included (N=608).

Measures

Demographics

Demographic variables included participants' age (years), BMI, gender (male or female), marital status (married or divorced), household income range, education (less than high school, high school graduate, some college education, college graduate, or more), health insurance status (yes or no), English-speaking proficiency (very well or not very well), self-rated health (excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor), ability to take care of one's health (completely confident, very confident, somewhat confident, a little confident, or not confident at all), rural or urban designation, cancer type (breast, cervical, prostate, colorectal, skin, other, or more than one type), and time since cancer diagnosis (in years). Race or ethnicity was examined using a dichotomized variable representing survivors from a White racial or ethnic background and those from a non-White racial or ethnic background, including Hispanics, Asians, and African Americans. BMI was used to classify participants as obese (≥30), overweight (29.9-26), or normal weight or underweight (<26).

Use of WATs

Participants' responses to the question, "In the past 12 months, have you used an electronic wearable device to monitor or track your health or activity? For example, a Fitbit, AppleWatch or Garmin Vivofit..." were used to characterize the distribution of subjects who used WATs (yes or no).

Exercise Motivation

To assess motivation, we used participants' responses to questions that asked "Why the participant starts or continues exercise regularly" with separate questions asking if the reason was "pressure from others (external pressure), concern over the way you look (physical appearance), feeling guilty when you stop exercising (internal guilt), or getting enjoyment from exercise (exercise enjoyment)." Answer choices included "A lot," "Some," "A little," or "Not at all." For regression modeling, we dichotomized the response variable into *not at all* versus *any*.

Physical Activity

To investigate the association between WAT use and PA, we created a binary outcome variable derived from a composite of combining responses to questions which asks, "In a typical week, how many days do you do any physical activity or exercise of at least moderate intensity, such as brisk walking, bicycling at a regular pace, and swimming at a regular pace (do not include weightlifting)?" with option choices from *1 day per week* to *7 days per week*, and another question, which asks, "On the days you do physical activity for exercise of at least moderate intensity, how long do you typically do these activities?" and allowed participants to answer with any positive number up to 3 digits in length. To develop the outcome

variable, the number of days per week reported was multiplied by the number of minutes to obtain the average time per week of MVPA. We then created a binary variable with either *yes* or *no* options based on whether the participant met recommended weekly minutes of MVPA (yes \geq 150 or no <150).

Statistical Analyses

Before the analysis, data were screened for normality, outliers, and patterns of missing data. Missing data were screened and tested in Statistical Access Software (SAS) version 9.4 using PROC MI to examine the distribution of missing values. No distinct patterns of missing data were found; therefore, the data were approached as missing at random. As no patterns in missing data were found, participants who completed the survey for cycle 3 in 2019 with complete information on demographics, exercise motivations, WAT use, and minutes of moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA) per week were included in the study (N=608). Descriptive data for continuous variables were reported as weighted means and SDs, and categorical variables were reported as weighted frequencies and percentages.

To assess the relationship between exercise motivation variables and WAT use, multivariable logistic regression models were used. In addition, we examined the interaction between individual exercise motivations and race or ethnicity to explore differences in motivations by race or ethnicity. A separate multivariable logistic model was used to assess the relationship between WAT use and meeting the recommended amount of PA. A cutoff of P<.05 was used to determine statistical significance for all analyses.

A cluster analysis was conducted to generate motivational profiles based on responses to exercise motivation questions using the PROC LCA procedure in SAS 9.4. In PROC LCA, parameters are estimated using an expectation-maximization algorithm to obtain the maximum likelihood. In addition, this procedure incorporates the Newton-Raphson method for the estimation of regression coefficients. The convergence index used in this procedure is the maximum absolute deviation (MAD). The estimation procedure continues to iterate until either a specified criterion value of MAD (the convergence criterion) is met or the maximum number of iterations is reached. Finally, LCA parameter estimates and standard errors are found by inverting the Hessian matrix to obtain the log likelihood [54]. Using this method, we tested the best-fit model as either a 2-, 3-, 4-, or 5-cluster solution. These options were then assessed further using goodness-of-fit statistics, Akaike information criterion, Bayesian information criterion, G-squared, entropy, and interpretability. Once profiles were formed, differences in WAT use were assessed using logistic modeling and chi-square tests. SAS version 9.4 was used for all data modeling and analyses carried out in this study.

Results

Demographic Characteristics of the Cohort

Multimedia Appendix 1 describes the cancer cohort. The mean age of the cohort was 66.9 years (SD 12.1), and the mean BMI was 28.3 (SD 6.1). The majority of cancer survivors were non-Hispanic White (473/608, 78.7%), female (322/608, 54.9%), married (328/608, 62.9%), and spoke English very well (546/608, 89.8%). The most frequently reported cancer was skin cancer (154/608, 27.8%), followed by more than one type of cancer (110/608, 18.1%) and breast cancer (79/608, 12.4%), which are among the most prevalent types of cancer in the general population [55]. A large proportion of the cohort completed some college or more (489/608, 71.5%) and frequently reported being in good (228/608, 38.3%) or very good health (194/608, 29.4%) and being very confident that they could take care of their health (279/608, 43.3%). In addition, the cohort overwhelmingly reported having health insurance (596/608, 96.8%). Regarding PA, the majority of this cancer cohort did not meet the recommended amount of PA (396/608, 67.9%) and most only reported between 0 and 74 minutes of MVPA per week (282/608, 49.9%). One-fifth of cancer survivors reported using a WAT device in the past month (119/608, 20.9%). The complete breakdown of exercise motivations reported by WAT users and non-WAT users in provided in Table 1.



Table 1. Exercise motivations (wearable activity tracker users vs nonwearable activity tracker users; N=	=608).
--	--------

	,			
Characteristic and category	WAT ^a users (n=119), n (%)		Non-WAT users (r	n=489), n (%)
	Participants	Participants (weighted)	Participants	Participants (weighted)
Internal guilt				
No	17 (9.6)	330,710 (9.6)	198 (42.9)	5,572,690 (42.9)
Yes	102 (90.4)	3,106,554 (90.4)	291 (57.1)	7,422,694 (57.1)
Exercise enjoyment				
No	20 (12.5)	428,160 (12.5)	123 (23.7)	3,086,204 (23.7)
Yes	99 (87.5)	3,009,105 (87.5)	366 (76.3)	9,909,181 (76.3)
Physical appearance				
No	12 (6.3)	215,926 (6.3)	110 (19.3)	2,503,455 (19.3)
Yes	107 (93.7)	3,221,338 (93.7)	379 (80.7)	10,491,930 (80.7)
Pressure from others				
No	77 (63.6)	2,184,454 (63.6)	323 (67.6)	8,784,210 (67.6)
Yes	42 (36.4)	1,252,810 (36.4)	166 (32.4)	4,211,175 (32.4)

^aWAT: wearable activity tracker.

Exercise Motivation and WAT Use—Regression Modeling

When exercise motivations were assessed independently, adjusting for all covariates in a multivariate logistic regression model, cancer survivors who did not report internal guilt as a motivation for exercise were 73% less likely to use WATs (odds ratio [OR] 0.27, 95% CI 0.14-0.54; *P*<.001). This model was adjusted by participant's age, BMI, time since cancer diagnosis, gender, marital status, household income range, level of educational attainment, race or ethnicity, self-rated health, self-efficacy for health, region, urban or rural status, health insurance status, English-speaking ability, and type of cancer diagnosis. In addition, several demographic variables were found

to be significantly associated with WAT use in this model. An increase in age was associated with a decreased likelihood of using WATs (OR 0.95, 95% CI 0.93-0.97; P<.001). In addition, survivors with higher income (US \$75,000-\$199,000 vs US \$0-\$34,000; OR 2.84, 95% CI 1.22-6.59; P=.02) and those with better health (fair or poor vs excellent; OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.07-0.61; P=.004) were more likely to use WATs. The time since cancer diagnosis was included as a control variable in this model and was found to be not statistically significantly associated with WAT use (P=.93). Finally, when testing for interactions between individual exercise motivations and race or ethnicity, we found no significant interactions. The results are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Results from multivariable regression modeling of exercise motivations and previous wearable activity tracker use (N=608).

Variable ^a	Odds ratio (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value
Pressure from others ^b	1.17 (0.70-1.97)	.54
Physical appearance ^c	0.67 (0.30-1.53)	.35
Internal guilt ^b	0.27 (0.14-0.54)	<.001
Exercise enjoyment ^c	0.82 (0.40-1.60)	.55
Age	0.95 (0.93-0.97)	<.001
Income ^d	2.84 (1.22-6.49)	.02
Self-rated health ^e	0.20 (0.07-0.61)	.004

^aAdjusted for age, BMI, time since cancer diagnosis, gender, marital status, household income range, level of educational attainment, race or ethnicity, self-rated health, self-efficacy for health, region, urban or rural status, health insurance status, English-speaking ability, and type of cancer diagnosis. ^bNone versus any motivated.

None versus any motivated

^cAny versus not motivated.

^dUS \$75,000-\$199,000 versus US \$0-\$34,000.

^eFair or poor versus excellent.

Exercise Motivation and WAT Use-Cluster Analysis

Figure 1 displays the 3 motivational profiles that emerged from the cluster analysis. The profiles differed significantly across motivation and class membership.

Profile 1 (100/608, 16.4%) is characterized by cancer survivors who did not report being influenced to exercise by any of these motivations (internal guilt, pressure from others, physical appearance, and exercise enjoyment).

Profile 2 (117/608, 19.2%) profile is characterized by cancer survivors who reported exercising because of exercise enjoyment (intrinsic motivation with autonomous regulation) and physical appearance (extrinsic motivation with introjected regulation).

Profile 3 (394/608, 64.4%) is characterized by cancer survivors who reported being motivated by exercise enjoyment (intrinsic

with autonomous regulation) and strongly by both physical appearance and internal guilt (extrinsic motivation with introjected regulation).

WAT users had an 86% probability of membership in profile 3 (gamma=0.86; SE 0.04; P<.001) versus profile 1, whereas non-WAT users only had a 58% (gamma=0.58; SE 0.04; P<.001) chance of being in this profile. When assessed in a logistic regression model, profile 3 was also the only cluster that was significantly associated with WAT use (OR 4.5, 95% CI 2.1-9.7; P<.001) after adjusting for participants' age, BMI, time since cancer diagnosis, gender, marital status, household income range, level of educational attainment, race or ethnicity, self-rated health, self-efficacy for health, region, urban or rural status, health insurance status, English-speaking ability, and type of cancer diagnosis.





Association Between WAT Use and PA

Cancer survivors who used WATs were 1.6 times more likely to meet PA recommendations than those who did not use WATs (OR 1.65, 95% CI 1.03-2.65; P=.04). In addition, in this model, we found that survivors who had lower BMI (OR 0.92, 95% CI

0.89-0.96; P<.001), had higher household income (US \$200,000+ vs US \$0-\$35,000; OR 2.62, 95% CI 1.11-6.19; P=.03), and were in better health (fair or poor vs excellent; OR 0.18, 95% CI 0.07-0.44; P<.001) were more likely to meet weekly PA recommendations. The results can be found in Table 3.

Table 3. Association between wearable activity tracker use and meeting the recommended amount of physical activity (N=608).

Variable ^a	Odds ratio (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value
Previous wearable activity tracker use ^b	1.65 (1.03-2.65)	.04
BMI	0.92 (0.89-0.96)	<.001
Household income ^c	2.62 (1.11-6.19)	.03
Self-rated health ^d	0.18 (0.07-0.44)	<.001

^aAdjusted for age, BMI, time since cancer diagnosis, gender, marital status, household income range, level of educational attainment, race or ethnicity, self-rated health, self-efficacy for health, region, urban or rural status, health insurance status, English-speaking ability, and type of cancer diagnosis.

^bYes versus no wearable activity tracker use.

^cUS \$200,000+ versus US \$0-\$35,000.

^dFair or poor versus excellent.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e24828

Discussion

Principal Findings

One of our primary objectives was to examine the associations of internal guilt, exercise enjoyment, pressure from others, and physical appearance as motivations for exercise with reporting having used WATs to track a health goal among a cohort of cancer survivors. The second objective was to examine clusters of exercise motivations associated with reporting previous WAT use. When exercise motivations were assessed independently, only internal guilt was significantly associated with WAT use among this cohort of cancer survivors. However, in the cluster analysis, 3 distinct motivational profiles emerged with distinctly different class memberships. WAT users were significantly more likely to be in profile 3, a group characterized by being motivated by internal guilt, physical appearance, and exercise enjoyment (autonomous with high introjected regulation). The cluster analysis provided a unique examination on not only how a single exercise motivation is associated with reporting WAT use but also how a combination of motives can be identified.

In both analyses, external guilt as a motivation for exercise emerged as being significantly associated with reporting previous WAT use. There is concern that guilt as a motivation can be harmful to healthy behavior adherence and that using WATs can cause additional stress or induce negative affect [56]. However, in this study, we observed a significant relationship between health-related internal guilt and reporting using WATs to track a health goal or activity. Health-related guilt in this context is a negative feeling about a person's own behavioral shortcomings related to health, often through self-blame. For example, a person may feel guilty when they have not exercised, although having been given recommendations from a health provider to do so. This experience typically involves a sense of anxiety or regret [50]. However, the experience of guilt is typically in response to a specific behavior, unlike shame, which is a negative feeling about oneself or global self-blame. Therefore, the experience of guilt is typically less painful than shame [50]. This may explain why previous studies have found an association between guilt and higher levels of MVPA among breast cancer survivors [51].

Understanding exercise motivation through a framework of SDT helps us to identify and differentiate sources of exercise motivation (internal vs external) and allows us to conceptualize different forms of control or behavior regulation within extrinsic motivation (eg, introjected regulation and controlled regulation). In this context, we can think of health-related guilt as an emotion. However, considering the underlying behavior regulation associated with guilt, we apply an SDT framework, specifically mapping guilt onto extrinsic motivation with introjected regulation [48,50,51].

Understanding the type of behavioral regulation linked with guilt can inform the planning and design of technology-based mobile health (mHealth) interventions that focus on addressing the behavioral regulation aspect of health-related guilt while not directly leveraging or increasing the emotional aspect that may negatively impact healthy behavior adherence.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e24828
```

Given that motivation in the context of SDT exists on a continuum, viewing the results of this study through an SDT framework can potentially inform the development of interventions that focus on moving survivors from extrinsically motivated regulations such as introjected regulation (eg, guilt) to more autonomous forms of motivational control (eg, enjoyment). One approach is to design intervention components such as motivational messages that avoid guilt- or shame-inducing language and instead aid the user in becoming more accountable for meeting MVPA recommendations while creating enjoyable experiences. This can potentially be achieved by using mHealth intervention components such as gamification and motivational affordances (eg, leaderboards, badges, and challenges), which help to foster more autonomous forms of regulation and motivation (eg, enjoyment and mastery). Clinicians may also play a role in guiding their patients toward making more positive cognitive appraisals directed at managing feelings of guilt. This process distinguishes between health-related guilt and engaging in self-blaming behavior (eg, failure and shame), which has been found to be associated with negative health consequences and decreased PA motivation [51].

On the basis of these findings, motivational regulation is likely to be an important factor linking body-related emotions and MVPA. WAT interventions typically contain behavior change techniques that include monitoring and tracking but rarely address extrinsic motivation with introjected regulation (eg, guilt). There is a need to recognize that health- and body-related guilt exists among cancer survivors and consider the implications of the relationship between guilt and health behaviors among this population.

Another objective of this study is to examine the association between WAT use and meeting the recommended amount of weekly MVPA among this cohort of cancer survivors. Reporting previous WAT use for tracking health goals was statistically significantly associated with meeting MVPA recommendations. Given the health benefits of PA for cancer survivors and the potential barriers to in-person PA programs, interventions aimed at aiding cancer survivors in meeting MVPA recommendations could leverage WATs to help survivors reach these goals.

Comparison With Previous Work

Similar to previous findings, we found that enjoyment (intrinsic motivation), a more autonomous form of behavioral regulation, was found to play a role in reporting WAT use when looking at clusters of motivation [57]. However, contrary to previous work, we did not find that external pressure from others to exercise was associated with WAT use [58].

Although previous studies have investigated the relationships among demographic, health, and lifestyle variables associated with meeting PA guidelines in cancer survivors, few have investigated the role of reporting previous WAT use in meeting PA guidelines among cancer survivors [49]. A large systematic review found that cancer survivors showed an increase in PA when using WATs and that increased PA played an important role in alleviating the adverse health effects of breast cancer therapy [22]. Another study found that WATs motivated breast cancer survivors to be physically active and created more

awareness of their sedentary lifestyle [37]. Results from a qualitative study found similar findings in that WATs increased self-awareness and motivation among breast cancer survivors [38].

Future Considerations

Findings from this study can provide insights into the relationship between reporting internal guilt as an exercise motivation and reporting meeting MVPA recommendations for cancer survivors. The results can also provide some insights into possible ways to interpret guilt as an exercise motivation and potentially understand the underlying behavior regulation of this emotion through a framework of SDT. There remains an opportunity for future researchers to address questions regarding the intensity of WAT use among cancer survivors and the amount of PA. There also remains uncertainty as to whether WATs act as a facilitator of PA or a primary driver of health behavior [59]. In addition, there are technological difficulties to consider (initial setup, troubleshooting, etc) that can create barriers to PA adherence in home-based PA interventions among cancer survivors [59]. In addition, there is concern that WATs can cause stress or induce negative effects on healthy behavior, which can also be problematic [56]. However, studies have shown successful integration of WATs into interventions with no reported increase in negative affect or causing unwanted stress [60]. This study will also serve to inform a follow-up paper focused on the intensity of WAT use, exercise motivation, and PA.

Limitations

Although HINTS is designed to be nationally representative, the data were collected through a self-report, cross-sectional survey. Thus, we are unable to analyze trends in WAT use, motivations, and PA over time and must rely on a person's recollection of events and behaviors. In addition, because this is a cross-sectional survey, we were limited to the questions and variables that were included in the survey, such as being limited to examining only the range of the exercise motivations included in the survey and being unable to know what specific health measures or activities the participants were tracking on their wearable devices. There is also the possibility of unmeasured confounding, which might be associated with mHealth engagement that would influence the interpretation of these results. Although our analyses showed a statistically significant association, it does not indicate a causal relationship, and we cannot address the issue of temporality, given the cross-sectional nature of the study. For example, we cannot

determine whether a motivation leads to WAT use or if WAT use leads to motivation. Our goal was to determine associations among motivations for exercise, WAT use, and meeting PA recommendations among this cohort of cancer survivors; thus, our results should not be generalized to populations outside of survivors. Finally, because of smaller data cell counts, we had to examine interactions for race using a dichotomized variable derived from cancer survivors reporting if they were from a White racial or ethnic background or if they were from a non-White racial or ethnic background. Due to this dichotomization, we may have been unable to detect more subtle but significant differences in motivations by race. Finally, we need to consider that those who used WATs had more access to devices based on higher socioeconomic status (SES) and must consider the implications for cancer survivors with lower SES. Although this study was a secondary analysis of cross-sectional data, the results add to the literature supporting the notion that previous WAT use among cancer survivors is associated with reported meeting MVPA guidelines.

Conclusions

When assessed individually, internal guilt as an exercise motivation (extrinsic motivation with introjected regulation) was found to be significantly associated with reporting previous WAT use among a cohort of cancer survivors. In a cluster analysis, WAT users were more likely to be in a profile that reported being motivated to exercise by internal guilt, exercise enjoyment, and physical appearance, demonstrating a combination of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations (autonomous with high introjected regulation). This provides us with insights on not only how one motivation but how a confluence of motivations was found to be associated with reporting previous WAT use for tracking health goals among a cohort of cancer survivors. However, in both analyses, we found that internal guilt was consistently reported as an exercise motivation associated with reported WAT use. We can also apply an SDT framework to better understand the underlying behavioral regulation that underlies health-related guilt. In addition, among this cohort of cancer survivors, WAT use was significantly associated with meeting the PA recommendation guidelines. The results of this study can aid in identifying which cancer survivors are more or less likely to use WATs and the potential underlying motivations and behavior regulations that are associated with their use. Given the health benefits of PA for cancer survivors, technology-focused interventions targeting exercise motivation may aid cancer survivors in meeting MVPA recommendation guidelines.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Descriptive characteristics of the cancer cohort (wearable activity tracker users vs nonwearable activity tracker users; N=608). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 175 KB - cancer_v7i2e24828_app1.pdf]

References



- Miller KD, Nogueira L, Mariotto AB, Rowland JH, Yabroff KR, Alfano CM, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin 2019 Sep 11;69(5):363-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3322/caac.21565</u>] [Medline: <u>31184787</u>]
- Greenlee H, Shi Z, Sardo Molmenti CL, Rundle A, Tsai WY. Trends in obesity prevalence in adults with a history of cancer: results from the US National Health Interview Survey, 1997 to 2014. J Clin Oncol 2016 Sep 10;34(26):3133-3140. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2016.66.4391]
- 3. Schmitz KH, Neuhouser ML, Agurs-Collins T, Zanetti KA, Cadmus-Bertram L, Dean LT, et al. Impact of obesity on cancer survivorship and the potential relevance of race and ethnicity. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013 Sep 18;105(18):1344-1354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt223] [Medline: 23990667]
- 4. Glenn BA, Hamilton AS, Nonzee NJ, Maxwell AE, Crespi CM, Ryerson AB, et al. Obesity, physical activity, and dietary behaviors in an ethnically-diverse sample of cancer survivors with early onset disease. J Psychosoc Oncol 2018 May 15;36(4):418-436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2018.1448031] [Medline: 29764334]
- White A, Pollack LA, Smith JL, Thompson T, Underwood JM, Fairley T. Racial and ethnic differences in health status and health behavior among breast cancer survivors--Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2009. J Cancer Surviv 2013 Mar 5;7(1):93-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-012-0248-4] [Medline: 23212604]
- Byrd DA, Agurs-Collins T, Berrigan D, Lee R, Thompson FE. Racial and ethnic differences in dietary intake, physical activity, and body mass index (BMI) among cancer survivors: 2005 and 2010 National Health Interview Surveys (NHIS). J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2017 Dec 11;4(6):1138-1146. [doi: 10.1007/s40615-016-0319-8] [Medline: 28078657]
- Yanez B, McGinty HL, Buitrago D, Ramirez AG, Penedo FJ. Cancer outcomes in Hispanics/Latinos in the United States: an integrative review and conceptual model of determinants of health. J Lat Psychol 2016 May;4(2):114-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/lat0000055] [Medline: 27429867]
- Bandera EV, Maskarinec G, Romieu I, John EM. Racial and ethnic disparities in the impact of obesity on breast cancer risk and survival: a global perspective. Adv Nutr 2015 Nov;6(6):803-819 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/an.115.009647] [Medline: 26567202]
- Pinkston CM, Baumgartner RN, Connor AE, Boone SD, Baumgartner KB. Physical activity and survival among Hispanic and non-Hispanic white long-term breast cancer survivors and population-based controls. J Cancer Surviv 2015 Dec 5;9(4):650-659. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-015-0441-3] [Medline: 25739862]
- Protani M, Coory M, Martin JH. Effect of obesity on survival of women with breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010 Oct 23;123(3):627-635. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-010-0990-0] [Medline: 20571870]
- 11. Patterson RE, Cadmus LA, Emond JA, Pierce JP. Physical activity, diet, adiposity and female breast cancer prognosis: a review of the epidemiologic literature. Maturitas 2010 May;66(1):5-15. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.maturitas.2010.01.004</u>] [Medline: <u>20097494</u>]
- 12. Freedland SJ, Grubb KA, Yiu SK, Humphreys EB, Nielsen ME, Mangold LA, et al. Obesity and risk of biochemical progression following radical prostatectomy at a tertiary care referral center. J Urol 2005 Sep;174(3):919-922. [doi: 10.1097/01.ju.0000169459.78982.d7] [Medline: 16093988]
- 13. Amling CL. The association between obesity and the progression of prostate and renal cell carcinoma. Urol Oncol 2004 Nov;22(6):478-484. [doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2004.10.004] [Medline: 15610865]
- 14. Zhang FF, Parsons SK. Obesity in childhood cancer survivors: call for early weight management. Adv Nutr 2015 Sep;6(5):611-619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/an.115.008946] [Medline: 26374183]
- Pramanik R, Sheng X, Ichihara B, Heisterkamp N, Mittelman SD. Adipose tissue attracts and protects acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from chemotherapy. Leuk Res 2013 May;37(5):503-509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2012.12.013] [Medline: 23332453]
- 16. Buffart LM, Thong MSY, Schep G, Chinapaw MJM, Brug J, van de Poll-Franse LV. Self-reported physical activity: its correlates and relationship with health-related quality of life in a large cohort of colorectal cancer survivors. PLoS One 2012 May 2;7(5):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036164] [Medline: 22567135]
- Van Roekel EH, Bours MJL, Breedveld-Peters JJL, Meijer K, Kant I, Van Den Brandt PA, et al. Light physical activity is associated with quality of life after colorectal cancer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2015 Dec;47(12):2493-2503. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000698] [Medline: 25970666]
- 18. van Roekel EH, Duchâteau J, Bours MJL, van Delden L, Breedveld-Peters JJL, Koole JL, et al. Longitudinal associations of light-intensity physical activity with quality of life, functioning and fatigue after colorectal cancer. Qual Life Res 2020 Nov 2;29(11):2987-2998 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-020-02566-7] [Medline: 32617891]
- Ballard-Barbash R, Friedenreich CM, Courneya KS, Siddiqi SM, McTiernan A, Alfano CM. Physical activity, biomarkers, and disease outcomes in cancer survivors: a systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012 Jun 06;104(11):815-840 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djs207] [Medline: 22570317]
- Schmid D, Leitzmann MF. Association between physical activity and mortality among breast cancer and colorectal cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Oncol 2014 Jul;25(7):1293-1311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdu012] [Medline: 24644304]
- 21. Cormie P, Zopf EM, Zhang X, Schmitz KH. The impact of exercise on cancer mortality, recurrence, and treatment-related adverse effects. Epidemiol Rev 2017 Jan 01;39(1):71-92. [doi: <u>10.1093/epirev/mxx007</u>] [Medline: <u>28453622</u>]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e24828
```

- 22. Coughlin SS, Caplan LS, Stone R. Use of consumer wearable devices to promote physical activity among breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors: a review of health intervention studies. J Cancer Surviv 2020 Jun;14(3):386-392. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-020-00855-1] [Medline: 31933148]
- Rock CL, Thomson C, Gansler T, Gapstur SM, McCullough ML, Patel AV, et al. American Cancer Society guideline for diet and physical activity for cancer prevention. CA Cancer J Clin 2020 Jul;70(4):245-271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21591] [Medline: <u>32515498</u>]
- 24. Blanchard CM, Courneya KS, Stein K, American Cancer Society's SCS-II. Cancer survivors' adherence to lifestyle behavior recommendations and associations with health-related quality of life: results from the American Cancer Society's SCS-II. J Clin Oncol 2008 May 01;26(13):2198-2204. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.14.6217] [Medline: 18445845]
- 25. Springfield S, Odoms-Young A, Tussing-Humphreys L, Freels S, Stolley M. Adherence to American Cancer Society and American Institute of Cancer Research dietary guidelines in overweight African American breast cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv 2019 Apr 13;13(2):257-268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-019-00748-y] [Medline: 30982113]
- 26. Smith SA, Ansa BE, Yoo W, Whitehead MS, Coughlin SS. Determinants of adherence to physical activity guidelines among overweight and obese African American breast cancer survivors: implications for an intervention approach. Ethn Health 2018 Feb 14;23(2):194-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13557858.2016.1256376] [Medline: 27838922]
- 27. Eng L, Pringle D, Su J, Shen X, Mahler M, Niu C, et al. Patterns, perceptions, and perceived barriers to physical activity in adult cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2018 Nov 29;26(11):3755-3763. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4239-5] [Medline: 29808379]
- Ray AD, Twarozek AM, Williams BT, Erwin DO, Underwood W, Mahoney MC. Exercise in African American and White colorectal cancer survivors: a mixed methods approach. Rehabil Oncol 2018 Oct;36(4):188-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.REO.0000000000125] [Medline: 30467528]
- Fisher A, Wardle J, Beeken RJ, Croker H, Williams K, Grimmett C. Perceived barriers and benefits to physical activity in colorectal cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2016 Feb 14;24(2):903-910 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-015-2860-0] [Medline: 26268781]
- 30. Weller S, Oliffe JL, Campbell KL. Factors associated with exercise preferences, barriers and facilitators of prostate cancer survivors. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2019 Sep 22;28(5):-. [doi: <u>10.1111/ecc.13135</u>] [Medline: <u>31332891</u>]
- Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, May AM, Schwartz AL, Courneya KS, et al. Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2019 Nov;51(11):2375-2390. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000002116] [Medline: 31626055]
- 32. Vogels EA. About one-in-five Americans use a smart watch or fitness tracker. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/01/09/about-one-in-five-americans-use-a-smart-watch-or-fitness-tracker/</u> [accessed 2020-01-10]
- Hartman SJ, Natarajan L, Palmer BW, Parker B, Patterson RE, Sears DD. Contemp Clin Trials 2015 Nov;45(Pt B):371-376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2015.09.021] [Medline: 26427563]
- 34. Diaz KM, Krupka DJ, Chang MJ, Peacock J, Ma Y, Goldsmith J, et al. Fitbit®: an accurate and reliable device for wireless physical activity tracking. Int J Cardiol 2015 Apr 15;185:138-140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.03.038] [Medline: 25795203]
- Noah AJ, Spierer DK, Gu J, Bronner S. Comparison of steps and energy expenditure assessment in adults of Fitbit Tracker and Ultra to the actical and indirect calorimetry. J Med Eng Technol 2013 Oct;37(7):456-462. [doi: 10.3109/03091902.2013.831135] [Medline: 24007317]
- Brickwood KJ, Watson G, O'Brien J, Williams AD. Consumer-based wearable activity trackers increase physical activity participation: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 12;7(4):e11819 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11819] [Medline: 30977740]
- 37. Wu HS, Gal R, van Sleeuwen NC, Brombacher AC, IJsselsteijn WA, May AM, et al. Breast Cancer Survivors' Experiences With an Activity Tracker Integrated Into a Supervised Exercise Program: Qualitative Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Feb 21;7(2):e10820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10820] [Medline: 30789349]
- Nguyen NH, Hadgraft NT, Moore MM, Rosenberg DE, Lynch C, Reeves MM, et al. A qualitative evaluation of breast cancer survivors' acceptance of and preferences for consumer wearable technology activity trackers. Support Care Cancer 2017 Nov;25(11):3375-3384. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3756-y] [Medline: 28540402]
- 39. Dreher N, Hadeler EK, Hartman SJ, Wong EC, Acerbi I, Rugo HS, et al. Fitbit usage in patients with breast cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Clin Breast Cancer 2019 Dec;19(6):443-449. [doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2019.05.005] [Medline: 31285177]
- 40. Nyrop KA, Deal AM, Choi SK, Wagoner CW, Lee JT, Wood WA, et al. Correction to: measuring and understanding adherence in a home-based exercise intervention during chemotherapy for early breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2019 Jan 11;173(1):245. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-4975-8] [Medline: 30306432]
- 41. Hardcastle SJ, Galliott M, Lynch BM, Nguyen NH, Cohen PA, Mohan GR, et al. Acceptability and utility of, and preference for wearable activity trackers amongst non-metropolitan cancer survivors. PLoS One 2018 Dec 31;13(12):e0210039 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210039] [Medline: 30596781]
- 42. Gonzalez BD. Promise of mobile health technology to reduce disparities in patients with cancer and survivors. JCO Clinical Cancer Informatics 2018 Dec(2):1-9. [doi: 10.1200/cci.17.00141]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e24828
```

- 43. O'Reilly GA, Spruijt-Metz D. Current mHealth technologies for physical activity assessment and promotion. Am J Prev Med 2013 Oct;45(4):501-507 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.05.012] [Medline: 24050427]
- 44. Demark-Wahnefried W, Schmitz KH, Alfano CM, Bail JR, Goodwin PJ, Thomson CA, et al. Weight management and physical activity throughout the cancer care continuum. CA Cancer J Clin 2018 Jan 22;68(1):64-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21441] [Medline: 29165798]
- 45. Jackson C, Dowd A, Capozzi L, Bridel W, Lau H, Culos-Reed S. A turning point: Head and neck cancer patients' exercise preferences and barriers before and after participation in an exercise intervention. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2018 Mar 29;27(2):-. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12826] [Medline: 29377317]
- 46. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Overview of self-determination theory: an organismic-dialectical perspective. In: Handbook of Self-Determination. Rochester: University of Rochester; 2004:1-31.
- 47. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: classic definitions and new directions. Contemp Educ Psychol 2000 Jan;25(1):54-67. [doi: 10.1006/ceps.1999.1020] [Medline: 10620381]
- Teixeira PJ, Carraça EV, Markland D, Silva MN, Ryan RM. Exercise, physical activity, and self-determination theory: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012 Jun 22;9:78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-78] [Medline: 22726453]
- Stone CR, Courneya KS, McGregor SE, Li H, Friedenreich CM. Determinants of changes in physical activity from pre-diagnosis to post-diagnosis in a cohort of prostate cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2019 Aug 12;27(8):2819-2828. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-018-4578-2</u>] [Medline: <u>30543049</u>]
- Castonguay AL, Pila E, Wrosch C, Sabiston CM. Body-related self-conscious emotions relate to physical activity motivation and behavior in men. Am J Mens Health 2015 May 01;9(3):209-221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1557988314537517] [Medline: 24899517]
- 51. Castonguay AL, Wrosch C, Pila E, Sabiston C. Body-related shame and guilt predict physical activity in breast cancer survivors over time. Oncol Nurs Forum 2017 Jul 1;44(4):465-475. [doi: 10.1188/17.onf.465-475]
- 52. Milne HM, Wallman K, Guilfoyle A, Gordon S, Corneya K. Self-determination theory and physical activity among breast cancer survivors. J Sport Exerc Psychol 2008 Feb;30(1):23-38. [doi: <u>10.1123/jsep.30.1.23</u>] [Medline: <u>18369241</u>]
- 53. Health Information National Trends Survey 2020. National Cancer Institute. URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/</u> [accessed 2020-02-14]
- 54. Lanza ST, Dziak JJ, Huang L, Wagner AT, Collins LM. PROC LCA & PROC LTA Users' Guide: Version 1.3.2. The Methodology Center. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.methodology.psu.edu/files/2019/03/</u> proc_lca_lta_1-3-2-1_users_guide-2ggq4d3.pdf [accessed 2021-03-05]
- 55. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 2020 Jan;70(1):7-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21590] [Medline: 31912902]
- 56. Andersen TO, Langstrup H, Lomborg S. Experiences with wearable activity data during self-care by chronic heart patients: qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 20;22(7):e15873 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15873] [Medline: 32706663]
- 57. Attig C, Karp A, Franke T. User diversity in the motivation for wearable activity tracking: a predictor for usage intensity? In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing book series (AISC, volume 954). Switzerland: Springer; 2018:431-440.
- 58. Deranek K, Hewitt B, Gudi A, McLeod A. The impact of exercise motives on adolescents' sustained use of wearable technology. Behav Inf Technol 2020 Feb 01:1-15. [doi: 10.1080/0144929x.2020.1720295]
- Kokts-Porietis RL, Stone CR, Friedenreich CM, Froese A, McDonough M, McNeil J. Breast cancer survivors' perspectives on a home-based physical activity intervention utilizing wearable technology. Support Care Cancer 2019 Aug 15;27(8):2885-2892. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4581-7] [Medline: 30554276]
- 60. Ryan J, Edney S, Maher C. Anxious or empowered? A cross-sectional study exploring how wearable activity trackers make their owners feel. BMC Psychol 2019 Jul 03;7(1):42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40359-019-0315-y] [Medline: 31269972]

Abbreviations

HINTS: Health Information National Trends Survey MAD: maximum absolute deviation mHealth: mobile health MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity OR: odds ratio PA: physical activity SDT: self-determination theory SES: socioeconomic status WAT: wearable activity tracker



Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 07.10.20; peer-reviewed by R Gal, S Hartman, C Lynch; comments to author 23.11.20; revised version received 17.01.21; accepted 23.02.21; published 12.04.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
De La Torre S, Spruijt-Metz D, Farias AJ
Associations Among Wearable Activity Tracker Use, Exercise Motivation, and Physical Activity in a Cohort of Cancer Survivors:
Secondary Data Analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey
JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e24828
URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e24828
PMID:33843595

©Steven De La Torre, Donna Spruijt-Metz, Albert J Farias. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 12.04.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



A Novel Behavioral Intervention for Rural Appalachian Cancer Survivors (weSurvive): Participatory Development and Proof-of-Concept Testing

Kathleen J Porter¹, PhD, RD; Katherine E Moon¹, DVM, MPH; Virginia T LeBaron², PhD, APRN, ACNP-BC, FAANP; Jamie M Zoellner¹, PhD, RD

¹Department of Public Health Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Virginia, Christiansburg, VA, United States ²Department of Acute & Specialty Care, School of Nursing, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Kathleen J Porter, PhD, RD Department of Public Health Sciences School of Medicine University of Virginia Christiansburg, VA United States Phone: 1 4342706599 Email: kjporter@virginia.edu

Abstract

Background: Addressing the modifiable health behaviors of cancer survivors is important in rural communities that are disproportionately impacted by cancer (eg, those in Central Appalachia). However, such efforts are limited, and existing interventions may not meet the needs of rural communities.

Objective: This study describes the development and proof-of-concept testing of *we*Survive, a behavioral intervention for rural Appalachian cancer survivors.

Methods: The Obesity-Related Behavioral Intervention Trials (ORBIT) model, a systematic model for designing behavioral interventions, informed the study design. An advisory team (n=10) of community stakeholders and researchers engaged in a participatory process to identify desirable features for interventions targeting rural cancer survivors. The resulting multimodal, 13-week *we*Survive intervention was delivered to 12 participants across the two cohorts. Intervention components included in-person group classes and group and individualized telehealth calls. Indicators reflecting five feasibility domains (acceptability, demand, practicality, implementation, and limited efficacy) were measured using concurrent mixed methods. Pre-post changes and effect sizes were assessed for limited efficacy data. Descriptive statistics and content analysis were used to summarize data for other domains.

Results: Participants reported high program satisfaction (acceptability). Indicators of demand included enrollment of cancer survivors with various cancer types and attrition (1/12, 8%), recruitment (12/41, 30%), and attendance (median 62%) rates. Dietary (7/12, 59%) and physical activity (PA; 10/12, 83%) behaviors were the most frequently chosen behavioral targets. However, the findings indicate that participants did not fully engage in action planning activities, including setting specific goals. Implementation indicators showed 100% researcher fidelity to delivery and retention protocols, whereas practicality indicators highlighted participation barriers. Pre-post changes in limited efficacy outcomes regarding cancer-specific beliefs and knowledge and behavior-specific self-efficacy, intentions, and behaviors were in desired directions and demonstrated small and moderate effect sizes. Regarding dietary and PA behaviors, effect sizes for fruit and vegetable intake, snacks, dietary fat, and minutes of moderate-to-vigorous activity were small (Cohen d=0.00 to 0.32), whereas the effect sizes for change in PA were small to medium (Cohen d=0.22 to 0.45).

Conclusions: *we*Survive has the potential to be a feasible intervention for rural Appalachian cancer survivors. It will be refined and further tested based on the study findings, which also provide recommendations for other behavioral interventions targeting rural cancer survivors. Recommendations included adding additional recruitment and engagement strategies to increase demand and practicality as well as increasing accountability and motivation for participant involvement in self-monitoring activities through the use of technology (eg, text messaging). Furthermore, this study highlights the importance of using a systematic model (eg, the ORBIT framework) and small-scale proof-of-concept studies when adapting or developing behavioral interventions, as

doing so identifies the intervention's potential for feasibility and areas that need improvement before time- and resource-intensive efficacy trials. This could support a more efficient translation into practice.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e26010) doi:10.2196/26010

KEYWORDS

cancer survivors; quality of life; behavior change; rural; feasibility; Appalachia

Introduction

Cancer survivors comprise approximately 5% of the US population, and the number of cancer survivors is expected to increase by almost 30% over the next 10 years [1]. Although cancer survivors live longer, evidence suggests that they continue to engage in behaviors that increase their risk for recurrence, new cancers after treatment, and other chronic diseases that could impair survivorship outcomes [2,3]. Health behaviors that are recommended for cancer survivors to engage in include healthy diet and weight, being physically active, avoiding or stopping tobacco use, limiting alcohol consumption, and practicing sun safety [4,5]. Cancer survivors may be primed to change their health behaviors, as the cancer diagnosis and treatment may serve as *teachable moments* that motivate them to improve health behaviors. Therefore, addressing the health behaviors of cancer survivors has been identified as a priority in both clinical and community settings [6].

Addressing the health behaviors of cancer survivors is particularly important in health disparate communities, such as those in rural Central Appalachia. These communities are disproportionately impacted by cancer, as indicated by higher cancer mortality rates than those of nonrural communities [7]. There are also high rates of low educational attainment and low socioeconomic status in this region [8], and these social determinants of health are associated with a greater likelihood of engaging in unhealthy behaviors after treatment [2]. In addition, these communities often have a high prevalence of other chronic health conditions, such as type 2 diabetes, obesity, and heart disease [9-12], which can adversely impact cancer outcomes and mortality. Importantly, the development and management of these health conditions can be impacted by changing health behaviors. However, efforts to address the health behaviors of cancer survivors in Appalachia, similar to other rural areas, have been limited [13].

Increasing efforts to integrate interventions for cancer survivors that target modifiable health behaviors may be a strategic way to reduce cancer disparities in this region and others. Although there are existing behavioral interventions for cancer survivors, most of them are designed for survivors of a specific type of cancer and use one mode of delivery [14-17]. In addition, few of these existing interventions have been specifically developed for the needs of rural cancer survivors. Therefore, existing interventions would need to be adapted or a new intervention would need to be developed to meet the needs of cancer survivors in Appalachia.

Using a systematic process to develop or adapt an intervention allows for the assessment of the intervention's potential relevance, clinical efficacy, and sustainability. This information is particularly vital for interventions that have the ultimate goal of being translated into real-world settings. The Obesity-Related Behavioral Intervention Trials (ORBIT) model presents a systematic process of translating basic and clinical behavioral science findings into behavioral interventions [18]. Although initially designed for the development of obesity-focused trials, the systematic steps of the ORBIT model are applicable for the design of behavioral interventions targeting other health conditions. This paper describes how researchers affiliated with the University of Virginia (UVA) Cancer Center and community stakeholders from its rural Appalachia catchment area in southwest Virginia employed phase 1 and phase 2 of the ORBIT model to adapt or develop and pilot test a behavioral intervention for cancer survivors.

Methods

Design

This two-phase mixed methods study describes the development and initial pilot testing of a behavioral intervention for rural cancer survivors. The process, guided by the ORBIT model [18] and feasibility framework by Bowen et al [19], provides a conceptual framework for the evaluation of a proof-of-concept study. The ORBIT model includes 4 phases—phase 1: define and refine basic elements, phase 2: preliminary testing, phase 3: efficacy testing, and phase 4: effectiveness testing. This study focused on the first 2 phases. The feasibility framework by Bowen et al [19] identifies 8 key domains to measure during feasibility trials at both the participant and organizational levels. This study measures indicators for the 5 domains that are appropriate for the early proof-of-concept trial phase: acceptability, demand, implementation, practicality, and limited efficacy testing. The domains are listed in Table 1.



Table 1. Summary of measures used in the feasibility trial of *we*Survive.

Feasibility domain, definition, indicator, and measure	Baseline	Postassessment	Process evaluation
Acceptability: extent to which the intervention is judged as suitable, satisfy	ing, or attractive to re	ecipients	
Organizational perceptions			
Recruitment memos	a	—	✓ ^b
Participant satisfaction			
Summative evaluation	_	1	_
Demand: extent to which the intervention is likely to be used			
Organizational adoption			
Recruitment memos	_	_	✓
Recruitment rates			
Recruitment logs		—	1
Participant engagement			
Attendance logs	_	—	1
Class and call memos	_	—	—
Class or call artifacts	_	_	_
Behavioral target chosen by participants			
Summative evaluation	_	1	1
Class or call artifacts	_	—	_
Practicality: extent to which the intervention can be carried out with intende and without outside intervention	d participants using e	xisting means, resource	es, and circumstances
Barriers and facilitators of participant engagement			
Summative evaluation	_	1	—
Implementation: extent the intervention can be successfully delivered to intervention	tended participants		
Recruitment execution			
Recruitment memos	_	—	\checkmark
Recruitment logs	_	—	—
weSurvive delivery			
Class or call memos	—	—	1
Limited efficacy: the promise of the intervention to be successful with the in	ntended population		
Changes in cancer-related beliefs			
Cancer belief questions from HiNTS ^c	\checkmark	1	—
Changes in diet and physical activity self-efficacy			
Scaled survey questions	\checkmark	1	—
Changes in diet and physical activity intentions			
Scaled survey questions	\checkmark	1	_
Changes in dietary behaviors			
NCI ^d multifactor screener	\checkmark	1	—
Changes in physical activity behaviors			
Modified Godin	1	1	_
L-CAT ^e	—	—	_
Changes in social network size			
Cancer survivor social networks measure	✓	1	_

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e26010

XSL•FO RenderX

JMIR CANCER			Porter et al
Feasibility domain, definition, indicator, and measure	Baseline	Postassessment	Process evaluation
Changes in quality of life			
Quality of life patient or cancer survivor version	1	1	_

^bRelated data were collected.

^cHiNTS: Health Information National Trends Survey.

^dNCI: National Cancer Institute.

^eL-CAT: Stanford Leisure-Time Activity Categorical Item.

ORBIT Model Phase 1: Define and Refine Basic Elements

Intention of Phase

The purpose of phase 1 of the ORBIT model is to develop a hypothesized pathway through which behavioral intervention could impact health and determine components, duration, mode of delivery, and tailoring needs [18]. For our study, the intention for this phase was to identify and adapt an existing intervention or, if needed, develop a novel intervention using best practices. We approached this phase by (1) conducting literature searches and (2) engaging an advisory team of local stakeholders in a participatory development process.

Literature Search

We conducted a search of those listed in the National Cancer Institute's (NCI) Research Testing Intervention/Program website [20] and through PubMed to identify existing behavioral interventions for cancer survivors. The identified interventions were reviewed during participatory processes.

Participatory Process

This process was guided by a comprehensive participatory planning and evaluation process [21] (described below). It incorporated the Putting Public Health Evidence in Action training [22] and focused on the sessions related to identifying, selecting, and adapting evidence-based interventions.

To recruit advisory team members, the study was presented to all members of the Cancer Center Without Walls Southwest Virginia Community Advisory Board (CAB) during a quarterly CAB meeting. The CAB consists of representatives from local health care systems and other organizations that work on cancer-related issues, community members, and the UVA Cancer Center faculty and staff. The CAB members who were interested in joining the advisory team contacted the research team. The resulting advisory team consisted of 10 members: 6 community stakeholders, 1 UVA Cancer Center Outreach and Engagement staff member, and 3 interdisciplinary UVA faculty members with expertise in behavioral interventions, oncology, and community engagement. Community stakeholders represented local health systems (n=2), the social services sector (n=2), and higher education (n=2). The 3 members were cancer survivors.

The advisory team engaged in 6 meetings over 6 months, three 1-hour in-person meetings, and three 1-hour conference calls. The intention of these meetings was to identify key recommendations for what the intervention should address and

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e26010
```

RenderX

to use these recommendations to identify and either adapt or develop a behavioral intervention. Planned activities included sharing previous experiences with behavioral interventions for cancer survivors and perceptions of needed and acceptable components, reviewing and commenting on existing behavioral interventions for cancer survivors, and deciding upon the intervention and identifying adaptations. Notes and reflection worksheets completed during meetings were reviewed, summarized, and used to identify key action steps between meetings. During this process and based on the literature review, it became evident that existing interventions did not meet local needs and that a novel intervention would need to be developed.

Through the participatory process, the advisory team identified 4 key recommendations that an ideal behavioral intervention for rural Appalachian cancer survivors would need to take into account: (1) incorporation of both in-person and telehealth components so that participants could engage even if they had barriers to one delivery mode; (2) utilization of strategies that promoted action planning and storytelling; (3) addressing multiple behaviors; and (4) opening the program to all adult cancer survivors regardless of gender or cancer type. A conceptual model and program design were developed using these recommendations and a review of the best practices (Figure 1).

The resulting intervention, *we*Survive, was rooted in Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) [23] and targeted improving participant quality of life (QoL) through the improvement of 11 health behaviors associated with better cancer survivorship outcomes, including dietary and physical activity (PA) behaviors (Figure 1) [4,5]. Participants self-selected 1 or 2 behaviors they wanted to focus on in the first in-person group class. To make this selection, participants engaged in a guided reflection through which they assessed their level of engagement with each healthy behavior, whether they wanted to improve upon it, and their confidence in making the improvements or changes.

Participants received 10 hours of contact over 13 weeks. There were 3 in-person group classes, 4 group telehealth calls, and 2 individualized telehealth calls. Telehealth activities were assessed using Zoom (Zoom Video Communications Inc) [24]. Each component was led by KP. The activities in each component addressed 6 SCT constructs: outcome expectations, behavioral capability, self-efficacy, goal intention, self-regulation, and supportive environment [23]. Behavior change techniques, including self-monitoring [25], that tapped into the theory constructs and addressed aspects of QoL were included in each component. To support the execution of the components and behavior change, participants received a

physical workbook that included class and call content, action planning materials, and evidenced-based resources (eg, exercise DVDs). Group components also provided avenues for discussion about participants' experiences as a cancer survivor to extend social networks to include other cancer survivors.





Component	Time	Week	Behavior/Content Focus	SCT Constructs	Behavior Change Technique	Other Activities
In-person		1	Healthy behaviors for survivors (overview all)		 Comparison of the behavior 	Storytelling
group classes	2 hours	5 13	Physical activity (and healthy weight) Relaxation & sleep	Outcome expectations	Comparison of outcomes	Shared meal
		3	Tobacco & alcohol & ultraviolet (UV) light exposure	 Benavioral capability Self-efficacy 	 Sharing knowledge Self belief 	of other concerns
Group telehealth	1 hour	4	Healthy weight 101	Goal intention	Goals and planning	 Evidence- based
		11	Nutrition behaviors (and healthy weight) Health care provider visits & communication	 Self- regulation 	 Feedback and monitoring 	behavior change resources
Individual	20 minutes	2	Target behavior of participant	 Supportive environment 	Social support	
telehealth	20 minutes	9	Target behavior of participant		environment	

ORBIT Framework Phase 2: Preliminary Testing

Intention of Phase

The goal of phase 2 of the ORBIT model is to determine the potential of the intervention to produce clinically significant findings and evaluate intervention feasibility. A hallmark of this phase is the establishment of a clearly articulated intervention protocol (eg, curriculum, protocols for recruitment, retention, and data collection). This phase consists of proof-of-concept studies, followed by pilot studies. Proof-of-concept studies aim to determine whether the intervention warrants more rigorous testing or whether modifications are needed before additional testing. Proof-of-concept studies are usually conducted using quasi-experimental designs and usually have small sample sizes. Small sample sizes are acceptable, as the intention is to identify clinically significant impacts, not statistically significant ones.

The *we*Survive proof-of-concept study used a single-group pre-post design and a concurrent mixed methods approach [26]. All study procedures were approved by the UVA Institutional

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e26010

RenderX

Review Board (IRB). As study measures were completed over the telephone to reduce participant burden, participants provided verbal informed consent. They received US \$25 in gift cards to complete each of the baseline assessments and postassessments. Participants also received a US \$5 gas card for each in-person class attended to assist with cover transportation costs.

Recruitment

Recruitment strategies were executed at the organizational and participant levels. At the organizational level, 2 local health care organizations that provide clinical care to cancer survivors were approached to be a part of this study. Importantly, a member of the advisory team worked for one of these organizations. To recruit the organizations, we presented the intention and design of the *we*Survive intervention and the proof-of-concept trial to key clinical staff. After the organizational staff expressed interest, we reviewed the participant recruitment protocol with them and tailored the recruitment strategy, including a communication plan, to their needs. As needed, we obtained approval from the IRB of the organizations.

Porter et al

JMIR CANCER

Following organization recruitment, 2 cohorts of participants were recruited from 2 recruited organizations. To be eligible, participants had to be cancer free, had to have completed primary treatment within the past 5 years, and be English speaking. Inclusion was not limited by cancer type or gender. The initial recruitment protocol involved selecting clinical staff who interacted with cancer survivors during their follow-up appointments to directly present the weSurvive intervention to eligible survivors and solicit their interest. Then, for interested survivors, the clinician would securely share their contact information with the research team or show the prospective participant how to contact us. This strategy was expanded to include other active (eg, direct communication with research staff during follow-up appointments, booths at survivorship dinners, Relay-4-Life events) and passive (eg, flyers in waiting rooms) recruitment strategies.

Data Collection and Measures

Participant-level data were collected at baseline and postassessment. Process data were collected during the execution of the proof-of-concept trial. Table 1 describes the measures used to assess the indicators for the assessed feasibility domains.

During recruitment, research and organizational staff maintained recruitment logs and kept recruitment memos of interactions with prospective participants. These logs included the gender, age, and decision of all prospective participants with whom staff members spoke about joining *we*Survive as well as where and by whom they were approached. The research staff also kept notes during meetings with the organizational staff.

Research staff maintained attendance logs, recording attendance for each component.

Class artifacts, including action plans during the first group class, were photographed. The research staff also kept delivery memos of how each component went and the completeness of each activity. Tracking sheets were also used to monitor adherence to the intervention protocols (eg, sending reminder messages, contacts for individual calls).

To measure limited efficacy measures, participants completed a survey packet at baseline and postintervention. The packet was completed over the phone with a trained research staff member. The included measures were validated, cancer survivor specific, and/or successfully used in the region before. A total of 2 questions from the Health Information National Trends Survey were used to identify beliefs about cancer [27]. Single-item questions were used to assess self-efficacy and behavioral intentions to change dietary and PA behaviors [28]. The targeted dietary and PA health behaviors were assessed using scales from the NCI Multifactor Screener [29], Stanford Leisure-Time Activity Categorical Item (L-CAT) [30], and modified Godin [28]. Although behaviors, intentions, and self-efficacy were also assessed for other health behaviors, they were not reported in this paper because of the infrequency with which they were selected by participants. The Cancer Survivor Social Networks Measure [31] was used to assess participants' social networks. QoL was measured using the Quality of Life Patient/Cancer Survivor version [32]. Additional details regarding the measures can be found in Table 2.

Following completion of the postassessment survey, participants completed a *summative evaluation*. This semistructured interview assessed indicators of acceptability (ie, satisfaction), demand (ie, chosen behavioral target, reasons for choosing the behavioral target), and practicality (ie, barriers and facilitators of attendance) [33].

Participant *demographics* (ie, gender, age, race or ethnicity, income, educational attainment) and cancer experience (ie, type, staging, type of treatment, date of primary treatment completion) were collected at baseline. Health literacy was also measured using a validated 3-item brief questionnaire [34].

 Table 2. Limited efficacy-related outcomes.

Variable type and specific variable	Scale	Preassessment (n=11), mean (SD)	Postassessment (n=11), mean (SD)	Direction of change	<i>t</i> statistic (<i>P</i> value)	Cohen d
Cancer beliefs and knowledge			-		•	
There are so many recommen- dations about preventing can- cer, it's hard to know which ones to follow	5-point Likert scale (1=strongly disagree; 5=strongly agree)	4.0 (1.34)	3.6 (1.51)	↓a	1.102 (.30)	-0.28
Cancer is most often caused by a person's behavior or lifestyle	5-point Likert scale (1=strongly disagree; 5=strongly agree)	2.6 (1.63)	3.3 (1.62)	↑ ^b	1.295 (.22)	0.43
Self-efficacy						
Self-efficacy to eat 5-9 serv- ings of fruits and vegetables a day	10-point Likert scale (1=not at all confident; 10=totally confident)	6.7 (2.65)	6.6 (1.63)	\downarrow	0.118 (.91)	-0.05
Self-efficacy to eat a diet with less saturated fat	10-point Likert scale (1=not at all confident; 10=totally confident)	7.6 (1.92)	7.4 (1.96)	\downarrow	0.319 (.76)	-0.10
Self-efficacy to be physically active for 150 min a week	10-point Likert scale (1=not at all confident; 10=totally confident)	6.5 (3.39)	6.8 (2.79)	Ŷ	0.498 (.63)	0.10
Behavior-specific intentions						
Eat 5-9 servings of fruits and vegetables a day	5-point scale (1=no intention to engage in at all; 5=al- ready doing)	3.2 (1.40)	3.6 (1.29)	Ŷ	1.174 (.27)	0.30
Eat a diet with less saturated fat	5-point scale (1=no intention to engage in at all; 5=al- ready doing)	3.9 (1.38)	4.0 (1.18)	Ŷ	0.289 (.78)	0.08
Be physically active for 150 min a week	5-point scale (1=no intention to engage in at all; 5=al- ready doing)	3.2 (1.32)	3.9 (1.14)	$\leftrightarrow^{\mathrm{c}}$	2.667 (.02)	0.57
Health behaviors						
Fruit and vegetables	Daily portions	1.8 (1.38)	1.8 (.92)	\leftrightarrow	0.096 (.93)	0.00
Snack foods	Daily portions	1.1 (.84)	1.0 (1.58)	\downarrow	0.178 (.86)	-0.08
Dietary fat	Daily portions	5.3 (6.53)	3.5 (4.45)	\downarrow	1.402 (.19)	-0.32
Moderate-vigorous physical activity	Minutes per week	115.0 (137.20)	158.6 (237.78)	↑	0.889 (.40)	0.22
Self-reported frequency of physical activity	6-point scale (1=very little physical activity; 6=30 min of vigorous activity 5 or more times a week)	2.4 (.84)	2.8 (.92)	Ŷ	1.809 (.10)	0.45
Social network						
Cancer-specific social support network size	Score of 0-15	9.6 (2.01)	10.5 (2.50)	↑	1.423 (.19)	0.40
Quality of life						
Overall	11-point Likert scale (0=ex- tremely negative; 10=ex- tremely positive)	8.1 (1.39)	7.8 (1.78)	\downarrow	1.055 (.32)	-0.19
Physical	11-point Likert scale (0=ex- tremely negative; 10=ex- tremely positive)	8.6 (1.47)	7.8 (2.43)	\downarrow	1.173 (.27)	-0.40
Emotional	11-point Likert scale (0=ex- tremely negative; 10=ex- tremely positive)	7.7 (1.77)	7.3 (2.26)	\downarrow	1.303 (.22)	-0.20

XSL•FO RenderX Porter et al

Porter et al

Variable type and specific variable	Scale	Preassessment (n=11), mean (SD)	Postassessment (n=11), mean (SD)	Direction of change	<i>t</i> statistic (<i>P</i> value)	Cohen d
Social	11-point Likert scale (0=ex- tremely negative; 10=ex- tremely positive)	7.8 (2.40)	7.6 (2.33)	\downarrow	0.578 (.58)	-0.08
Spiritual	11-point Likert scale (0=ex- tremely negative; 10=ex- tremely positive)	8.4 (1.74)	8.4 (2.17)	\leftrightarrow	0.120 (.91)	0.00

^aDecrease in score from pre to postassessment.

^bIncrease in score from pre to postassessment.

^cNo change in score from pre to postassessment.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics (frequencies, means, medians, and ranges) were used to summarize participant demographics, participant satisfaction, recruitment and engagement rates, and selected behavioral targets. Limited efficacy measures were scored using standard procedures, and paired, two-tailed *t* tests were used to compare baseline and posttest responses for limited efficacy measures for program completers (n=11). Cohen *d* was calculated for each limited efficacy outcome. Open-ended data related to participant satisfaction, facilitators and barriers to engagement, component execution, and perceptions of organizations were content coded by one researcher and reviewed by another. Quantitative and qualitative data for each indicator were triangulated [26].

Results

Participants

A total of 12 participants were enrolled in 2 sequential pilot cohorts (n=5 and n=7). The participants were 75% (8/12) female and 100% (12/12) White. The average age of participants was

64 (SD 6.37) years, and 75% (9/12) were married. Half (6/12, 50%) of the participants were employed full-time, 33% (4/12) had a high school degree or less, and 25% (3/12) made under US \$25,000 a year. All participants had medical insurance, either private (5/12, 42%) or Medicare (7/12, 58%). The majority of the participants (n=11) had adequate health literacy.

The participants were survivors of 6 types of cancer: breast (6/12, 50%), prostate (3/12, 25%), skin (2/12, 17%), colon (1/12, 8%), cervical cancer (1/12, 8%), and large B-cell lymphoma (1/12, 8%). Two participants (2/12, 17%) had multiple cancers. The participants had completed chemotherapy (8/12, 67%), radiation (5/12, 42%), surgery (8/12, 67%), and stem cell treatment (1/12, 8%). Over half of the participants (7/12, 58%) received multiple treatment types. On average, participants had completed primary treatment for 13.8 months (SD 13.5; range 1-40 months) before joining the trial.

Feasibility Indicators

The outcomes for acceptability, demand, practicality, and implementation are presented in Table 3, whereas limited efficacy outcomes are presented in Table 2.



 Table 3. Findings related to the feasibility domains of acceptability, demand, practicality, and implementation.

Feasibility domain and indicator	Quantitative findings	Qualitative findings
Acceptability	·	·
Organizational perceptions	a	Staff from the 2 organizations that were approached to host <i>weSurvive</i> felt it would be beneficial to their patients
Participant satisfaction	Overall rating, mean 10.0/10.0 (SD 0.00)	Perceived program benefits:
	 Group classes, mean 9.7/10.0 (SD 0.65) Group calls, mean 9.5/10.0 (SD 0.87) Individualized calls, mean 9.7/10.0 (SD 0.53) 	 Knowledge gained Opportunity to share their experiences and learn about others' experiences Felt the program was an important wakeup call Saw the program as an opportunity to improve their lives or give back to others No facets of the program identified as "unacceptable"
Demand		
Organizational adoption	• The 2 (100%) health care organiza- tions approached agreed to take part in the <i>we</i> Survive proof-of-concept trial	_
Recruitment rates	 Recruitment rate=30% (12/41) 59% (17/29) of nonenrolment was due to lack of ability to follow up with prospective participant to schedule or complete the survey 38% (11/29) of nonenrolment was due to lack of interest 	_
Participant participation	 Attrition=8% (1/12) Overall attendance: median 62% (average 56%): Group class attendance: median 84% (average 72%) Group call attendance: median 50% (average 42%) Individual call attendance: median 50% (average 50%) Of the 8 participants who attended group calls, only 3 (38%) used the video portion of the telehealth platform 	 When completing action plans, participants often only partially completed them or just discussed their plans without writing them down. Participants appeared hesitant to set SMART^b goals During individual calls, 3 participants asked for and received support for specific dietary matters beyond what was in the standard curriculum
Behavioral target chosen by par-	100% (12/12) selected diet or PA^c :	Reasons for choosing behaviors:
ticipants	 83% (10/12) selected PA 59% (7/12) selected a dietary behavior 42% (5/12) chose both PA and diet 50% (6/12) chose a behavior other than diet or PA: sleep (3/12, 25%), stress reduction (4/12, 33%) 	 Priority for personal or disease-specific reasons Perceived as easier to address
Practicality		
Barriers and facilitators of partic- ipant engagement	_	Barriers to attendance:Personal and work obligationsFacilitators of attendance:
		 Participants found reminder texts helpful Expanded texting reminder system in cohort 2 to include reminder day before and 2 hours before
Implementation		



JMIR Cancer 2021 | vol. 7 | iss. 2 |e26010 | p.64 (page number not for citation purposes)

Feasibility domain and indicator	Quantitative findings	Qualitative findings
Recruitment execution	 Eligible participants (n=41) were approached through office visits (25/41, 61%), community events (13/41, 32%), and word of mouth (3/41, 7%): 100% of office visit referrals were executed jointly by site and research staff 100% of community event referrals were completed by research staff 100% of word-of-mouth referrals were completed outside of the clinic by site staff 	 At one of the 2 sites, a provider (MD or NP) introduced <i>we</i>Survive to an eligible participant. If the participant was interested, they invited the research team member to come in to speak with the participant. This process did not occur at the other site due to the distance to the site and inconsistent communication between research and site staff Organization staff were very interested in the idea of the program but were unable to follow the recruitment protocol on their own (ie, refer eligible patients without the presence of a research team member) but were able to execute when working in conjunction with research staff
weSurvive delivery	• 100% fidelity (of researchers) to the execution of intervention components and the participant retention protocol	_

^aQuantitative or qualitative data was not collected for the feasibility domain indicator.

^bSMART: specific, measurable, attainable, relevant, time-based.

^cPA: physical activity.

Acceptability

Participants who completed the intervention (n=11) reported high satisfaction with the program (mean 10, SD 0.0) and with the individual components: group classes (mean 9.7, SD 0.65), group calls (mean 9.5, SD 0.87), and individual calls (mean 9.7, SD 0.53). Participants described benefits related to knowledge attainment, feeling that *we*Survive was a *wakeup call* to improve their health, sharing their cancer experiences and hearing others' cancer experiences, and knowing that by being in the trial they were helping future cancer survivors. In addition, staff from the participating organizations expressed positive reactions to the program and viewed it as having the potential to be beneficial to their patients.

Demand

The 2 local health care organizations approached to participate in the proof-of-concept trial agreed to participate. The participant recruitment rate for the trial was 30%, with 12 of 41 eligible individuals approaching enrolment in the program. Among individuals who did not enroll, 38% (11/29) expressed a lack of interest in the program or prohibitive barriers (eg, language difficulties, transportation) and 59% (17/29) had barriers that limited scheduling surveys or completed the web-based presurvey.

Intervention attrition for the program was low, with only 1 participant (1/12, 8%) not completing the program. The median participation rate for all activities was 62%, with the medians for class, group call, and individual being 84%, 50%, and 50%, respectively. Of the 8 participants who completed group calls, only 3 (38%) used the video portion of the telehealth platform. The other 5 called into the platform using the telephone number and did not use the phone, tablet, or computer application that would have allowed for video.

Research staff noted that participants did not fully engage in self-monitoring activities, such as setting a specific behavioral goal and writing SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, relevant, time-based) goals, even with prompting. For example,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e26010
```

XSL•FO RenderX a participant would broadly describe their target behavior (ie, "eat healthy" instead of "eat 5 fruits and vegetables 3 days a week day") and would not include a plan for how they would make the change.

Although participants could choose among 11 behaviors, 100% chose either a diet (7/12, 59%) or PA behavior (10/12, 83%) and 42% (5/12) chose both. Of the 6 nondiet or PA behaviors, only 2 were selected: stress (n=3) and sleep (n=4).

Practicality

Participants identified personal and work obligations as their primary barriers to participate in intervention activities. They identified the reminder texts as facilitators of attendance.

Implementation

Staff from both organizations were unable to follow the original recruitment protocol and did not refer participants to the program without on-site support from the research staff. Therefore, it was necessary to adapt the recruitment protocol to provide on-site research staff support at the clinic and recruit through community events. Eligible participants were identified in 3 ways: during office visits (25/41, 61%), at community events (13/41, 32%), and word of mouth (3/41, 7%). Organizational staff made all word-of-mouth referrals, whereas research staff made referrals through community events. All office visit referrals occurred with the organizational and research staff working together. Organizational staff would introduce *we*Survive to an eligible participant and, if interested, a research team member provided further detail and collected their contact information to complete the surveys.

There was 100% fidelity to the delivery and retention protocols by the research staff. All planned activities for the components were executed as designed, and participant retention strategies (eg, reminder texts) were adhered to as intended.

Limited Efficacy

Regarding behavior-related psychosocial variables, participants changed their beliefs about cancer with respect to knowing

which recommendations to follow (Cohen d=0.28) and the impact of lifestyle behaviors on cancer risk (Cohen d=0.43) in the desired direction. Self-efficacy to meet the PA guidelines changed in the desired direction, whereas changes in self-efficacy to reduce dietary fat and increase fruits and vegetables were in the undesired direction (ie, lower self-efficacy). The effect sizes for the behavioral self-efficacy variables were very small (≤ 0.10). Although not statistically significant, behavioral intentions to eat more fruits and vegetables, eat less fat, and meet PA guidelines changed in the desired direction. The change in intentions specific to PA was statistically significant (P=.02) and demonstrated a medium effect size (Cohen d=0.57).

Baseline to postassessment changes in dietary and PA behaviors were in the desired directions but were not statistically significant. Effect sizes for fruit and vegetable intake, snack foods, dietary fat, and minutes of moderate-vigorous activity were small (Cohen d=0.00 to 0.32), whereas the effect size for L-CAT score was medium (Cohen d=0.45).

Participants' social networks specific to their cancer support networks increased. Although not significant, this change had a small-to-medium effect size of 0.40.

Regarding QoL indicators, there were nonsignificant decreases (ie, worsening of QoL) in all indicators. The magnitude of these changes was small for overall QoL, emotional QoL, social QoL, and spiritual QoL (Cohen d=0.00 to 0.20); However, the change in physical QoL from baseline to postassessment was small or medium (Cohen d=0.40).

Discussion

Principal Findings

Taken together, our results suggest that the *we*Survive intervention has the potential to be feasible. Our findings also highlight how the design and execution of the intervention and its components could be improved to further enhance its feasibility, including increasing efficacy among cancer survivors. Furthermore, outcomes also provide support for using a participatory process and a systematic planning model, such as the ORBIT model, to inform the design of behavioral interventions for cancer survivors.

Implications for weSurvive's Feasibility

Our findings suggest high feasibility related to indicators of acceptability (ie, high satisfaction), demand (ie, high adoption rate by organizations, diversity of cancer survivors by cancer type and gender, low attrition rate, recruitment, and component engagement rates similar to other behavioral interventions for rural participants and/or cancer survivors [28,35-38]), and implementation (ie, high researcher fidelity to protocols). However, findings related to indicators of practicality (eg, consistent barriers to participation), implementation (eg, ability of organizational staff to follow intended delivery, retention, and recruitment protocols), and limited efficacy highlight opportunities to adjust aspects of the intervention design and delivery protocols that could improve feasibility.

Although our results do not fully confirm the feasibility of *we*Survive, they identify areas where modifications to *we*Survive's design and protocols could strengthen feasibility. As proof-of-concept studies focus on the feasibility of the intervention, the evidence collected provides integral preliminary data not only about its clinical efficacy but also its relevance and potential sustainability. This preliminary evidence can help build an intervention that is both effective and more readily translated into practice. This is particularly important for behavioral interventions for rural cancer survivors, as efforts to address the health behaviors of cancer survivors in rural regions are limited [13].

Recommendations to Improve Feasibility of *we***Survive** and Other Behavioral Interventions for Rural Cancer Survivors

A total of 6 recommendations that impact all measured feasibility domains from this proof-of-concept study were identified. In addition to being directly relevant to the *we*Survive intervention, many of these recommendations are broadly applicable and can be used to inform future behavioral interventions for cancer survivors.

Tighten the Behavioral Focus of weSurvive (Demand and Efficacy)

Including a wide array of behaviors important for positive survivorship outcomes was suggested by the advisory team to ensure the applicability of the program to regional cancer survivors. However, demand findings clearly demonstrated that diet and PA were the most popular choices, with all participants choosing one or the other. In addition, limited efficacy outcomes suggest that weSurvive impacted these behaviors and related psychosocial variables in the desired direction, with some of the PA outcomes having small-to-moderate effects. Making this adjustment would streamline weSurvive's behavioral focus, potentially impacting the magnitude of effects for the targeted behaviors. Although the recommendation to include a variety of behaviors may have hindered feasibility, incorporating this suggestion from the advisory team during this initial phase allowed us to better ascertain the wants of regional cancer survivors. Importantly, although the behavioral focus of weSurvive will shift to energy-balance-related behaviors, the program will still include content related to stress reduction and sleep.

Add Additional Recruitment Strategies (Demand)

Although we recruited a diverse group of participants with regard to gender and cancer experience, the overall group sizes were small, and the recruitment rate of 30% was modest. During the trial, we added and adapted strategies to maximize the recruitment efforts. Successful strategies included having an on-site research staff recruit in tandem with organizational staff and promoting *we*Survive at community events targeting cancer survivors. For future trials of *we*Survive, these strategies should be incorporated into recruitment from the start.

An additional recruitment strategy was to promote *we*Survive during survivorship care plan meetings. Survivorship care plans are a highly recommended part of survivorship care [39], and more clinics are systematically using them. Suggestions for



behavioral changes may be included [40], but not all clinics have the resources to facilitate behavioral changes, including those related to diet, PA, and weight change behaviors. Therefore, aligning *we*Survive with cancer care survivorship plans could make the intervention more relevant for organizations and provide a natural place for it within the workflow, which could motivate organizational staff to promote *we*Survive. Although this seems to be a logical connection, few known behavioral interventions for cancer survivors reported tying their intervention in survivorship care plans [41]. If future behavioral interventions were designed to address needs highlighted by their participants' survivorship care plans, this could increase the demand for the program from both the participant and organizational sides and could help cancer survivors better execute their plans.

Recruitment into behavioral interventions can be one of the most difficult aspects of executing an intervention, and underaccrual of participants hinders many interventions. Past lifestyle interventions for cancer survivors have reported a range of recruitment rates ranging from 4% to 70%. Although this difficulty is prevalent in densely populated regions, it may be even greater in rural regions, such as Appalachia, which have smaller populations and lack large academic medical centers and large cancer centers. Therefore, using preliminary data to create a tailored, adaptable, and multi-faceted approach to recruitment may aid in the successful recruitment of other behavioral interventions as well [42].

Incorporate Strategies to Support Program Engagement (Demand and Practicality)

The participation rates from our trial were similar to those of other behavioral interventions for cancer survivors [28,35-38]. However, these rates can be improved by addressing the barriers to attendance identified by the participants (eg, conflicts with personal and work scheduling, forgetting). Future strategies include (1) having at least 2 formal day or time opportunities to participate in all group activities, (2) sending reminder texts the day before and 2 hours before the scheduled call time for virtual components, and (3) offering virtual makeup sessions. These changes could improve feasibility related to participant perceptions of acceptance and practicality for *we*Survive and could be applicable strategies for similar interventions.

In addition to overall participation rates, findings show that engagement with the video portion of the teleconferencing platform was underused. Most of the 8 participants who attended at least one group call only used the audio capabilities of the platform (82.5%), and none of the participants used the video feature for all group calls they completed. We suspect that reasons include unfamiliarity with the technology and poor internet or cellular access and/or quality. During the proof-of-concept trial, participants received a written instruction sheet, and the researcher delivered the first group class talked through the instructions. Additional activities to encourage use could include a platform demonstration, a formal system for troubleshooting barriers to using the teleconferencing platform, and structured conversations about the benefits of participation in virtual components. Providing this additional support may be valuable for rural participants in lifestyle programs, as

previous studies have shown that they may hesitate to use teleconferencing platforms due to low digital literacy, privacy concerns, and fear that it might limit group connection [43]. Importantly, as found in other studies with rural populations, the video portion of teleconferencing calls enabled participants to experience greater engagement and feelings of support than they would have if these components were absent [43]. Importantly, as this study was conducted before the COVID-19 pandemic, during which the general public started regularly using Zoom and other teleconferencing platforms, this experience may make future participants more comfortable with the video feature.

Improve Engagement in Behavioral Self-Monitoring Strategies by Creating More Accountability and Motivation (Implementation)

Behavioral self-monitoring encompasses vital behavior change techniques, such as goal setting and self-monitoring activities, which are linked to better behavioral changes [44]. Action planning, sharing goals, and discussing progress and struggles were included in each component of weSurvive. However, participants in this trial did not fully engage in self-monitoring activities, particularly action plans. The behavior change literature suggests that this is common and that strategies can be employed to increase engagement with action planning, such as sending motivational messages, sending text messages or email reminders, and providing feedback [45,46]. In this proof-of-concept trial for weSurvive, personalized approaches to keep participants motivated toward and accountable for their goals were not included, as our focus was on solidifying the curriculum content and recruitment, retention, and data collection protocols. Adding accountability structures appropriate to rural populations could increase engagement with behavioral self-monitoring activities. It might also be necessary to create norms within the group activities to make participants feel comfortable to share their goals, progress, and struggles and to help one another troubleshoot their issues. Employing this recommendation will not only increase the implementation of behavioral self-monitoring activities but also limit the behavioral targets of the program and impact the intervention's efficacy on behavioral outcomes and QoL.

Capture the Overall Health Experiences of the Participants During the Trial Timeline

For this proof-of-concept study of *we*Survive, there were no statistically significant yet undesired changes in QoL indicators. This undesired change is not unusual, as postassessment scores on QoL measures sometimes go in the *wrong* direction due to participants rating themselves higher at baseline, potentially because they are primed to have higher expectations for QoL. In addition, through informal conversations with participants, we learned that 3 of them had substantial negative health experiences unrelated to the trial (ie, hospitalization, injury that required surgery, negative reaction to adjuvant therapy). When they were removed from the analyses, the changes either moved in the desired direction or the magnitude of the undesired changes was reduced. If captured systematically during interventions, these participant experiences could be factored into the actual outcome analyses or provide context to their

XSL•FO RenderX

interpretation. This will allow for more context from which to interpret QoL outcomes and identify whether they are unintended consequences of the intervention.

Use a Participatory Process to Engage Stakeholders During Intervention Development or Adaptation Interventions (Demand)

Engaging stakeholders identified the key features that aided feasibility. Features identified by the weSurvive advisory team impacted indicators of demand and included suggestions to blend group and individual activities and were not limited by cancer type or gender. In addition, these considerations informed the decision to measure social networks, which were found to moderately, though not significantly, increase. Interestingly, 4 of the 5 participants who did not include survivors or support groups as part of their network at baseline did at postassessment. This measurement of social networks along with broad inclusion criteria added innovative features to weSurvive, which may aid in its future translation to practice. Although there is evidence that stronger social networks are linked to improved cancer survivorship outcomes [47] and that rural cancer survivors may be less connected than survivors in other regions [48], measuring and seeking to enhance social networks is not a common feature of behavioral interventions for cancer survivors. In addition, the advisory team recommended that the intervention allow participants to have authentic opportunities to share their stories and hear from others. Although storytelling is a noted cultural tradition in Appalachia [49] and has been used in cancer-focused interventions to transfer knowledge and address emotional and existential or spiritual concerns [50], it most likely would not have been included at this early stage of development of weSurvive if not for the advisory team. Finally, our first site was identified by one of our community stakeholders. Stakeholder participation can strengthen the design and execution of behavioral interventions by identifying unique needs or resources within the community. Although not all the comments from the advisory team aided feasibility (ie, focusing on multiple behaviors), without our stakeholder's input and support, many of these other features would not have been included.

Limitations

When interpreting this study's conclusions, it is important to consider these limitations. The participant sample for the proof-of-concept trial was small. Although this impacts statistical power and interprets limited efficacy outcomes, it was still adequate to identify effect sizes and inform other feasibility indicators. The sample was not racially diverse; however, the racial makeup of the study reflects the geographical region, which is approximately 95% non-Hispanic White [8]. In addition, the sample was diverse in terms of gender and cancer experience and represented an underserved rural population. Finally, data were primarily collected at the participant level and, as such, findings are limited to feasibility at the organizational level. Future trials of weSurvive will need to include a more robust evaluation of organizational-level indicators, including acceptability, practicality, and feasibility at this level and the potential for integration and penetration [19], to more fully understand

feasibility and identify modifications to protocols, particularly those related to recruitment.

Conclusions

Findings from our study will inform changes to the weSurvive intervention's conceptual model, program design, and recruitment and delivery protocols. The recommendations identified through our study will be incorporated into the next version of weSurvive. Engagement in the participatory development process and initial proof-of-concept testing strengthens weSurvive and will lead to the development of a behavioral intervention that could positively impact the health of cancer survivors in rural Appalachia and be more readily translated into practice. Importantly, the findings also stress the importance of using a model, such as the ORBIT framework, when developing or adapting behavioral interventions for cancer survivors. By conducting small-scale proof-of-concept studies, the feasibility of the novel or adapted intervention can be assessed relatively quickly and inexpensively, and the necessary revisions can be made before larger-scale testing.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by resources from the Cancer Control and Population Health program at the UVA Cancer Center. The authors also acknowledge the members of the *we*Survive advisory team: Deborah Clarkston, Zilipah Cruz, Elizabeth Grossman, Marilyn Maxwell, Dianne Morris, Sarah Ramey, and Margaret Tomman. Finally, the authors acknowledge their regional delivery organizations: Clinch River Medical Center and Blue Ridge Cancer Care/LewisGale Regional Health System.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

 Bluethmann SM, Mariotto AB, Rowland JH. Anticipating the "Silver Tsunami": Prevalence Trajectories and Comorbidity Burden among Older Cancer Survivors in the United States. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention 2016 Jun 30;25(7):1029-1036. [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.epi-16-0133]

- Naik H, Qiu X, Brown MC, Eng L, Pringle D, Mahler M, et al. Socioeconomic status and lifestyle behaviours in cancer survivors: smoking and physical activity. Curr. Oncol 2016 Dec 22;23(6):546. [doi: <u>10.3747/co.23.3166</u>] [Medline: <u>28050143</u>]
- 3. Blanchard CM, Courneya KS, Stein K, American CSS. Cancer survivors' adherence to lifestyle behavior recommendations and associations with health-related quality of life: results from the American Cancer Society's SCS-II. J Clin Oncol 2008 May 1;26(13):2198-2204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.14.6217] [Medline: 18445845]
- 4. Preventing recurrence, secondary cancers. American Institute for Cancer Research. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.aicr.org/</u> <u>cancer-survival/treatment-tips/after-treatment/</u> [accessed 2019-01-02]
- Duncan M, Moschopoulou E, Herrington E, Deane J, Roylance R, Jones L, et al. Review of systematic reviews of non-pharmacological interventions to improve quality of life in cancer survivors. BMJ Open 2017 Nov 28;7(11):e015860. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-015860] [Medline: 29187408]
- 6. Basen-Engquist K, Alfano CM, Maitin-Shepard M, Thomson CA, Schmitz KH, Pinto BM, et al. Agenda for Translating Physical Activity, Nutrition, and Weight Management Interventions for Cancer Survivors into Clinical and Community Practice. Obesity 2017 Oct 31;25:S9-S22. [doi: 10.1002/oby.22031] [Medline: 29086526]
- Mokdad AH, Dwyer-Lindgren L, Fitzmaurice C, Stubbs RW, Bertozzi-Villa A, Morozoff C, et al. Trends and Patterns of Disparities in Cancer Mortality Among US Counties, 1980-2014. JAMA 2017 Dec 24;317(4):388-406. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.20324] [Medline: 28118455]
- 8. Pollard K, Jacobsen L. The Appalachian region: A data overview from the 2013-2017. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.arc.gov/report/the-appalachian-region-a-data-overview-from-the-2013-2017-american-community-survey/</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 9. Virginia state nutrition, physical activity, and obesity profile. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017. URL: https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpao/state-local-programs/profiles/virginia.html [accessed 2018-01-02]
- 10. The state of obesity in Virginia. The State of Obesity. 2018. URL: https://stateofobesity.org/states/va [accessed 2018-01-02]
- 11. Diabetes prevelance in the Appalachian region. Virginia Department of Health. 2011. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/ywm95368</u> [accessed 2015-12-28]
- 12. Cardiovascular disease in Virginia. Virginia Deparment of Health. 2013. URL: <u>http://www.vdh.virginia.gov/ofhs/prevention/</u> <u>collaborative/documents/2013/pdf/Cardiovasc%20Disease%20Burden%20Report.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-01-10]
- 13. Bazzell JL, Spurlock A, McBride M. Matching the unmet needs of cancer survivors to resources using a shared care model. J Cancer Educ 2015 Jun;30(2):312-318. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-014-0708-9] [Medline: 25103849]
- Turner RR, Steed L, Quirk H, Greasley RU, Saxton JM, Taylor SJ, et al. Interventions for promoting habitual exercise in people living with and beyond cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Sep 19;9:CD010192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010192.pub3] [Medline: 30229557]
- Kim SH, Kim K, Mayer DK. Self-Management Intervention for Adult Cancer Survivors After Treatment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Oncol Nurs Forum 2017 Nov 01;44(6):719-728. [doi: <u>10.1188/17.ONF.719-728</u>] [Medline: <u>29052663</u>]
- Pearson E, Morris M, di Stefano M, McKinstry C. Interventions for cancer-related fatigue: a scoping review. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2018 Jan;27(1). [doi: <u>10.1111/ecc.12516</u>] [Medline: <u>27254272</u>]
- de Moor JS, Elder K, Emmons KM. Smoking prevention and cessation interventions for cancer survivors. Semin Oncol Nurs 2008 Aug;24(3):180-192. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.soncn.2008.05.006</u>] [Medline: <u>18687264</u>]
- Czajkowski SM, Powell LH, Adler N, Naar-King S, Reynolds KD, Hunter CM, et al. From ideas to efficacy: The ORBIT model for developing behavioral treatments for chronic diseases. Health Psychol 2015 Oct;34(10):971-982 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/hea0000161] [Medline: 25642841]
- Bowen DJ, Kreuter M, Spring B, Cofta-Woerpel L, Linnan L, Weiner D, et al. How we design feasibility studies. Am J Prev Med 2009 May;36(5):452-457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.02.002] [Medline: 19362699]
- 20. Research-tested intervention programs (RTIPs). National Cancer Institute. 2018. URL: <u>https://rtips.cancer.gov/rtips/index.</u> <u>do</u> [accessed 2018-01-12]
- 21. Lefevre P, Kolsteren P, De WM, Byekwaso F, Beghin I. CPPE: Comprehensive participatory planning and evaluation. In: Antwerp, Belguim. Antwerp: Nutrition Unit Tropical Medicine; Dec 01, 2000:2000.
- Mainor AG, Decosimo K, Escoffrey C, Farris P, Shannon J, Winters-Stone K, et al. Scaling Up and Tailoring the "Putting Public Health in Action" Training Curriculum. Health Promotion Practice 2017 Dec;19(5):664-672. [doi: 10.1177/1524839917741486] [Medline: 29191082]
- 23. Baranowski T, Perry C, Parcel G. How individuals, environments,health behavior interact: Social Cognitive Theory. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Lewis FM. editors. Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice. 3rd ed. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2002.
- 24. Zoom VCI. Zoom Version 5. 0.2. San Jose, CA. URL: <u>https://zoom.us/</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- Abraham C, Michie S. A taxonomy of behavior change techniques used in interventions. Health Psychol 2008 May;27(3):379-387. [doi: <u>10.1037/0278-6133.27.3.379</u>] [Medline: <u>18624603</u>]
- 26. Palinkas LA, Aarons GA, Horwitz S, Chamberlain P, Hurlburt M, Landsverk J. Mixed method designs in implementation research. Adm Policy Ment Health 2011 Jan;38(1):44-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-010-0314-z] [Medline: 20967495]

- 27. HINTS: health information national trends survey -- all HINTS Questions. NIH National Cancer Institute. 2019. URL: https://hints.cancer.gov/view-questions-topics/all-hints-questions.aspx [accessed 2019-01-02]
- 28. Zoellner JM, Hedrick VE, You W, Chen Y, Davy BM, Porter KJ, et al. Effects of a behavioral and health literacy intervention to reduce sugar-sweetened beverages: a randomized-controlled trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 Mar 22;13:38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0362-1] [Medline: 27000402]
- 29. Multifactor screener in the 2000 national health interview survey cancer control supplement: overview. 2000. URL: <u>https://epi.grants.cancer.gov/nhis/multifactor/</u> [accessed 2019-01-02]
- Kiernan M, Schoffman DE, Lee K, Brown SD, Fair JM, Perri MG, et al. The Stanford Leisure-Time Activity Categorical Item (L-Cat): a single categorical item sensitive to physical activity changes in overweight/obese women. Int J Obes (Lond) 2013 Dec;37(12):1597-1602 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ijo.2013.36] [Medline: 23588625]
- 31. Cancer Survivor social networks measure. CanSORT Cancer Surveillance and Outcomes Research Team. 2019. URL: https://cansort.med.umich.edu/research/tools-and-resources/patient-survey-measures/cancer-survivor-social-networks-measure/ [accessed 2019-01-02]
- 32. Ferrell B, Hassey-Dow K, Grant M. Quality of life patient/cancer survivor version (QoL-CSV). 2019. URL: <u>http://www.midss.org/sites/default/files/qol-cs.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-02]
- 33. Bailey AN, Porter KJ, Hill JL, Chen Y, Estabrooks PA, Zoellner JM. The impact of health literacy on rural adults' satisfaction with a multi-component intervention to reduce sugar-sweetened beverage intake. Health Educ Res 2016 Aug;31(4):492-508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyw024] [Medline: 27173641]
- 34. Chew LD, Bradley KA, Boyko EJ. Brief questions to identify patients with inadequate health literacy. Fam Med 2004 Sep;36(8):588-594 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15343421]
- 35. Forbes CC, Blanchard CM, Mummery WK, Courneya KS. Feasibility and Preliminary Efficacy of an Online Intervention to Increase Physical Activity in Nova Scotian Cancer Survivors: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Cancer 2015 Nov 23;1(2):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.4586] [Medline: 28410166]
- 36. Demark-Wahnefried W, Jones LW, Snyder DC, Sloane RJ, Kimmick GG, Hughes DC, et al. Daughters and Mothers Against Breast Cancer (DAMES): main outcomes of a randomized controlled trial of weight loss in overweight mothers with breast cancer and their overweight daughters. Cancer 2014 Aug 15;120(16):2522-2534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.28761] [Medline: 24804802]
- Goodwin PJ, Segal RJ, Vallis M, Ligibel JA, Pond GR, Robidoux A, et al. Randomized trial of a telephone-based weight loss intervention in postmenopausal women with breast cancer receiving letrozole: the LISA trial. J Clin Oncol 2014 Jul 20;32(21):2231-2239. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.53.1517] [Medline: 24934783]
- 38. Hawkes AL, Chambers SK, Pakenham KI, Patrao TA, Baade PD, Lynch BM, et al. Effects of a telephone-delivered multiple health behavior change intervention (CanChange) on health and behavioral outcomes in survivors of colorectal cancer: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2013 Jun 20;31(18):2313-2321. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.45.5873] [Medline: 23690410]
- 39. American CS. Survivorship Care Plans. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/treatment/</u> <u>survivorship-during-and-after-treatment/survivorship-care-plans.html</u> [accessed 2020-07-17]
- 40. Rechis R, Bechjord E, Arvey S, Reynolds K, McGoldrick D. The essential elements of survivorship care: A livestrong brief. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.livestrong.org/what-we-do/reports/survivorship/</u> the-essential-elements-of-survivorship-care-a-livestrong-brief [accessed 2021-01-04]
- Cadmus-Bertram L, Tevaarwerk AJ, Sesto ME, Gangnon R, Van Remortel B, Date P. Building a physical activity intervention into clinical care for breast and colorectal cancer survivors in Wisconsin: a randomized controlled pilot trial. J Cancer Surviv 2019 Aug;13(4):593-602 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-019-00778-6] [Medline: <u>31264183</u>]
- 42. Huang GD, Bull J, Johnston McKee K, Mahon E, Harper B, Roberts JN. Clinical trials recruitment planning: A proposed framework from the Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative. Contemporary Clinical Trials 2018 Mar;66:74-79. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2018.01.003] [Medline: 29330082]
- 43. Taylor DM, Stone SD, Huijbregts MP. Remote participants' experiences with a group-based stroke self-management program using videoconference technology. Rural Remote Health 2012;12:1947 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22463728]
- 44. Michie S, Abraham C, Whittington C, McAteer J, Gupta S. Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: a meta-regression. Health Psychol 2009 Nov;28(6):690-701. [doi: 10.1037/a0016136] [Medline: 19916637]
- 45. Hutchesson MJ, Tan CY, Morgan P, Callister R, Collins C. Enhancement of Self-Monitoring in a Web-Based Weight Loss Program by Extra Individualized Feedback and Reminders: Randomized Trial. J Med Internet Res 2016 Apr 12;18(4):e82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4100] [Medline: 27072817]
- 46. Sweet SN, Brawley LR, Hatchell A, Gainforth HL, Latimer-Cheung AE. Can persuasive messages encourage individuals to create action plans for physical activity? J Sport Exerc Psychol 2014 Aug;36(4):413-423. [doi: <u>10.1123/jsep.2013-0218</u>] [Medline: <u>25226610</u>]
- 47. Morris ME, Aguilera A. Mobile, Social, and Wearable Computing and the Evolution of Psychological Practice. Prof Psychol Res Pr 2012 Dec;43(6):622-626 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0029041] [Medline: 25587207]
- 48. McNulty JA, Nail L. Cancer Survivorship in Rural and Urban Adults: A Descriptive and Mixed Methods Study. The Journal of Rural Health 2015 Jan 19;31(3):282-291. [doi: <u>10.1111/jrh.12106</u>] [Medline: <u>25599984</u>]

- Hutson SP, Dorgan KA, Phillips AN, Behringer B. The mountains hold things in: the use of community research review work groups to address cancer disparities in Appalachia. Oncol Nurs Forum 2007 Nov;34(6):1133-1139. [doi: 10.1188/07.ONF.1133-1139] [Medline: 18024340]
- Kreuter MW, Green MC, Cappella JN, Slater MD, Wise ME, Storey D, et al. Narrative communication in cancer prevention and control: a framework to guide research and application. Ann Behav Med 2007 Jun;33(3):221-235. [doi: 10.1080/08836610701357922] [Medline: 17600449]

Abbreviations

CAB: Community Advisory Board IRB: Institutional Review Board L-CAT: Stanford Leisure-Time Activity Categorical Item NCI: National Cancer Institute ORBIT: Obesity-Related Behavioral Intervention Trials PA: physical activity QoL: Quality of Life SCT: Social Cognitive Theory SMART: specific, measurable, attainable, relevant, time-based UVA: University of Virginia

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 24.11.20; peer-reviewed by C Forbes, D Mayer; comments to author 25.12.20; revised version received 04.01.21; accepted 14.01.21; published 12.04.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Porter KJ, Moon KE, LeBaron VT, Zoellner JM A Novel Behavioral Intervention for Rural Appalachian Cancer Survivors (weSurvive): Participatory Development and Proof-of-Concept Testing JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e26010 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e26010 doi:10.2196/26010 PMID:33843597

©Kathleen J Porter, Katherine E Moon, Virginia T LeBaron, Jamie M Zoellner. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 12.04.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



A Home-Based Mobile Health Intervention to Replace Sedentary Time With Light Physical Activity in Older Cancer Survivors: Randomized Controlled Pilot Trial

Cindy K Blair^{1,2}, MPH, PhD; Elizabeth Harding¹, PhD; Charles Wiggins^{1,2}, PhD; Huining Kang^{1,2}, PhD; Matthew Schwartz¹, PhD; Amy Tarnower¹, MD; Ruofei Du², PhD; Anita Y Kinney^{3,4}, PhD

¹Department of Internal Medicine, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States

²University of New Mexico Comprehensive Cancer Center, Albuquerque, NM, United States

³School of Public Health, Rutgers University, Piscataway, NJ, United States

⁴Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, United States

Corresponding Author:

Cindy K Blair, MPH, PhD Department of Internal Medicine University of New Mexico 1 University of New Mexico, MSC07-4025 Albuquerque, NM United States Phone: 1 5059257907 Email: <u>CiBlair@salud.unm.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Older cancer survivors are at risk of the development or worsening of both age- and treatment-related morbidity. Sedentary behavior increases the risk of or exacerbates these chronic conditions. Light-intensity physical activity (LPA) is more common in older adults and is associated with better health and well-being. Thus, replacing sedentary time with LPA may provide a more successful strategy to reduce sedentary time and increase physical activity.

Objective: This study primarily aims to evaluate the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of a home-based mobile health (mHealth) intervention to interrupt and replace sedentary time with LPA (standing and stepping). The secondary objective of this study is to examine changes in objective measures of physical activity, physical performance, and self-reported quality of life.

Methods: Overall, 54 cancer survivors (aged 60-84 years) were randomized in a 1:1:1 allocation to the tech support intervention group, tech support plus health coaching intervention group, or waitlist control group. Intervention participants received a Jawbone UP2 activity monitor for use with their smartphone app for 13 weeks. Tech support and health coaching were provided via 5 telephone calls during the 13-week intervention. Sedentary behavior and physical activity were objectively measured using an activPAL monitor for 7 days before and after the intervention.

Results: Participants included survivors of breast cancer (21/54, 39%), prostate cancer (16/54, 30%), and a variety of other cancer types; a mean of 4.4 years (SD 1.6) had passed since their cancer diagnosis. Participants, on average, were 70 years old (SD 4.8), 55% (30/54) female, 24% (13/54) Hispanic, and 81% (44/54) overweight or obese. Malfunction of the Jawbone trackers occurred in one-third of the intervention group, resulting in enrollment stopping at 54 rather than the initial goal of 60 participants. Despite these technical issues, the retention in the intervention was high (47/54, 87%). Adherence was high for wearing the tracker (29/29, 100%) and checking the app daily (28/29, 96%) but low for specific aspects related to the sedentary features of the tracker and app (21%-25%). The acceptability of the intervention was moderately high (81%). There were no significant between-group differences in total sedentary time, number of breaks, or number of prolonged sedentary bouts. There were no significant between-group differences in physical activity. The only significant within-group change occurred within the health coaching group, which increased by 1675 daily steps (95% CI 444-2906; *P*=.009). This increase was caused by moderate-intensity stepping rather than light-intensity stepping (+15.2 minutes per day; 95% CI 4.1-26.2; *P*=.008).

Conclusions: A home-based mHealth program to disrupt and replace sedentary time with stepping was feasible among and acceptable to older cancer survivors. Future studies are needed to evaluate the optimal approach for replacing sedentary behavior with standing and/or physical activity in this population.
Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03632694; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03632694

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e18819) doi:10.2196/18819

KEYWORDS

light-intensity physical activity; physical activity; sedentary behavior; mobile health; cancer survivors; consumer wearable; activity monitor; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

By 2030, there will be 22.1 million cancer survivors living in the United States, and two-thirds of them will be more than 65 years old [1]. Older cancer survivors are faced with both ageand treatment-related morbidity that increase their risk of physical function impairment and other comorbidities, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus, and osteoporosis [2-5]. These comorbidities further increase the risk of functional limitations. Compared with individuals without a history of cancer, cancer survivors have a 2- to 5-fold increased risk of having one or more functional limitations [5]. These chronic conditions are associated with diminished quality of life (QoL), premature death, and substantial financial costs [6-11]. Physical inactivity and sedentary behavior (too much sitting, which is distinct from too little exercise [12]) can increase the risk of or exacerbate these chronic conditions [13-19].

Recent research suggests that sedentary behavior has molecular and physiological effects distinct from a lack of exercise [20,21]. Sedentary behavior is defined as any waking behavior (ie, not sleep) characterized by minimal energy expenditure (\leq 1.5 metabolic equivalents [METs]) while in a sitting, lying, or reclining position [22]. Sedentary behavior is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease [23,24], premature all-cause mortality [23,25-27], greater fatigue [28,29], and decreased physical function [11,29,30]. Furthermore, how sedentary time is accumulated throughout the day is important, as frequent short breaks in sedentary time can attenuate the negative physiological response associated with prolonged, uninterrupted periods of inactivity [31-34].

Among cancer survivors, less than 2% of waking hours are spent in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA), up to 70% of waking hours are spent in sedentary activities, and the remaining time is spent in light-intensity physical activity (LPA) [35]. LPAs are associated with better physical health [36,37], including better physical function [37-40], reduced risk of incident disability [39,41], and better emotional well-being [36,40,42,43], independent of MVPA. The association between LPA and health outcomes is either only apparent or appears stronger in older adults and adults who are less physically active or have impaired lower extremity function [41,44-47]. Thus, disrupting and replacing sedentary time with LPA, rather than MVPA, are likely a more feasible approach to reducing sedentary behavior in older cancer survivors.

Behavior change interventions based on theory are generally more effective than atheoretical approaches [48-50]. Recent reviews suggest that goal setting, feedback, self-monitoring, problem solving, and social support are the most promising

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819
```

XSL•FO

behavioral change techniques for interventions designed to reduce sedentary behavior [51-53]. Unlike simple pedometers, consumer wearable activity trackers include multiple behavior change techniques [54,55]. The ability to provide feedback in real time is particularly salient for sedentary behavior, as it is a largely subconscious behavior [51]. Furthermore, wearable activity trackers are readily available and low cost and, if effective, represent a scalable option for expanding the reach to a large number of cancer survivors, including in rural areas.

Given the deleterious effects of sedentary behavior on health, including cardiovascular disease and diabetes mellitus, conditions that are commonly observed in older cancer survivors, or for which they are at an elevated risk [56], the role of sedentary behavior in cancer survivorship has been identified as a research priority [35,57]. However, to date, few interventions have been designed to reduce sedentary time among cancer survivors [51]. Recently, several mobile health (mHealth) pilot or feasibility interventions have evaluated text messaging or wearable activity trackers as an intervention tool to decrease sedentary behavior in breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors [58-60]. These interventions encouraged standing and stepping to replace sedentary behavior, with a primary focus on moderate-intensity activity. Preliminary results suggest that mHealth interventions are feasible and acceptable in this population and have the potential to replace sedentary behavior with physical activity, at least in the short term. However, additional research is needed to further evaluate effective strategies to reduce sedentary time by either replacing it with standing, stepping, or both.

Objectives

The purpose of this study is to examine the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of an mHealth intervention for disrupting (frequent breaks) and replacing sedentary time with intermittent bouts of LPA (standing and stepping). The 13-week intervention used the Jawbone UP2 activity monitor and associated smartphone app to promote awareness and enable self-monitoring of both physical activity and inactivity. We evaluated 2 versions of the mHealth intervention: a low-touch approach providing only tech support and a higher resource approach that included health coaching in addition to the tech support. This would allow us to determine whether a low-cost, consumer-based technology (wearable activity tracker plus smartphone app) is effective in meeting the goals or whether health coaching is needed to cover additional behavior change techniques not provided in the wearable activity tracker. Our primary objective is to determine the feasibility and acceptability of the 2 versions of the mHealth intervention by assessing recruitment, retention, and adherence rates; monitoring adverse events; and evaluating satisfaction with the program. In addition, we examined the preliminary

efficacy of the intervention on changes in objective measures of daily total sedentary time and the number of breaks in sedentary time. Our secondary objective is to explore changes in objective measures of physical activity, physical performance, and self-reported QoL.

Methods

Study Design

This study was a 3-arm pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT). Older cancer survivors were randomized in a 1:1:1 allocation to the tech support intervention group, the tech support plus health coaching intervention group, or a modified waitlist control group. The intervention used a consumer wearable activity tracker (Jawbone UP2 wristband) that was paired with a smartphone app to promote awareness and enable self-monitoring of both inactivity (band gently vibrates after a specified time of inactivity) and physical activity (eg, steps per day). We evaluated 2 versions of the intervention: a low-touch approach that included health coaching in addition to the tech support. Each intervention group was compared with the waitlist control group. Recruitment for the trial began in June 2016, and data collection was completed in July 2017.

Eligibility

Eligibility criteria for the feasibility study included (1) men and women aged 60 years and older (reduced from 65 years to increase the number of participants who own a smartphone); (2) those who were diagnosed as having an invasive, local or regionally staged cancer within the past 7 years (time frame increased the likelihood that address and phone number in cancer registry were still current) and completed primary treatment (surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy); (3) those who owned a smartphone capable of running the Jawbone UP2 smartphone app; (4) those who were willing to be randomized to any of the 3 study arms, attend 2 clinic visits, and wear activity monitors; (5) those who were able to read, speak, and understand English; (6) those who were living independently and were capable of walking 3 blocks (approximately 1/4 mile or 1300 steps) without an assistive device (eg, cane and walker); (7) self-reported sedentary time (during waking hours) of ≥6 hours/day (Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam Sedentary Behavior Questionnaire: hours and minutes in a day spent in 10 activities, on average, during a weekday [61]); (8) those who were not currently participating in a program to decrease sedentary time or increase physical activity and not currently using a fitness tracker; (9) those who had no paid employment or volunteer position for more than 20 hours per week (to avoid potential confounding by occupational activity/inactivity); (10) those who had no severe impairments (in seeing or hearing) or preexisting medical limitations for engaging in daily LPA (eg, severe orthopedic conditions, pending hip/knee replacement, dementia, and oxygen dependent); (11) those who had residence within 60 miles of the research clinic (to reduce travel burden

and improve retention and compliance); and (12) those who had a wrist size of 14 cm to 20 cm to wear the Jawbone UP2 activity wristband during the intervention. Individuals who met the physical activity guidelines (150 minutes per week of MVPA) [17,62] were eligible because sedentary behavior is a risk factor for morbidity and mortality independent of MVPA.

Recruitment

The population-based New Mexico Tumor Registry, a founding member of the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program [63], was used as the primary source for identifying potential study participants. Additional sources included posting flyers at selected locations, including senior centers and libraries. After identifying potentially eligible study participants, the New Mexico Tumor Registry mailed a letter that introduced the study and gave potentially eligible participants the opportunity to decline further contact. Contact information for individuals not refusing further contact was provided to the study team after a 3-week waiting period. Potential participants were then mailed a letter explaining the study and a consent form. One week later, the staff telephoned to discuss the study, answer questions, begin the consent process, and verify eligibility. Up to 3 attempts (later expanded to 4) were made to reach individuals who had a valid telephone number. A written informed consent for the interested and eligible participants was obtained during the baseline clinic visit.

Randomization

After a 1-week run-in period, a member of the research team opened the next sequentially numbered sealed envelope (created by a biostatistician) to reveal the randomization status. Participants were block randomized with equal allocation to 3 arms (tech support, tech support plus health coaching, or modified waitlist control) according to obesity status (BMI <30 vs \geq 30 kg/m²).

mHealth Intervention

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework used to guide this intervention was the social cognitive theory [64,65]. The intervention primarily targeted the theoretical constructs of knowledge, behavioral skills, behavioral capability, and self-efficacy. Wearable activity trackers, such as Jawbone, include a number of behavioral change techniques associated with decreasing sedentary behavior and increasing physical activity (eg, goal setting, graded tasks, and self-monitoring) [54,55]. However, some of the key techniques are missing and were supplemented with educational materials and technology support. Additional behavior change techniques were provided by the health coaches for the health coaching intervention, such as the identification of barriers and problem solving. Health coaches also provided encouragement and support and encouraged positive support from family and friends. A list of the behavior change techniques, theoretical constructs, and examples of strategies to promote behavior change in this mHealth intervention is presented in Table 1.



Blair et al

Table 1. Behavior change techniques and strategies to promote behavior change via educational materials, the Jawbone tracker and app, or tech support coaching or health coaching.

Behavior change technique	Theoretical con- struct	Examples of strategies	TS ^a group		HC ^b group			
			EM ^c	JB ^d	TS	EM	JB	HC
Information on conse- quences of behavior	Knowledge	Educational materials on harms of physical inactivity and sedentary behavior; also discussed with health coach	✓ ^e			1		1
Goal setting (behavior)	Behavioral skills; self-efficacy	Set weekly short-term and long-term step goals; tech support for changing goal settings on app; idle alert goal (every 30 min) and step goal (graded increase in steps)		1	1		1	1
Barrier identification and problem solving	Barrier self-regula- tory efficacy	Work with health coach to assess barriers and identify solu- tions to breaking up sedentary time and getting more steps throughout the day						1
Set graded tasks	Self-efficacy	Encourage incremental and achievable sedentary (breaks) and step goals		1			1	
Review of behavioral goals	Behavioral skills	Using Jawbone app to review daily progress and weekly pat- terns for longest idle time and steps		1			1	
Generalization of a target behavior	Behavioral capabil- ity	Educational materials with suggestions for breaking up sedentary time in different ways and locations; additional support from health coach	1			1		1
Self-monitoring of behavior	Behavioral skills	Using Jawbone app to review daily progress and weekly pat- terns and provide immediate feedback (idle alert and longest idle time)		1			1	
Feedback on behavior	Behavioral skills	Jawbone tracker and app provide immediate feedback; health coach to discuss whether goals were met		1			1	1
Information on where and when to perform behavior	Behavioral capabil- ity	Education materials to suggest tips for disrupting SB^f ; Jawbone idle alert to prompt when to stand up and move	1	1		1	1	
Instructions on how to per- form the behavior	Self-efficacy; be- havioral skills	Print materials and coaching provide instructions on setting up and using the Jawbone tracker and app	1		1	1		1
Social support	Social support	Health coach provides support and encouragement; provide information and suggestions when asked; encourage enlisting positive support from family members and friends to take more steps throughout the day						1
Use prompts/cues; prompt practice	Cues to action	Jawbone idle alert will prompt user to disrupt sitting with standing or stepping; Jawbone alerts will prompt more steps to reach daily goal		1			1	

^aTS: tech support.

^bHC: health coaching.

^cEM: educational material.

^dJB: Jawbone tracker and app.

^ePrimary source for the behavior change technique.

^fSB: sedentary behavior.

Components of the Intervention

The mHealth intervention consisted of educational materials; a Jawbone (in)activity tracker; a free, commercially available smartphone app; and support via 5 telephone calls. The only difference between the 2 intervention groups was the level of telephone support. One group received only support related to the use of technology (tracker and app, tech support group), whereas the other group received additional health coaching to meet the study goals (tech support plus health coaching group).

Educational Materials

Upon randomization, both intervention groups received brief educational materials by mail. These materials explained the

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819

negative consequences of sedentary behavior, especially prolonged periods of sitting, and included suggestions for how to disrupt and replace sedentary time with LPA. Examples of suggestions provided included walking around the house during television commercial breaks, standing while talking on the telephone, and parking the car further away from the entrance [66]. The summary graph representing the most active and least active days from the week-long collection of objectively measured sedentary time, standing, and stepping (output from the activPAL3 monitor) was mailed to study participants (for later discussion with their coach; Multimedia Appendix 1). The waitlist control group received educational materials at the

XSL•FO RenderX

postintervention follow-up when they received their activity tracker and smartphone app.

Jawbone UP2 Activity Tracker

Upon randomization to either of the 2 intervention groups, participants were mailed the Jawbone UP2 activity wristband and provided detailed instructions for installing the free, commercially available app on their smartphone and for using the wristband with the app. At the time the study was designed (2015), this was one of the few consumer wearable activity trackers that had the ability to alert the wearer after a specified time of inactivity. For the Jawbone monitor, this feature was known as an *idle alert*, which notified the user of inactivity via a gentle vibration of the wristband (eg, users select time in increments of 15 minutes). The assigned coach telephoned participants to assist with the installation and setup of the activity tracker and smartphone app.

The goal was to decrease daily total sedentary time and increase the number of breaks in sedentary time by replacing/disrupting sedentary time with intermittent bouts of LPA (standing and stepping). The key message for the activity prescription was to "sit less, stand more, and move more, throughout the day, every day." This message was included in the educational materials and was repeated during each of the 5 support telephone calls. Participants were encouraged to stand up and move at least once every 30 minutes. To encourage more movement than standing, participants were provided with a graduated steps per day goal of adding 3000 steps per day above their baseline level by week 9 (schedule in Figure 1). This target represents approximately 40 extra minutes of leisurely paced walking [67] and is associated with health benefits [36,68]. When combined with 20 minutes of standing, this would result in replacing 1 hour of sedentary time with 1 hour of LPA per day. A minimum intensity and a minimum bout duration for stepping were not provided, thus allowing the participant to self-select how to accumulate their extra daily steps.

The participants were instructed to wear the Jawbone during waking hours and were encouraged to track their activity at least once a day by viewing their results on the app. A commercially available app was used without any modifications by the research team. The app included a daily summary of total steps, total and longest active time, and longest idle time (longest time spent sedentary). To promote gradual and sustained change in LPA, participants were asked to increase the number of steps per day (above their individual baseline level), during weeks 1 to 9, and then work to maintain their goal during weeks 10 to 13 (Figure 1). Similarly, the *idle alert* setting began at 1 hour, decreased to 45 minutes, and then every 30 minutes. Participants in both intervention groups received guidance from their coaches on how to change the settings in their app.

Figure 1. Weekly schedule for the tech support and health coaching intervention groups.

	Intervention schedule					
Week	Telephone support calls	ldle alert setting (min)	Steps per day above baseline	Minimum days per week		
-2		acti∨l	baseline clinic ∨i PAL 1-week data	sit collection		
-1			Randomizatior Mail J <i>a</i> wbone Ul	ו P2		
0	Call #1	Setup Jawbone UP2 Establish baseline steps/day				
1	Call #2	60	1000	4		
2		60	1000	7		
3	Call #3	45	1500	4		
4		45	1500	7		
5		45	2000	4		
6		45	2000	7		
7	Call #4	30	2500	4		
8		30	2500	7		
9	Call #5	30	3000	4		
10		30	3000	7		
11		30	3000	7		
12		30	3000	7		
		30	3000	7		
13		activPAL 1-week data collection follow-up clinic visit				

Tech Support and Health Coaching Calls

The coaches were graduate students who received study-specific training, including 4 practice calls with staff members before calls to study participants. One coach was assigned to each intervention group participant based on their type of phone, for example, iPhone vs android or other mobile operating system. Phone scripts were used to guide the coaches to deliver only

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819

RenderX

tech support versus tech support plus health coaching. During the first telephone call (week 0; Figure 1), coaches helped the participants to set up their Jawbone monitor. During the second telephone call (week 1), each coach reviewed the activPAL3 baseline summary data (total and percentage of time spent sedentary, standing, and stepping for best and worst days) with the participant and discussed the importance of reducing sedentary time, especially prolonged periods of inactivity.

Additional telephone calls (15-20 minutes) were made during weeks 3, 7, and 9 to verify completion or to assist participants with changing the steps per day goal and *idle alert* setting on their app (if needed). Tech support coaches provided support related only to the technology (Jawbone UP2 activity tracker and/or smartphone app), including troubleshooting technical issues. In contrast, health coaches provided additional support to help their participants identify a list of LPAs to replace/disrupt sedentary time and to achieve the \geq 3000 steps per day goal, review the importance of goal setting and self-monitoring, and help troubleshoot problems and find solutions to meet their goals.

Problems With Jawbone UP2 Monitors

During the intervention, the Jawbone UP2 wristbands started to fail (ie, losing settings, losing connection with app, and not syncing data), affecting 13 of 36 intervention group participants. New Jawbone UP2 wristbands were purchased by the study team through other sources (Amazon website), but many of these wristbands also failed. We were able to buy and test UP2 wristbands to replace the failed units for the intervention group participants. Given these major issues and lack of support from Jawbone, waitlist control participants enrolled later in the study were provided with a Fitbit Alta (Fitbit Inc) at the end of the 13-week study. This product was similar to the Jawbone UP2 in that it provided an inactivity alert (reminder to move every hour) and allowed the user to set a step goal and track their steps.

Waitlist Control Group

Upon completion of the study, the control group received a shortened version of the intervention, that is, education materials, tracker, and smartphone app, and instructions for use to track their activity/inactivity. During the postintervention clinic visit, a study team member helped the participant to install the app on their smartphone; pair the tracker to their phone; and select settings for the idle alert and step goal. Each participant in this group was also offered up to 2 telephone calls with one of the coaches to receive tech support or other support to meet their personal goals for reducing sedentary behavior and increasing their activity via steps.

Procedures

Baseline Assessment

Pre- and postintervention clinic visits were conducted at the University of New Mexico Clinical and Translational Science Center. Assessments were conducted primarily by study team members not involved in intervention delivery; however, occasionally, there was overlap owing to limited resources. The baseline assessment included obtaining written informed consent, simple anthropometric measurements (height and weight), and objective physical function measures (physical tests of lower extremity function and mobility). At the end of the visit, study participants were instructed on how to attach the activPAL3 research-grade activity monitor and then observed to verify correct placement. Participants were instructed to wear the activPAL3 monitor for 24 hours/day for 1 week and on how to remove and return (via self-addressed stamped mailer) the monitor to study staff at the end of that week.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819
```

Follow-Up Assessment

At the end of the intervention, the activPAL3 research-grade monitor, attachment supplies, and instructions were mailed to all participants to collect 1 week of sedentary behavior and physical activity data. The project manager called to review the instructions for use and answer any questions. Additional postintervention outcome measures were collected at the clinic visit at the end of week 13. Participants received US \$50 gift cards to complete the baseline and follow-up assessments and to help cover the costs of accessing the app on their smartphone. In addition, participants were allowed to keep the Jawbone UP2 activity tracker at the end of the study.

Device-Based Measures

Sedentary behavior and physical activity were measured using an activPAL3 research-grade monitor (PAL Technologies Ltd). activPAL3 is a lightweight device worn on the thigh and includes both an inclinometer (to detect changes in position) and a triaxial accelerometer. activPAL is the gold standard in sedentary behavior research and provides accurate measures of sitting (or lying), standing, and stepping [69-72]. Participants wore the device for 24 hours per day for 7 days, before and after the intervention. The device was only removed for bathing or swimming or if an adverse reaction occurred to the Tegaderm dressing used to attach the device. Participants recorded in their diary, the day/time when the device was attached, each time it was removed and reattached, and the time they went to bed at night and woke up in the morning.

Outcomes and Measurements

Feasibility and Acceptability Outcomes

The feasibility and acceptability of the mHealth intervention were determined by achieving the following goals: (1) to recruit 60 older cancer survivors; (2) to retain 80% of the sample; (3) to achieve 80% adherence to the intervention; (4) to have no serious adverse events attributable or possibly attributable to the intervention, defined as any condition that is life threatening and results in overnight hospitalization or a physical or cardiac event serious enough to require medical attention; and (5) to achieve high satisfaction (acceptability) rates with the intervention; to have 75% or more of participants report agree or strongly agree on a 5-point Likert scale.

Retention was calculated as the percentage of participants who completed the follow-up clinic visits and accelerometer assessment. Adherence to wearing the Jawbone UP2 tracker, checking the app daily, and acting on the *idle alert* was assessed with 4 questions. Response items included never, rarely, sometimes, often, or very often. For adherence to the intervention, we calculated the percentage of intervention group participants who responded often or very often to the 4 questions regarding their use of the Jawbone tracker and app. In addition, the completion of telephone support calls was tracked. Acceptability and evaluation of the Jawbone UP2 technology (UP2 tracker and app) were assessed using 7 questions. Response items included strongly disagree, disagree, neutral, agree, or strongly agree. For acceptability, we calculated the percentage of respondents who responded agree or strongly agree to the 7 questions regarding ease of use, motivation,

XSL•FO RenderX

intention for continued use, and recommendations of this technology. Adherence and acceptability were stratified based on whether participants received a replacement Jawbone tracker owing to severe malfunctioning.

Primary Preliminary Efficacy Outcomes

The primary behavioral outcomes of interest were changes in total sedentary time (average minutes per day) and number of breaks from sitting (average breaks per day). As the opportunity to interrupt sitting while standing or stepping is dependent on the amount of sedentary time, the break ratio was also calculated. The break ratio was defined as the number of absolute breaks divided by total sedentary time.

Secondary Preliminary Efficacy Outcomes

Device-Based Measures of Sedentary Behavior and Physical Activity

activPAL was also used to assess changes in total minutes spent in prolonged sedentary bouts, minutes per day spent standing, number of steps per day, and minutes of light- and moderate-intensity physical activity (reported separately). A prolonged sedentary bout was defined as 30 or more continuous minutes in a seated or lying position [73]. LPA was defined as stepping at a cadence equivalent to 1.5 to 3.0 METs [73]. A MET is a multiple of resting energy expenditures. With resting (sitting quietly) energy expenditure defined as 1 MET, a 3-MET activity expends the energy of rest by 3 times, whereas a 5-MET activity expends the energy of rest by 5 times. Standing is also considered an LPA and has been reported separately from light stepping. Moderate-intensity physical activity was similarly defined, but with MET values from 3.0 to 5.9. Vigorous-intensity physical activity was defined as MET values of ≥ 6.0 or higher. As the guidelines at the time this intervention were designed specified that MVPA be accumulated in minimum bouts of 10 minutes, we also evaluated guideline bouts of MVPA [17,62]. The activPAL monitor provides accurate and precise categorization of sedentary time, LPA, and MVPA in a free-living setting (96.2% accuracy compared with direct observation) [73].

Objectively Measured Physical Performance

The emphasis on frequent interruptions of sedentary behavior with standing and stepping has the potential to improve lower extremity physical function. This was measured using the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB). The SPPB includes tests of standing balance, walking speed (timed 8-ft walk at usual speed), and lower body strength (time to rise from a chair 5 times) [6,74]. Scores range from 0 (not attempted) to 4 (highest score) for each test, with a total score ranging from 0 to 12. This battery has strong predictive validity and is responsive to changes [6,74].

Subjective Measures

Given the inverse association reported between sedentary behavior and QoL [29,75,76], we evaluated changes in QoL as a secondary outcome. The Medical Health Outcomes Study Short Form 36-item survey (SF-36, version 2) was used to assess health-related QoL. The SF-36 includes 8 individual scale scores and 2 component summary scores for physical and mental health

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819
```

and well-being. This instrument is valid and reliable for use in healthy and chronically ill adults [77,78]. Surveys were scored using QualityMetric [79]. Raw scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better functioning and well-being. T-scores represent a linear transformation, normed to the US population, with a mean of 50 (SD 10). Pain and fatigue were assessed using the patient-reported outcomes measurement information system (PROMIS) Pain Interference Short Form 8A and the functional assessment of chronic illness therapy (FACIT)-Fatigue scale (version 4) [80,81]. The pain interference survey included 8 questions on whether and the degree to which pain interfered with various activities during the past 7 days. The fatigue affected a person's life during the past 7 days.

Other Measures

In addition, sociodemographics, cancer-related data, comorbidities, and simple anthropometrics were ascertained via paper surveys to characterize the study population. Sociodemographic data were assessed via questionnaires at baseline, including age, sex, race/ethnicity, education, income range, and marital status. Smoking status (current, former, or never smoker) was also assessed at baseline. Cancer data were obtained from the New Mexico Tumor Registry (cancer type, stage, and date of diagnosis) and from self-reported surveys (treatment [yes/no]: surgery, chemotherapy, radiation, hormone therapy, and date primary therapy completed). The Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire [82] was used to assess the number of conditions and their impact on usual activities. The number of comorbidities and whether they limited activities were summed and categorized as 0 or 1 comorbidity (activities not limited), 1 comorbidity (activities limited), and 2 or more comorbidities (activities limited). Height (nearest 0.5 cm) was measured at the baseline clinic visit. Weight (nearest 0.1 kg) was measured at both the baseline and follow-up clinic visits. BMI (kg/m²) was calculated and categorized as normal weight (18.5 kg/m²-24.9 kg/m²), overweight (25.0 kg/m²-29.9 kg/m²), and obese (≥ 30 kg/m²).

Data Processing and Statistical Analysis

Processing of activPAL Data

activPAL3 data were downloaded using activPAL software (version 7; PAL Technologies Limited). The event files (start/stop time for sitting/lying, standing, and stepping) were processed using the activPALProcessing R package (version 1.0.2) [73,83]. After converting the event file into a second-by-second data file (second-by-second R function), other R functions were used to calculate the sedentary behavior and physical activity metrics. Only days with 10 or more hours of wear per awake time were included, and only the first 7 valid days were included (extra days were excluded). To be included in the analyses, a participant needed at least one valid day of activPAL3 data from baseline, which is consistent with the intention-to-treat principle and similar to other recent trials [58,84]. Owing to the large variability in the within- and between-person average number of awake per wear hours, all activPAL metrics were standardized to a 15-hour awake per

XSL•FO RenderX

Efficacy Outcomes

Baseline descriptive characteristics (mean, SD or frequency, %) were used to characterize the study population. Intent-to-treat analyses were conducted to evaluate changes in sedentary behavior metrics and secondary outcomes. Linear mixed methods were used to estimate the within- and between-group differences for each outcome. Each model included a fixed effect for group (tech support, health coaching, and waitlist control), time (before and after the intervention), and group by time interaction. A subject-level random effect was included to account for the correlation between repeated measurements of the same individuals over time. Statistical analyses were performed using SAS (version 9.4) and R (v.3.4.3).

Complete case analyses were conducted that only included individuals with complete data (12 tech support, 17 health coaching, and 18 controls). A sensitivity analysis was conducted that excluded individuals with fewer than 4 valid days of activPAL data (3 participants from the tech support only group). In addition, a sensitivity analysis was conducted by excluding the 12 intervention participants who experienced major problems with their Jawbone tracker (ie, required 1 or more tracker replacements, excluding 6 participants in each intervention group). For this sensitivity analysis, the control group was restricted to control participants who completed their baseline visit during the same period as the intervention participants, to account for potential seasonality effects (ie, before mid-February 2017, excluding 6 controls).

The proposed pilot intervention was a feasibility and acceptability intervention and thus was not powered to detect small effect sizes for change in any outcome. However, for sedentary time, with 20 people per group, assuming a 2-sided alpha level of 0.05 and an SD of 1.4 hours, there was 80% power to detect a difference of 1.3 hours in sedentary time between 2 groups [86,87].

Results

Feasibility

The New Mexico Tumor Registry identified 421 potentially eligible participants and, after accounting for a 3-week opt-out period, forwarded contact information on 354 individuals to study staff. Of the 364 individuals (including 10 self-referrals) we attempted to contact by telephone, 76 refused to participate, 101 were ineligible, and 118 were considered passive refusals after 3 to 4 attempts to contact via telephone (Figure 2; see Multimedia Appendix 3 for CONSORT [Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials] checklist). The overall response rate was 20.5%. The top 3 reasons for ineligibility included not owning a smartphone, volunteering or working for more than 20 hours per week, and mobility limitations. The top 2 reasons for refusal included a lack of interest and feeling that they were already active enough. An additional 15 individuals were eligible and interested but were unable to begin the intervention before the end of the enrollment period. Owing to the major malfunctions with the Jawbone UP2 monitors during the second half of the study, enrollment was stopped early with a final enrollment of 54 participants.

Retention in this 13-week intervention for older cancer survivors was moderately high (47/54, 87%). All of the dropouts occurred in the intervention groups, with the majority in the tech support group (6 of 7). The reasons included personal or severe family illness (n=2), move out of state (n=1), inconvenience (n=1), frustration with technology (n=1), and loss to follow-up (n=2). Notably, 3 of the 7 dropouts occurred among individuals who experienced malfunctioning with their Jawbone monitor (tech support group). Individuals who dropped out or were lost to follow-up were more likely to be female (5/7, 71% vs 25/47, 53%), have a higher BMI (34.4 kg/m² vs 29.5 kg/m²), and report poor or fair health at baseline (3/7, 43% vs 5/47, 11%) compared with individuals who completed the study.

The characteristics of the 54 cancer survivors enrolled in this study are presented in Table 2. The mean age at study enrollment was 69.6 years (SD 4.8, range 60-84 years), 44% (24/54) were male, 24% (13/54) were Hispanic, and 57% (31/54) had graduated from college. Most study participants (44/54, 81%) were overweight or obese, 44% (24/54) reported very good or excellent general health, and 50% (27/54) reported 1 or more comorbidities that limited their general activity. There were no significant differences between groups. Among the participants, 39% (21/54) had been diagnosed as having breast cancer, 30% (16/54) had prostate cancer, and 31% (17/54) had a variety of other cancer types. Most patients (40/53, 75%) had been diagnosed as having local-stage disease. The mean age at diagnosis was 65.2 (SD 4.8) years, and the mean number of years between diagnosis and study enrollment was 4.4 (SD 1.6) years.



Blair et al

Figure 2. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram.





Table 2. Baseline characteristics of the mobile health intervention study participants.

Characteristic	Combined groups (N=54)	Intervention group: tech support (n=18)	Intervention group: tech support+health coaching (n=18)	Waitlist control group (n=18)
Sociodemographic character	eristics			
Age (years), mean (SD)	69.6 (4.8)	69.6 (4.5)	69.1 (4.0)	70.2 (5.9)
BMI, mean (SD)	30.1 (5.7)	30.2 (6.0)	29.8 (4.8)	30.4 (6.5)
BMI, n (%)				
Normal weight	10 (18)	4 (22)	2 (11)	4 (22)
Overweight	21 (39)	6 (33)	9 (50)	6 (33)
Obese	23 (43)	8 (44)	7 (39)	8 (44)
Male, n (%)	24 (44)	10 (56)	6 (33)	8 (44)
Ethnicity, n (%)				
Hispanic	13 (24)	5 (28)	4 (22)	4 (22)
Non-Hispanic	41 (76)	13 (72)	14 (78)	14 (78)
Race, n (%)				
Non-White	4 (7)	1 (6)	2 (11)	1 (6)
White	50 (93)	17 (94)	16 (89)	17 (94)
College degree, n (%)	31 (57)	11 (61)	11 (61)	9 (50)
Household income, n (%)			
<us \$50,000<="" td=""><td>19 (35)</td><td>7 (39)</td><td>8 (44)</td><td>4 (22)</td></us>	19 (35)	7 (39)	8 (44)	4 (22)
≥US \$50,000	32 (59)	10 (56)	9 (50)	13 (72)
Missing or refused	3 (6)	1 (6)	1 (6)	1 (6)
Health and physical function	oning			
Ever smoker, n (%) ^a	24 (44)	8 (44)	7 (39)	9 (50)
General health status,	n (%)			
Fair or poor	8 (15)	4 (22)	2 (11)	2 (11)
Good	22 (41)	9 (50)	6 (33)	7 (39)
Very good or excel- lent	24 (44)	5 (28)	10 (56)	9 (50)
Number of comorbidit	ies, n (%)			
0-1; does not limit activities	27 (50)	10 (56)	8 (44)	9 (50)
1-2; limits activi- ties	16 (30)	6 (33)	5 (28)	5 (28)
\geq 3; limits activities	11 (20)	2 (11)	5 (28)	4 (22)
Self-reported physical	function, mean (SD)			
Raw score (0-100)	73.7 (20.7)	68.1 (22.4)	77.5 (15.4)	75.6 (23.2)
T-score ^b	47.5 (7.9)	45.3 (8.6)	48.9 (5.9)	48.2 (8.9)
Short Physical Perfor- mance Battery (0-12), mean (SD)	10.7 (1.6)	10.4 (2.2)	11.1 (0.9)	10.7 (1.5)
Clinical characteristics				
Cancer type, n (%)				
Breast	21 (39)	7 (39)	9 (50)	5 (28)
Prostate	16 (30)	7 (39)	3 (17)	6 (33)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristic	Combined groups (N=54)	Intervention group: tech support (n=18)	Intervention group: tech support+health coaching (n=18)	Waitlist control group (n=18)
Other ^c	17 (31)	4 (22)	6 (33)	7 (39)
Stage at diagnosis ^d , n	(%)			
Local	40 (75)	14 (78)	14 (78)	12 (71)
Regional	13 (25)	4 (22)	4 (22)	5 (29)
Treatment received ^e , r	ı (%)			
Surgery	42 (78)	13 (72)	13 (72)	14 (78)
Chemotherapy	10 (18)	3 (17)	3 (17)	4 (22)
Radiation	30 (56)	12 (67)	10 (56)	8 (44)
Hormone therapy	12 (22)	2 (11)	6 (33)	4 (22)
Time since diagnosis (years), mean (SD)	4.4 (1.6)	4.3 (1.4)	4.2 (1.9)	4.6 (1.4)
Other characteristics				
Comfort level with usi	ng smartphone, n (%)			
Very or extremely comfortable	38 (70)	11 (61)	13 (72)	14 (78)
Slightly or not comfortable	16 (30)	7 (39)	5 (28)	4 (22)
activPAL data, mean (SD)			
Number of valid wear days ^f	6.7 (0.7)	6.6 (1.0)	6.8 (0.4)	6.7 (0.5)
Average awake hours	14.5 (1.0)	14.1 (1.1)	14.6 (0.6)	14.6 (0.9)

^aOnly 1 participant was currently smoking at baseline.

^bT-scores represent a linear transformation, normed to the US population, with a mean of 50 (SD 10).

^cOther cancers include bladder, cervical, colon, endometrium, kidney, lymphoma, or melanoma cancers.

^dStage at diagnosis is missing for 1 participant.

^ePercentages do not add up to 100% because participants may have had more than 1 type of treatment.

^fUp to the first 7 days of 10 hours or more of awake/wear time were included in the analyses; additional days of wear beyond the first 7 days were excluded.

Adherence

Adherence during the intervention was moderately high for wearing the Jawbone activity monitor most days of the week (100% very often) and checking the app daily for the number of steps taken (23/29, 79% very often and 5/29, 17% often; Figure 3). However, few participants checked the app for the longest *idle time* (aka longest sedentary bout; 7/29, 24% often or very often), and on a typical day, most participants ignored

the vibration on their tracker and remained seated when reminded to stand up and move (18/29, 62% sometimes and 6/29, 21% often or very often). As indicated in Figure 3, adherence related to the sedentary features of the tracker and app was lower in participants who experienced malfunctions with their initial Jawbone UP2 monitor. Among the participants who completed the trial, 93% (27/29) completed all 5 coaching calls.



Blair et al

Figure 3. Adherence to wearing the Jawbone UP2 activity tracker and using the smartphone app, stratified by whether the intervention participant experienced malfunctions with the Jawbone UP2 tracker.



Adverse Events

There were no serious adverse events attributable or possibly attributable to the intervention.

Acceptability

Despite initial Jawbone UP2 malfunctions among one-third of the intervention group, the acceptability of the intervention was moderately high (Figure 4). Overall, 79% (23/29) of the participants agreed or strongly agreed that the Jawbone UP2 technology (monitor plus app) was easy to use and the same percentage indicated that they would use the Jawbone UP2 in the future. Despite the lack of tracking of sedentary data, most participants agreed or strongly agreed that this technology made them more aware of how much time they spent sitting and motivated them to decrease their sedentary time (27/29, 93% and 24/29, 83%, respectively). Participants who started with a malfunctioning Jawbone tracker reported lower acceptability scores than those with properly functioning trackers, with the greatest difference related to ease of use and recommending the tracker and app to others.

Figure 4. Acceptability and participant evaluation of the mobile health intervention using the Jawbone UP2 activity tracker and smartphone app to sit less, stand more, and move more, throughout the day, and every day. Results are stratified by whether the intervention participant experienced malfunctions with the Jawbone UP2 tracker.



Efficacy Primary Outcomes

Of the 54 cancer survivors enrolled in the study, data for the primary and secondary outcomes for sedentary behavior and physical activity were available for 53 participants (1 monitor malfunction at baseline). On average, participants wore the activPAL monitor for 6.7 days (SD 0.7, range 3-7 days), for an average of 14.5 (SD 1.0) awake/wear hours per day. During a standardized 15 hour awake/wear day, study participants spent 9.6 hours (SD 1.7 h) in sedentary (sitting/lying) activities. Approximately half (5.1, SD 1.7 h) of the number of sedentary minutes were spent in prolonged bouts (30 minutes or longer). The average number of breaks from sitting was 46.6 (SD 14.0) per 15 hour day. Standing accounted for one-quarter of the awake hours (3.8, SD 1.5 h). The remaining time was spent in light- and moderate-intensity stepping (36.8, SD 14.8 minutes and 56.5, SD 25.5 min, respectively; zero minutes in vigorous-intensity stepping). At baseline, only 5 participants met the physical activity guidelines that were recommended at the time the study began (150 minutes per week of moderate-intensity or 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity physical activity, minimum bout duration of 10 min) [17]. On the basis of current guidelines, which no longer require that activity occurs in bouts of at least 10 minutes, 46 participants met the minimum recommendation of at least 150 minutes per week of moderate-intensity activity [88,89].

Between- and within-group comparisons of changes in sedentary behavior are presented in Table 3. The tech support and the tech support plus health coaching groups did not reduce their daily sedentary time compared with the control group (least square means 8.5 min, 95% CI –50.5 to 67.5; P=.77 and least square means 10.4 min, 95% CI –43.5 to 64.3; P=.70, respectively). There were no significant differences between the intervention and control groups in the daily number of breaks from sitting (least square means –0.1, 95% CI –7.6 to 7.4; P=.97 and least square means –2.2, 95% CI –9.0 to 4.7; P=.52, respectively). There were no significant or meaningful changes in these sedentary behavior outcomes within any of the 3 groups.

Table 3. Between- and within-group comparisons of change in sedentary behavior and physical activity after a 13-week mobile health intervention.^{a,b}

Table 5. Detween and wrann grou	up comparisons of chan	ige in sedentary behavi	or and physical activity	anter a 15	week moone nearth me	ervention.
Sedentary behavior and physical activity metrics	Baseline, least square mean (95% CI)	Follow-up, least square mean (95% CI)	Within-group change, least square mean difference (95% CI)	P value	Between-group change ^c , least square mean difference (95% CI)	P value
Sedentary, minutes per 15 hours	s awake					
Tech support	598.5 (550.1 to 646.9)	604.6 (549.1 to 660.0)	6.0 (-39.5 to 51.6)	.79	8.5 (-50.5 to 67.5)	.77
Health coaching	567.7 (517.9 to 617.5)	575.6 (525.0 to 626.1)	7.9 (-30.8 to 46.6)	.68	10.4 (-43.5 to 64.3)	.70
Control	555.4 (507.0 to 603.8)	552.9 (503.8 to 602.0)	-2.5 (-40.0 to 35.0)	.89	N/A ^d	N/A
Prolonged sedentary bouts (≥30	min), minutes per 15	hours awake				
Tech support	319.8 (258.8 to 380.8)	331.9 (263.8 to 400.0)	12.1 (-38.2 to 62.4)	.63	4.7 (-60.3 to 69.7)	.88
Health coaching	287.0 (224.2 to 349.7)	305.5 (242.0 to 369.0)	18.5 (-23.9 to 61.0)	.38	11.2 (-48.0 to 70.3)	.71
Control	289.7 (228.7 to 350.7)	297.1 (235.4 to 358.8)	7.4 (-33.8 to 48.6)	.72	N/A	N/A
Breaks from sitting, number per	r 15 hour awake					
Tech support	50.6 (44.2 to 57.1)	50.5 (43.2 to 57.9)	-0.1 (-5.9 to 5.8)	.97	-0.1 (-7.6 to 7.4)	.97
Health coaching	48.8 (42.2 to 55.4)	46.6 (39.9 to 53.4)	-2.2 (-7.1 to 2.7)	.38	-2.2 (-9.0 to 4.7)	.52
Control	46.2 (39.7 to 52.6)	46.2 (39.6 to 52.7)	0.0 (-4.7 to 4.8)	1.00	N/A	N/A
Break ratio, number of breaks p	per sedentary hour					
Tech support	5.4 (4.5 to 6.2)	5.4 (4.5 to 6.4)	0.06 (-0.66 to 0.77)	.87	-0.08 (-1.00 to 0.85)	.87
Health coaching	5.3 (4.4 to 6.2)	4.9 (4.0 to 5.8)	-0.39 (-0.99 to 0.21)	.20	-0.52 (-1.36 to 0.32)	.22
Control	5.1 (4.2 to 5.9)	5.2 (4.3 to 6.0)	0.13 (-0.45 to 0.72)	.65	N/A	N/A
Standing, minutes per 15 hours	awake					
Tech support	213.9 (174.2 to 253.7)	202.8 (157.6 to 248.0)	-11.2 (-47.4 to 25.0)	.54	-8.7 (-55.6 to 38.2)	.71
Health coaching	243.0 (202.1 to 283.9)	220.4 (178.9 to 261.8)	-22.6 (-53.3 to 8.1)	.14	-20.1 (-62.9 to 22.6)	.35
Control	241.9 (202.2 to 281.6)	239.4 (199.2 to 279.7)	-2.5 (-32.3 to 27.3)	.87	N/A	N/A
Steps per 15 hour awake						
Tech support	6686 (5166 to 8206)	7339 (5594 to 9085)	654 (-794 to 2101)	.37	420 (-1456 to 2297)	.65
Health coaching	6663 (5099 to 8227)	8338 (6749 to 9926)	1675 (444 to 2906)	.009 ^e	1441 (-273 to 3156)	.10
Control	7898 (6378 to 9418)	8132 (6590 to 9674)	233 (-961 to 1428)	.70	N/A	N/A
Light-intensity physical activity	, minutes per 15 hours	s awake				
Tech support	34.4 (27.2 to 41.5)	33.1 (25.4 to 40.9)	-1.2 (-6.0 to 3.6)	.61	-4.2 (-10.4 to 2.0)	.18
Health coaching	37.3 (29.9 to 44.7)	36.9 (29.5 to 44.4)	-0.3 (-4.4 to 3.7)	.86	-3.3 (-8.9 to 2.3)	.24
Control	38.8 (31.6 to 45.9)	41.7 (34.5 to 49.0)	3.0 (-0.9 to 6.9)	.13	N/A	N/A
Moderate-intensity physical act	ivity (MPA), minutes j	per 15 hours awake				
Tech support	53.2 (40.2 to 66.1)	59.5 (44.5 to 74.6)	6.4 (-6.6 to 19.3)	.33	4.6 (-12.2 to 21.4)	.58
Health coaching	52.1 (38.8 to 65.4)	67.2 (53.7 to 80.8)	15.2 (4.1 to 26.2)	.008 ^e	13.4 (-2.0 to 28.8)	.09
Control	64.0 (51.0 to 76.9)	65.7 (52.6 to 78.9)	1.8 (-9.0 to 12.5)	.74	N/A	N/A

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2021 | vol. 7 | iss. 2 |e18819 | p.84 (page number not for citation purposes)

Blair et al

Sedentary behavior and physical activity metrics	Baseline, least square mean (95% CI)	Follow-up, least square mean (95% CI)	Within-group change, least square mean difference (95% CI)	P value	Between-group change ^c , least square mean difference (95% CI)	P value
MPA (guideline bouts), minutes	per 15 hours awake					
Tech support	5.8 (-3.2 to 14.8)	13.0 (2.2 to 23.8)	7.3 (-3.1 to 17.6)	.17	7.1 (-6.4 to 20.6)	.30
Health coaching	3.0 (-6.3 to 12.2)	19.7 (10.2 to 29.1)	16.7 (7.8 to 25.7)	<.001 ^e	16.6 (4.1 to 29.0)	.01 ^e
Control	12.1 (3.1 to 21.1)	12.3 (3.1 to 21.4)	0.2 (-8.5 to 8.8)	.97	N/A	N/A

^aIntent-to-treat analyses.

^bAll variables were standardized to a 15-hour awake per wear day before calculating the pre- to postintervention changes.

^cComparisons are between each intervention group and the control group.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eStatistically significant (P<.05) results.

Secondary Outcomes

Between- and within-group comparisons of changes in daily steps and time spent stepping are presented in Table 3. Although time spent standing is considered an LPA, it was evaluated separately from the time spent stepping at a light intensity. There were no significant between-group changes in the time spent standing for either intervention group compared with controls (tech support vs control: least square means -8.7 min, 95% CI -55.6 to 38.2; P=.71 and health coaching vs control: least square means -20.1 min, 95% CI -62.9 to 22.6; P=.35). There were no significant changes in daily steps between the intervention groups and the control group (tech support vs control: least square means 420 steps, 95% CI -1456 to 2297; P=.65 and health coaching vs control: least square means 1441 steps, 95% CI -273 to 3156; P=.10). There was a borderline significant difference between moderate-intensity stepping in the health coaching group compared with the control group (least square means 13.4 min, 95% CI -2.0 to 28.8; P=.09), but there was no difference between the tech support and control groups (least square means 4.6 min, 95% CI -12.2 to 21.4; P=.58). The between-group differences for moderate-intensity stepping accumulated in guideline bouts of 10 minutes or longer were least square means of 16.6 minutes (95% CI 4.1-29.0; P=.01) and 7.1 minutes (95% CI -6.4 to +20.6; P=.30), respectively, for health coaching group vs controls and tech support group vs controls.

The only significant within-group change occurred in the health coaching group. There was a significant increase of 1675 daily steps (95% CI 444-2906; P=.009). Although there was no appreciable change in light-intensity stepping, there was a significant increase in moderate-intensity stepping overall and guideline bouts among the health coaching group (least square means 15.2 extra minutes per day, 95% CI 4.1-26.2; P=.008 and least square means 16.7 extra minutes per day, 95% CI 7.8-25.7; P<.001). There was neither a significant decrease in sedentary time (least square means 7.9 min, 95% CI -30.8 to 46.6; P=.68) nor increase in standing (least square means -22.6 min/day, 95% CI -53.3 to 8.1; P=.14). There were no significant within-group changes for either the tech support group or the control group.

QoL Analysis

There were no significant between-group changes in subjectively measured health-related QoL (Multimedia Appendix 4). However, between-group differences of 4 or more points, representing the minimally clinically significant difference for the SF-36 QoL survey [90], occurred in several subscales. For health coaching compared with controls, these scales included general health, role physical, social functioning, and vitality. For tech support compared with controls, these scales included physical function and social functioning (favoring tech support) and mental health and role emotional (favoring controls). No significant or meaningful between- or within-group differences were observed for the FACIT-Fatigue or the PROMIS pain scales.

Physical Performance

The average baseline scores on the SPPB were relatively high at baseline for each of the 3 groups (tech support: 10.4, health coaching: 11.2, and control: 10.7). There were no significant between-group changes (P>.4); the difference between the health coaching and control groups was at the lower limit of the minimally meaningful change for this scale (0.3-0.8 points) [91].

Additional Analyses

The results of the complete case analyses, including participants with both baseline and follow-up data, did not differ substantially from the intent-to-treat analyses regarding sedentary behavior and physical activity (data not shown). The results of a sensitivity analysis excluding people with fewer than 4 days of valid activPAL data were not appreciably different from the intention-to-treat analyses (data not shown). No significant between-group differences were found in a sensitivity analysis, excluding participants who experienced issues/failures with the Jawbone tracker. The results for tech support versus controls were as follows (least square mean, 95%) CI): sedentary time (-28 min, -99 to 43), standing (17 min, -42 to 76), total daily steps (1290 steps, -403 to 2982), and moderate-intensity stepping (13 min, -2 to 28). The results for health coaching versus controls were as follows: sedentary time (10 min, -56 to 76), standing (-18 min, -72 to 36), total daily steps (1102 steps, -460 to 2663), and moderate-intensity stepping (11 min, -3 to 25).

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study explored the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of a home-based mHealth intervention to disrupt and replace sedentary time with LPA (standing and stepping) among older cancer survivors. Despite technical issues with one-third of the Jawbone UP2 activity trackers, an mHealth intervention in older cancer survivors was feasible (high retention and adherence) and acceptable. However, although participants reported that the mHealth intervention increased their awareness of sedentary behavior, this did not translate into a reduction in total sedentary time, prolonged sedentary time, or an increase in breaks from sitting in either intervention group.

The lack of a reduction in total sedentary time was an unexpected finding, given ample room for improvement (nearly 10 hours of sedentary time per day at baseline). In contrast, this group of older, primarily retired, cancer survivors was already taking frequent breaks from sitting, averaging 3 breaks per hour. However, despite the average number of hourly breaks, the amount of time spent in prolonged sedentary bouts (≥30 min) was not reduced, suggesting that there is room for improvement in this metric. Only a few studies have reported a significant increase in the number of breaks from sitting [66]. A large proportion of our study participants reported ignoring the *idle* alert on a typical day. Whether this represented a valid opportunity to stand up and move (eg, alerted while watching television) or an inopportune time (eg, eating, driving, or in a social setting) is unknown. Other studies using the Jawbone tracker reported overall acceptability, including the usefulness or interest in continued use of the *idle alert* [92,93]; however, other studies noted that some participants found the idle alert very irritating and inaccurate [94].

In our study, both the postintervention evaluation and comments received from many participants during coaching calls support their focus on the step goal. Similar to other activity tracker apps, the predominant tracking features of the Jawbone apps are related to daily steps rather than sedentary behavior, which may have reinforced the step goal. More support for replacing rather than merely disrupting sedentary time with a suggested minimal bout duration may have been more helpful for individuals already taking frequent breaks from sitting. In addition, research suggests that given the automaticity of sedentary behavior, different and more effortful strategies are required to break existing habits compared with forming new habits [95-97].

Additional unexpected findings were the 6-fold higher time spent standing compared with light-intensity stepping (both before and after intervention) and the suggested decrease in standing, especially in the health coaching group (22 fewer minutes per day). Interventions that report LPA separately indicate that cancer survivors spend 2 to 5 hours per day in these activities [59,60,98,99]. In comparison, our study measured, on average, only 30 to 40 minutes per day. This likely involves measurement differences. Importantly, many interventions have not been able to determine the amount of time spent standing, and standing still is often combined with sedentary time. The

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819
```

activPAL monitor, which is worn on the upper thigh and includes both an inclinometer and accelerometer, provides a more accurate measure of sedentary time (sitting or lying) and standing compared with the ActiGraph accelerometer [70,72], which is the gold standard in MVPA research.

Another research challenge is measuring daily steps in a free-living population (vs in a controlled lab setting), especially if all steps are of interest rather than just higher intensity steps (ie, MVPA). In a free-living population measured during awake hours, stepping ranges from slow, intermittent stepping to fast, continuous stepping. The accuracy of step accumulation by research-grade monitors varies according to walking speed (less accurate at slower speeds) and intermittent (less accurate) versus continuous (more accurate) stepping [100,101]. Therefore, slow or intermittent stepping may be classified as standing rather than light-intensity stepping [100,101]. In our study, overall, there was no reduction in sedentary time, which was measured with high accuracy. Instead, the increased step accumulation among each group, especially the health coaching group, likely represents a shift from standing and slow or intermittent stepping to moderate-intensity and continuous stepping.

There was much flexibility allowed to achieve the goals of the study, that is, no minimum bout duration (standing or stepping) or intensity level (stepping) was provided to participants. The results suggest that most of the intervention group participants focused on the step goal rather than standing more frequently. Furthermore, participants self-selected to accumulate steps in longer bouts and at a moderate versus light intensity. However, only the intervention group with additional health coaching (vs only tech support) achieved significant and meaningful increases in the total daily steps and number of moderate-intensity steps. Although the average number of additional daily steps was below the 3000 goal, it is similar to that reported from meta-analyses using consumer wearable activity trackers, which report 400 to 475 additional daily steps [52,102].

Comparison With Previous Work

On the basis of recent reviews, interventions with a sedentary behavior focus were more effective (greater reduction in sedentary time) than interventions with a focus on increasing MVPA or both increasing MVPA and reducing sedentary time [103,104]. Reviews of interventions with device-based measurement of sedentary behavior (eg, activPAL and ActiGraph) report, on average, a decrease of 35 minutes per day of sedentary time; however, there was significant heterogeneity detected [51,52,102]. Although device-based measures of sedentary behavior are more accurate than self-report measures, there are also differences in accuracy between device-based measures. For example, hip-worn accelerometers estimate sedentary behavior based on lack of movement (eg, <100 counts per minutes on an ActiGraph), whereas thigh-worn monitors base their estimation on posture (eg, activPAL) [105]. As a result, a hip-worn accelerometer cannot distinguish between standing and sedentary time and can overestimate the change in sedentary time if both sitting and standing are reduced.

To date, few interventions have been designed specifically to decrease sedentary behavior in cancer survivors [106]. In

contrast to our findings, several studies have reported a reduction in sedentary time among breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors [58-60]. However, our study compares favorably with the increase in daily steps, especially moderate-intensity stepping. Lynch et al [58] designed an RCT to both reduce sedentary behavior and increase MVPA using the Garmin Vivofit activity tracker among 80 breast cancer survivors (mean age 62 years, SD 6.4). They reported a 37 minutes per day decrease in sitting (95% CI -72.0 to -2.0), which was primarily replaced with standing (27 minutes; 95% CI -2 to 56), and an increase of 933 steps per day (95% CI-215 to 2082). Gomersall et al [59] designed a text-message enhanced clinical exercise intervention (RCT) to reduce sitting time and increase activity among 36 participants, representing several cancer types, primarily colorectal and prostate cancer. The significant decrease in total daily sitting (mean difference -48 minutes/16 h awake day; 95% CI -90 to -6) was primarily replaced with standing (mean difference 42 minutes; 95% CI -4 to 88) and light-intensity stepping (mean difference 7.0 minutes; 95% CI 0.4-14). The RiseTx web-based program designed by Trinh et al [60] included 46 prostate cancer survivors (mean age 73.2 years, SD 7.3) who were given a Jawbone UP 24 activity monitor (model preceding the UP2). The goal was to increase daily steps by 3000 and to reduce sedentary time over a 12-week period in a single-arm trial. There was a significant decrease in sitting time (-455.4 minutes per week; 95% CI -766.6 to -144.2), a nonsignificant decrease in LPA (-91.0 minutes per week; 95% CI -236.4 to 54.4), and a significant increase in MVPA (44.1 minutes per week; 95% CI 11.1-77.0; all measured with the hip-worn ActiGraph). There was also an increase in daily steps (1535; P<.001), which was measured using the Jawbone wearable activity tracker rather than a research-grade accelerometer.

Limitations and Strengths

The limitations of our feasibility study include the potential for selection bias because smartphone ownership was an eligibility criterion. Individuals not familiar with a smartphone (if provided with a loaner phone) may have had more difficulty with adherence or uptake of an mHealth intervention. In addition, individuals who were enrolled were likely more motivated to change their inactivity. The results of this study may not be generalizable to cancer survivors who are less healthy, less physically active, or less comfortable with smartphones than those enrolled in the study. Recruitment was more challenging than anticipated, resulting in a low response rate. Another limitation is the lack of fidelity measures to ensure that the intervention components were delivered as intended. The use of a consumer activity monitor, in this case the Jawbone UP2, is both a limitation and a strength. We experienced substantial technical issues/failures with the device, affecting one-third of the intervention group, as the manufacturing company quit the production, stopped providing support, and eventually closed. While adversely affecting intervention delivery (starting over

with tech support/health coaching calls) and possibly retention (3 of 7 dropouts had issues with their Jawbone UP2 monitor; all tech support group), the intervention acceptability scores were moderately high. Most importantly, as reported during follow-up interviews, many intervention participants switched to a different consumer activity monitor to track their steps (Fitbit or Garmin), suggesting a transfer of knowledge and skills gained during the intervention. The strengths of this study include the RCT design and a diverse study sample in terms of sociodemographics, cancer type, and health characteristics. Another strength is the measurement of sedentary behavior with the activPAL research-grade monitor, which is the gold standard for distinguishing between sitting, standing, and stepping [69-72].

Several lessons were learned from this pilot study. First, despite the tremendous growth in the consumer wearable activity tracker market, the disadvantages of using these devices for research studies include technical issues/failures, changes in availability, changes in the user interface or algorithms behind the app, and the potential lack of support from the manufacturer. However, this mHealth approach has been popular among researchers because of its low cost, the ability to reach a large number of participants, and the potential for maintenance of behavior change. The advantages for participants include receiving feedback in real time to prompt change and reducing the burden of tracking weekly/monthly steps (eg, participant recording steps in diary vs automated recording and tracking with app).

Second, sedentary behavior is a strongly ingrained habit that is mostly initiated subconsciously [94]. Research suggests that, given the automaticity of sedentary behavior, different and more effortful strategies are required to break existing habits compared with forming new habits [95-97]. This may require different or multiple behavioral theories to inform the intervention. Although many consumer activity trackers have several behavioral change techniques built into the tracker and/or the app, including Jawbone [54,55,107], accumulating evidence suggests that additional behavior change techniques are needed to achieve meaning change [92,102]. Until activity tracker apps advance to provide features for tracking daily sedentary behavior, researchers will need to provide participants with other strategies. Finally, the daily step goal (+3000 steps above baseline) may have been too high, although participants were able to self-select the minimum bout duration and intensity level for stepping. Nevertheless, the step goal may have competed with messaging to reduce sedentary time.

Conclusions

This low-touch, home- and technology-based intervention designed to disrupt and replace sedentary time with LPA (standing and stepping) was feasible and acceptable for a diverse group of older cancer survivors. Future studies are warranted to evaluate strategies for replacing sedentary time with standing and/or physical activity.



Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the American Cancer Society Institutional Review Grant (#IRG-14-187-19) and the University of New Mexico Comprehensive Cancer Center Support Grant (NCI P30CA118100) and the Behavioral Measurement and Population Sciences Shared Resource and the Biostatistics Shared Resource. This project was also supported by Contract HHSN261201800014I, Task Order HHSN26100001, from the National Cancer Institute. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) or the American Cancer Society. CB is currently supported by the NIH K07 grant CA215937.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

An example of the activPAL monitor summary data from baseline discussed with intervention group participants in an mHealth study.

[PNG File , 22 KB - cancer_v7i2e18819_app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2 activPAL3 data collection and processing details. [DOCX File , 31 KB - cancer_v7i2e18819_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials)-EHEALTH checklist (v 1.6). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1566 KB - cancer v7i2e18819 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Effects of mHealth intervention on health-related Quality of Life. [DOCX File, 22 KB - cancer_v7i2e18819_app4.docx]

References

- 1. Cancer Treatment & Survivorship: Facts & Figures 2019-2021. American Cancer Society. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/cancer-treatment-and-survivorship-facts-and-figures/cancer-treatment-and-survivorship-facts-and-figures-2019-2021.pdf [accessed 2021-03-22]</u>
- Avis NE, Deimling GT. Cancer survivorship and aging. Cancer 2008 Dec 15;113(12 Suppl):3519-3529 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23941] [Medline: 19058151]
- Carver JR, Shapiro CL, Ng A, Jacobs L, Schwartz C, Virgo KS, ASCO Cancer Survivorship Expert Panel. American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical evidence review on the ongoing care of adult cancer survivors: cardiac and pulmonary late effects. J Clin Oncol 2007 Sep 01;25(25):3991-4008. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.10.9777] [Medline: 17577017]
- 4. Deimling GT, Arendt JA, Kypriotakis G, Bowman KF. Functioning of older, long-term cancer survivors: the role of cancer and comorbidities. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009;57 Suppl 2:289-292. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02515.x</u>] [Medline: 20122020]
- Hewitt M, Rowland JH, Yancik R. Cancer survivors in the United States: age, health, and disability. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2003 Jan;58(1):82-91. [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/58.1.m82</u>] [Medline: <u>12560417</u>]
- Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, Salive ME, Wallace RB. Lower-extremity function in persons over the age of 70 years as a predictor of subsequent disability. N Engl J Med 1995 Mar 02;332(9):556-561. [doi: 10.1056/NEJM199503023320902] [Medline: 7838189]
- Yabroff KR, Kim Y. Time costs associated with informal caregiving for cancer survivors. Cancer 2009 Sep 15;115(18 Suppl):4362-4373 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.24588] [Medline: 19731345]
- Guy GPJ, Ekwueme DU, Yabroff KR, Dowling EC, Li C, Rodriguez JL, et al. Economic burden of cancer survivorship among adults in the United States. J Clin Oncol 2013 Oct 20;31(30):3749-3757 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.49.1241] [Medline: 24043731]
- 9. Vissers PAJ, Thong MSY, Pouwer F, Zanders MMJ, Coebergh JWW, van de Poll-Franse LV. The impact of comorbidity on Health-Related Quality of Life among cancer survivors: analyses of data from the PROFILES registry. J Cancer Surviv 2013 Dec;7(4):602-613. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-013-0299-1] [Medline: 23918453]
- 10. Smith AW, Reeve BB, Bellizzi KM, Harlan LC, Klabunde CN, Amsellem M, et al. Cancer, comorbidities, and health-related quality of life of older adults. Health Care Financ Rev 2008;29(4):41-56 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18773613</u>]

- George SM, Alfano CM, Groves J, Karabulut Z, Haman KL, Murphy BA, et al. Objectively measured sedentary time is related to quality of life among cancer survivors. PLoS One 2014;9(2):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087937] [Medline: 24505335]
- 12. Owen N, Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW. Too much sitting: the population health science of sedentary behavior. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2010 Jul;38(3):105-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e3181e373a2] [Medline: 20577058]
- Dunlop DD, Song J, Arnston EK, Semanik PA, Lee J, Chang RW, et al. Sedentary time in US older adults associated with disability in activities of daily living independent of physical activity. J Phys Act Health 2015 Jan;12(1):93-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/jpah.2013-0311] [Medline: 24510000]
- 14. Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW, Winkler EAH, Owen N. Sedentary time and cardio-metabolic biomarkers in US adults: NHANES 2003-06. Eur Heart J 2011 Mar;32(5):590-597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq451] [Medline: 21224291]
- Lyden K, Keadle SK, Staudenmayer J, Braun B, Freedson PS. Discrete features of sedentary behavior impact cardiometabolic risk factors. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2015 May;47(5):1079-1086 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000499] [Medline: 25202848]
- Healy GN, Wijndaele K, Dunstan DW, Shaw JE, Salmon J, Zimmet PZ, et al. Objectively measured sedentary time, physical activity, and metabolic risk: the Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab). Diabetes Care 2008 Feb;31(2):369-371. [doi: 10.2337/dc07-1795] [Medline: 18000181]
- 17. Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report 2008. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2008. URL: <u>https://www.europarc.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Physical-Activity-Guidelines-Advisory-Committee-Report-2008.</u> pdf [accessed 2021-03-22]
- Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT, Lancet Physical Activity Series Working Group. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet 2012 Jul 21;380(9838):219-229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9] [Medline: 22818936]
- Blair CK, Robien K, Inoue-Choi M, Rahn W, Lazovich D. Physical inactivity and risk of poor quality of life among elderly cancer survivors compared to women without cancer: the Iowa Women's Health Study. J Cancer Surviv 2016 Feb;10(1):103-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-015-0456-9] [Medline: 26008207]
- 20. Hamilton MT, Hamilton DG, Zderic TW. Role of low energy expenditure and sitting in obesity, metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. Diabetes 2007 Nov;56(11):2655-2667 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/db07-0882] [Medline: 17827399]
- 21. Hamilton MT, Healy GN, Dunstan DW, Zderic TW, Owen N. Too little exercise and too much sitting: inactivity physiology and the need for new recommendations on sedentary behavior. Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep 2008 Jul;2(4):292-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12170-008-0054-8] [Medline: 22905272]
- Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, SBRN Terminology Consensus Project Participants. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) - Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Jun 10;14(1):75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0525-8] [Medline: 28599680]
- 23. Stamatakis E, Hamer M, Dunstan DW. Screen-based entertainment time, all-cause mortality, and cardiovascular events: population-based study with ongoing mortality and hospital events follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011 Jan 18;57(3):292-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.05.065] [Medline: 21232666]
- 24. Hawkes AL, Lynch BM, Owen N, Aitken JF. Lifestyle factors associated concurrently and prospectively with co-morbid cardiovascular disease in a population-based cohort of colorectal cancer survivors. Eur J Cancer 2011 Jan;47(2):267-276. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.10.002] [Medline: 21074408]
- 25. Arem H, Pfeiffer RM, Moore SC, Brinton LA, Matthews CE. Body mass index, physical activity, and television time in relation to mortality risk among endometrial cancer survivors in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study cohort. Cancer Causes Control 2016 Nov;27(11):1403-1409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10552-016-0813-7] [Medline: 27730319]
- Campbell MK, Demark-Wahnefried W, Symons M, Kalsbeek WD, Dodds J, Cowan A, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and prevention of cancer: the Black Churches United for Better Health project. Am J Public Health 1999 Sep;89(9):1390-1396. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.89.9.1390</u>] [Medline: <u>10474558</u>]
- Ratjen I, Schafmayer C, di Giuseppe R, Waniek S, Plachta-Danielzik S, Koch M, et al. Postdiagnostic physical activity, sleep duration, and TV watching and all-cause mortality among long-term colorectal cancer survivors: a prospective cohort study. BMC Cancer 2017 Oct 25;17(1):701 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3697-3] [Medline: 29070017]
- Phillips SM, Awick EA, Conroy DE, Pellegrini CA, Mailey EL, McAuley E. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behavior and quality of life indicators in survivors of breast cancer. Cancer 2015 Nov 15;121(22):4044-4052 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29620] [Medline: 26308157]
- 29. van Roekel EH, Winkler EA, Bours MJ, Lynch BM, Willems PJ, Meijer K, et al. Associations of sedentary time and patterns of sedentary time accumulation with health-related quality of life in colorectal cancer survivors. Prev Med Rep 2016 Dec;4:262-269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2016.06.022] [Medline: 27419042]
- Lynch BM, Cerin E, Owen N, Hawkes AL, Aitken JF. Television viewing time of colorectal cancer survivors is associated prospectively with quality of life. Cancer Causes Control 2011 Aug;22(8):1111-1120. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10552-011-9786-8</u>] [Medline: <u>21656163</u>]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819
```

- Dunstan DW, Kingwell BA, Larsen R, Healy GN, Cerin E, Hamilton MT, et al. Breaking up prolonged sitting reduces postprandial glucose and insulin responses. Diabetes Care 2012 May;35(5):976-983 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc11-1931] [Medline: 22374636]
- Howard BJ, Fraser SF, Sethi P, Cerin E, Hamilton MT, Owen N, et al. Impact on hemostatic parameters of interrupting sitting with intermittent activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2013 Jul;45(7):1285-1291. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0b013e318285f57e</u>] [Medline: <u>23439415</u>]
- 33. Sardinha LB, Santos DA, Silva AM, Baptista F, Owen N. Breaking-up sedentary time is associated with physical function in older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2015 Jan;70(1):119-124. [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/glu193</u>] [Medline: <u>25324221</u>]
- Larsen RN, Kingwell BA, Sethi P, Cerin E, Owen N, Dunstan DW. Breaking up prolonged sitting reduces resting blood pressure in overweight/obese adults. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2014 Sep;24(9):976-982. [doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2014.04.011] [Medline: 24875670]
- 35. Lynch BM, Dunstan DW, Vallance JK, Owen N. Don't take cancer sitting down: a new survivorship research agenda. Cancer 2013 Jun 01;119(11):1928-1935 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.28028] [Medline: 23504979]
- 36. Buman MP, Hekler EB, Haskell WL, Pruitt L, Conway TL, Cain KL, et al. Objective light-intensity physical activity associations with rated health in older adults. Am J Epidemiol 2010 Nov 15;172(10):1155-1165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq249] [Medline: 20843864]
- Blair CK, Morey MC, Desmond RA, Cohen HJ, Sloane R, Snyder DC, et al. Light-intensity activity attenuates functional decline in older cancer survivors. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014 Jul;46(7):1375-1383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000241] [Medline: 24389524]
- 38. van Waart H, Stuiver MM, van Harten WH, Geleijn E, Kieffer JM, Buffart LM, et al. Effect of low-intensity physical activity and moderate- to high-intensity physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy on physical fitness, fatigue, and chemotherapy completion rates: results of the PACES randomized clinical trial. J Clin Oncol 2015 Jun 10;33(17):1918-1927. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.59.1081] [Medline: 25918291]
- Van Roekel EH, Bours MJL, Breedveld-Peters JJL, Meijer K, Kant I, Van Den Brandt PA, et al. Light physical activity is associated with quality of life after colorectal cancer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2015 Dec;47(12):2493-2503. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000000698] [Medline: 25970666]
- 40. van Roekel EH, Duchâteau J, Bours MJL, van Delden L, Breedveld-Peters JJL, Koole JL, et al. Longitudinal associations of light-intensity physical activity with quality of life, functioning and fatigue after colorectal cancer. Qual Life Res 2020 Nov 2;29(11):2987-2998 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-020-02566-7] [Medline: 32617891]
- 41. Dunlop DD, Song J, Semanik PA, Sharma L, Bathon JM, Eaton CB, et al. Relation of physical activity time to incident disability in community dwelling adults with or at risk of knee arthritis: prospective cohort study. Br Med J 2014 Apr 29;348:- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.g2472] [Medline: 24782514]
- 42. Thraen-Borowski KM, Trentham-Dietz A, Edwards DF, Koltyn KF, Colbert LH. Dose-response relationships between physical activity, social participation, and health-related quality of life in colorectal cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv 2013 Sep;7(3):369-378 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-013-0277-7] [Medline: 23546822]
- 43. Conroy DE, Wolin KY, Blair CK, Demark-Wahnefried W. Gender-varying associations between physical activity intensity and mental quality of life in older cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2017 Nov;25(11):3465-3473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3769-6] [Medline: 28620700]
- 44. Matthews CE, Keadle SK, Troiano RP, Kahle L, Koster A, Brychta R, et al. Accelerometer-measured dose-response for physical activity, sedentary time, and mortality in US adults. Am J Clin Nutr 2016 Nov;104(5):1424-1432 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.135129] [Medline: 27707702]
- Matthews CE, Moore SC, Sampson J, Blair A, Xiao Q, Keadle SK, et al. Mortality benefits for replacing sitting time with different physical activities. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2015 Sep;47(9):1833-1840 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000621] [Medline: 25628179]
- 46. Reid N, Daly RM, Winkler EAH, Gardiner PA, Eakin EG, Owen N, et al. Associations of monitor-assessed activity with performance-based physical function. PLoS One 2016;11(4):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153398] [Medline: 27073888]
- 47. Elosua R, Redondo A, Segura A, Fiol M, Aldasoro E, Vega G, et al. Dose-response association of physical activity with acute myocardial infarction: do amount and intensity matter? Prev Med 2013 Nov;57(5):567-572. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.07.022] [Medline: 23954185]
- Gourlan M, Bernard P, Bortolon C, Romain AJ, Lareyre O, Carayol M, et al. Efficacy of theory-based interventions to promote physical activity. A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Health Psychol Rev 2016 Apr 10;10(1):50-66. [doi: <u>10.1080/17437199.2014.981777</u>] [Medline: <u>25402606</u>]
- 49. Glanz K, Bishop DB. The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. Annu Rev Public Health 2010;31:399-418. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev.publhealth.012809.103604</u>] [Medline: <u>20070207</u>]
- 50. McGarrigle L, Todd C. Promotion of physical activity in older people using mhealth and ehealth technologies: rapid review of reviews. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 29;22(12):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22201] [Medline: 33372894]

- 51. Compernolle S, DeSmet A, Poppe L, Crombez G, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Cardon G, et al. Effectiveness of interventions using self-monitoring to reduce sedentary behavior in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2019 Aug 13;16(1):63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0824-3] [Medline: 31409357]
- 52. Stockwell S, Schofield P, Fisher A, Firth J, Jackson SE, Stubbs B, et al. Digital behavior change interventions to promote physical activity and/or reduce sedentary behavior in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Exp Gerontol 2019 Jun;120:68-87. [doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.02.020] [Medline: 30836130]
- 53. Gardner B, Smith L, Lorencatto F, Hamer M, Biddle SJ. How to reduce sitting time? A review of behaviour change strategies used in sedentary behaviour reduction interventions among adults. Health Psychol Rev 2016;10(1):89-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2015.1082146] [Medline: 26315814]
- 54. Lyons EJ, Lewis ZH, Mayrsohn BG, Rowland JL. Behavior change techniques implemented in electronic lifestyle activity monitors: a systematic content analysis. J Med Internet Res 2014 Aug 15;16(8):e192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3469] [Medline: 25131661]
- 55. Duncan M, Murawski B, Short CE, Rebar AL, Schoeppe S, Alley S, et al. Activity trackers implement different behavior change techniques for activity, sleep, and sedentary behaviors. Interact J Med Res 2017 Aug 14;6(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.6685] [Medline: 28807889]
- 56. Demark-Wahnefried W, Pinto BM, Gritz ER. Promoting health and physical function among cancer survivors: potential for prevention and questions that remain. J Clin Oncol 2006 Nov 10;24(32):5125-5131. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2006.06.6175</u>] [Medline: <u>17093274</u>]
- Courneya KS, Rogers LQ, Campbell KL, Vallance JK, Friedenreich CM. Top 10 research questions related to physical activity and cancer survivorship. Res Q Exerc Sport 2015 Jun;86(2):107-116. [doi: <u>10.1080/02701367.2015.991265</u>] [Medline: <u>25629322</u>]
- 58. Lynch BM, Nguyen NH, Moore MM, Reeves MM, Rosenberg DE, Boyle T, et al. A randomized controlled trial of a wearable technology-based intervention for increasing moderate to vigorous physical activity and reducing sedentary behavior in breast cancer survivors: The ACTIVATE Trial. Cancer 2019 Aug 15;125(16):2846-2855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.32143] [Medline: 31012970]
- 59. Gomersall SR, Skinner TL, Winkler E, Healy GN, Eakin E, Fjeldsoe B. Feasibility, acceptability and efficacy of a text message-enhanced clinical exercise rehabilitation intervention for increasing 'whole-of-day' activity in people living with and beyond cancer. BMC Public Health 2019 Jun 03;19(Suppl 2):542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6767-4] [Medline: 31159752]
- 60. Trinh L, Arbour-Nicitopoulos KP, Sabiston CM, Berry SR, Loblaw A, Alibhai SMH, et al. RiseTx: testing the feasibility of a web application for reducing sedentary behavior among prostate cancer survivors receiving androgen deprivation therapy. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2018 Jun 07;15(1):49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0686-0] [Medline: 29880049]
- 61. Visser M, Koster A. Development of a questionnaire to assess sedentary time in older persons a comparative study using accelerometry. BMC Geriatr 2013 Jul 30;13:80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-13-80] [Medline: 23899190]
- 62. Schmitz KH, Courneya KS, Matthews C, Demark-Wahnefried W, Galvão DA, Pinto BM, American College of Sports Medicine. American College of Sports Medicine roundtable on exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010 Jul;42(7):1409-1426. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181e0c112] [Medline: 20559064]
- 63. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program. National Cancer Institute. URL: <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/</u> [accessed 2020-02-23]
- 64. Bandura A. Social learning theory. Prentice Hall, N. J: Englewood Cliffs; 1977.
- 65. Bandura A. Social foundations of thought and action : a social cognitive theory. Prentice-Hall, N.J: Englewood Cliffs; 1986:A.
- 66. Gardiner PA, Eakin EG, Healy GN, Owen N. Feasibility of reducing older adults' sedentary time. Am J Prev Med 2011 Aug;41(2):174-177. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2011.03.020</u>] [Medline: <u>21767725</u>]
- 67. Tudor-Locke C, Craig CL, Aoyagi Y, Bell RC, Croteau KA, De Bourdeaudhuij I, et al. How many steps/day are enough? For older adults and special populations. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011 Jul 28;8:80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-80] [Medline: 21798044]
- 68. Buman MP, Winkler EAH, Kurka JM, Hekler EB, Baldwin CM, Owen N, et al. Reallocating time to sleep, sedentary behaviors, or active behaviors: associations with cardiovascular disease risk biomarkers, NHANES 2005-2006. Am J Epidemiol 2014 Feb 01;179(3):323-334. [doi: <u>10.1093/aje/kwt292</u>] [Medline: <u>24318278</u>]
- 69. Chastin SFM, Granat MH. Methods for objective measure, quantification and analysis of sedentary behaviour and inactivity. Gait Posture 2010 Jan;31(1):82-86. [doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2009.09.002] [Medline: 19854651]
- Kozey-Keadle S, Libertine A, Lyden K, Staudenmayer J, Freedson PS. Validation of wearable monitors for assessing sedentary behavior. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011 Aug;43(8):1561-1567. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820ce174</u>] [Medline: <u>21233777</u>]
- Grant PM, Ryan CG, Tigbe WW, Granat MH. The validation of a novel activity monitor in the measurement of posture and motion during everyday activities. Br J Sports Med 2006 Dec;40(12):992-997 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2006.030262] [Medline: 16980531]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819
```

- 72. Sellers C, Dall P, Grant M, Stansfield B. Validity and reliability of the activPAL3 for measuring posture and stepping in adults and young people. Gait Posture 2016 Jan;43:42-47. [doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2015.10.020] [Medline: 26669950]
- Lyden K, Keadle SK, Staudenmayer J, Freedson PS. The activPALTM accurately classifies activity intensity categories in healthy adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2017 May;49(5):1022-1028 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001177] [Medline: 28410327]
- 74. Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG, et al. A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol 1994 Mar;49(2):85-94. [doi: 10.1093/geronj/49.2.m85] [Medline: <u>8126356</u>]
- 75. George SM, Alfano CM, Wilder Smith A, Irwin ML, McTiernan A, Bernstein L, et al. Sedentary behavior, health-related quality of life, and fatigue among breast cancer survivors. J Phys Act Health 2013 Mar;10(3):350-358 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/jpah.10.3.350] [Medline: 22820125]
- 76. Balboa-Castillo T, León-Muñoz LM, Graciani A, Rodríguez-Artalejo F, Guallar-Castillón P. Longitudinal association of physical activity and sedentary behavior during leisure time with health-related quality of life in community-dwelling older adults. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2011 Jun 27;9:47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-9-47] [Medline: 21708011]
- 77. Baker F, Haffer SC, Denniston M. Health-related quality of life of cancer and noncancer patients in Medicare managed care. Cancer 2003 Feb 01;97(3):674-681 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.11085] [Medline: 12548610]
- 78. Walters SJ, Munro JF, Brazier JE. Using the SF-36 with older adults: a cross-sectional community-based survey. Age Ageing 2001 Jul;30(4):337-343. [doi: 10.1093/ageing/30.4.337] [Medline: 11509313]
- 79. Johnston RI. Quality Metric. URL: <u>https://www.qualitymetric.com/</u> [accessed 2021-04-07]
- 80. PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System. URL: <u>http://www.healthmeasures.net/</u> <u>explore-measurement-systems/promis/intro-to-promis</u> [accessed 2021-03-22]
- 81. FACIT Measurement System. URL: <u>https://www.facit.org/</u> [accessed 2021-03-22]
- Sangha O, Stucki G, Liang MH, Fossel AH, Katz JN. The Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire: a new method to assess comorbidity for clinical and health services research. Arthritis Rheum 2003 Apr 15;49(2):156-163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/art.10993] [Medline: 12687505]
- 83. Lyden K. Package 'activpalProcessing'. URL: <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/activpalProcessing/index.html</u> [accessed 2021-03-22]
- Edwardson CL, Yates T, Biddle SJH, Davies MJ, Dunstan DW, Esliger DW, et al. Effectiveness of the Stand More AT (SMArT) Work intervention: cluster randomised controlled trial. Br Med J 2018 Oct 10;363:- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.k3870] [Medline: 30305278]
- 85. Edwardson CL, Winkler EA, Bodicoat DH, Yates T, Davies MJ, Dunstan DW, et al. Considerations when using the activPAL monitor in field-based research with adult populations. J Sport Health Sci 2017 Jun;6(2):162-178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2016.02.002] [Medline: 30356601]
- Fitzsimons CF, Kirk A, Baker G, Michie F, Kane C, Mutrie N. Using an individualised consultation and activPALTM feedback to reduce sedentary time in older Scottish adults: results of a feasibility and pilot study. Prev Med 2013 Nov;57(5):718-720. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.07.017</u>] [Medline: <u>23891853</u>]
- Rosenberg DE, Gell NM, Jones SMW, Renz A, Kerr J, Gardiner PA, et al. The feasibility of reducing sitting time in overweight and obese older adults. Health Educ Behav 2015 Oct;42(5):669-676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1090198115577378] [Medline: 25794518]
- 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
 2018. URL: <u>http://fitnessmedicoitaliano.it/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ATTIVIT%C3%A0-FISICA-2018-LINEE-GUIDA.</u> pdf [accessed 2021-03-22]
- 89. Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Br J Sports Med 2020 Dec 25;54(24):1451-1462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955] [Medline: 33239350]
- 90. Hays RD, Morales LS. The RAND-36 measure of health-related quality of life. Ann Med 2001 Jul;33(5):350-357. [doi: 10.3109/07853890109002089] [Medline: 11491194]
- 91. Kwon S, Perera S, Pahor M, Katula JA, King AC, Groessl EJ, et al. What is a meaningful change in physical performance? Findings from a clinical trial in older adults (the LIFE-P study). J Nutr Health Aging 2009 Jun;13(6):538-544 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12603-009-0104-z] [Medline: 19536422]
- 92. Lyons EJ, Swartz MC, Lewis ZH, Martinez E, Jennings K. Feasibility and acceptability of a wearable technology physical activity intervention with telephone counseling for mid-aged and older adults: a randomized controlled pilot trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 06;5(3):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6967] [Medline: 28264796]
- 93. Wu HS, Gal R, van Sleeuwen NC, Brombacher AC, IJsselsteijn WA, May AM, et al. Breast cancer survivors' experiences with an activity tracker integrated into a supervised exercise program: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Feb 21;7(2):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10820] [Medline: 30789349]
- 94. Matson TE, Renz AD, Takemoto ML, McClure JB, Rosenberg DE. Acceptability of a sitting reduction intervention for older adults with obesity. BMC Public Health 2018 Jun 07;18(1):706 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5616-1] [Medline: 29879948]

- 95. Gardner B, Lally P, Wardle J. Making health habitual: the psychology of 'habit-formation' and general practice. Br J Gen Pract 2012 Dec;62(605):664-666 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp12X659466] [Medline: 23211256]
- Lally P, Wardle J, Gardner B. Experiences of habit formation: a qualitative study. Psychol Health Med 2011 Aug;16(4):484-489. [doi: <u>10.1080/13548506.2011.555774</u>] [Medline: <u>21749245</u>]
- 97. Matson TE, Anderson ML, Renz AD, Greenwood-Hickman MA, McClure JB, Rosenberg DE. Changes in self-reported health and psychosocial outcomes in older adults enrolled in sedentary behavior intervention study. Am J Health Promot 2019 Sep;33(7):1053-1057. [doi: 10.1177/0890117119841405] [Medline: 30957508]
- Lynch BM, Dunstan DW, Healy GN, Winkler E, Eakin E, Owen N. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time of breast cancer survivors, and associations with adiposity: findings from NHANES (2003-2006). Cancer Causes Control 2010 Feb;21(2):283-288. [doi: 10.1007/s10552-009-9460-6] [Medline: 19882359]
- 99. Lynch BM, Dunstan DW, Winkler E, Healy GN, Eakin E, Owen N. Objectively assessed physical activity, sedentary time and waist circumference among prostate cancer survivors: findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (2003-2006). Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2011 Jul;20(4):514-519. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2354.2010.01205.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20597954</u>]
- Dall PM, McCrorie PRW, Granat MH, Stansfield BW. Step accumulation per minute epoch is not the same as cadence for free-living adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2013 Oct;45(10):1995-2001. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182955780</u>] [Medline: <u>23568091</u>]
- 101. Stansfield B, Hajarnis M, Sudarshan R. Characteristics of very slow stepping in healthy adults and validity of the activPAL3[™] activity monitor in detecting these steps. Med Eng Phys 2015 Jan;37(1):42-47. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.medengphy.2014.10.003</u>] [Medline: <u>25455167</u>]
- 102. Brickwood KJ, Watson G, O'Brien J, Williams AD. Consumer-based wearable activity trackers increase physical activity participation: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 12;7(4):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11819] [Medline: 30977740]
- 103. Martin A, Fitzsimons C, Jepson R, Saunders DH, van der Ploeg HP, Teixeira PJ, EuroFIT consortium. Interventions with potential to reduce sedentary time in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med 2015 Aug;49(16):1056-1063. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2014-094524] [Medline: 25907181]
- 104. Prince SA, Saunders TJ, Gresty K, Reid RD. A comparison of the effectiveness of physical activity and sedentary behaviour interventions in reducing sedentary time in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. Obes Rev 2014 Nov;15(11):905-919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.12215] [Medline: 25112481]
- 105. Edwardson CL, Henson J, Biddle SJH, Davies MJ, Khunti K, Maylor B, et al. activPAL and Actigraph assessed sedentary behavior and cardiometabolic health markers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2020 Feb;52(2):391-397. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.00000000002138</u>] [Medline: <u>31479008</u>]
- 106. Swain CTV, Nguyen NH, Eagles T, Vallance JK, Boyle T, Lahart IM, et al. Postdiagnosis sedentary behavior and health outcomes in cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer 2020 Feb 15;126(4):861-869 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.32578] [Medline: <u>31714596</u>]
- 107. Chia GLC, Anderson A, McLean LA. Behavior change techniques incorporated in fitness trackers: content analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jul 23;7(7):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12768] [Medline: 31339101]

Abbreviations

CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials LPA: light-intensity physical activity MET: metabolic equivalent mHealth: mobile health MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity NIH: National Institutes of Health QoL: quality of life RCT: randomized controlled trial SF-36: Short Form 36-item survey SPPB: Short Physical Performance Battery



Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 20.03.20; peer-reviewed by L Trinh, KJ Brickwood, C Brakenridge; comments to author 07.08.20; revised version received 14.11.20; accepted 08.03.21; published 13.04.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Blair CK, Harding E, Wiggins C, Kang H, Schwartz M, Tarnower A, Du R, Kinney AY A Home-Based Mobile Health Intervention to Replace Sedentary Time With Light Physical Activity in Older Cancer Survivors: Randomized Controlled Pilot Trial JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e18819 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e18819 doi:10.2196/18819 PMID:33847588

©Cindy K Blair, Elizabeth Harding, Charles Wiggins, Huining Kang, Matthew Schwartz, Amy Tarnower, Ruofei Du, Anita Y Kinney. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 13.04.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Home-Based Telehealth Exercise Intervention in Early-On Survivors of Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Feasibility Study

Genevieve Lambert^{1,2}, BSc; Nathalie Alos^{1,3}, MD; Pascal Bernier¹, BSc, MA; Caroline Laverdière^{1,3}, MD; Dahlia Kairy^{4,5}, PhD; Kenneth Drummond^{2,6}, BSc; Noémi Dahan-Oliel^{7,8}, PhD; Martin Lemay^{1,9}, PhD; Louis-Nicolas Veilleux^{1,2,10}, PhD

¹Sainte-Justine University Health Center, Montreal, QC, Canada

³Département de Pédiatrie, Faculté de Médecine, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁶Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁷School of Physical & Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁸Shriners Hospital for Children - Canada, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁹Département des Sciences de l'Activité Physique, Faculté des Sciences, Université du Québec à Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada
¹⁰Motion Analysis Center, Shriners Hospital for Children - Canada, Montreal, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Louis-Nicolas Veilleux, PhD Motion Analysis Center Shriners Hospital for Children - Canada 1003 Decarie Blvd Montreal, QC, H4A 0A9 Canada Phone: 1 514 282 7175 Email: <u>In.veilleux@mcgill.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Acute lymphoblastic leukemia is the most common type of pediatric cancer. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia causes an altered bone mineral homeostasis state, which can contribute to osteopenia, and bone fractures, most commonly vertebral fractures. With the increasing number of childhood cancer survivors, late adverse effects such as musculoskeletal comorbidities are often reported and are further influenced by inactive lifestyle habits. Physical activity has been shown to increase the mechanical workload of the bone, mitigating bone impairment in other cancer-specific populations.

Objective: This interventional pilot study aims to investigate the use of telehealth to deliver a home-based exercise intervention for early-on survivors of bone marrow–related hematological malignancies and to assess its impact on survivors' musculoskeletal and functional health.

Methods: We aimed to recruit a group of 12 early-on survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia, within 6 months to 5 years of treatment, to participate in and complete the proposed telehealth intervention with a parent. The 16-week intervention included 40 potential home-based physical activity interventions supervised by a kinesiologist through a telehealth internet platform, with monthly progression. Patients were recruited to the cohort if they were able to participate in the intervention during the first month (minimum 12 weeks of intervention). Evaluation before and after the intervention protocol highlighted differences in functional capacities and musculoskeletal health of patients using mechanography, peripheral quantitative computed tomography, 6-minute walk test, and grip force test.

Results: The recruitment rate for the intervention was low (12/57, 21% of contacted patients). Of 12 patients, 3 were excluded (1=relapse, 1=failure to meet technical requirements, and 1=abandoned). The 9 patients who completed the intervention (6 girls; mean age 10.93, SD 2.83 years; mean BMI 21.58, SD 6.55 kg/m²; mean time since treatment completion 36.67, SD 16.37 months) had a mean adherence of 89% and a completion rate of 75%. In addition, these patients showed functional improvements in lower

²Department of Surgery-Division of Experimental Surgery, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁴École de Réadaptation, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁵Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada

limb muscle force and power as well as in the 6-minute walk test distance. Participants also showed improved bone health after the intervention on the following parameters: bone mineral content, stress-strain index, total and cortical cross-sectional area at the 14% site (P=.03, P=.01, P=.01, and P=.001, respectively) and 38% site of the tibia (P=.003, P=.04, P=.001, and P=.003, respectively).

Conclusions: High adherence and participation rates suggest that telehealth is a feasible method to deliver exercise interventions to young early-on survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. The proposed intervention seems promising in providing benefits to patients' functional performance and bone health, but a large-scale study is needed to confirm this assumption.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e25569) doi:10.2196/25569

KEYWORDS

exercise therapy; rehabilitation; acute lymphoblastic leukemia; intervention study; telehealth; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia is the most common type of cancer among the pediatric population. Over the past 50 years, the survival rates for pediatric hematological malignancies have increased significantly from nearly 0 to >80% because of the scientific advancements and improved therapeutic protocols [1]. Consequently, an increasing number of survivors are likely to experience long-term effects of the disease, treatment toxicities, and increased inactive lifestyles [2,3]. Furthermore, the specific immune cells at the origin of the acute lymphoblastic leukemia originate from stem cells in the bone marrow. Therefore, it is not surprising that the disease, treatments, and modified lifestyle habits contribute to comorbidities and late adverse effects of the musculoskeletal system in long-term survivors [4]. Among these comorbidities, a decrease in muscle strength [5], bone mass [6,7], and an increased prevalence of vertebral fractures [8,9] have been reported. These musculoskeletal adverse effects can be apparent on initial diagnosis, increase in severity during the acute phase of treatment [9], and remain present [10] or appear during remission [11] and survival [12,13].

Physical activity and exercise provide physiological and mechanical stimulation that are beneficial for muscle and bone health [14] and the cardiovascular system [15]. Specific types of exercises, such as plyometric (defined as high impact, eg, jumping) and resistance exercises, have been shown to decrease bone impairments in other cancer populations with bone-specific deficits (breast cancer and prostate cancer) [16]. Therefore, an exercise rehabilitation intervention administered to early-on survivors of hematological malignancies, with plyometric and resistance exercises aiming at improving muscle function and bone strength, could limit the musculoskeletal late adverse effects reported in long-term survivors.

Medical follow-up visits for survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia are generally performed 1-4 times per year in pediatric oncology centers, limiting the feasibility of an in-clinic exercise intervention. In this regard, studies have shown that patients and survivors would rather exercise at home, school, or a fitness club, than at a hospital or physiotherapy clinic [17,18]. For these reasons, home-based exercise interventions are considered the most appropriate intervention method for this population. Only a few studies have addressed the effects of home-based exercise

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569

RenderX

interventions on muscle function of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in maintenance or early-on survivorship, with equivocal results. In a study by Tanir and Kuguoglu [19], a home-based physical exercise intervention was provided to the patients for 3 months, with muscle strength, aerobic, and stretching exercises. The results showed significant improvements in flexibility and muscle and cardiopulmonary functions. Similarly, a study by Esbenshade et al [20] yielded similar results for a 6-month home-based exercise intervention. In contrast, studies by Marchese et al [21] and Hartman et al [22] showed only minor improvements in muscle function (increased knee extensors and ankle dorsiflexor strength) and no improvement in cardiopulmonary function [21] and bone health [22]. Both studies that showed significant improvements in physical fitness, that is, the studies by Tanir and Kuguoglu [19] and Esbenshade et al [20], reported a high adherence rate (mean 82%, SD 7%), whereas the studies by Marchese et al [21] and Hartman et al [22] reported low adherence rates. Taken together, the results of these studies suggest that patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the maintenance or early-on survivorship can benefit from a home-based exercise intervention but that high adherence rates are required to achieve significant improvements in the musculoskeletal system.

Adherence rates tend to be lower in the absence of supervision in home-based exercise interventions. For example, both studies (Marchese et al [21] and Hartman et al [22]) that showed minimal or no effect of the home-based exercise intervention reported a minimal follow-up approach (between biweekly and monthly phone calls with the sole objective to assess adherence), likely resulting in the reported low adherence rates. In contrast, both studies that showed improvements following the home-based exercise intervention had set up a stringent supervision (weekly or biweekly follow-up calls to discuss factors of adherence), resulting in high adherence rates [19,20]. In this regard, a recent literature review suggests that home-based exercise interventions with telehealth supervision improve adherence rates compared with no supervision [23] because of patients receiving positive reinforcement [24], improving on the exercise technique [24] and feeling self-efficient [25]. Another potential positive impact of supervision is the greater overall volume of exercise achieved during individual sessions, which can be associated with better structured and controlled exercised sessions under supervision compared with no supervision [26]. These observations suggest that supervision by health care providers during home-based

exercise training may help patients achieve higher adherence rates and obtain additional benefits compared with no or minimal supervision.

Telehealth is defined as a method of delivering health interventions (eg, physical activity, nutritional, and psychological counseling) or follow-ups from a remote location through information technologies (eg, the internet). The research field associated with telehealth has experienced significant growth over the past 10 years, leading to an exponential increase in its application in light of the current COVID-19 global pandemic. Over the past decade, telehealth has been shown to be efficient in achieving high adherence rates compared with traditional home-based exercise intervention in patients with musculoskeletal, neurological, cardiorespiratory, and various other conditions [27,28]. However, to our knowledge, this study is the first to report the feasibility of implementing a home-based exercise intervention with telehealth supervision in early-on survivors of pediatric cancer.

Objectives

The primary aim of this study is to assess the feasibility of implementing a home-based exercise intervention with telehealth-based supervision for early-on survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Telehealth can be administered using various technologies. Desktops, laptops, tablets, and smartphones have the ability to provide and receive telehealth services. Although tablets and laptops provide mobility options compared with a desktop solution, this study was designed to favor accessibility; therefore, families could select the technology of their choice to receive the intervention, be it a fixed desktop or a mobile phone and tablet. In addition, as having companions for exercising has been identified as a facilitating element in adherence [17], we grouped patient-parent pairs with one or two other pairs. The feasibility of the pilot intervention was evaluated by assessing the completion and adherence rate of patients, in addition to the occurrence of training adaptation because of participants' pain and adverse events. It is hypothesized that direct supervision, possible through telehealth technologies, will lead to an adherence rate of 80% and a completion rate of 75% [15]. The secondary aim of this study is to explore the effects of the intervention on functional performance, muscle function, and bone health. It is hypothesized that the intervention will lead to improvements in musculoskeletal and cardiopulmonary function.

Methods

Study Design and Recruitment

This prospective pre- and postintervention cohort pilot study was initiated in 2018 at Sainte-Justine University Health Center to assess the feasibility of home-based exercise interventions in early-on survivors of hematological bone marrow–related malignancies who have been treated under Dana-Farber Cancer Institute–acute lymphoblastic leukemia 2005 or 2011 protocols. As the research design was a pilot interventional study, no sample size calculation was made, and a convenience sample of 10 participants for intervention completion was set as the aim. The initial inclusion criteria were diagnosis of acute lymphoblastic leukemia or B lymphoblastic lymphoma, age

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569
```

between 6 and 18 years, and within 6 months to 5 years of treatment completion. Exclusion criteria were unresolved fractures, unresolved avascular osteonecrosis, and bone marrow transplantation as part of their treatment; physical or functional impairment at the time of recruitment was excluded. If patients had no or unstable internet connection, they would further be excluded. Owing to recruitment challenges for the first cohort, a first amendment was submitted to the ethical review board to increase the oldest age of eligibility from 10 to 14 years. Owing to recruitment challenges for the second cohort, a subsequent amendment was submitted to further increase the age range from 6 to 18 years, in addition to modifying the criterion of time since treatment completion from 6 months to 2 years to 6 months to 5 years. Patients could be included in the cohort if they participated in the exercise intervention within the first month of the intervention to receive between 12 and 16 weeks of the intervention.

Patients were screened for eligibility by the hematology oncology service medical team (nurses and physicians) at Sainte-Justine University Health Center.

Healthy age- and sex-matched participants were retrospectively included as controls for muscle function and bone analyses. Owing to the retrospective nature of this cohort, participants in the control group were not subjected to the intervention, and muscle and bone data were available at only one time point. These controls were drawn from our local historical database, including healthy siblings of patients and children of hospital staff who were part of a previous study. Control participants were selected based only on sex and age to avoid any selection bias, for example, in selecting patients that would decrease the difference between controls and patients in muscle and bone parameters.

The Sainte-Justine University Health Center institutional review board approved this study (2018-1555: e-S@@VIE). Parents of patients aged <18 years provided signed informed consent, and patients aged between 6 and 17 years provided informed consent. Families were contacted via phone to provide details of the project and check for interest. If they were interested in the study, a baseline evaluation was performed.

Study Procedures

The study procedure was divided into the following four phases: (1) baseline evaluation, (2) home-based visit, (3) intervention, and (4) postintervention evaluation.

Baseline Evaluation

After informed consent or assent was provided, patients completed baseline (and postintervention) measurements at 2 pediatric health care centers in the Montreal area: Sainte-Justine University Health Center and Shriners Hospital for Children, Canada. The baseline and postintervention visit schedule followed the same pattern: at Sainte-Justine University Health Center, weight and height of the patients were measured, and 6-minute walk test (6MWT), upper limb grip force test, and lower limb mechanography were evaluated. All participants were assessed by the same trained evaluator (GL). At Shriners Hospital for Children, patients underwent bone imaging testing (peripheral quantitative computed tomography [pQCT]).

Home-Based Visit

Following the baseline evaluation, a kinesiologist visited the families at their homes to help them prepare for the intervention. The kinesiologist delivered the following materials to the patients: an exercise step, a training elastic, a weighted 5-pound ball, and a training watch (Polar A370, Polar Electro Oy 2020, Polar FlowSync 3.0.0.1337) and its charger. At the same time, an assessment was performed for the suitability and safety of the space (1.8 m² of free space required). Support was provided for the installation of the software (for the watch and the videoconferencing system) on their own technologies (tablet, laptop, and computer) [29].

Intervention

All home-based exercise interventions were performed using a teleconferencing system (Zoom license Pro, Zoom Video Communications, Inc) with a kinesiologist at the hospital center and the study patients and their parents in their homes. This system was chosen because it provides encrypted communication between the kinesiologist and the families, which is compliant with the Canadian federal law about the privacy of companies, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act. Families were sent an email 24 hours before every training with the link to connect to the virtual meeting room for their respective group. Interventions were live interactions that enabled direct supervision and immediate correction or adaptation of the exercise intervention when needed (for safety purposes). Study patients were divided into three groups of two families and two groups of three families based on language (English or French), age, and availability. Three cohorts were supervised at different time points (May-August 2018, January-April 2019, and September-December 2019). The original 16-week intervention included a progression every 4 weeks. Weeks 1-4 involved two sessions of 35 minutes per week. There was an additional 5 minutes of training per session during weeks 5-8, that is, two sessions of 40 minutes per week. During weeks 9-12, one session was added every week, that is, three sessions of 40 minutes per week. Finally, during weeks 13-16, an additional 5 minutes was added to each of the three sessions per week, bringing the duration to 45 minutes per session [30]. For the first 8 weeks, the training sessions were held on weekday evenings, and for the last 8 weeks, a third training session was added either on weekday evenings or on a weekend day. The general organization of a training session was as follows: a 5-minute warm-up, followed by whole-body resistance exercises (of progressive duration through the 16-week intervention), and finally, 5-minute stretching. The resistance exercises part of the training consisted of whole-body exercises (eg, push-ups, squats, and deadlifts) combined with plyometric exercises (eg, drop jumps, hopping, and jumping lunges). The training sessions and exercises were adapted according to the participants' pain reports. Pain was evaluated at the beginning and end of the session, as well as during sessions when pain was present at the beginning of the session. Pain was rated on a scale from 0 to 10 (Numerical Rating Scale-11 [31]), a description of the perception of pain (sensation and location) and its evolution through time and movement. The adaptations were personalized according to the location and intensity of the pain. For example,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569
```

patients with moderate knee pain would not do impact exercises such as *high-knees jogging* but would do low impact exercises such as *walking* or no impact exercises with *chair squats* or *calves raise* instead.

Postintervention Evaluation

The same evaluations assessed at baseline were performed at the end of the home-based exercise intervention, in the same context as the baseline evaluation.

Outcome Measures

Primary Endpoints: Feasibility

To determine the feasibility of administering a home-based intervention through telehealth to this population, recruitment rate, reasons for declining participation, the mean adherence rate and the completion rate to the intervention were computed. The recruitment rate was defined as the number of consented patients divided by the contacted potential patients. The adherence rate was defined as the number of sessions attended by the patients divided by the total number of possible sessions. Individual reasons for missing sessions have been reported. In addition, the specific information technologies (tablet, mobile phone, or computers) used for the interventions were reported for each household. Completion rate was defined as the number of patients who completed the intervention divided by the total number of patients who consented. The total number of training sessions with modified exercises owing to participant's pain was recorded. Finally, the nature and extent of adverse events during the training sessions were assessed by the kinesiologist according to the type and severity of events defined as potentially sequelae in a study by Ory et al [32].

Secondary Endpoints: Functional Performance and Bone Health

Muscle Parameters: Mechanography and Grip Force Test

Mechanography is a technique developed to investigate lower limb muscle function using a ground reaction force–measuring platform (Leonardo Mechanograph Ground Reaction Force Plate; Novotec Medical GmbH). Forces were recorded over time at a sampling rate of 800 Hz. All parameters reported here were derived from these force-time data using proprietary software (Leonardo Mechanography GRFP Research Edition software, version 4.2-b05.53-RES; Novotec Medical GmbH).

In total, two tests were performed using mechanography: the single two-legged jump (S2LJ) test for maximal power and the multiple two-legged hopping (M2LH) test for maximal force. The methodology is described in detail elsewhere [33,34]. Briefly, the S2LJ is a countermovement jump, and maximal power (kW) and maximal relative power (W/kg) are the main outcome parameters for this test. The M2LH test consists of hopping on the forefeet with stiff knees and without the heels touching the ground (similar to rope skipping). The M2LH provides information on the near-maximal ground reaction forces during eccentric contraction generated by patients. Relative muscle force (calculated in multiples of body weight) has been identified as the main parameter of this objective, as it is strongly associated with bone strength [35]. The participants were asked to perform three trials for each test. A trial for the

S2LJ consists of performing one jump, whereas a trial for M2LH consists of 10 consecutive hops. If the trials were not performed properly, an additional two trials were attributed to acquiring three valid test results. The trials with the highest peak power and peak force for S2LJ and M2LH, respectively, were selected for analysis.

The grip force test was performed using a handgrip dynamometer (Jamar Hand Dynamometer, Jamar Technology Inc.), which evaluates the maximal isometric force of the upper limb muscles. The patients were instructed to stand, feet shoulder-width apart, with arms in a neutral resting position on both sides of the body. They were then given a dynamometer that had previously been adjusted to an individual patient's hand. Finally, patients were instructed to press the handle as hard as possible until they were told otherwise. The test was performed on one arm at a time; both sides were repeated twice, and the best result of both sides was selected as the participant's result. The dynamometer provides force data in kilograms, and the evaluator was instructed to round the result to the nearest kilogram [36]. Scores were calculated based on grip force test reference data to compare the patients' results with a healthy sex- and age-specific population [37].

Cardiopulmonary Function: 6MWT

The 6MWT evaluates the ability of an individual to maintain a moderate level of physical activity over a 6-minute period [38]. Therefore, the result of the 6MWT is a reflection of the patient's daily activities [39]. The 6MWT correlates significantly with maximal oxygen uptake in typically developing children as well as in patients and survivors. This indicates that these two tests measure related functional capacities [39-41]. Study patients followed the instructions from the American Journal Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine published guidelines (2002): to walk back and forth in a hallway between two cones distanced by 30 m for 6 minutes as fast as possible at a pace that would make them tired by the end of the walk; encouragement and feedback are given every minute. During the test, patients were allowed to rest if needed. Expected results equations are available for calculating the percentage of age- and sex-specific norms [42]. The 6MWT has been shown to be reliable and valid in typically developing children (2-4 weeks apart between test and retest) and obese children (same-day test-retest), with a reliability reported from 0.73 to 0.949 [40,43]. Expected results were used to compare the results of the patients with a healthy sex- and age-specific population (equations to predict the 6-minute walk distance in children and adolescents [42]).

Bone Health: pQCT

pQCT was performed on the left tibia, unless there was a medical history of fracture of the bone, using the Stratec XCT2000 (Stratec Inc). This method is described in detail elsewhere [44,45]. The lower leg was scanned at 4% (metaphysis and trabecular bone), 14% (metaphyseal-diaphyseal transition site and cortical bone), 38% (diaphyseal transition site and cortical bone), and 66% (muscle parameters scan and midsection of the gastrocnemius muscles, therefore being the largest outer calf diameter [46]) of tibia length, measured as the distance from the reference line. The tomography images were then ranked using the movement artifact scale from 1 to 5, 1 being

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569
```

XSL•FO RenderX an image without the artifact and 5 being there was too much movement to have a proper image. Scans scoring ≤ 3 were deemed usable. If the scan scored 4 or 5, the test was redone [47].

The main bone outcome parameters of pQCT analysis were measured at the 4%, 14%, and 38% sites of the tibia length, with 4% being the distal part of the tibia. The following parameters were measured: total bone cross-sectional area (CSA; mm²), cortical bone CSA excluding marrow space (mm²), bone mineral content (BMC) per millimeter of cross-sectional slice thickness (mg/mm), total volumetric bone mineral density (vBMD; mg/cm³), trabecular CSA (mm²; 4% site only), trabecular vBMD (mg/cm³; 4% site only), cortical vBMD (mg/cm³), and polar stress-strain index (SSI; assessed as a surrogate of bone strength; mm³). The two main pQCT muscle outcome parameters were measured at the 66% site: muscle CSA (unit: mm²; 66% site) and muscle density (unit: mg/cm³; 66% site) [32].

Statistical Analysis

As this study was a pilot study to investigate the feasibility, no sample size calculation was performed. The normality of the data was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test (n=9) [48]. The means and SDs were reported when the data were normally distributed, and the median and range were reported when the normality assumption was violated.

To assess feasibility, recruitment, completion, and adherence rates were analyzed. A one-sample Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed on the adherence rate of patients with a set threshold of 80%, based on the hypothesis. The threshold was based on a study involving home-based distance-delivery exercise interventions administered to patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in remission, which showed an 80% adherence rate for a 75% completion rate [15].

To determine the effect of the exercise intervention on patients' functional and musculoskeletal health, pre- and postintervention test results from the pQCT, mechanography, grip force, and 6MWT were compared using the paired-samples two-tailed ttest when the data were normally distributed and the related-sample Wilcoxon signed-rank test when they were not. In addition to these pre- to postanalyses, postintervention results of pQCT, mechanography, and grip force [37] were compared with sex- and age-matched typically developing controls using independent-samples t tests (for normally distributed parameters) and the independent-samples Mann-Whitney U test (for parameters not normally distributed). Additional analysis included a one-sample t test analysis to determine if the mechanography results were clinically significant by comparing patients' change in lower limb muscle function with the minimal detectable difference reported by Veilleux et al [33]. For the 6MWT, an independent-samples t test was performed on the distance traveled after the intervention and expected distance of the 6MWT from sex- and age-related calculations [42]. Patients' changes in 6MWT distance were compared in a one-sample t test analysis with the SE of 15 m reported by Li

et al [40] to establish if the results were deemed clinically significant.

To assess the muscle-bone functional unit, a Spearman correlation was performed for nonnormally distributed parameters. The correlation between maximal force (absolute; N) and BMC at 14% of the tibia was established for both preand postintervention patient-related data as well as for the typically developing controls [35].

All statistical tests were performed using Predictive Analytics Software Statistics software version 24.0 (SPSS Inc), with the CI and significance level preset at 95% and .05, respectively.

Results

Feasibility and Baseline Characteristics

The recruitment flowchart is shown in Figure 1. A total of 104 patients aged 6-17.1 years within 5 years of complete remission were considered as potential participants. Of the 57 potential participants who were contacted, 12 patients (21%; 9 girls) provided informed consent or assent (Table 1 provides participant clinical information). The specific motive to decline participation was recorded in 27% (12/45) of refusals: parents' overloaded schedules (n=2); the patients were deemed too active by their parents, as they engaged in other physical activities multiple times per week (n=4); the patients did not want to come to the hospital for the evaluation (n=2); or the patients did not find the idea of an organized training session interesting (n=3).

Figure 1. Recruitment process flowchart; n represents the number of individuals in the sampling; n_{Σ} represents the summation of all potential participants at that timepoint.





Table 1. Clinical information.

Anthropometric and clinical parameters	Baseline (n=9)	Postintervention (n=9)	Controls (n=9)
Age (years), median (range)	9.17 (8-14.5)	9.5 (8.25-15.1)	9.87 (7.48-14.72)
Sex (female), n (%)	6 (75)	6 (75)	6 (75)
Height (cm), mean (SD)	143.27 (23.63)	145.19 (23.63)	146.03 (17.54)
Weight (kg), mean (SD)	46.92 (24.67)	47.88 (24.92)	40.71 (11.64)
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	21.58 (6.55)	21.46 (6.53)	18.83 (3.39)
Diagnosis, n (%)			
Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	8 (89)	a	N/A ^b
Lymphoblastic lymphoma	1 (11)	_	N/A
Prognosis, (SR:HR:VHR) ^c	6:2:1	_	N/A
Time since end of treatment (months), mean (SD)	36.67 (16.37)	_	N/A
Recurrence, n (%)	1 (11)	_	N/A
Treatment protocol, n (%)			
DFCI-ALL ^d 2005	2 (22)	_	N/A
DFCI-ALL 2011	7 (77)	_	N/A
Cumulative dose of glucocorticoids			
Dexamethasone, median (range)	352 (256-870)	_	N/A
Prednisone, median (range)	390 (252-2199)	_	N/A
Cranial radiotherapy, n (%)	1 (11)	_	N/A
Duration of hospitalization during treatments (days), mean (SD)	45 (13)	_	N/A
Musculoskeletal comorbidities during treatments, n (%)			
Vertebral fracture	4 (44)	_	N/A
Osteonecrosis	1 (11)	_	N/A
Nonvertebral fracture	2 (22)	_	N/A
Osteoporosis	4 (44)	_	N/A
Low bone mineral density	8 (89)	_	N/A
Received bisphosphonates, n (%)	4 (44)	_	N/A
Cumulative dose of zoledronic acid, median (range)	3.13 (1.70-4.05)	_	N/A
Other comorbidities during treatments, n (%)			
Thrombosis	4 (44)	_	N/A
Neuropathy	1 (11)	_	N/A
Home distance from health care center (round trip; km), median (range)	66 (7-72)	—	N/A

^aNot reported.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cSR:HR:VHR: standard risk:high risk:very high risk.

^dDFCI-ALL: Dana-Faber Cancer Institute-acute lymphoblastic leukemia treatment regimen.

Of the 12 enrolled patients, 9 patients completed the 12- to 16-week intervention and had complete pre- and postintervention data sets, representing a 75% completion rate (Figure 1). Of the 12 patients, 3 did not complete the final evaluation because of technical issues (poor internet connection, n=1), relapse (n=1), or dropped out because of lack of interest (n=1). Of the 9 patients who completed the intervention, 5 had 40 potential training sessions and the others had 31, 32, 34, and 38 potential

training sessions. Overall, the group's median for adherence rate was 95% (range 70-98; P=.04), that is, an average of 33 sessions attended on 37 possible sessions. All participants required adaptations due to pain, on average, for 16 sessions (range 14-27), representing 48% of the training done. Table 2 illustrates the reasons for missing a training session and the overall proportion it represents.

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 2.	Reasons for	participants'	absences to the	exercise	sessions	(n=35)) ^a
						· · · ·	

Reason of absence	Values, n (%)
Patient acute musculoskeletal pain	6 (17)
Patients' comorbidities or infections (eg, asthma or pneumonia)	8 (23)
Patients' sickness (eg, cold, fever, flu, and so on)	10 (29)
Parents' unavailabilities	3 (8)
Patients' other activities (eg, school-related activities, sports, and so on)	6 (17)
Technical failure	2 (6)

^aThe total of missed sessions is 35 out of 335; the values presented as the absolute number of absence and their relative weights according to their respective reasons for absence.

With regard to the information technology used to receive the telehealth intervention, one family used a desktop computer connected to their television, resulting in a fixed setup; two families used a tablet; and six families used a laptop for interventions. Of the six households that used a laptop, three connected the device to the television to allow for a larger screen view. Mobile technology was also used outside home settings (ie, at the hotel during family vacation: n=2; at the house of family members such as divorced parents, grandparents, uncles, or aunts: n=3; or to benefit from outdoor settings: n=1). The kinesiologist provided most of the sessions within the hospital setting using a fixed system, except for six training sessions delivered outside hospital settings using mobile technology (laptop) for 2 weeks while on conference travel abroad.

The kinesiologist reported four occurrences of mild adverse events over 300 training sessions. The events were intervention related and resulted from falls (n=2) or missteps (n=2). All patients were able to resume training within minutes after the

event had occurred. None of the patients had lasting effects, and it did not prevent patients from participating in any of the following sessions.

Functional Performance and Bone Health

Muscle Parameters

All functional performance parameters are reported in Table 3, except for relative maximal force and power of the lower limb, as illustrated in Figures 2 and 3. Lower limb muscle function showed a significant increase from pre- to postintervention for relative maximal force (11%; Figure 2), in addition to absolute (11%) and relative maximal power (9%; Figure 3). The absolute force data of the lower limbs showed no significant difference between pre- and postintervention. The analyses comparing postintervention mechanographic data of study patients with typically developing controls showed no significant difference for both relative force (P=.76) and relative power (P=.08).

Outcome	Baseline evaluation (n=9)	Postintervention evaluation (n=9)	Controls or expected results (n=9)	P value ^a	P value ^b
Mechanographic parameters					
Absolute force (kN) ^c	1.17 (0.96-4.06)	1.60 (1.08-3.72)	1.63 (1.02-2.63)	.10	.73
Absolute power (kW) ^c	0.97 (0.66-3.03)	1.07 (0.72-3.14)	1.57 (0.95-2.73)	.008 ^d	.73
Hand dynamometer					
Grip test right (kg)	16.6 (8.4)	17.3 (7.7)	e	.50	.16 ^f
Grip test left (kg)	14.6 (8.7)	15.6 (7.7)	—	.52	.21 ^f
6-minute walking test distance (m)	593 (100)	646 (97)	598 (43)	.01	.90

 ^{a}P values of paired-sample t test and Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranked test comparing baseline and postintervention evaluations.

^bP values of independent-samples t test and independent-samples Mann-Whitney U test comparing postintervention with control data.

^cParameters not normally distributed.

Table 3. Functional outcomes.

^dItalicized *P* values denote significance (P < .05).

^eNot available.

fP value of the paired-sample t test of the grip strength Z-scores comparing baseline and postintervention evaluations.



Figure 2. Box and whisker plots of the mechanography results; relative maximal muscle force at baseline, postintervention, and for controls. The "*" indicates paired-sample *t* test comparing baseline and postintervention data, significant at P=.05.



Figure 3. Box and whisker plots of the mechanography results; relative maximal muscle power at baseline, postintervention evaluation, and for sexand age-matched controls. The "**" indicates paired-sample *t* test comparing baseline and postintervention data, significant at *P*=.002.



Absolute upper limb isometric grip force showed no significant difference between the pre- and postintervention results. Isometric grip force results showed that patients had lower grip force than normal (average *z* score right hand: preintervention -1.06, SD 0.66, *P*=.001; postintervention -0.73, SD 0.94, *P*=.05; and average *z* score left hand: preintervention -1.63, SD 0.86, *P*<.001; postintervention -1.19, SD 0.97, *P*=.006) compared with age and sex reference data. Patients showed a trend toward improvement in isometric grip force from pre- to postintervention (right: 7% and left: 18%), but it did not reach significance (right: *P*=.16 and left: *P*=.21).

Cardiopulmonary Function

Regarding cardiopulmonary function (Table 3), the results of the 6MWT showed a significant increase of 10% in the distance walked from pre- to postintervention. To test whether the increase was clinically significant, a one-sample Wilcoxon signed-rank test analysis showed that the median improvement of 40 m (range 7-159) was significantly different from the threshold of 15 m suggested as the minimal clinically

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569
```

RenderX

meaningful difference (P=.003) [40]. The comparison between the postintervention average distance walked and the reference values was not significant. The preintervention data were not compared with reference values but would most likely not differ because the preintervention walked distance was within the normal range (593 m walked, SD 107 m vs 598 m, SD 43 m).

Bone Health

The pre- and postintervention pQCT bone parameter data are shown in Table 4. A significant increase in the following parameters was reported: cortical CSA increased by 4% (14% site; P=.001) and 3% (38% site; P=.003) and total CSA increased by 2% and 4% at the 14% site (P=.01) and 38% site (P=.001), respectively. A 6% and 4% increase in SSI was also observed at the 14% site and 38% site (P=.001 and P=.04), respectively. BMC increased significantly by 4% at the 14% site (P=.02) and 38% site (P=.003). No other pQCT bone parameters showed significant differences between pre- and postintervention evaluations. To ascertain that changes in bone parameters were associated with exercise training and not

entirely to growth, we performed supplementary bivariate correlations between changes in height and weight and changes in bone parameters. No significant association was found between any growth-associated factors and bone parameters (height vs bone CSA at 14%, P=.36; height vs bone CSA at 38%, P=.28; height vs cortical CSA at 38%, P=.74; body weight vs bone CSA at 14%, P=.75; body weight vs bone CSA at 38%, P=.11; body weight vs cortical CSA at 38%, P=.19), suggesting that changes in bone parameters were associated with the mechanical workload of the exercise interventions rather than with growth itself. The comparison of postintervention bone parameters between patients and paired controls revealed that the only bone parameters that were significantly different from controls at the postintervention evaluation were total CSA at the 4% site, which was 21.2% (P=.01) larger in patients than

in controls, and the SSI at the 14% site, which was 7% (P=.007) greater in patients than in controls. No other bone-related significant differences were observed between patients and controls.

The pQCT analysis showed that muscle density, evaluated at the postintervention assessment, was 5% lower (P=.05) in patients than in typically developing controls. However, muscle density did not change after the intervention.

For the muscle-bone functional unit (Figure 4), there was a significant positive relationship between absolute peak force and BMC at 14% at preintervention (P=.01), at postintervention (P=.004), and for controls (P=.007). The slopes were similar for both patient slopes within 10% of the controls.



Lambert et al

Table 4. Bone health parameters assessed with peripheral quantitative computed tomography.

Muscle and bone health parameters	Baseline evaluation	Postintervention evaluation	Controls	P value ^a	P value ^b
Calf muscle (n=8) ^c					
Muscle CSA ^d (mm ²) ^e , median (range)	3503 (2687-7222)	3606 (2766-6921)	4618 (2966-6828)	.26	.86
Muscle density (mg/cm ³), mean (SD)	68.7 (4.0)	68.6 (3.3)	71.9 (1.8)	.97	.05 ^f
Tibia 4% site (n=9)					
Total CSA (mm ²), mean (SD)	819 (325)	830 (332)	675 (227)	.12	.01
Total BMC ^g (mg/mm), mean (SD)	234 (99)	239 (103)	207 (58)	.17	.10
Total vBMD ^h (mg/cm ³), mean (SD)	289.46 (37)	289 (32)	312 (31)	.98	.14
Trabecular vBMD (mg/cm ³), mean (SD)	218.92 (38)	216 (38)	212 (19)	.53	.77
Tibia 14% site (n=8) ^c					
Total CSA ^e (mm ²), median (range)	341 (188-517)	349 (194-528)	294 (188-406)	.01	.38
Total BMC ^e (mg/mm), median (range)	170 (104-268)	175 (112-272)	188 (111-222)	.03	.72
Cortical CSA (mm ²), mean (SD)	120 (44)	124 (44)	133 (34)	.001	.68
Cortical vBMD (mg/cm ³), mean (SD)	1000 (32)	1004 (30)	994 (50)	.26	.62
SSI ⁱ (mm ³), mean (SD)	891 (510)	932 (519)	837 (310)	.001	.007
Tibia 38% site (n=9)					
Total CSA (mm ²), mean (SD)	292 (116)	301 (116)	282 (85)	.001	.47
Total BMC (mg/mm), mean (SD)	222 (78)	229 (79)	233 (62)	.003	.89
Cortical CSA (mm ²), mean (SD)	191 (70)	198 (71)	206 (53)	.003	.86
Cortical vBMD ^e (mg/cm ³), median (range)	1056 (927-1088)	1045 (930-1096)	1036 (959-1094)	.86	.80
SSI (mm ³), mean (SD)	906 (498)	939 (507)	948 (387)	.04	.37

^a*P* values of paired-sample *t* test and Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranked test comparing baseline and postintervention parameters.

 ^{b}P values of independent-samples t test and independent-samples Mann-Whitney U test comparing postintervention data with age- and sex-matched controls' data.

^cOne peripheral quantitative computed tomography scan removed due to movement artifact.

^dCSA: cross-sectional area.

^eParameters not normally distributed.

^fItalicized values indicates significance of *P*<.05.

^gBMC: bone mineral content.

^hvBMD: volumetric bone mineral density.

ⁱSSI: stress-strain index.



Figure 4. Muscle force and bone strength relationship. Linear correlation between bone mineral content (mg/mm) at the 14% site and muscle force (kN) as a function of the disease status (early-on survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia vs age- and sex-matched controls) and testing phase (baseline vs postintervention). Light gray line and white squares depict baseline acute lymphoblastic leukemia data; black line and squares depict postintervention acute lymphoblastic leukemia data. Dark gray line and circles depict age- and sex-matched controls data. Blue line depicts theoretical control muscle-bone relationship.



Discussion

Principal Findings

The primary objective of this study was to assess the feasibility of administering a supervised telehealth home-based exercise intervention for early-on survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. The hypothesis was confirmed, and the approach was deemed feasible, as demonstrated by the 75% completion rate and mean adherence rate of 89%. The secondary objective of this study was to explore the benefits of exercise interventions on functional outcomes and bone health parameters. In line with our exploratory hypothesis, an improvement in lower limb muscle function and bone health parameters was observed between pre- and postintervention evaluations.

Feasibility

Compared with an unsupervised home-based exercise intervention, the adherence and completion rates (89% and 75%, respectively) reported in this study are high [15], suggesting that direct supervision contributes to a high adherence rate. These numbers are similar to those reported by Esbenshade et al [20], who reported adherence rates of 81% and completion rates of 71%. This study and a study by Esbenshade et al [20] showed similar improvements in muscle and cardiopulmonary function. In the study by Esbenshade et al [20], direct supervision was not provided, but weekly follow-up phone calls were made. Direct supervision has many advantages that can lead to increased adherence and participation rates [23]. Receiving positive reinforcement [24], improving exercise technique [24], and feeling self-efficient [25] are all benefits associated with increased adherence and, indirectly, health benefits. Another positive impact of supervision is the greater overall volume of exercise achieved during individual sessions, which can be associated with better structured and controlled exercised sessions under supervision compared with no supervision or phone call follow-up [26]. In this study, having

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569
```

direct supervision might have led to more efficient training because many sessions needed exercise adaptations because of patient pain. Being able to adjust the exercises to avoid pain in real time may have prevented injuries that may have prevented a decrease in participation and adherence rates. According to our data, the high proportion of training that required adaptation for pain management would suggest the need for direct supervision for safety purposes for this specific patient population prone to musculoskeletal-related pain [49,50].

A favorable aspect of the telehealth approach used in this study is that patients showed similar improvement in musculoskeletal and cardiopulmonary functions as in other studies using indirect supervision (phone calls and video recordings of the exercises to be performed) but with lower volume and frequency. In a study by Tanir and Kuguoglu [19], muscle function training was required 3 days per week, 3 times per day, in addition to 3 times per week, once a day of aerobic training, whereas in a study by Esbenshade et al [20], resistance training was required three times per week and aerobic training was required three times per week, for a total training time ranging between 3.5 and 5.25 hours per week. In comparison, the weekly amount of time devoted to training in our study reached a maximum of 2.25 hours (3×45 min). Taken together, this suggests that having a qualified kinesiologist supervising the training sessions improves the efficiency with which the patients are performing the training [26].

Functional Performance and Bone Health

Although this study aimed to evaluate feasibility, it was hypothesized that improvements would be observed for muscle, bone, and cardiopulmonary fitness parameters. Regarding muscle parameters, a previous study in a patient population showing similar muscle weaknesses established [33] the minimal detectable difference to be of 0.42 multiples of body weight for relative force (M2LH test) and 3.19 W/kg for relative power (S2LJ). In this study, and once the patient who relapsed was

removed from the analysis, the improvements were 0.55 multiples of body weight for relative force and 3.05 W/kg for relative power. Notably, all patients showed improvements in these parameters. These results are similar to the reported minimal detectable difference, suggesting clinically relevant improvements in our patients.

In terms of cardiopulmonary fitness, the 6MWT walking distance showed an increase of 53 m from pre- to postintervention. This is more than the 15-m the minimal clinically meaningful difference reported in a previous study evaluating the between-session reproducibility of the 6MWT walking distance [40]. This suggests that the improvement represents true changes rather than the measurement variability.

At the bone level, the mechanostat theory, developed by Frost [51], stipulates that bones adapt to maximal mechanical loading applied from muscle contractions and unfavorable lever arms. In this study, a special emphasis was placed on increasing lower limb muscle force and, indirectly, mechanical loading of patients' bones. The results indicated significant improvements in multiple bone-related parameters, such as BMC and cross-section. Figure 4 shows that the linear relationship associated with muscle force and bone strength parameters was normal in the patient population with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and maintained postintervention. These results suggest that the bone mechanotransduction and modeling process are normal in young early-on survivors of hematological malignancies and that the intervention aimed at increasing muscle force may lead to increased bone strength [44].

Limitations of the Study

In total, two major challenges in the recruitment process were identified: (1) only one-fifth of the patients who were contacted provided informed consent (12/57, 21%) and (2) creating the groups revealed to be difficult, leading to multiple cohorts. Regarding the families that declined participation, the four families that declined because patients were too active were more advanced in their survivorship (>2 years) and returned to their daily living activities before the diagnosis. This suggests that implementing a home-based exercise intervention may be more feasible earlier (1-2 years) than later (3-5 years) in their survivorship. The group approach was also challenging because of two factors: (1) the age range of the participants and (2) the availabilities of families leading to bilingual groups. Owing to difficulty in recruiting patients, the protocol was amended to increase the age range of the study participants from 6 to 10 years to 6 to 18 years. This resulted in one group having two 9-year-old training with a 14-year-old patient, which is not ideal. Québec has a very large proportion of French- and English-speaking population, and both are represented in this study. English- and French-speaking participants had to be grouped together because of family availability constraints, leading to providing bilingual training sessions.

Owing to administrative constraints, the intervention was offered to participants approximately 2 weeks before the start of the interventions. To avoid the challenges mentioned earlier, it is recommended that such interventions for early-on survivors be offered to families during routine checkups, months before their participation. This would provide families sufficient time to

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569
```

organize their schedules to integrate the training intervention with school activities and other obligations. This would also provide the clinician with the opportunity to avoid recruitment pitfalls and the challenges reported earlier.

The positive impact of mobile technology on families' experiences was unforeseen; hence, limited results have been reported. This project was originally designed to be a traditional home-based intervention; however, mobile technology allowed accessibility to the interventions outside the household, favoring everyday life activities versus exercise training balance. As such, families took full opportunity to use their own technologies to train in different environments, such as on their family vacations at the hotel or during family dinners. Without mobile technologies, families would have had to choose between attending training session or their social events. Similarly, the clinician was able to deliver interventions while on a scientific conference travel outside the country over a 2-week period. Nonetheless, the use of personal technologies can be disadvantageous to some families with lower socioeconomic status, which may have limited access to personal technologies and high-speed internet. In this study, no patients declined to participate because of a lack of accessible information technology, but one family was excluded because the available internet connection in their geographical area was too unstable to allow communication and safe exercise supervision.

In terms of health benefits, the results of the intervention are promising, showing improvements in most muscle, cardiopulmonary fitness, and bone measured parameters. However, this study was designed to assess the feasibility of a home-based exercise intervention delivered through telehealth; therefore, it was neither powered nor designed to detect the physiological changes associated with the intervention. In this regard, functional performance and bone health results were analyzed simply and may have statistical artifacts, such as the multiple hypothesis testing effect, because no statistical corrections were applied. Improvements in functional performance and bone health should thus be interpreted with these considerations in mind, despite the fact that improvement was observed in 8 of 9 study participants. Another limitation of this study is that the control group consisted of healthy individuals, rather than early-on survivors who would not receive the intervention. This prevents any conclusion regarding whether the proposed approach provides added benefits compared with the standard of care. The second limitation is associated with the retrospective nature of the control group, which only had data for one time point. This prevented performing adequate statistical analyses comparing the two groups pre- and postintervention. Therefore, any control group comparison should be interpreted in this context.

Conclusions

The results of this study suggest that providing early-on survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia with home-based exercise intervention through telehealth is a feasible approach. This approach has multiple advantages, even more so in the context of the current COVID-19 pandemic. Patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia are usually treated in specialized (tertiary) health care centers located in large cities. As a result,

XSL•FO RenderX

patients treated at these centers are scattered across large distances, making the implementation of frequent adjunct therapies impossible. Finally, although exploratory in nature, the comparison between pre- and postintervention muscle and bone parameters suggests that the proposed exercise regimen is suitable for inducing musculoskeletal benefits in young early-on survivors of bone marrow–related hematological malignancies.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Réseaux de Santé Buccodentaire et Osseuse and Réseau Provincial de Recherche en Adaptation-Réadaptation awarded to LNV. NDO and DK are both supported by the Fonds de Recherche du Québec–Santé.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Siegel DA, Claridy M, Mertens A, George E, Vangile K, Simoneaux SF, et al. Risk factors and surveillance for reduced bone mineral density in pediatric cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017 Sep;64(9):26488. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.26488</u>] [Medline: <u>28233475</u>]
- Lemay V, Caru M, Samoilenko M, Drouin S, Mathieu M, Bertout L, et al. Physical activity and sedentary behaviors in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia survivors. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2020 Jan;42(1):53-60. [doi: 10.1097/MPH.000000000001594] [Medline: 31568179]
- 3. Warner JT. Body composition, exercise and energy expenditure in survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2008 Feb;50(2 Suppl):456-468. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.21411] [Medline: 18064643]
- 4. Mostoufi-Moab S, Ward LM. Skeletal morbidity in children and adolescents during and following cancer therapy. Horm Res Paediatr 2019;91(2):137-151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000494809] [Medline: 30481777]
- 5. Marchese VG, Chiarello LA, Lange BJ. Strength and functional mobility in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Med Pediatr Oncol 2003 Apr;40(4):230-232. [doi: 10.1002/mpo.10266] [Medline: 12555250]
- 6. Atkinson SA, Halton JM, Bradley C, Wu B, Barr RD. Bone and mineral abnormalities in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: influence of disease, drugs and nutrition. Int J Cancer Suppl 1998;11:35-39. [Medline: <u>9876475</u>]
- Boot AM, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, Hählen K, Krenning EP, de Muinck KS. Bone mineral density in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Eur J Cancer 1999 Nov;35(12):1693-1697. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0959-8049(99)00143-4</u>] [Medline: <u>10674015</u>]
- Alos N, Grant RM, Ramsay T, Halton J, Cummings EA, Miettunen PM, et al. High incidence of vertebral fractures in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia 12 months after the initiation of therapy. J Clin Oncol 2012 Aug 01;30(22):2760-2767 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.40.4830] [Medline: 22734031]
- Halton J, Gaboury I, Grant R, Alos N, Cummings EA, Matzinger M, Canadian STOPP Consortium. Advanced vertebral fracture among newly diagnosed children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of the Canadian Steroid-Associated Osteoporosis in the Pediatric Population (STOPP) research program. J Bone Miner Res 2009 Jul;24(7):1326-1334 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1359/jbmr.090202] [Medline: 19210218]
- Mueske NM, Mittelman SD, Wren TAL, Gilsanz V, Orgel E. Myosteatosis in adolescents and young adults treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma 2019 Dec;60(13):3146-3153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10428194.2019.1623889] [Medline: 31264493]
- Orgel E, Mueske NM, Wren TA, Gilsanz V, Butturini AM, Freyer DR, et al. Early injury to cortical and cancellous bone from induction chemotherapy for adolescents and young adults treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Bone 2016 Apr;85:131-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2016.01.027] [Medline: 26851412]
- Marriott CJ, Beaumont LF, Farncombe TH, Cranston AN, Athale UH, Yakemchuk VN, et al. Body composition in long-term survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia diagnosed in childhood and adolescence: a focus on sarcopenic obesity. Cancer 2018 Mar 15;124(6):1225-1231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.31191] [Medline: 29231963]
- Watsky MA, Carbone LD, An Q, Cheng C, Lovorn EA, Hudson MM, et al. Bone turnover in long-term survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2014 Aug;61(8):1451-1456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.25025] [Medline: 24648266]
- Behringer M, Gruetzner S, McCourt M, Mester J. Effects of weight-bearing activities on bone mineral content and density in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. J Bone Miner Res 2014 Feb;29(2):467-478 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/jbmr.2036</u>] [Medline: <u>23857721</u>]
- Manchola-González JD, Bagur-Calafat C, Girabent-Farrés M, Serra-Grima JR, Pérez RA, Garnacho-Castaño MV, et al. Effects of a home-exercise programme in childhood survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia on physical fitness and physical functioning: results of a randomised clinical trial. Support Care Cancer 2020 Jul;28(7):3171-3178. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-05131-2] [Medline: 31707503]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569
- 16. Via JD, Daly RM, Fraser SF. The effect of exercise on bone mineral density in adult cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 2018 Feb;29(2):287-303. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00198-017-4237-3</u>] [Medline: <u>28971226</u>]
- 17. Wright M. Physical activity participation and preferences: developmental and oncology-related transitions in adolescents treated for cancer. Physiother Can 2015 Aug;67(3):292-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3138/ptc.2014-25LHC] [Medline: 26839461]
- 18. Ross WL, Le A, Zheng DJ, Mitchell H, Rotatori J, Li F, et al. Physical activity barriers, preferences, and beliefs in childhood cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2018 Jul;26(7):2177-2184. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-4041-9] [Medline: 29383508]
- 19. Tanir MK, Kuguoglu S. Impact of exercise on lower activity levels in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a randomized controlled trial from Turkey. Rehabil Nurs 2013;38(1):48-59. [doi: <u>10.1002/rnj.58</u>] [Medline: <u>23365005</u>]
- Esbenshade AJ, Friedman DL, Smith WA, Jeha S, Pui C, Robison LL, et al. Feasibility and initial effectiveness of home exercise during maintenance therapy for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Pediatr Phys Ther 2014;26(3):301-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PEP.00000000000053] [Medline: 24979081]
- 21. Marchese VG, Chiarello LA, Lange BJ. Effects of physical therapy intervention for children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2004 Feb;42(2):127-133. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.10481</u>] [Medline: <u>14752875</u>]
- 22. Hartman A, te Winkel M, van Beek R, de Muinck KS, Kemper H, Hop W, et al. A randomized trial investigating an exercise program to prevent reduction of bone mineral density and impairment of motor performance during treatment for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2009 Jul 15;53(1):64-71. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.21942] [Medline: 19283791]
- 23. Argent R, Daly A, Caulfield B. Patient involvement with home-based exercise programs: can connected health interventions influence adherence? JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Mar 01;6(3):e47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8518] [Medline: 29496655]
- 24. Marshall A, Donovan-Hall M, Ryall S. An exploration of athletes' views on their adherence to physiotherapy rehabilitation after sport injury. J Sport Rehabil 2012 Feb;21(1):18-25. [Medline: 22100700]
- 25. Bassett S. Bridging the intention-behaviour gap with behaviour change strategies for physiotherapy rehabilitation non-adherence. NZ J Physiother 2015 Nov 11;43(3):105-111. [doi: 10.15619/nzjp/43.3.05]
- 26. Stout NL, Baima J, Swisher AK, Winters-Stone KM, Welsh J. A systematic review of exercise systematic reviews in the cancer literature (2005-2017). PM R 2017 Sep;9(9S2):347-384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2017.07.074] [Medline: 28942909]
- Horsley S, Schock G, Grona SL, Montieth K, Mowat B, Stasiuk K, et al. Use of real-time videoconferencing to deliver physical therapy services: a scoping review of published and emerging evidence. J Telemed Telecare 2020 Dec;26(10):581-589. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X19854647] [Medline: 31213166]
- 28. van Egmond MA, van der Schaaf M, Vredeveld T, Vollenbroek-Hutten MM, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Klinkenbijl JH, et al. Effectiveness of physiotherapy with telerehabilitation in surgical patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Physiotherapy 2018 Sep;104(3):277-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2018.04.004] [Medline: 30030037]
- 29. Lambert G, Drummond K, Ferreira V, Carli F. Teleprehabilitation during COVID-19 pandemic: the essentials of "what" and "how". Support Care Cancer 2021 Feb;29(2):551-554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05768-4] [Medline: 32918606]
- 30. Kraemer WJ, Ratamess NA. Fundamentals of resistance training: progression and exercise prescription. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004 Apr;36(4):674-688. [doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000121945.36635.61] [Medline: 15064596]
- Birnie KA, Hundert AS, Lalloo C, Nguyen C, Stinson JN. Recommendations for selection of self-report pain intensity measures in children and adolescents: a systematic review and quality assessment of measurement properties. Pain 2019 Jan;160(1):5-18. [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001377] [Medline: 30180088]
- 32. Ory M, Resnick B, Jordan PJ, Coday M, Riebe D, Ewing GC, et al. Screening, safety, and adverse events in physical activity interventions: collaborative experiences from the behavior change consortium. Ann Behav Med 2005 Apr;29 Suppl:20-28. [doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm2902s_5] [Medline: 15921486]
- Veilleux L, Lemay M, Pouliot-Laforte A, Cheung MS, Glorieux FH, Rauch F. Muscle anatomy and dynamic muscle function in osteogenesis imperfect a type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014 Feb;99(2):356-362. [doi: <u>10.1210/jc.2013-3209</u>] [Medline: <u>24248189</u>]
- 34. Veilleux L, Rauch F. Reproducibility of jumping mechanography in healthy children and adults. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2010 Dec;10(4):256-266 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21116062]
- 35. Anliker E, Rawer R, Boutellier U, Toigo M. Maximum ground reaction force in relation to tibial bone mass in children and adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011 Nov;43(11):2102-2109. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821c4661] [Medline: 21502901]
- 36. Robinson M, Bardai G, Veilleux L, Glorieux FH, Rauch F. Musculoskeletal phenotype in two unrelated individuals with a recurrent nonsense variant in SGMS2. Bone 2020 May;134:115261. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bone.2020.115261</u>] [Medline: <u>32028018</u>]
- 37. Wong SL. Grip strength reference values for Canadians aged 6 to 79: Canadian Health Measures Survey, 2007 to 2013. Health Rep 2016 Oct 19;27(10):3-10 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27759870]
- 38. Hooke MC, Garwick AW, Neglia JP. Assessment of physical performance using the 6-minute walk test in children receiving treatment for cancer. Cancer Nurs 2013;36(5):9-16. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.0b013e31829f5510] [Medline: 23963198]

- Mizrahi D, Fardell JE, Cohn RJ, Partin RE, Howell CR, Hudson MM, et al. The 6-minute walk test is a good predictor of cardiorespiratory fitness in childhood cancer survivors when access to comprehensive testing is limited. Int J Cancer 2020 Aug 01;147(3):847-855. [doi: 10.1002/ijc.32819] [Medline: <u>31800093</u>]
- 40. Li AM, Yin J, Yu CC, Tsang T, So HK, Wong E, et al. The six-minute walk test in healthy children: reliability and validity. Eur Respir J 2005 Jun;25(6):1057-1060 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00134904] [Medline: 15929962]
- Labonté J, Caru M, Lemay V, Alos N, Drouin S, Bertout L, et al. Developing and validating equations to predict [Formula: see text]O2 peak from the 6MWT in Childhood ALL Survivors. Disabil Rehabil 2020 Feb 11:1-8. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1725159] [Medline: 32045540]
- 42. Ulrich S, Hildenbrand FF, Treder U, Fischler M, Keusch S, Speich R, et al. Reference values for the 6-minute walk test in healthy children and adolescents in Switzerland. BMC Pulm Med 2013 Aug 05;13:49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-13-49] [Medline: 23915140]
- 43. Morinder G, Mattsson E, Sollander C, Marcus C, Larsson UE. Six-minute walk test in obese children and adolescents: reproducibility and validity. Physiother Res Int 2009 Jun;14(2):91-104. [doi: <u>10.1002/pri.428</u>] [Medline: <u>19003813</u>]
- 44. Veilleux L, Pouliot-Laforte A, Lemay M, Cheung MS, Glorieux FH, Rauch F. The functional muscle-bone unit in patients with osteogenesis imperfecta type I. Bone 2015 Oct;79:52-57. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bone.2015.05.019</u>] [Medline: <u>26004918</u>]
- 45. Veilleux L, Cheung MS, Glorieux FH, Rauch F. The muscle-bone relationship in X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013 May;98(5):990-995. [doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-4146] [Medline: 23526465]
- 46. Rittweger J, Beller G, Ehrig J, Jung C, Koch U, Ramolla J, et al. Bone-muscle strength indices for the human lower leg. Bone 2000 Aug;27(2):319-326. [doi: 10.1016/s8756-3282(00)00327-6] [Medline: 10913929]
- Blew RM, Lee VR, Farr JN, Schiferl DJ, Going SB. Standardizing evaluation of pQCT image quality in the presence of subject movement: qualitative versus quantitative assessment. Calcif Tissue Int 2014 Feb;94(2):202-211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00223-013-9803-x] [Medline: 24077875]
- 48. Ghasemi A, Zahediasl S. Normality tests for statistical analysis: a guide for non-statisticians. Int J Endocrinol Metab 2012;10(2):486-489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5812/ijem.3505] [Medline: 23843808]
- 49. Arpaci T, Toruner EK. Assessment of problems and symptoms in survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2016 Nov;25(6):1034-1043. [doi: <u>10.1111/ecc.12561</u>] [Medline: <u>27647691</u>]
- 50. Haddy TB, Mosher RB, Reaman GH. Osteoporosis in survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncologist 2001;6(3):278-285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.6-3-278] [Medline: 11423675]
- 51. Frost HM. Bone's mechanostat: a 2003 update. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 2003 Dec;275(2):1081-1101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ar.a.10119] [Medline: 14613308]

Abbreviations

6MWT: 6-minute walk test BMC: bone mineral content CSA: cross-sectional area M2LH: multiple two-legged hopping pQCT: peripheral quantitative computed tomography SSI: stress-strain index S2LJ: single two-legged jump vBMD: volumetric bone mineral density

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 06.11.20; peer-reviewed by J op den Buijs, S Alghamdi; comments to author 07.01.21; revised version received 12.02.21; accepted 16.04.21; published 16.06.21.

Please cite as:

Lambert G, Alos N, Bernier P, Laverdière C, Kairy D, Drummond K, Dahan-Oliel N, Lemay M, Veilleux LN Home-Based Telehealth Exercise Intervention in Early-On Survivors of Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Feasibility Study JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e25569 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25569</u> doi:10.2196/25569 PMID:<u>34132645</u>

©Genevieve Lambert, Nathalie Alos, Pascal Bernier, Caroline Laverdière, Dahlia Kairy, Kenneth Drummond, Noémi Dahan-Oliel, Martin Lemay, Louis-Nicolas Veilleux. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 16.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Cancer Clinicians' Views Regarding an App That Helps Patients With Cancer Meet Their Information Needs: Qualitative Interview Study

Rebecca Richards¹, PhD; Paul Kinnersley², MD; Kate Brain³, PhD; Fiona Wood³, PhD

¹MRC Epidemiology Unit, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom

²Centre for Medical Education, Cardiff University, Cardiff, United Kingdom

³Division of Population Medicine, Cardiff University, Cardiff, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Fiona Wood, PhD Division of Population Medicine Cardiff University 503, Neuadd Meirionnydd University Hospital of Wales, Heath Park Cardiff, CF14 4YS United Kingdom Phone: 44 029206 87185 Email: wood@cf.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Many patients with cancer have unmet information needs during the course of the illness. Smart devices, such as smartphones and tablet computers, provide an opportunity to deliver information to patients remotely. We aim to develop an app intervention to help patients with cancer meet their illness-related information needs in noninpatient settings. In addition to the in-depth exploration of the issues faced by the target users of a potential intervention, it is important to gain an understanding of the context in which the intervention will be used and the potential influences on its adoption. As such, understanding the views of clinicians is key to the successful implementation of this type of app in practice. Additionally, clinicians have an awareness of their patients' needs and can provide further insight into the type of app and features that might be most beneficial.

Objective: This study aims to explore cancer clinicians' views on this type of intervention and whether they would support the use of an app in cancer care. Specifically, the perceived acceptability of an app used in consultations, useful app features, the potential benefits and disadvantages of an app, and barriers to app use were explored.

Methods: A total of 20 qualitative, semistructured interviews were conducted with 22 clinicians from urological, colorectal, breast, or gynecological cancer clinics across 2 hospitals in South Wales. The interviews were audio recorded, transcribed, and analyzed using thematic analysis.

Results: Clinicians felt that it would be acceptable for patients to use such an app in noninpatient settings, including during consultations. The benefits of this type of app were anticipated to be a more informed patient, an increased sense of control for patients, better doctor-patient communication, and a more efficient and effective consultation. In contrast, an increase in clinicians' workload and poorer communication in consultations, which depended on the included app features, were identified as potential disadvantages. The anticipated barriers to app use included patients' age and prior experience with smart technology, their access to smart devices, the confidentiality of information, and an avoidant coping approach to their condition.

Conclusions: This study suggests that clinicians should support their patients in using an app to help them meet their information needs both at home and during consultations. This study highlights some of the potential barriers for this type of intervention in practice, which could be minimized during the intervention design process.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e23671) doi:10.2196/23671

KEYWORDS

RenderX

education, medical; medical information exchange; smartphone; mobile apps; mobile phone

Introduction

Most patients with cancer now largely manage their condition at home with less regular supervision by clinicians, which requires them to take a more active role in their treatment and survivorship [1,2]. To become a more activated patient and to manage the changes in daily life that come with cancer, patients require relevant and accurate information [3], and patients generally want as much information as possible about their condition [4]. However, recent studies conducted in Europe and the United States over the last 5 years have reported high rates of unmet information needs among patients with cancer [5-7]. In addition to limiting patients' ability to participate in their care, unmet information needs are also associated with a lower quality of life, the loss of control over one's life, increased anxiety and depression, and dissatisfaction with care [5,8-11].

Smart technology, including smartphones and tablet computers, has the potential to support the shift in cancer care to community settings and help patients meet their information needs by facilitating the delivery of information-based interventions to patients at home. However, a recent systematic review of the use of mobile devices to support patients with cancer with their information needs identified that available mobile interventions are mainly limited to helping patients with their treatment- or symptom-related information needs [12]. The authors concluded that more comprehensive interventions are required for patients managing the wider aspects of their condition in noninpatient settings.

This paper reports part of a series of studies documenting the systematic development of an app to help patients with cancer to meet their illness-related information needs [12,13], which followed the Medical Research Council (MRC) framework for the development of complex interventions in health care [14] and the person-based approach to enhance the acceptability and feasibility of such interventions [15]. A systematic review of the use of mobile devices to help patients with cancer meet their information needs reported that the vast majority of interventions aimed to improve the monitoring and management of treatment-related symptoms [12]. There were no interventions designed to meet patients' full range of cancer-related information needs; more comprehensive interventions are required for patients to meet their information needs when managing their condition in noninpatient settings. Qualitative interviews were then conducted with a sample of patients with cancer to explore their views and preferences for a potential app to help them meet their illness-related information needs [13]. Suggestions for app features indicated the need for an app that supports patients to gather the key information that they need from their clinicians during time-constrained consultations, facilitates understanding, collates large amounts of information regarding available services, and helps patients navigate them. The anticipated benefits of this type of app included a more informed patient, improved quality of life, reduced anxiety, and increased confidence to participate in their care, which appeared to outweigh the potential disadvantages, such as potentially increased anxiety and distraction in consultations. Finally, patients anticipated that potential barriers to app use could be previous experience with smart technology, access to smart

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23671

XSL•FO

devices and the internet, an avoidant coping approach to their condition, and concerns about security and confidentiality of personal information.

In addition to an in-depth exploration of the issues faced by the target users of a potential intervention, it is important to gain an understanding of the context in which it will be used and the potential influences on the intervention [15,16]. As patients with cancer desire an app that would facilitate information gathering, exchange, and understanding during and between consultations with their clinicians [13], it is important to explore clinicians' perceptions of the acceptability of this type of app to provide an opportunity to identify and minimize the potential barriers to its implementation in a clinical context [16,17]. In addition, clinicians have a potential role in encouraging the uptake of an app for patients with cancer following a diagnosis, as patients value the opinions of their clinicians and trust them as a source of reliable information [18,19]. Therefore, the support of clinicians will be key to the successful implementation of such interventions in practice [16].

The primary aim of the study reported in this paper is to explore clinicians' views on the acceptability of an app for patients with cancer, including whether clinicians would support the use of an app in cancer care. Views on information exchange in consultations, useful app features, and the potential benefits and disadvantages of, and barriers to, app use were also explored.

Methods

Overview

Semistructured interviews were conducted with cancer clinicians at their clinics between June 2014 and November 2014. Participants were interviewed for this study before a qualitative interview study was conducted with a sample of patients with cancer [13]. Given that patients with cancer still report unmet information needs in recent years [5-7], it is prudent to continue with the development of interventions to support them and publish data that will help to build the evidence base in this field. National Health Service (NHS) ethical approval and R&D approval were granted (approval number: 14/WA/0066). Semistructured interviews were chosen because they enable a more personal and in-depth response from individuals compared with quantitative methods [20]. This method also allows participants the freedom to raise other relevant issues [19].

Participants

We aimed to recruit a varied sample of clinicians to enable divergent views to emerge [20]. Cancer clinicians were recruited from colorectal, urological, breast, and gynecological cancer clinics within the University Hospital Wales and Velindre Hospital (a specialist cancer hospital) in South Wales, United Kingdom. These 4 cancer clinics were chosen because they have a variety of clinicians who deal with some of the most common cancers [21]. A decision was made to include a varied sample, including consultant surgeons, consultant oncologists, cancer nurse specialists (CNSs), and trainee clinicians (both medical and nursing).

Recruitment

Clinical leads were identified and contacted so that the lead author (RR) could attend multidisciplinary team (MDT) meetings at each of the cancer clinics to present the study and invite clinicians to participate. Interested clinicians were emailed an information pack containing an invitation letter, information sheet, and reply form. It was not possible to attend an MDT meeting in all cancer clinics. In these circumstances, the lead clinician was asked to email their colleagues to invite clinical colleagues to participate in the study and to contact RR if they were interested. As a result of this recruitment method, the response rate could not be determined.

Procedure

Face-to-face interviews were conducted with interested participants at the clinicians' place of work. The interview was treated confidently, and only the research group had access to anonymized data. Clinicians provided written consent at the time of the interview and completed a demographic questionnaire that allowed us to describe the characteristics of our sample. Interviews were audio recorded, transcribed verbatim, and anonymized.

Interview Topic Guide

Relevant literature informed the development of a semistructured interview topic guide [12]. The topics included information provision in consultations, experience with smart technology in consultations, perceived acceptability of an app intervention, perceived benefits and disadvantages of, barriers to app use, and useful app features for patients with cancer. At the beginning of the interviews, participants were told that an app could help with a wide range of things, such as patients' information needs, communication in consultations, adherence to medication, and social support. Multimedia Appendix 1 provides a topic guide.

Analysis

Participants were interviewed until the research team felt that data saturation was reached, sometimes referred to as the point of information redundancy. Although the concept of data saturation can be considered problematic in qualitative research [22], we considered this to have occurred when no new refinements to codes were made for at least three interviews. Data were managed using the qualitative analysis software package NVivo 10 (QSR International). Thematic analysis was selected to analyze interview transcripts, as this helps to provide insights by moving from a broad reading of the data to the conceptualization of codes and themes, followed by their interpretation [22]. The approach used was not considered purely inductive nor deductive but instead a blend of both approaches [22]. Each transcript was read several times to achieve

familiarity by noting meanings and patterns. Initial codes were generated from each data item, and mind maps were created to identify the links between codes and possible overarching themes. Codes were then organized into meaningful subthemes and main overarching themes that captured the essence of the codes associated with them. Themes were reviewed and refined by reviewing each data item within a theme to ensure coherence.

RR, a doctoral student, collected and analyzed the data. A total of 5 transcripts were independently analyzed by a second author (FW) to allow collaborative discussion about the data and facilitate the interpretation of findings. Both authors maintained an awareness of how their personal characteristics and values may have influenced the data collection or analysis. For example, RR and FW are not medically trained and thus may not fully understand the clinical implications of the data. Participants knew that RR was also interviewing other cancer clinicians, possibly from the same clinic or hospital. Therefore, RR was aware of how this might have influenced participants' trust and openness during the interviews and made every effort to build rapport and trust before the interview and to make the participants feel comfortable and at ease. RR assured participants that the interviews were confidential and that their views and opinions would not be discussed with other clinicians or their patients.

Results

Overview

In total, 20 interviews were conducted with 22 clinicians between June 2014 and November 2014. A total of 4 CNSs chose to be interviewed in pairs stating time constraints in the clinic; however, the remaining clinicians participated in individual interviews. The average length of the interviews was 27 minutes (range 20-39 min).

Sample Characteristics

Participant characteristics are presented in Table 1. Of 22 clinicians, 12 (55%) were female and 10 (45%) were male. Overall, 36% (8/22) of the participants were CNSs, 23% (5/22) were consultant oncologists, 14% (3/22) were consultant surgeons, 23% (5/22) were trainee surgeon or oncologists, and 4% (1/22) were palliative care clinician. Of 22 clinicians, 7 (32%) were from urological cancer clinics, 6 (27%) were from colorectal cancer clinics, 5 (23%) were from gynecological cancer clinics, 3 (14%) were from breast cancer clinics, and 1 (4%) working in palliative care across subspecialities. All participants reported that they owned a smartphone or tablet computer.



Table 1. Sample characteristics.

ID (code)	Occupation	Cancer clinic
P1 (Onc ^a)	Oncologist	Gynecology
P2 (Onc)	Oncologist	Breast
P3 (Onc)	Oncologist	Breast
P4 (PCC ^b)	Palliative care clinician	All types
P5 (CNS ^c)	Cancer nurse specialist	Breast
P6 (TOnc ^d)	Trainee oncologist	Gynecology
P7 (CNS)	Cancer nurse specialist	Gynecology
P8 (CNS)	Cancer nurse specialist	Gynecology
P9 (CNS)	Cancer nurse specialist	Colorectal
P10 (CNS)	Cancer nurse specialist	Colorectal
P11 (Sur ^e)	Surgeon	Colorectal
P12 (Onc)	Oncologist	Colorectal
P13 (TSur ^f)	Trainee surgeon	Colorectal
P14 (Onc)	Oncologist	Gynecology
P15 (TSur)	Trainee surgeon	Urology
P16 (Sur)	Surgeon	Colorectal
P17 (TSur)	Trainee surgeon	Urology
P18 (CNS)	Cancer nurse specialist	Urology
P19 (Sur)	Surgeon	Urology
P20 (CNS)	Cancer nurse specialist	Urology
P21 (CNS)	Cancer nurse specialist	Urology
P22 (TSur)	Trainee surgeon	Urology

^aOnc: oncologist.

^bPCC: palliative care clinician.

^cCNS: cancer nurse specialist.

^dTOnc: trainee oncologist.

^eSur: surgeon.

^fTSur: trainee surgeon.

Interview Themes

From the interviews, 4 key themes were identified: (1) anticipated acceptability, (2) suggested app features, (3) anticipated benefits of app use, and (4) potential disadvantages or anticipated barriers to app use. Participants are identified with "P" followed by their identification number and the abbreviations of occupations listed in Table 1 (eg, P1 [Onc] is Participant 1, oncologist).

Theme 1: Anticipated Acceptability

Most clinicians reported that they do not currently use smart technology with their patients in consultations; however, 2 clinicians used apps to assist in explaining a patient's condition to them. Most clinicians anticipated that it would be acceptable for patients to use a cancer app in consultations, reporting that patients already bring printed information or written question lists and that some use their smartphones to make notes during consultations:

Patients bring bits of paper, articles, all sorts of things. I mean, I think the patient population is changing...it's just a screen with information on it really isn't it? So I think, you know, the delivery is not critical...patients write things down quite a lot now. I think if patients did something on the app as opposed to the writing it down, I don't think it makes any difference. [P19, surgeon]

In contrast, 2 participants suggested that some older clinicians might perceive patients' use of an app in consultations to be socially unacceptable and would resist the use of this type of technology in consultations. However, none of the senior clinicians in this study reported this to be an issue:

There are still, I'm sure the older clinicians...they might, they might have a big resistance to it. [P22, trainee surgeon]

Theme 2: Suggested App Features

Clinicians suggested including the types of information most commonly requested by patients in consultations in an app for patients, such as information on the types of cancers and investigations, treatment options and side effects, cancer symptoms, recovery, and potential long-term effects:

...Things like why the investigations have been carried out, why we need to carry out extra tests, information about treatments, possible side effects and what psychological support is out there...and probably information on how to look after yourself as well. I mean smoking cessation, diet, stuff like that. Because a lot of patients ask that. [P21, cancer nurse specialist]

Clinicians suggested including links to credible cancer information websites to signpost patients to reliable information, as they were aware that patients can often struggle to find reliable information outside of consultations, particularly on the internet:

I think if the patients are getting good information, so you know if this app is directing them to the right websites and everything...lots of patients go on the Internet and Google breast cancer and you get millions of hits back and they don't know what is good information and what is bad information, so I think if this [the app] is going to point them in the right direction, clinicians would be up for that totally. [P5, cancer nurse specialist]

Some clinicians felt that an app could also help patients to organize their care and suggested linking the app to the calendar feature on a smart device to remind patients of upcoming appointments. A medication log for patients to record their medication was also suggested by some clinicians:

I mean, I really like the idea of prompts and the diary and reminders, I mean patients forget, so maybe a day in advance to just remind them and then it reduces our DNAs [Did Not Attend]. Or a week before, "Have you asked your boss for that time off? Have you booked transport?" Or something like that. You get text messages for your bank appointments don't you? Why not for your cancer appointments?...So act maybe as a diary manager. [P13, trainee surgeon]

Clinicians suggested a feature that could store contact details to enable patients to contact their clinicians quickly where required, as they explained that patients often forget their designated nurse or consultant or lose their contact details:

The name of the clinicians that are looking after them, half the time they can't remember contact details for their clinicians. That would be really useful. Summary of, you know, this is your diagnosis, this is your consultant, this is the number, the name of the nurse specialist, this is the name of the stoma nurse, these are their contact details, these are their email

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23671

addresses, this is the secretary's number. [P13, trainee surgeon]

Many clinicians discussed that patients forget to ask questions in consultations and that this can lead to unmet information needs. Therefore, a question prompt list (QPL) feature was suggested to remind patients to ask important questions during consultations:

Many patients come and say to us, at the initial the shock of the diagnosis, they can't think about anything else. So if they can formulate some questions, they won't forget to ask, and they can keep their smartphone in front of the consultation, and keep ticking the boxes. That um, that'll be useful actually for them, so they don't forget anything. [P15, trainee surgeon]

Many clinicians reported that they often use anatomical diagrams or images in consultations to help patients understand the information they are given, such as diagrams showing the location of the cancer and how operations will be performed. As a result, clinicians suggested an app feature that includes anatomical diagrams and images that could be used by clinicians to facilitate communication of information to patients in consultations:

Having pictures really helps...trying to explain what we are trying to do in terms of the operation as well, sometimes having a diagram actually makes a difference. And there are some apps where you could then look at your staging pictorially, that might be helpful to include in an app. [P14, oncologist]

Clinicians also suggested including app features that would increase patients' awareness of, and access to, patient support, as they explained that clinicians often forget or do not have time to provide this type of information. Suggestions included contact numbers of cancer charities and information on psychological support, such as support groups:

Erm, relevant information on how to find help, you know how to get extra support like erm, like a forum...or group support...or MacMillan numbers, Tenovus Cancer Care numbers. [P18, cancer nurse specialist]

Um, local support groups...as well as national groups. I think more of the supportive side that perhaps we...we can't really spend a huge amount of time on. Because I think we're quite good at treating the disease and talking about the scientific part of the disease but it's the, like the supportive aspect that we can't provide enough time for, that I think would be of greatest benefit to a patient. [P17, trainee surgeon]

Theme 3: Anticipated Benefits of App Use

Clinicians anticipated several potential benefits of an app that would help patients meet their information needs. The most commonly anticipated benefit of an app was a more informed patient. Clinicians suggested that an app could provide patients with a better understanding of cancer before consultations, which would enable them to have a more detailed discussion. In turn,

clinicians expected that a more informed patient might develop more questions to ask:

I think it would have benefits in that the patient would be more prepared and therefore understand more about their own disease before their consultations, which would help. It may be that they ask more questions as a result of it. [P21, cancer nurse specialist]

A minority of clinicians also anticipated that patients' increased knowledge could lead to an increased sense of control over their lives by being able to plan ahead, which, in turn, might reduce their anxiety:

What do you think the benefits would be in the long term for patients? [Interviewer]

It just gives them more control, um I think when they feel more control that helps them because it's their lack of control, their lack of being able to plan, things just happening around them, and at least if you know what's happening, so many patients come in and say, "Even though you kind've given me bad news, I feel better leaving than I did coming because I know what's happening and I know you've got a plan." [P1, oncologist]

Clinicians anticipated that this type of app could also improve communication between patients and clinicians during consultations. It was thought that a QPL feature could act as an agenda for the consultation and, in turn, facilitate a more structured discussion while encouraging patients to communicate their concerns:

The first steps I think you need to take are fairly simple and that's things like frequently asked questions...The app can be introduced, obviously, at various different stages, but certainly prior to the second visit, if they download the app and they have been on to answer those, ask those questions,...common questions that are asked...frequently asked questions, they may want to go through those before they then come back and see you a second time, or even the first time. [P12, oncologist]

Well I think clearer communication actually, knowing you're following the patient's agenda and what their problems are enables you to, you know, clarify things quicker, and to answer questions better. [P4, palliative care clinician]

Clinicians suggested that this might improve the efficiency of the consultation and increase clinicians' confidence that they have met the patients' information needs:

Hopefully it could form a very clear structure for a consultation which, you know, means it's probably more time efficient. Consultations can be quite long sometimes, particularly when you're trying to get the complex situation across, so I think there are benefits in terms of time. [P11, surgeon]

Theme 4: Potential Disadvantages of and Barriers to App Use

On the other hand, a minority of clinicians were concerned that an app for patients could potentially increase their workload and the length of consultations if it encourages patients to contact clinicians (via a contacts feature) or ask questions in consultations (via a QPL feature). However, clinicians believed that the many potential advantages of such an app would outweigh this potential disadvantage:

It could potentially slow down consultations, we have to bear that in mind. But I think in the end of you have a quality consultation, in the end it probably speeds things up overall. As well as improves the quality of that consultation. [P12, oncologist]

A small number of clinicians were also concerned that an app might hinder communication during consultations by distracting patients, who may then miss information. Similarly, some clinicians felt that app use during consultations could potentially reduce patients' nonverbal communication, which is used by clinicians to assess whether patients have understood the information:

If it doesn't divert the consultation...because they are constantly looking at the app, and they won't be able to listen to what we say, and they may even miss it. So I presume that's the downside of it actually...I personally don't like um, somebody sitting in front of me and they're just on the smartphone ticking boxes, not listening to what I say, because a lot of it...face to face, eye contact on the person, and from the eye contact I can see whether the patient has understood it or not. [P15, trainee surgeon]

Clinicians anticipated several potential barriers to the use of this type of app in practice. The main anticipated barriers were patients' age and prior experience with smart technology, where many clinicians believed that many older patients lacked the knowledge and experience to be able to use, or want to use, an app. In addition, clinicians expected that some older patients might have problems with physically using an app because of poor eyesight and/or dexterity:

I think in general, and it is a vast generalization, cancer patients tend to be older patients and the older patients tend not to be able, quite so versed, in using apps and all that sort of stuff. So I think at the moment you might not get a great uptake. Give it ten years and I think yeah, I think everyone will be using it and the people who are in their sixties, seventies now, who are then going on to get cancer in their eighties and things...it'll be very useful for. [P22, trainee surgeon]

You have the very practical problems with patients of this age group because their eyesight is often poor, their dexterity might not be that good, you know on an iPhone rather than an iPad. [P13, trainee surgeon]

Some clinicians were concerned that the cost of a smart device would be a barrier for some older patients who do not currently



have access to one. However, clinicians expected that these patients could gain access to a device via their family or friends:

It would be sort of potentially be a barrier you know for the older ones who may not have the equipment or want the equipment but then again may have family members that would be willing. [P20, cancer nurse specialist]

Some clinicians were concerned about the confidentiality of patients' information on an app, particularly due to cancer being a sensitive topic:

I think storage of information, sensitive information is the main issue. If they have a smartphone or, you know, a tablet device that isn't locked then potentially if you put sensitive information on it, it could be easy to view, so you might need to put a password onto the app. [P14, oncologist]

Finally, some clinicians indicated that a minority of patients appear to have an avoidant coping approach to their illness and so do not wish to have extensive information. As such, clinicians anticipated that this type of patient would not want to use this type of app:

One thing I guess I would say is that you're always going to get the patient that will do everything, and you're always going to get the patient that will do nothing. There are those patients that will use everything and everything that they can access they will do...and others won't, you know? [P5, cancer nurse specialist]

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the views of cancer clinicians regarding the development of a novel app intervention to help patients with cancer to meet their illness-related information needs in noninpatient settings. The primary aim of this study is to understand clinicians' views on the value of this type of intervention, the type of app that they anticipate to be most useful for patients, and whether clinicians would support the use of an app in clinical practice. Overall, clinicians felt it would be acceptable for patients to use such an app to support their information needs, including consultations. Clinicians' awareness of the barriers to information exchange during, and outside of, consultations with patients were reflected in the type of app features they suggested. The benefits of this type of app were anticipated to be a more informed patient, an increased sense of control for patients, better doctor-patient communication, and a more efficient and effective consultation. In contrast, an increase in clinicians' workload and poorer communication in consultations, which depended on the included app features, were identified as potential disadvantages, although clinicians believed that these would be outweighed by the benefits. The anticipated barriers to app use included patients' age and prior experience with smart technology, access to smart devices, confidentiality of information, and an avoidant coping approach to their condition. Overall, the views of



Most clinicians reported that they had not previously used an app to assist them with patients in consultations; however, all clinicians owned a smart device and were familiar with this technology. This finding is likely because of the lack of availability of patient-facing apps that are reliable and developed by researchers or health organizations [23,24], as an increasing number of clinicians use apps for a wide variety of work-related tasks [25]. Importantly, clinicians appeared to be supportive of the development of an app to help patients meet their information needs. This finding is consistent with previous studies that reported clinicians' positive perceptions and expectations for mobile interventions for other chronic health conditions [26-28].

Clinicians' suggestions for app features reflected their awareness of barriers to information exchange during and outside of consultations with patients with cancer. First, clinicians suggested app features that would help patients to better self-manage their condition by providing detailed information about their cancer. This type of information might help prevent unnecessary hospitalizations [29]. Clinicians also suggested links to reliable websites to help patients source accurate information. As the internet is now a common health information resource, studies have highlighted the importance of guiding patients to filter accurate health information [30,31]. This could help avoid patients becoming unnecessarily anxious and prolonging consultations with their clinicians, leaving room for more informed discussions. Clinicians also suggested additional app features that were not thought of by patients themselves in our previous qualitative study [13], including a feature to help them organize their care, such as appointment reminders, a medication log, and a feature to store clinicians' contact details.

Second, clinicians suggested app features to enable patients with cancer to overcome barriers to communication in consultations, such as a QPL to help patients remember to ask important questions. Clinicians felt that this type of feature would help patients to make their information needs clear to the clinician, instead of passively relying on the clinician to relay information. It is important for patients to voice their concerns and provide relevant information for their clinicians in order for clinicians to formulate the correct diagnosis and prescribe or amend treatment for patients [32]. Clinicians also suggested a feature to assist *them* in imparting information to patients more effectively using diagrams or images; however, this feature might be better placed in a clinician-facing, rather than patient-facing, app.

Third, clinicians felt that an app could help with raising awareness of, and signposting patients to, cancer support services, such as contact numbers for cancer charities or information on support groups, which they felt would be beneficial for patients. This finding is supported by previous studies on the benefits of social support during cancer [33]. Clinicians explained that they were not often able to impart this information because of limited time in consultations; thus, this presents an example of how technology can help to relieve



pressure on the NHS services and help to meet information needs of patients with cancer.

The most commonly anticipated outcome of this type of intervention was a more informed patient, which is consistent with patient expectations [13]. Clinicians further highlighted the benefits that they themselves might receive as a result of using a patient-facing app, including a more structured and efficient consultation. However, although some previous studies on the use of paper-based QPLs in cancer consultations have reported a decrease in consultation length, the evidence is generally mixed [34,35]. Indeed, some clinicians were concerned that this type of app could lead to an increased workload if the app increased patient contact and question-asking. Some previous studies on clinicians' perceptions of their involvement in mobile symptom-monitoring interventions for patients with cancer have reported that increased workloads and technical issues were problematic in clinical practice [17,36,37]. However, these interventions were used equally by clinicians and patients, whereas a patient-facing app that is used independently of the clinician would limit the potential impact on clinicians' workloads. In addition, clinicians in this study believed that the advantage of an improved consultation might outweigh the potential increase in workload. Subsequently, studies of digital and paper-based patient-facing interventions that are used during allocated consultation times have been found to be acceptable by clinicians [38,39].

A number of clinicians in our study were concerned that an app might hinder communication during consultations by distracting patients and that some older clinicians might be particularly resistant to this change in consultations. These findings are unsurprising, as previous studies have reported that some clinicians perceive the use of a smartphone in clinical settings to be unprofessional because of the association of mobile phones with poor quality social contact [40,41]. However, as stated earlier, previous studies have shown that digital interventions that are used by patients in consultations are acceptable by clinicians in practice [38,39]. In addition, senior clinicians were interviewed for this study and found the idea of an app for patients with cancer to be acceptable.

Other potential barriers to app use identified by clinicians included patients' age and experience with smart technology, access to smart technology and the internet, and confidentiality of patients' medical information, which were also concerns of patients with cancer [13] and clinicians of previous studies of mobile interventions for chronic health conditions [26-28]. However, clinicians recognized that patients' age and prior experience with smart technology is only a temporary potential barrier and an app that would not require the input of sensitive information might circumvent concerns of confidentiality.

Implications

XSL•FO RenderX

This study presents novel findings on the views of cancer clinicians regarding the development of an app for patients with cancer, including the potential outcomes and benefits of this type of intervention. In line with the MRC framework [14] and person-based approach [15] for the development of complex interventions in health care, these findings can be used, in combination with the findings from our patient study [13], to

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23671
```

develop intervention objectives and inform the selection of app features. For example, based on clinicians' views reported in this study, and in support of patients' views, the objectives of the intervention might be to facilitate the development of patients' understanding and self-management of their condition, and it is anticipated that this could be achieved by including app features that enable patients to (1) better self-manage their condition by sourcing accurate information outside of consultations and improving the organization of their care through the use of reminders and logs, (2) overcome barriers to communication in consultations by encouraging question-asking and participation in their care, and (3) identify and access cancer support services that will provide further information and support where needed (such as psychological support). This study identified the potential benefits of a patient-facing app for the clinicians themselves and the potential disadvantages of, and barriers to, this type of app. These findings can be considered during app design to optimize its uptake, usability, and usefulness [15]. For example, clinicians were concerned that patients could be distracted in consultations, so an objective would be to design an app that will only be referred to briefly in consultations but not actively used throughout. Similarly, to circumvent some clinicians' concerns about the confidentiality of information, a further objective would be to design an app that does not require the input of sensitive information.

Limitations

A varied sample of clinicians, including a variety of roles, settings, patient types, and career lengths as well as a balance of both genders, is a strength of this study. However, there were several limitations to consider. It was not possible to calculate the response rate for this study nor to collect the key characteristics of those who declined to participate. In addition, all clinicians were smart technology owners. Therefore, the sample may not be representative of the general population of clinicians and may have included those with more favorable perceptions of an app than those who chose not to participate. However, statistics suggest that ownership of smart technology among clinicians is common, where up to 90% of health care professionals own a smart device, and new technologies will continue to be integrated into health care services [42,43]. Joint interviews with 4 clinicians may have prevented these participants from discussing important issues that they might have talked about in a separate interview; however, most interviews were conducted individually at length.

Providing examples of types of app features that could be used by patients with cancer before beginning the interview might have influenced some participants' responses because of social desirability. The risk of this bias was minimized as the interviewer explained that all opinions were valued, both positive and negative, to develop an app that would be most useful for future patients.

Finally, participants were asked to reflect on a hypothetical scenario in which an app could be available for patients in the future. Participants were also asked to anticipate *the potential* benefits and disadvantages of, and barriers to, a hypothetical app. As a result, the data are not necessarily grounded in

concrete experience and therefore may not translate into engagement.

Conclusions

To our knowledge, this study is the first to explore the views of cancer clinicians regarding an app that aims to help patients with cancer meet their illness-related information needs in noninpatient settings. Clinicians appear to be supportive of the development of an app and its use in consultations and suggested the types of app features that they anticipate to be useful for patients; specifically, an app that would enable patients to better self-manage their condition, overcome barriers to communication in consultations, and identify and access cancer support services. The potential outcomes of this type of intervention were highlighted, including the benefits for both the patients and clinicians, and the potential benefits of this type of intervention appeared to outweigh clinicians' few minor concerns.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by Tenovus Cancer Care.

Authors' Contributions

RR, PK, KB, and FW were responsible for the concept, design, and conduct of the study. RR was responsible for data collection and analysis as well as for manuscript preparation. FW was responsible for double coding a subset of the interview data. FW, PK, and KB reviewed the manuscript drafts for intellectual content. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Clinician topic guide. [DOCX File , 16 KB - cancer v7i2e23671 app1.docx]

References

- Howell D, Mayer D, Fielding R, Eicher M, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Johansen C, Global Partners for Self-Management in Cancer. Management of cancer and health after the clinic visit: a call to action for self-management in cancer care. J Natl Cancer Inst 2020 Jun 11;113(5):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djaa083] [Medline: 32525530]
- Phillips J, Currow D. Cancer as a chronic disease. Collegian 2010 Jul;17(2):47-50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.colegn.2010.04.007] [Medline: 20738055]
- 3. Hibbard JH. Patient activation and the use of information to support informed health decisions. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Jan;100(1):5-7. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.006] [Medline: 27432014]
- 4. Ahamad AW, Wallner PE, Salenius S, Ross R, Fernandez E. What do patients really want to know? J Clin Oncol 2017 May 20;35(15_suppl):e18261. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_suppl.e18261]
- Goerling U, Faller H, Hornemann B, Hönig K, Bergelt C, Maatouk I, et al. Information needs in cancer patients across the disease trajectory. A prospective study. Patient Educ Couns 2020 Jan;103(1):120-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2019.08.011] [Medline: 31474389]
- Faller H, Koch U, Brähler E, Härter M, Keller M, Schulz H, et al. Satisfaction with information and unmet information needs in men and women with cancer. J Cancer Surviv 2016 Feb;10(1):62-70. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-015-0451-1</u>] [Medline: <u>25956402</u>]
- Moghaddam N, Coxon H, Nabarro S, Hardy B, Cox K. Unmet care needs in people living with advanced cancer: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer 2016 Aug;24(8):3609-3622. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-016-3221-3</u>] [Medline: <u>27137214</u>]
- Blödt S, Kaiser M, Adam Y, Adami S, Schultze M, Müller-Nordhorn J, et al. Understanding the role of health information in patients' experiences: secondary analysis of qualitative narrative interviews with people diagnosed with cancer in Germany. BMJ Open 2018 Mar 12;8(3):e019576 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019576] [Medline: 29530909]
- 9. Faller H, Strahl A, Richard M, Niehues C, Meng K. The prospective relationship between satisfaction with information and symptoms of depression and anxiety in breast cancer: A structural equation modeling analysis. Psycho-Oncology 2017 Jan 30;26(11):1741-1748. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4358]
- Husson O, Thong MS, Mols F, Oerlemans S, Kaptein AA, van de Poll-Franse LV. Illness perceptions in cancer survivors: what is the role of information provision? Psychooncology 2013 Mar 6;22(3):490-498. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3042</u>] [Medline: <u>22307579</u>]
- Wiener CH, Cassisi JE, Paulson D, Husson O, Gupta RA. Information support, illness perceptions, and distress in survivors of differentiated thyroid cancer. J Health Psychol 2019 Aug 12;24(9):1201-1209. [doi: <u>10.1177/1359105317692143</u>] [Medline: <u>28810403</u>]

- Richards R, Kinnersley P, Brain K, McCutchan G, Staffurth J, Wood F. Use of mobile devices to help cancer patients meet their information needs in non-inpatient settings: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Dec 14;6(12):e10026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10026] [Medline: 30552082]
- Richards R, Kinnersley P, Brain K, Staffurth J, Wood F. The preferences of patients with cancer regarding apps to help meet their illness-related information needs: qualitative interview study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jul 31;7(7):e14187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14187] [Medline: 31368446]
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Br Med J 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- Yardley L, Morrison L, Bradbury K, Muller I. The person-based approach to intervention development: application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan;17(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4055] [Medline: 25639757]
- 16. Murray E, Hekler E, Andersson G, Collins L, Doherty A, Hollis C, et al. Evaluating digital health interventions: key questions and approaches. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):843-851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.008] [Medline: 27745684]
- 17. Maguire R, McCann L, Miller M, Kearney N. Nurse's perceptions and experiences of using of a mobile-phone-based Advanced Symptom Management System (ASyMS) to monitor and manage chemotherapy-related toxicity. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2008 Sep;12(4):380-386. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2008.04.007] [Medline: 18539527]
- Hall MA, Zheng B, Dugan E, Camacho F, Kidd KE, Mishra A, et al. Measuring patients' trust in their primary care providers. Med Care Res Rev 2016 Aug 18;59(3):293-318. [doi: <u>10.1177/1077558702059003004</u>]
- Finney RLJ, Agunwamba AA, Wilson P, Chawla N, Vieux S, Blanch-Hartigan D, et al. Cancer-related information seeking among cancer survivors: trends over a decade (2003-2013). J Cancer Educ 2016 Jun;31(2):348-357. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-015-0802-7</u>] [Medline: <u>25712202</u>]
- 20. Green J, Thorogood N. Qualitative Methods for Health Research. London, UK: Sage Publications; 2018.
- 21. Patton M. Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods. London, UK: Sage Publications; 2002.
- 22. Braun V, Clarke V. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qual Res Sport Exerc Health 2019 Jun 13;11(4):589-597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/2159676x.2019.1628806]
- 23. Bender J, Yue R, To M, Deacken L, Jadad A. A lot of action, but not in the right direction: systematic review and content analysis of smartphone applications for the prevention, detection, and management of cancer. J Med Internet Res 2013 Dec 23;15(12):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2661] [Medline: 24366061]
- 24. Pandey A, Hasan S, Dubey D, Sarangi S. Smartphone apps as a source of cancer information: changing trends in health information-seeking behavior. J Cancer Educ 2013 Mar;28(1):138-142. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-012-0446-9</u>] [Medline: <u>23275239</u>]
- 25. Ozdalga E, Ozdalga A, Ahuja N. The smartphone in medicine: a review of current and potential use among physicians and students. J Med Internet Res 2012 Sep 27;14(5):e128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1994] [Medline: 23017375]
- Bostock Y, Hanley J, McGown D, Pinnock H, Padfield P, McKinstry B. The acceptability to patients and professionals of remote blood pressure monitoring using mobile phones. Primary Health Care 2009 Jul 28;10(04):299-308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/s1463423609990107]
- Pinnock H, Slack R, Pagliari C, Price D, Sheikh A. Professional and patient attitudes to using mobile phone technology to monitor asthma: questionnaire survey. Prim Care Respir J 2006 Aug 1;15(4):237-245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pcrj.2006.03.001] [Medline: 16843066]
- Seto E, Leonard KJ, Masino C, Cafazzo JA, Barnsley J, Ross HJ. Attitudes of heart failure patients and health care providers towards mobile phone-based remote monitoring. J Med Internet Res 2010 Nov;12(4):e55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1627] [Medline: 21115435]
- 29. Ream E, Richardson A. The role of information in patients' adaptation to chemotherapy and radiotherapy: a review of the literature. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 1996 Sep;5(3):132-138. [Medline: 9117045]
- 30. Eysenbach G. The impact of the Internet on cancer outcomes. CA Cancer J Clin 2003;53(6):356-371. [Medline: 15224975]
- 31. Gerber BS, Eiser AR. The patient physician relationship in the Internet age: future prospects and the research agenda. J Med Internet Res 2001;3(2):E15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3.2.e15] [Medline: 11720957]
- 32. Waitzkin H. Information giving in medical care. J Health Soc Behav 1985 Jun;26(2):81. [doi: 10.2307/2136599]
- Dukes Holland K, Holahan CK. The relation of social support and coping to positive adaptation to breast cancer. Psychology & Health 2003 Jan;18(1):15-29. [doi: <u>10.1080/0887044031000080656</u>]
- 34. Brown RF, Butow PN, Dunn SM, Tattersall MH. Promoting patient participation and shortening cancer consultations: a randomised trial. Br J Cancer 2001 Nov 2;85(9):1273-1279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2001.2073] [Medline: 11720460]
- 35. Dimoska A, Tattersall MH, Butow PN, Shepherd H, Kinnersley P. Can a 'prompt list' empower cancer patients to ask relevant questions? Cancer 2008 Jul 15;113(2):225-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23543] [Medline: 18484592]

- Kearney N, Kidd L, Miller M, Sage M, Khorrami J, McGee M, et al. Utilising handheld computers to monitor and support patients receiving chemotherapy: results of a UK-based feasibility study. Support Care Cancer 2006 Jul;14(7):742-752. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-005-0002-9] [Medline: 16525792]
- McCall K, Keen J, Farrer K, Maguire R, McCann L, Johnston B, et al. Perceptions of the use of a remote monitoring system in patients receiving palliative care at home. Int J Palliat Nurs 2008 Sep;14(9):426-431. [doi: <u>10.12968/ijpn.2008.14.9.31121</u>] [Medline: <u>19060793</u>]
- 38. Dimoska A, Butow PN, Lynch J, Hovey E, Agar M, Beale P, et al. Implementing patient question-prompt lists into routine cancer care. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Feb;86(2):252-258. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2011.04.020</u>] [Medline: <u>21741195</u>]
- Politi MC, Adsul P, Kuzemchak MD, Zeuner R, Frosch DL. Clinicians' perceptions of digital vs. paper-based decision support interventions. J Eval Clin Pract 2015 Apr 16;21(2):175-179. [doi: <u>10.1111/jep.12269</u>] [Medline: <u>25318648</u>]
- 40. Koehler N, Vujovic O, McMenamin C. Are individuals more accepting of the internet than mobile phone apps being used in clinical practice? J MTM 2013;2(1):14-21. [doi: <u>10.7309/jmtm.2.1.3</u>]
- 41. Koehler N. Medical students' use of and attitudes towards medical applications. J MTM 2012 Dec 22;1(4):16-21. [doi: 10.7309/jmtm.73]
- 42. Chase J. IPads and Other Drugs. Medical Marketing & Media: The Interactive Guide. URL: <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Medical+Marketing+&+Media:+The+Interactive+Guide&title=IPads+and+other+drugs&author=J+Chase&publication_year=2013&pages=10-11&[accessed 2020-04-20]</u>
- Wallace S, Clark M, White J. 'It's on my iPhone': attitudes to the use of mobile computing devices in medical education, a mixed-methods study. BMJ Open 2012 Aug 24;2(4):e001099 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001099] [Medline: 22923627]

Abbreviations

CNS: cancer nurse specialist MDT: multidisciplinary team MRC: Medical Research Council NHS: National Health Service QPL: question prompt list

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 17.09.20; peer-reviewed by E Forbat, J Wilkinson; comments to author 17.12.20; revised version received 27.03.21; accepted 28.03.21; published 06.05.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Richards R, Kinnersley P, Brain K, Wood F Cancer Clinicians' Views Regarding an App That Helps Patients With Cancer Meet Their Information Needs: Qualitative Interview Study JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e23671 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23671</u> doi:10.2196/23671 PMID:<u>33955836</u>

©Rebecca Richards, Paul Kinnersley, Kate Brain, Fiona Wood. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 06.05.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Data Integration to Improve Real-world Health Outcomes Research for Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer in the United States: Descriptive and Qualitative Exploration

Michael Grabner¹, PhD; Cliff Molife², MPH, PhD; Liya Wang¹, PhD; Katherine B Winfree², PhD; Zhanglin Lin Cui², PhD; Gebra Cuyun Carter², PhD; Lisa M Hess², PhD

¹HealthCore Inc, Wilmington, DE, United States ²Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, IN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Michael Grabner, PhD HealthCore Inc 123 Justison Street Wilmington, DE, 19801 United States Phone: 1 3022302000 Email: mgrabner@healthcore.com

Abstract

Background: The integration of data from disparate sources could help alleviate data insufficiency in real-world studies and compensate for the inadequacies of single data sources and short-duration, small sample size studies while improving the utility of data for research.

Objective: This study aims to describe and evaluate a process of integrating data from several complementary sources to conduct health outcomes research in patients with non–small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). The integrated data set is also used to describe patient demographics, clinical characteristics, treatment patterns, and mortality rates.

Methods: This retrospective cohort study integrated data from 4 sources: administrative claims from the HealthCore Integrated Research Database, clinical data from a Cancer Care Quality Program (CCQP), clinical data from abstracted medical records (MRs), and mortality data from the US Social Security Administration. Patients with lung cancer who initiated second-line (2L) therapy between November 01, 2015, and April 13, 2018, were identified in the claims and CCQP data. Eligible patients were 18 years or older and received atezolizumab, docetaxel, erlotinib, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, pemetrexed, or ramucirumab in the 2L setting. The main analysis cohort included patients with claims data and data from at least one additional data source (CCQP or MR). Patients without integrated data (claims only) were reported separately. Descriptive and univariate statistics were reported.

Results: Data integration resulted in a main analysis cohort of 2195 patients with NSCLC; 2106 patients had CCQP and 407 patients had MR data. The claims-only cohort included 931 eligible patients. For the main analysis cohort, the mean age was 62.1 (SD 9.27) years, 48.56% (1066/2195) were female, the median length of follow-up was 6.8 months, and for 37.77% (829/2195), death was observed. For the claims-only cohort, the mean age was 66.6 (SD 12.69) years, 52.1% (485/931) were female, the median length of follow-up was 8.6 months, and for 29.3% (273/931), death was observed. The most frequent 2L treatment was immunotherapy (1094/2195, 49.84%), followed by platinum-based regimens (472/2195, 21.50%) and single-agent chemotherapy (441/2195, 20.09%); mean duration of 2L therapy was 5.6 (SD 4.9, median 4) months. We describe challenges and learnings from the data integration process, and the benefits of the integrated data set, which includes a richer set of clinical and outcome data to supplement the utilization metrics available in administrative claims.

Conclusions: The management of patients with NSCLC requires care from a multidisciplinary team, leading to a lack of a single aggregated data source in real-world settings. The availability of integrated clinical data from MRs, health plan claims, and other sources of clinical care may improve the ability to assess emerging treatments.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e23161) doi:10.2196/23161



non-small cell lung cancer; cancer; data aggregation; real-world data; administrative claims data; medical records; electronic health record; retrospective study; population health; health services research

Introduction

Background

Real-world health outcomes research is often challenged by data insufficiency resulting from studies using a single data source and/or short durations [1-3]. For example, medical records (MRs) generally do not contain details of care outside of the point of service of the single health care provider, claims data contain few variables related to clinical outcomes, and registries often do not contain complete longitudinal data [4-7]. The integration of clinical data from different sources such as MRs [8], disease registries, or quality initiatives with large administrative claims repositories has been shown to increase the volume and quality of available data [9-12]. For example, integrated data allow the inclusion of important clinical factors when analyzing health care utilization and costs, as recorded in claims [13]. Such integrated observational data sets have also been used to generate predictive algorithms to better identify patients with cancer [14-17] and their disease characteristics [18-20].

Lung cancer is the second most common cancer in the United States, with approximately 230,000 new diagnoses in 2020 [21]. It is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths in the United States, projected at 136,000 in 2020 [22]. Non–small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) accounts for approximately 85% of all lung cancer cases [23]. Treatment modalities for advanced and/or metastatic NSCLC include radiotherapy, chemotherapy, targeted therapy, or a combination therapy [24]. Over the last few years, second-line (2L) treatment options have expanded rapidly with the introduction of immune checkpoint and epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors and associated predictive biomarkers [25].

Treatment sequencing in the setting of NSCLC is not well characterized, largely because of the sparseness of applicable studies, which tend to be limited by inadequate data. This study was designed based on the rationale that a combination of retrospective data from multiple sources, such as MRs, administrative claims, and care quality initiatives, would provide a solid foundation for observing and characterizing real-world treatment outcomes at a lower cost than a traditional site-based prospective approach.

Objectives

The central objective of this study is to create an integrated database from several complementary sources and to assess the feasibility and effectiveness of these integrated observational data for health outcomes research. Patient characteristics and outcomes were described to evaluate the enrichment attained through integration. This analysis presents a descriptive summary of the final study cohort that was obtained for the study.

Methods

Study Design

RESOUNDS (Real-World Treatment Sequences and Outcomes Among Patients With Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer) was a retrospective, observational cohort study that integrated data from 4 sources: administrative claims from the HealthCore Integrated Research Database (HIRD), clinical data from a quality initiative called the Cancer Care Quality Program (CCQP), clinical data extracted from patients' MRs obtained from treating providers, and all-cause mortality data from the Death Master File of the US Social Security Administration. Details of the RESOUNDS study design and each of these data sources have been published previously [26]. The study protocol was approved by the New England Institutional Review Board before the commencement of data collection activities. This study was conducted in full compliance with the relevant provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.

Patient Identification

Patients diagnosed with lung cancer who initiated 2L therapy between November 01, 2015, and April 13, 2018, were identified in the HIRD and CCQP data. Patients were required to receive 1 of the following 2L therapies alone or in combination: atezolizumab, docetaxel, erlotinib, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, pemetrexed, or ramucirumab. This subset of the original set of therapies listed in the protocol [26] was selected based on treatment guidelines and observed frequency of use during the study period, to ensure sufficient sample sizes to evaluate treatment patterns. Patients aged under 18 years at the start of 2L therapy were excluded. Due to the absence of specific International Classification of Diseases, Ninth and Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification codes for NSCLC, cancer type was confirmed via CCQP or MR data. Follow-up for all-cause death events was conducted through March 31, 2019.

Integrated Database Development

Patients were first identified in the CCQP data, where information on the type of lung cancer (NSCLC or not) was available, and information for patients with a record of 2L therapies of interest was retained. All cancer stages were included in the analyses. Second, lung cancer diagnosis and treatment claims were used to identify patients with 2L treatment in the HIRD. Patients who also had claims for other primary cancers were retained. All patients identified in the CCQP data were also included in the HIRD sample; patients who appeared in the HIRD but not the CCQP were retained. Third, copies of MRs were obtained from selected patients' 2L prescribers (focusing on oncologists, as identified in the HIRD) and screened for qualification (presence of evidence for NSCLC and that the index treatment was used as therapy for NSCLC). Regulatory and operational requirements for inclusion in this process consisted of patients having a fully insured status (vs administrative services only) and presence of complete contact

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23161
```

information for the 2L prescriber. Once obtained and screened, clinical information was abstracted from each record by trained health information management technicians using a standardized form. The target sample size for MR abstraction was 398 patients, based on the expected feasible accrual over the 2.5-year patient identification period.

Data from each source were accumulated in 3 consecutive waves to continuously build the database. After each MR abstraction wave was complete, the claims and CCQP data were refreshed to the most current date at that point to obtain additional follow-up outcomes. The integrated data were used to establish the main analysis cohort, consisting of patients with both claims and either CCQP or MR data (or both). Eligible patients from the HIRD who did not appear in the CCQP and for whom no MRs were obtained were included in the claims-only cohort (these patients could have any type and stage of lung cancer).

Patient Characteristics and Outcomes

Demographic and clinical characteristics, treatment patterns, and survival outcomes were recorded. Baseline was defined as the 6 months before the index date (start of 2L therapy). The Quan-Charlson Comorbidity Index (QCI) was calculated, excluding lung cancer and metastatic carcinoma [27]. A patient was considered to be on the same line of therapy until new agents were added (except for maintenance and platinum agent switching), a gap of >90 days between treatments, end of follow-up, or (for 2L and higher) discontinuation. The percentage of patients flagged as deceased (for all causes) was calculated using a combination of the Death Master File, a

hospitalization discharge code of *deceased* from claims, and mortality recorded from the health plan enrollment files.

Statistical Analysis

Univariate statistics including means, SDs, and medians for continuous variables and relative frequencies and percentages for categorical variables were reported. No hypothesis testing was performed. Statistical analysis was performed using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc).

Results

Data Integration and Patient Selection

Following data integration, the main analysis cohort consisted of 2195 patients. All patients had claims data, 2106 patients had CCQP data, and 407 patients had MR data (Table 1).

Approximately 47.14% (997/2115) of patients fulfilled regulatory and operational requirements for their MRs to be requested from their 2L-prescribing providers; for 54.5% (543/997) of those, the records were obtained. A large number of MRs were not obtained as outreach was stopped after the planned sample size (n=398) was achieved; others could not be obtained because the provider did not have a record of the particular patient or because of inability to contact the provider. Among the obtained records, the most frequent reason for exclusion was the absence of confirmation of NSCLC (43/543, 7.9% of the obtained records). The claims-only cohort comprised 931 patients. Table 2 details what variables were obtained from which source.



Table 1. Patient selection.

Criteria	First wave sam- ple (patients, n)	Second wave sample ^a (pa- tients, n)	Third wave sample (pa- tients, n)	Final sample ^b (patients, n)
Step A: Patients identified from CCQP ^c				
Step 1: Patients with non-small cell lung cancer	295	760	1428	d
Step 2: From step A1, patients with 2L ^e therapy ^f	174	469	863	_
Step B: Patients identified from claims				
Step 1: Patients with lung cancer claim before start of first-line therapy	640	1058	2187	_
Step 2: From step B1, patients with 2L therapy	368	600	1127	_
Step C: Combined patients from CCQP and claims				
Step 1: From A2 and B2, unique patients with 2L therapy	423	756	1732	2115
Step D: Patients considered for MR ^g review				
Step 1: Patients used for MR outreach	149	279	718	997
Step 2: Number of patient MRs obtained	102	194	349	543
Step 3: Number of failed MRs ^h	15	20	45	65
Step 4: Not used (target had been met previously)	_	_	62	62
Step 5: Final MRs used	87	174	242	416
Step E: Main analysis cohort (patients with claims and either CCQP or MR data) $% \mathcal{M} = M$	272	791	1446	2195 ⁱ
Step 1: Patients with CCQP data	223	748	1399	2106
Step 2: Patients with MR data	85	168	239	407
Step F: Claims-only cohort (patients with claims data only, no CCQP or MR data)	377	243	659	931 ⁱ

^aSecond wave included all patients from the first wave.

^bThe final sample removed duplicates that were included in >1 wave. For those patients, information from the most recent wave was used for analysis. ^cCCQP: Cancer Care Quality Program.

^dNot available.

^e2L: second-line therapy.

^f2L medications of interest included atezolizumab, docetaxel, erlotinib, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, pemetrexed, or ramucirumab.

^gMR: medical record.

^hMedical records excluded due to one or more of the following: no documentation of lung cancer, no documentation of non–small cell lung cancer, and patient mismatch (missing or unmatched name, sex, or date of birth; wrong timeframe; inconsistent clinical information).

ⁱThese are the final sample sizes for the 2 cohorts of interest.



Table 2. Variable sourcing by database type.

Variable	HealthCore Integrated Research Database (claims)	Cancer Care Quality Program	Medical record
Length of follow-up	✓ ^a	b	
Age	\checkmark	_	1
Gender	\checkmark	—	1
Health plan type	\checkmark	—	—
Geographic region of patient residence	\checkmark		_
Race/ethnicity	_		1
Weight, height, and BMI	—	—	1
Histology	—	1	1
Staging	Y ^c	\checkmark	1
Treating physician specialty	\checkmark		_
Smoking status	_		1
Performance status (Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group)	_	✓	1
Comorbidities	✓ (Quan-Charlson Comorbidity Index, secondary cancers)	_	_
Mortality	Z^d	_	_

^aIndicates variable was sourced from the data set listed in the column header.

^bVariable was not sourced from the data set listed in the column header.

^cIndicates the presence of claims for metastatic disease.

^dThis was based on the Death Master File data from the US Social Security Administration.

Demographic Characteristics at Baseline

In the main analysis cohort, mean age was 62.1 (SD 9.27) years and 48.56% (1066/2195) were female (Table 3), whereas in the claims-only cohort, mean age was 66.6 (SD 12.69) years and 52.1% (485/931) were female. More than two-thirds (1498/2195, 68.25%) of the main analysis cohort were from the Midwest and South, and 23.01% (505/2195) had Medicare Advantage or Supplemental and Part D coverage. In the claims-only cohort, patients were almost equally distributed across the West, Midwest, and South, with a smaller proportion (164/931, 17.6%) from the Northeast; almost half (457/931, 49.1%) had Medicare Advantage coverage. Treating physician specialty based on claims listed oncologists for 67.52% (1482/2195) of the main analysis population and for 30.7% (286/931) of the claims-only sample; this difference is by design as only patients whose 2L-prescribing providers were listed as oncologists were included in the MR phase. Among the 407 patients with MR data, 45.7% (186/407) were White, 3.7% (15/407) were Black, 3.2% (13/407) were other races, and 47.4% (193/407) had no race information. Race was not available in patients without MRs.



Table 3. Demographic characteristics at baseline (on or close to second-line therapy initiation date).

Variables	Main analysis cohort (n=2195)	Claims-only cohort (n=931)
Age at second-line therapy initiation (years), mean (SD)	62.1 (9.27)	66.6 (12.69)
Age categories (years), n (%)		
18-39	22 (1.0)	33 (3.5)
40-64	1509 (68.7)	343 (36.8)
65-74	412 (18.8)	278 (29.9)
≥75	252 (11.5)	277 (29.8)
Female, n (%)	1066 (48.6)	485 (52.1)
Health plan type, n (%)		
Health maintenance organization	769 (35.0)	225 (24.2)
Preferred provider organization	1126 (51.3)	628 (67.5)
Consumer-driven health plan	300 (13.7)	78 (8.4)
Medicare Advantage ^a , n (%)	505 (23.0)	457 (49.1)
Affordable Care Act exchange plan, n (%)	550 (25.1)	106 (11.4)
Geographic region of patient, n (%)		
Northeast	344 (15.7)	164 (17.6)
Midwest	815 (37.1)	262 (28.1)
South	683 (31.1)	274 (29.4)
West	353 (16.1)	231 (24.8)
Treating physician specialty, n (%)		
Oncology	1482 (67.5)	286 (30.7)
Pulmonary medicine	34 (1.5)	18 (1.9)
Primary care provider	77 (3.5)	36 (3.9)
Other	481 (21.9)	133 (14.3)
Missing	121 (5.5)	458 (49.2)

^aIncludes Supplemental and Part D plans.

Clinical Characteristics at Baseline

In the main analysis cohort, the mean QCI was 1.6 (SD 1.59). The most frequent comorbidities were dyspnea (1417/2195, 64.56%), chronic pulmonary disease (1125/2195, 51.25%), hypertension (1073/2195, 48.88%), anemia (880/2195, 40.09%), and dyslipidemia (792/2195, 36.08%; Table 4). More than half of the main analysis cohort (1224/2195, 55.76%) had claims for additional or secondary malignancies and 79.41% (1743/2195) had claims for metastatic disease. In the claims-only cohort, the mean QCI was 1.8 (SD 1.69). The most frequently occurring comorbidities were hypertension (565/931, 60.7%), dyspnea (542/931, 58.2%), and dyslipidemia (403/931, 43.3%). Almost three-quarters (681/931, 73.1%) had codes for other malignancies and 67.9% (632/931) had codes for metastatic disease.

In the main analysis cohort, additional clinical information was available via CCQP and/or MRs (Table 5). Among the 407 patients with MR data, 59.2% (241/407) were former smokers, 16.5% (67/407) were current smokers, 14.3% (58/407) were never smokers, and 10.1% (41/407) had no documentation. Height and weight were available for the majority (341/407, 83.8% height; 371/407, 91.2% weight) of patients; mean BMI was 26.1 (SD 6.36). The most common cancer histology was adenocarcinoma (271/407, 66.6%); for most of the remainder, histology was not documented. Metastasis was noted in MRs for 95.1% (387/407) of the patients, most commonly to the lymph nodes (289/407, 71.0%). Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status was available for 96.26% (2113/2195) of the sample, and an ECOG score \geq 2 was observed in 21.20% (448/2113) of patients.



Grabner et al

Table 4. Clinical characteristics from claims at baseline (over 6 months before second-line therapy initiation date).

Variables	Main analysis cohort (n=2195)	Claims-only cohort (n=931)
QCI ^a , mean (SD)	1.6 (1.59)	1.8 (1.69)
QCI categories, n (%)		
0	570 (26.0)	230 (24.7)
1	705 (32.1)	271 (29.1)
2	414 (18.9)	185 (19.9)
3-5	444 (20.2)	212 (22.8)
6+	62 (2.8)	33 (3.5)
QCI comorbidities, n (%)		
Myocardial infarction	112 (5.1)	46 (4.9)
Congestive heart failure	195 (8.9)	111 (11.9)
Peripheral vascular disease	357 (16.3)	186 (20.0)
Cerebrovascular disease	255 (11.6)	100 (10.7)
Dementia	18 (0.8)	10 (1.1)
Chronic pulmonary disease	1125 (51.2)	390 (41.9)
Connective tissue/rheumatic disease	57 (2.6)	32 (3.4)
Peptic ulcer disease	31 (1.4)	13 (1.4)
Mild liver disease	421 (19.2)	162 (17.4)
Moderate or severe liver disease	10 (0.5)	<10 ^b
Paraplegia and hemiplegia	50 (2.3)	<10 ^b
Renal disease	172 (7.8)	127 (13.6)
Diabetes with chronic complications	96 (4.4)	75 (8.1)
Diabetes without chronic complications	380 (17.3)	211 (22.7)
Malignancy (excluding lung cancer)	1224 (55.8)	681 (73.1)
Metastatic carcinoma	1743 (79.4)	632 (67.9)
AIDS/HIV	<10 ^b	<10 ^b
Other comorbidities of interest, n (%)		
Anemia (any)	880 (40.1)	376 (40.4)
Anemia due to chemotherapy	323 (14.7)	92 (9.9)
Asthma	166 (7.6)	88 (9.5)
Cardiac dysrhythmias	375 (17.1)	199 (21.4)
Coronary heart disease	410 (18.7)	209 (22.4)
Depression	338 (15.4)	139 (14.9)
Dyslipidemia	792 (36.1)	402 (43.2)
Dyspnea	1417 (64.6)	542 (58.2)
Hypertension	1073 (48.9)	565 (60.7)
Idiopathic fibrosis of the lung	15 (0.7)	<10 ^b
Interstitial lung disease	29 (1.3)	<10 ^b
Peripheral vascular disease	361 (16.4)	187 (20.1)
Pneumonia	508 (23.1)	151 (16.2)
Pneumonitis	29 (1.3)	16 (1.7)
Pulmonary fibrosis	112 (5.1)	<10 ^b

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23161

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2021 | vol. 7 | iss. 2 |e23161 | p.129 (page number not for citation purposes)

```
Grabner et al
```

Variables	Main analysis cohort (n=2195)	Claims-only cohort (n=931)
Stroke	255 (11.6)	100 (10.7)
Thyroid disease	272 (12.4)	165 (17.7)
Tuberculosis	<10 ^b	<10 ^b

^aQCI: Quan-Charlson Comorbidity Index.

 $^{\rm b}\mbox{Values}\xspace<\!10$ have not been reported for patient confidentiality.

Grabner et al

Table 5. Clinical characteristics from Cancer Care Quality Program and/or medical records at baseline (on or close to second-line therapy initiation date).

Variables	Main analysis cohort
Information from MRs ^a ; valid N=407	
Smoking status, n (%)	
Current smoker	67 (16.5)
Former smoker	241 (59.2)
Never smoker	58 (14.3)
Not documented	41 (10.1)
Presence of number of years smoked, n (%)	201 (49.4)
Number of years smoked, mean (SD)	36.1 (13.48)
Presence of weight, n (%)	371 (91.2)
Weight (pounds), mean (SD)	165.0 (44.48)
Presence of height, n (%)	341 (83.8)
Height (inches), mean (SD)	66.5 (3.88)
Presence of BMI, n (%)	339 (83.3)
BMI, mean (SD)	26.1 (6.36)
Histology, n (%)	
Adenocarcinoma	271 (66.6)
Large-cell carcinoma	9 (2.2)
Bronchioloalveolar carcinoma	2 (0.5)
Mixed	3 (0.7)
Unspecified nonsquamous	2 (0.5)
Other	4 (1.0)
Unknown/not documented	116 (28.5)
Presence of metastasis, n (%)	387 (95.1)
Lymph nodes (thoracic region)	289 (71.0)
Supraclavicular nodes	87 (21.4)
Superior mediastinal nodes	201 (49.4)
Aortic nodes	64 (15.7)
Inferior mediastinal nodes	132 (32.4)
Hilar, lobar, and/or (sub)segmental nodes	199 (48.9)
Bone	190 (46.7)
Other respiratory systems (not trachea)	163 (40.0)
Brain	121 (29.7)
Liver	72 (17.7)
Adrenal gland	59 (14.5)
Number of metastases sites, mean (SD)	3.2 (1.90)
Information from Cancer Care Quality Program and/or MRs; valid N=2195	
Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status, n (%)	2113 (96.26)
0	464 (21.96)
1	1201 (56.84)
2	364 (17.23)
3	74 (3.50)

XSL•FO RenderX

Variables	Main analysis cohort
4	10 (0.47)
5	0 (0)
TNM ^b stage classification, n (%)	2146 (97.77)
0	0 (0)
1	<10
2	32 (1.49)
3	167 (7.78)
4	1935 (90.17)
Unknown or not documented	<10

^aMR: medical record.

^bTNM: tumor/lymph nodes/metastasis cancer staging system.

Length of Follow-Up and Mortality

The mean length of follow-up in months was 7.9 (SD 5.77) for the main analysis cohort (median 6.8) and 9.1 (SD 6.06) for the claims-only cohort (median 8.6). Death (for all causes) was observed in 37.77% (829/2195) of the main analysis cohort and 29.3% (273/931) of the claims-only cohort.

Treatment Patterns

Among the 1974 patients with first-line (1L) treatment information, 69.50% (1372/1974) used platinum-based regimens, 37.69% (744/1974) used pemetrexed-containing regimens, and 16.51% (326/1974) used single-agent chemotherapy (treatment groups are not mutually exclusive; Table 6). The mean duration of 1L therapy was 128 (median

90) days; 56.84% (1122/1974) switched to 2L therapy with a $gap \le 90$ days and 43.16% (852/1974) had a gap of >90 days before initiating 2L. The most frequent 2L treatment was 49.84%), immunotherapy (1094/2195,followed by platinum-based regimens (472/2195, 21.50%). The mean duration of 2L therapy was 169 (median 121) days; this variable was right-censored due to loss of follow-up. For patients with third- and/or fourth-line therapy (n=731 and 265, respectively), platinum-based regimens were used most frequently (418/731, 57.2% of third-line patients and 139/265, 52.5% of fourth-line patients), and 21.6% (158/731) of third-line patients and 20.4% (54/265) of fourth-line patients also used immunotherapy. Among the 269 patients who received radiation therapy after the initial diagnosis of NSCLC, 46.1% (124/269) patients received radiation therapy as a palliative treatment.

Grabner et al

Table 6. Treatment patterns from Cancer Care Quality Program and claims, measured from the initiation of first-line treatment to the end of follow-up.

Therapy	Main analysis cohort (N=2195)
1L ^a therapy, n (%)	1974 (89.9)
Chemotherapy, n (%)	
Platinum-based regimen	1372 (69.5)
Nonplatinum-based regimen	90 (4.6)
Pemetrexed-containing regimen	744 (37.7)
Single-agent chemotherapy	326 (16.5)
Immunotherapy, n (%)	
PD-1/PD-(L)1 ^b inhibitor-containing regimen	241 (12.2)
Targeted therapy, n (%)	
EGFR ^c TKIs ^d -containing regimen	98 (5.0)
EGFR mAb ^e -containing regimen	11 (0.6)
VEGF ^f mAb-containing regimen	308 (15.6)
ALK ^g inhibitor	21 (1.1)
Duration of time (days) between initial lung cancer diagnosis and 1L treatment, mean (SD)	134.6 (380.98)
Duration (days) of 1L therapy, mean (SD) ^h	127.7 (142.75)
Treatment change, n (%)	
Gap of ≤90 days before 2L ⁱ	1122 (56.8)
Gap of >90 days before 2L	852 (43.2)
2L therapy, n (%)	2195 (100.0)
Chemotherapy	
Platinum-based regimen	472 (21.5)
Nonplatinum-based regimen	221 (10.1)
Pemetrexed-containing regimen	344 (15.7)
Single-agent chemotherapy	441 (20.1)
Immunotherapy	
PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitor-containing regimen	1094 (49.8)
Targeted therapy	
EGFR TKIs-containing regimen	36 (1.6)
EGFR mAb-containing regimen	10 (0.5)
VEGF mAb-containing regimen	141 (6.4)
ALK inhibitor	<10 ^j
Duration (days) of 2L therapy, mean $(SD)^k$	168.6 (148.4)
Radiation therapy following initial diagnosis of non-small cell lung cancer, n (%)	269 (12.3)
Intent of radiation therapy, n (%)	
Curative	21 (7.8)
Palliative	124 (46.1)
Both curative and palliative (separate instances)	15 (5.6)
Unknown	109 (40.5)

^a1L: first-line therapy.

XSL•FO RenderX

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23161

^bPD-(L)1: programmed death-(ligand) 1.
^cEGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor.
^dTKI: tyrosine kinase inhibitor.
^emAb: monoclonal antibodies.
^fVEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor.
^gALK: anaplastic lymphoma kinase.
^hMedian 90.0.
ⁱ2L: second-line therapy.
^jValues <10 have not been reported for patient confidentiality.
^kMedian 121.0.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study combined 3 data sources for the analysis of real-world outcomes in patients with NSCLC, conducting data integration on a large scale across disparate but complementary sources. It was designed to simulate a prospective observational study by identifying patients upfront within large preexisting databases and then following them within the data set to examine outcomes. One of the potential strengths of this approach is the development of a database that includes demographic, clinical, and health care resource utilization data that can more accurately assess health outcomes.

The use of big data from multiple sources, such as health plan enrollment, disease registries, and scanned image repositories, among others, is becoming more important for the accurate determination of patient outcomes, particularly in the setting of NSCLC [28-31]. With the current availability of a wide range of newer, more effective systemic therapies, including several novel biologic agents, the use of diverse provider, institutional, and registry databases is increasingly necessary to evaluate outcomes due to the gaps in administrative claims data alone [32-35]. As treatments in oncology have improved, patients with lung cancer are living longer with the ability to personalize care with novel targeted therapies. This approach, coupled with more effective treatment, means that treatment strategies are increasingly complex, and factors influencing these strategies and their resultant outcomes are not fully identifiable in administrative claims data. As a result, the effective evaluation of treatment outcomes increasingly draws on data from multiple sources across lines of treatment, providers, and institutions.

Real-world evidence (RWE), which is largely derived from big health care data, has increasingly been driven by important technological advances, including machine learning, natural language processing improvements in electronic medical systems, and the ability to link clinical and health claims data in private and public systems [9]. As RWE grows and gains value, especially for pragmatic clinical trials (PCTs), the traditional gold standard of a randomized clinical trial (RCT) is facing major hurdles: low recruitment rates, small patient populations, long durations, and high costs. This evolving environment, along with growing interest in PCTs, is increasing the importance of big data and RWE as a complement to RCTs [36,37].

Furthermore, a bigger role for RWE is developing in decision making across the health care system, including regulators,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23161
```

payers, providers, and patients. Part of the reason is that although RCTs have internal validity, which is essential for safety and efficacy determinations, results from clinical studies may have limited external validity. At the same time, RWE studies using big data are able to explore key clinical questions that are outside the scope of RCTs. Such studies are well suited for investigations seeking safety and effectiveness outcomes data for broader target populations. This is especially valuable for the evaluation of fast-tracked medical products, which typically gain regulatory approval based on limited data. In addition, large RWE studies are invaluable in detecting the side effects of treatments over longer periods. Other circumstances in which RWE is valuable include exploration of rare diseases, assessing the impact of treatment adherence, when rapid retrospective results are needed, comparing multiple treatments that have not been explored in trials, and focusing on population subsets of interest, given more heterogeneity and larger population sizes in real-world data compared with clinical trials [36-38].

Due to the frequency of onset of NSCLC later in life, our study sample included patients with an average age greater than 60 years, with females constituting about half of the study population, which is consistent with other real-world US outcomes studies that examined patients with NSCLC [39-48]. All prior studies, to our knowledge, that focused on the United States used 1 or 2 of the following data sources: administrative claims, registry data, or MR. Limitations of these studies fall into 2 categories: (1) missing data on potential confounders and/or outcomes of interest (eg, claims data can assess utilization outcomes but lack disease characteristics; MR data have a rich set of clinical characteristics but lack longitudinality and utilization or cost data) and (2) limited generalizability (eg, the SEER-Medicare linked data in the United States capture claims and cancer registry data only for patients aged 65 years or older).

The ability of our study to integrate data across 3 sources to create a cohort of NSCLC patients with rich clinical and economic data offers an important addition to the comparatively small body of data on the performance of data integration methods and the determination of health outcomes based on these data for patients with NSCLC. To the extent that our study sample reflects the larger national population affected by lung cancer and with commercial insurance, these data could be instructive for a range of decisions made by multiple health care stakeholders including providers and patients requiring insights into the allocation of resources and overall disease management that cannot be completely ascertained from a single data source alone. One example would be the interaction of biomarker testing, treatment choice, and health outcomes. Integrated data

XSL•FO RenderX

sets such as RESOUNDS that can be refreshed regularly also offer many opportunities for future research, such as treatment sequencing, disease progression, and health care resource utilization and costs.

Data Integration Challenges

Our study also highlighted some challenges in the creation, maintenance, and analysis of large integrated data sets. Integration of data sets in the midst of a rapid shift in the treatment landscape (such as the introduction of immune checkpoint inhibitors for oncology) may impact the value of data sets that are large and deep, but that include periods of time that are no longer relevant to current standards of care. The maintenance of these data sets requires constant refresh and update, so that the periods of interest to the investigator can be current and available for analysis. The wealth of data available in MRs presents challenges in identifying the trade-offs between generating a limited set of relevant but reasonably quickly available data versus a broader set of data that is potentially available but more difficult to obtain and prepare for analysis. Methods of data integration and data extraction may be improved with machine learning or natural language processing to reduce the manual extraction via data collection forms that was used in this study. Patient sample sizes available for analysis diminish when multiple data sources are required. Finally, there were specific data integration challenges in our study that resulted in additional effort needed by the project team to understand and address (eg, the estimated 2L therapy start date for a given patient sometimes differed between the data sources, plan enrollment changes entailed patients leaving or entering the data set multiple times, and conflicts between data sources for a given variable had to be resolved).

Study Limitations

Results based on integrated data must also be viewed with some limitations. The data quality and content will depend on the underlying data selected for integration. Specific to the data used for this project, limitations include the following: CCQP data were collected at the time of the prior authorization request, not at diagnosis. CCQP offers incentives to physicians for treating according to evidence-based guidelines created by the health plan, which could have influenced treatment choices. MR data may be underreported or missing due to vague, incomplete, or illegible entries; the inability to locate the required information; or missing patient files. ECOG performance status, a standard data item in cancer trials, is not always assessed in real-world patient care settings (in our study, this variable was available for 96.26% (2113/2195) of the sample, mostly from the CCQP), and information on race/ethnicity is often missing in claims data. Similarly, tumor growth and progression information is collected in various formats and levels of detail outside of a clinical trial setting. As a result, some of our research questions of interest had underpopulated data. Efforts by payers to tie provider reimbursement to the collection of key data points, for example, through quality improvement initiatives, may over time alleviate some of the missing data issues. Data collected during MR abstraction may have measurement errors linked to inconsistent coding, transcription, and data transfer errors. The typical limitations of claims data also apply. For example, a diagnosis code on a medical claim (eg, for secondary malignancies) does not guarantee the presence of a disease. Similarly, a claim for a prescription fill does not indicate that the medication was consumed or taken as prescribed. The generalizability of claims-based results is confined to similarly insured populations (eg, commercial, US-based in this study).

Conclusions

The care of patients with NSCLC requires a range of resources in a variety of settings in the real world. NSCLC and other forms of cancer are increasingly being managed like chronic diseases with a broad range of increasingly effective treatments. The assessment of real-world data to evaluate outcomes among patients with NSCLC will require the integration of a broad range of clinical data with health plan claims data. Overcoming data integration and completeness challenges will allow better informed decision making by all stakeholders of the health care system.

Acknowledgments

Funding for the study was provided to HealthCore, Inc by Eli Lilly and Company. Bernard Tulsi, an employee of HealthCore, Inc at the time of the study, provided writing and editorial support for this manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

MG is an employee of HealthCore, Inc, an independent research organization that received funding from Eli Lilly and Company for the conduct of this study. CM, KW, ZC, and LH are employees and stockholders of Eli Lilly and Company. GC was an employee of Eli Lilly and Company at the time the study was conducted. LW was an employee of HealthCore at the time the study was conducted.

References

- Garrison LP, Neumann PJ, Erickson P, Marshall D, Mullins CD. Using real-world data for coverage and payment decisions: the ISPOR Real-World Data Task Force report. Value Health 2007;10(5):326-335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2007.00186.x] [Medline: 17888097]
- Mahajan R. Real world data: additional source for making clinical decisions. Int J Appl Basic Med Res 2015;5(2):82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2229-516X.157148] [Medline: 26097811]

- 3. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, Health and Medicine Division, Board on Health Sciences Policy, Forum on Drug Discovery, Development, and Translation. Examining the impact of real-world evidence on medical product development. Proceedings published by the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine chronicle the presentations and discussions at a workshop, symposium, or other event convened by the National Academies 2019. [doi: 10.17226/25352] [Medline: 30964617]
- 4. Brooks GA, Bergquist SL, Landrum MB, Rose S, Keating NL. Classifying Stage IV lung cancer from health care claims: a comparison of multiple analytic approaches. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2019 May;3:1-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.18.00156] [Medline: 31070985]
- 5. Hess LM, Winfree KB, Muehlenbein CE, Zhu YE, Oton AB, Princic N, et al. Debunking myths while understanding limitations. Am J Public Health 2020 May;110(5):e2. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2020.305603</u>] [Medline: <u>32267743</u>]
- 6. Jairam V, Park HS. Strengths and limitations of large databases in lung cancer radiation oncology research. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2019 Sep;8(Suppl 2):172-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2019.05.06] [Medline: 31673522]
- Takahashi Y, Nishida Y, Asai S. Utilization of health care databases for pharmacoepidemiology. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2012 Feb;68(2):123-129. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00228-011-1088-2</u>] [Medline: <u>21808989</u>]
- Berner ES, Detmer DE, Simborg D. Will the wave finally break? A brief view of the adoption of electronic medical records in the United States. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2005;12(1):3-7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1664] [Medline: 15492029]
- Agiro A, Chen X, Eshete B, Sutphen R, Clark BE, Burroughs CM, et al. Data linkages between patient-powered research networks and health plans: a foundation for collaborative research. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Jul 01;26(7):594-602 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz012] [Medline: 30938759]
- Ma Q, Chung H, Shambhu S, Roe M, Cziraky M, Jones WS, et al. Administrative claims data to support pragmatic clinical trial outcome ascertainment on cardiovascular health. Clin Trials 2019 Aug;16(4):419-430. [doi: 10.1177/1740774519846853] [Medline: 31081367]
- 11. Pine M, Jordan HS, Elixhauser A, Fry DE, Hoaglin DC, Jones B, et al. Enhancement of claims data to improve risk adjustment of hospital mortality. J Am Med Assoc 2007 Jan 03;297(1):71-76. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.297.1.71</u>] [Medline: <u>17200477</u>]
- 12. Wilson J, Bock A. The benefit of using both claims data and electronic medical record data in health care analysis. Optum White Paper. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.optum.com/content/dam/optum/resources/whitePapers/</u> Benefits-of-using-both-claims-and-EMR-data-in-HC-analysis-WhitePaper-ACS.pdf [accessed 2021-03-03]
- Ke X, Navaratnam P, Sasane R, Lawrence DFE, Friedman HS, Tulsi BB, et al. Determinants of high cost in multiple sclerosis patients: a claims and chart review study. Curr Med Res Opin 2016 Sep;32(9):1589-1597. [doi: 10.1080/03007995.2016.1192529] [Medline: 27207562]
- Beachler DC, de Luise C, Yin R, Gangemi K, Cochetti PT, Lanes S. Predictive model algorithms identifying early and advanced stage ER+/HER2- breast cancer in claims data. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2019 Feb;28(2):171-178. [doi: 10.1002/pds.4681] [Medline: 30411431]
- Bronson MR, Kapadia NS, Austin AM, Wang Q, Feskanich D, Bynum JPW, et al. Leveraging linkage of cohort studies with administrative claims data to identify individuals with cancer. Med Care 2018 Dec;56(12):83-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000875] [Medline: 29334524]
- Turner RM, Chen Y, Fernandes AW. Validation of a case-finding algorithm for identifying patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC) in administrative claims databases. Front Pharmacol 2017;8:883 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00883] [Medline: 29249970]
- Parlett LE, Beachler DC, Lanes S, Hoover RN, Cook MB. Validation of an algorithm for claims-based incidence of prostate cancer. Epidemiology 2019 May;30(3):466-471 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1097/EDE.0000000000001007</u>] [Medline: <u>30829831</u>]
- Clarke CL, Feigelson HS. Developing an algorithm to identify history of cancer using electronic medical records. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2016;4(1):1209 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1209] [Medline: 27195308]
- Sathiakumar N, Delzell E, Yun H, Jooste R, Godby K, Falkson C, et al. Accuracy of medicare claim-based algorithm to detect breast, prostate, or lung cancer bone metastases. Med Care 2017 Dec;55(12):144-149. [doi: <u>10.1097/MLR.00000000000539</u>] [Medline: <u>29135778</u>]
- Uno H, Ritzwoller DP, Cronin AM, Carroll NM, Hornbrook MC, Hassett MJ. Determining the time of cancer recurrence using claims or electronic medical record data. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2018 Dec;2:1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.17.00163] [Medline: 30652573]
- 21. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 2020 Jan;70(1):7-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21590] [Medline: 31912902]
- 22. American Cancer Society. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/all-cancer-facts-figures/</u> <u>cancer-facts-figures-2020.html</u> [accessed 2021-03-03]
- Houston KA, Henley SJ, Li J, White MC, Richards TB. Patterns in lung cancer incidence rates and trends by histologic type in the United States, 2004-2009. Lung Cancer 2014 Oct;86(1):22-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2014.08.001] [Medline: 25172266]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23161
```

- 24. Kalemkerian GP, Loo BW, Akerley W, Attia A, Bassetti M, Boumber Y, et al. NCCN guidelines insights: small cell lung cancer, version 2.2018. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2018 Oct;16(10):1171-1182. [doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2018.0079] [Medline: 30323087]
- 25. Morabito A. Second-line treatment for advanced NSCLC without actionable mutations: is immunotherapy the 'panacea' for all patients? BMC Med 2018 Feb 16;16(1):24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1011-0] [Medline: 29448944]
- 26. Hess LM, Kern DM, Carter GC, Winfree K, Wang L, Sontag A, et al. Real-world treatment sequences and outcomes among patients with non-small cell lung cancer (RESOUNDS) in the United States: study protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Oct 11;6(10):e195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7750] [Medline: 29021129]
- 27. Quan H, Li B, Couris CM, Fushimi K, Graham P, Hider P, et al. Updating and validating the Charlson comorbidity index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. Am J Epidemiol 2011 Mar 15;173(6):676-682. [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq433] [Medline: 21330339]
- Asan O, Nattinger AB, Gurses AP, Tyszka JT, Yen TWF. Oncologists' views regarding the role of electronic health records in care coordination. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2018 Dec;2:1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.17.00118] [Medline: 30652555]
- 29. Cortinovis D, Abbate M, Bidoli P, Pelizzoni D, Canova S. Interpretation of lung cancer study outcomes. J Thorac Dis 2015 Nov;7(11):E541-E547 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.26] [Medline: 26716052]
- Tevaarwerk AJ, Wisinski KB, Buhr KA, Njiaju UO, Tun M, Donohue S, et al. Leveraging electronic health record systems to create and provide electronic cancer survivorship care plans: a pilot study. J Oncol Pract 2014 May;10(3):e150-e159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JOP.2013.001115] [Medline: 24520142]
- Wu J, Tan Y, Chen Z, Zhao M. Decision based on big data research for non-small cell lung cancer in medical artificial system in developing country. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2018 Jun;159:87-101. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2018.03.004</u>] [Medline: <u>29650322</u>]
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Spigel DR, Steins M, Ready NE, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2015 Oct 22;373(17):1627-1639 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1507643] [Medline: 26412456]
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crinò L, Eberhardt WE, Poddubskaya E, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2015 Jul 09;373(2):123-135. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmoa1504627</u>]
- 34. Garon EB, Ciuleanu T, Arrieta O, Prabhash K, Syrigos KN, Goksel T, et al. Ramucirumab plus docetaxel versus placebo plus docetaxel for second-line treatment of stage IV non-small-cell lung cancer after disease progression on platinum-based therapy (REVEL): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet 2014 Aug 23;384(9944):665-673. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60845-X] [Medline: 2493332]
- Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim D, Felip E, Pérez-Gracia JL, Han J, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2016 Apr 09;387(10027):1540-1550. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01281-7] [Medline: 26712084]
- Hampson G, Towse A, Dreitlein B, Henshall C, Pearson S. Real-world evidence for coverage decisions: opportunities and challenges. J Comp Eff Res 2018 Dec;7(12):1133-1143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2217/cer-2018-0066] [Medline: 30411972]
- Katkade VB, Sanders KN, Zou KH. Real world data: an opportunity to supplement existing evidence for the use of long-established medicines in health care decision making. J Multidiscip Healthc 2018;11:295-304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S160029] [Medline: 29997436]
- 38. Berger M, Daniel G, Frank K, Hernandez A, McClellan M, Okun S, et al. A framework for regulatory use of real-world evidence. Duke Margolis Center for Health Policy. 2017 Sep 13. URL: <u>https://healthpolicy.duke.edu/sites/default/files/</u> <u>2020-08/rwe white paper 2017.09.06.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-03-03]
- Abernethy AP, Arunachalam A, Burke T, McKay C, Cao X, Sorg R, et al. Real-world first-line treatment and overall survival in non-small cell lung cancer without known EGFR mutations or ALK rearrangements in US community oncology setting. PLoS One 2017;12(6) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178420] [Medline: 28644837]
- 40. Bittoni MA, Arunachalam A, Li H, Camacho R, He J, Zhong Y, et al. Real-world treatment patterns, overall survival, and occurrence and costs of adverse events associated with first-line therapies for medicare patients 65 years and older with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a retrospective study. Clin Lung Cancer 2018 Sep;19(5):629-645 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2018.04.017] [Medline: 29885945]
- 41. Davies J, Patel M, Gridelli C, de Marinis F, Waterkamp D, McCusker ME. Real-world treatment patterns for patients receiving second-line and third-line treatment for advanced non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review of recently published studies. PLoS One 2017;12(4) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175679] [Medline: 28410405]
- Foster CC, Sher DJ, Rusthoven CG, Verma V, Spiotto MT, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Overall survival according to immunotherapy and radiation treatment for metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: a National Cancer Database analysis. Radiat Oncol 2019 Jan 28;14(1):18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13014-019-1222-3] [Medline: 30691492]
- Hess LM, Louder A, Winfree K, Zhu YE, Oton AB, Nair R. Factors associated with adherence to and treatment duration of erlotinib among patients with non-small cell lung cancer. J Manag Care Spec Pharm 2017 Jun;23(6):643-652. [doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2017.16389] [Medline: 28530522]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23161
```

- Horn L, Bauml J, Forde PM, Davis KL, Myall NJ, Sasane M, et al. Real-world treatment patterns and survival of patients with BRAF V600-mutated metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2019 Feb;128:74-90. [doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.12.003] [Medline: 30642457]
- 45. Li Y, Appius A, Pattipaka T, Feyereislova A, Cassidy A, Ganti AK. Real-world management of patients with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer in the USA. PLoS One 2019;14(1) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0209709] [Medline: 30608948]
- 46. Nadler E, Espirito JL, Pavilack M, Boyd M, Vergara-Silva A, Fernandes A. Treatment patterns and clinical outcomes among metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer patients treated in the community practice setting. Clin Lung Cancer 2018 Jul;19(4):360-370 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2018.02.002] [Medline: 29576407]
- 47. Ryan KJ, Skinner KE, Fernandes AW, Punekar RS, Pavilack M, Walker MS, et al. Real-world treatment patterns among patients with unresected stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Future Oncol 2019 Sep;15(25):2943-2953 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2217/fon-2018-0939] [Medline: 31037966]
- Simeone JC, Nordstrom BL, Patel K, Klein AB. Treatment patterns and overall survival in metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer in a real-world, US setting. Future Oncol 2019 Oct;15(30):3491-3502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2217/fon-2019-0348] [Medline: 31497994]

Abbreviations

IL: first-line
2L: second-line
CCQP: Cancer Care Quality Program
ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
HIRD: HealthCore Integrated Research Database
MR: medical record
NSCLC: non-small cell lung cancer
QCI: Quan-Charlson Comorbidity Index
RCT: randomized clinical trial
RESOUNDS: Real-World Treatment Sequences and Outcomes Among Patients With Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer
RWE: real-world evidence

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 04.08.20; peer-reviewed by T Burke, N Hesam-Shariati; comments to author 19.10.20; revised version received 29.01.21; accepted 01.02.21; published 12.04.21.

Please cite as: Grabner M, Molife C, Wang L, Winfree KB, Cui ZL, Cuyun Carter G, Hess LM Data Integration to Improve Real-world Health Outcomes Research for Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer in the United States: Descriptive and Qualitative Exploration JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e23161 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e23161 doi:10.2196/23161 PMID:33843600

©Michael Grabner, Cliff Molife, Liya Wang, Katherine B Winfree, Zhanglin Lin Cui, Gebra Cuyun Carter, Lisa M Hess. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 12.04.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Clinicopathological Criteria Predictive of Recurrence Following Bacillus Calmette-Guérin Therapy Initiation in Non–Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer: Retrospective Cohort Study

Joseph Plasek¹, PhD; John Weissert¹, BA; Tracy Downs², MD; Kyle Richards², MD; Kourosh Ravvaz¹, PhD, MD, MPH

¹Advocate Aurora Research Institute, Milwaukee, WI, United States

²School of Medicine and Public Health, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

Corresponding Author:

Kourosh Ravvaz, PhD, MD, MPH Advocate Aurora Research Institute 960 N 12th Street Milwaukee, WI, 53233 United States Phone: 1 4142195371 Fax: 1 4142195381 Email: ravvaz@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) is currently the most clinically effective intravesical treatment for non–muscle-invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC), particularly for patients with high-risk NMIBC such as those with carcinoma in situ. BCG treatments could be optimized to improve patient safety and conserve supply by predicting BCG efficacy based on tumor characteristics or clinicopathological criteria.

Objective: The aim of this study is to assess the ability of specific clinicopathological criteria to predict tumor recurrence in patients with NMIBC who received BCG therapy along various treatment timelines.

Methods: A total of 1331 patients (stage Ta, T1, or carcinoma in situ) who underwent transurethral resection of a bladder tumor between 2006 and 2017 were included. Univariate analysis, including laboratory tests (eg, complete blood panels, creatinine levels, and hemoglobin A_{1c} levels) within 180 days of BCG therapy initiation, medications, and clinical and demographic variables to assess their ability to predict NMIBC recurrence, was completed. This was followed by multivariate regression that included the elements of the Club Urológico Español de Tratamiento Oncológico (CUETO) scoring model and variables that were significant predictors of recurrence in univariate analysis.

Results: BCG was administered to 183 patients classified as intermediate or high risk, and 76 (41.5%) experienced disease recurrence. An abnormal neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio measured within 180 days of induction BCG therapy was a significant predictor (P=.047) of future cancer recurrence and was a stronger predictor than the CUETO score or the individual variables included in the CUETO scoring model through multivariate analysis.

Conclusions: An abnormal neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio within 180 days of BCG therapy initiation is predictive of recurrence and could be suggestive of additional or alternative interventions.

(JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e25800) doi:10.2196/25800

KEYWORDS

RenderX

urinary bladder neoplasms; risk factor; bacillus Calmette-Guérin; recurrence

Introduction

Background and Significance

Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) is currently the most clinically effective intravesical treatment for non–muscle-invasive bladder

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25800

cancer (NMIBC), particularly for patients with high-risk NMIBC such as those with carcinoma in situ (CIS). Unfortunately, recent manufacturing insufficiencies have resulted in a worldwide, health-threatening BCG shortage [1-4]. Optimizing the limited supply by identifying patients who could benefit the most from

BCG treatment is essential from a public health perspective because the percentage of patients with NMIBC who fail BCG treatment has been reported to be as high as 40% [5]. BCG optimization could also improve patient safety by reducing BCG treatments that have a low probability of improving clinical outcomes [6]. The incidence of BCG-related adverse effects is considerable-nearly 70% of the patients with NMIBC in a large, randomized controlled trial experienced local or systemic complications, including a long-term risk of treatment sequelae that can develop years after BCG therapy initiation [7,8]. In an era of BCG shortage, a prediction model that could predict NMIBC recurrence following BCG therapy initiation (ie, BCG failure) could support both public health and precision medicine. A risk-adapted approach for BCG maintenance therapy could continue to minimize treatment-related toxicity and optimize cost-effectiveness regardless of BCG availability in the future [4].

The heterogeneous risk of cancer recurrence and progression in patients with NMIBC has led to the investigation of a wide range of methods and factors for predicting a patient's prognosis, including the Club Urológico Español de Tratamiento Oncológico (CUETO) scoring model, which was designed for patients treated with BCG, and European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer nomograms [9]. Although the CUETO scoring model and European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer nomograms are the most widely used predictive models to date, their accuracy is inconsistent, and the search continues to find better clinical, pathological, genetic, or demographic prognostic features, alone or in combination [10-12]. In studies with patients who received BCG treatment, the findings suggest that recurrence and disease progression may be predicted by indicators of health (eg, BMI) of inflammation (eg, and measures an elevated neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio) [13-16]. Other novel prognostic measures for BCG recipients include immunological or cytokine-based markers (eg, urinary fluorescence in situ hybridization testing and urinary cytokine-based nomograms), protein-based biomarkers (eg, ezrin), and gene-based biomarkers (eg, quantifying mutations in DNA damage repair genes) [8].

Objective

Debate and uncertainty persist regarding the potential of various clinical risk factors. The overarching goal of this study is to identify and validate easily employable risk factors that predict BCG failure. Although immunological or cytokine-based markers, protein-based biomarkers, and gene-based biomarkers show potential, they require extra expenditure and testing because they are not collected in the normal course of clinical care. In contrast, clinicopathological criteria are often captured as part of the clinical workflow and are thus actionable at the time that treatment decisions are being made. The aim of this study, therefore, is to assess the ability of commonly used clinicopathological criteria or medications to predict recurrence in patients with NMIBC who were treated with intravesical BCG.

Methods

Recruitment

We conducted a retrospective cohort analysis following institutional review board (IRB) approval. From 2006 to 2017, a total of 1331 patients underwent transurethral resection (TUR) of a bladder tumor that was clinically staged as non-muscle invasive. Patients received care within a community health care system in the Midwest that includes 17 different hospitals dispersed across a wide geographic area that spans rural, suburban, and urban locations. Data captured during the normal course of clinical care were extracted and collated retrospectively from the cancer registry (ie, patient demographics, cancer diagnosis, recurrence, and treatment) and electronic health records (EHRs; ie, surgery and pathology reports, medication orders, laboratory tests, procedure codes, and billing diagnoses). We used a hybrid data extraction and preparation pipeline incorporating automated, semiautomated, and manual techniques. A detailed description of the pipeline can be found in our previous study [17]. This study was performed in compliance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki on Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects and was reviewed and approved by the IRB. The IRB waived the requirement for informed consent because of the low risks of the study.

We included patients with NMIBC and a primary or recurrent diagnosis of Ta or T1 urothelial carcinoma or CIS per the American Joint Committee on Cancer tumor size, node involvement, and metastasis system [18]. Patients were excluded from the study if they had metastatic urothelial carcinoma. Patient follow-up continued from the initial TUR (index TUR) until recurrence, progression (ie, \geq stage T2), cystectomy, death, or last known bladder cancer–directed treatment (ie, cystourethroscopy, TUR, urologist visit, BCG instillation, chemotherapy instillation, or urine cytology test). Only patients newly diagnosed with NMIBC on the index TUR were enrolled into this study.

Measures

Recurrence following the index TUR was the primary outcome of interest in this study. Recurrence was defined as cancer returning more than 6 weeks after the index TUR. In contrast, a TUR occurring 2-6 weeks after the index TUR was defined as a Re-TUR (ie, a second-look TUR) instead of a recurrence. Progression, in this study, was defined as cancer upstaging to \geq stage T2 or patients requiring cystectomy. Bladder cancer recurrence and progression were identified using pathology reports and the dates of the events listed in the cancer registry. The date of decease was also captured in the cancer registry. The BCG instillation date was extracted from (1) procedure billing data, (2) medication administration records, (3) medication order records (ie, prescription), or (4) extracted from a free-text chemotherapy field in the cancer registry data.

Pathology reports were reviewed to determine tumor stage, size, quantity, and grade for each TUR. The tumor stage recorded was the highest stage confirmed by the pathologist. Tumor grade was captured in, or converted to, the 2004 World Health Organization grading system. Tumor size was stratified into

small (\leq 3 cm) or large (>3 cm). CIS and lymphovascular invasion were extracted from the cancer registry. The study cohort is exclusively composed of patients with a primary cancer diagnosis; therefore, all patients with a prior incidence of NMIBC were excluded. Variant histology was extracted from the pathology reports, although all patients with variant histology in the data were staged T2 or higher in their index TUR and, thus, were excluded from the study. High-grade prostatic urethral involvement occurs when the cancer preferentially invades the prostatic urethra before the bladder muscle and was extracted from the pathology reports. Age was calculated based on the difference between the date of the index TUR and date of birth and was extracted from the cancer registry (along with sex).

Several clinical characteristics associated with the efficacy of BCG treatment were extracted from the EHR, including white

blood cell, lymphocyte, neutrophil, monocyte, and platelet counts and levels of creatinine and hemoglobin A_{1c} (Table 1). The derived neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio were computed based on the EHR data. We investigated three different time frames corresponding to pre-TUR, 180 days after TUR, and beyond 180 days after TUR (Multimedia Appendix 1). The pre-TUR timeframe corresponds to prior risks. A +1- to +180-day after TUR time frame covers the induction BCG and early maintenance BCG treatments. The delta in laboratory values was calculated to further evaluate whether a change in the patients' baseline clinical characteristics following BCG treatment demonstrated any clinical relevance in predicting recurrence (Multimedia Appendix 1). Patients who received BCG did not have an estimated glomerular filtration rate or tuberculosis status noted for the purposes of this study.



 Table 1. Clinicopathological criteria or medication definitions.

Type and clinicopathological criterion or medication	Description
Binary	
BCG ^a instillation	First instillation of BCG documented 0-90 days after TUR ^b
Epirubicin	Epirubicin use documented 0-90 days after TUR
Tuberculostatic agents	Use of isoniazid isonicotinylhydrazide, rifampicin, rifambutin, fluoroquinolones (ofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, and moxifloxacin), ethambutol, clarithromycin, aminoglycosides (gentamicin, amikacin, tobramycin, kanamycin, and neomycin), or doxycycline documented –30 to 90 days of induction BCG (index to median day of BCG administration if no BCG)
Spasmolytics or anticholinergics	Use of spasmolytics: oxybutynin documented –30 to 90 days of induction BCG (index to median day of BCG administration if no BCG)
Antiphlogistics	Use of antiphlogistics: fluticasone documented –30 to 90 days of induction BCG (index to median day of BCG administration if no BCG)
Topical steroids	Use of local topical steroids: betamethasone, clobetasol, diflorasone, fluocinoide, halobetasol, amcinonide, desoximetasone, propionate, triamcinolone, fluocinolone, hydrocortisone, desonide, alclometasone, and mometasone documented –30 to 90 days of induction BCG (index to median day of BCG administration if no BCG)
Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	Use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: aspirin, ibuprofen, naproxen, nabumetone, celecoxib, diclofenac, etodolac, indomethacin, ketoprofen, ketorolac, and piroxicam documented –30 to 90 days of induction BCG (index to median day of BCG administration if no BCG)
Numeric	
General description	 Most recent (laboratory test) occurring 1-180 days after induction BCG computed 14 days before the next event (ie, TUR but not Re-TUR^c, recurrence, progression, or death) Difference between the most recent (laboratory test) occurring 1-180 days after induction BCG computed 14 days before next event and the most recent (laboratory test) occurring 90-0 days before induction BCG (index to median day of BCG administration if no BCG)
Lymphocyte count (normal: 20%-40% differential)	N/A ^d
Neutrophil count (normal: 55%-70% differential)	N/A
Monocyte count (normal: 2%-8% differential)	N/A
Platelet count (K/µL)	N/A
White blood cell count (K/µL)	N/A
Creatinine level (mg/dL)	N/A
Hemoglobin A _{1c} (mmol/mol)	N/A
Computed percentage	
General description	 Most recent (laboratory test) occurring 1-180 days after induction BCG computed 14 days before the next event (ie, TUR but not Re-TUR, recurrence, progression, or death) Difference between the most recent (laboratory test) occurring 1-180 days after induction BCG computed 14 days before next event and the most recent (laboratory test) occurring 90-0 days before induction BCG (index to median day of BCG administration if no BCG)
Derived neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio	N/A
Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio	N/A

^aBCG: bacillus Calmette-Guérin.

^bTUR: transurethral resection of a bladder tumor.

^cRe-TUR: second-look transurethral resection of a bladder tumor.

^dN/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

We additionally extracted medication information from the EHR for drugs that potentially interact with BCG, such as epirubicin (Table 1). Several medications that are used to

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25800

prevent or manage BCG-associated adverse effects were extracted from medication administration and prescription data, including tuberculostatic agents, spasmolytics or

Plasek et al

anticholinergics, antiphlogistics, local topical steroids, cranberry supplements, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (Table 1) [19]. Patients who received BCG did not have documented use of cranberry supplements, and more contemporary medications such as pembrolizumab or atezolizumab were not available in the data during the time frame of this study [20]. The CUETO scoring model includes the variables of age, gender, number of tumors, tumor stage, grade, and presence of concomitant CIS. We investigated each variable included in the CUETO scoring model to determine if these risk factors were predictive of NMIBC recurrence in this cohort. We also investigated additional risk factors that have been previously demonstrated to predict NMIBC recurrence in the setting of BCG therapy such as perioperative chemotherapy agents, race, and diabetes (Multimedia Appendix 1) [21].

Statistical Analysis

The 2016 American Urological Association (AUA) risk guidelines for recurrence were used to stratify each index TUR as low, medium, or high risk [22]. This stratification was used to describe cohort characteristics and BCG use. TURs identified as low risk were excluded from the remainder of the analysis because BCG was less likely to be clinically necessary or efficacious for these patients and thus rarely administered. Summary statistics were calculated using R version 3.5.2 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing) and grouped by BCG use. The CUETO risk stratification tables for predicting recurrence were used as a multivariate measure of BCG efficacy because the CUETO scoring model was designed to consider BCG use as opposed to other NMIBC predictive models [9,23].

We used the Mann-Whitney U test—using the Wilcox test function in the stats package (version 1.8.12) in R—to compare patients who received BCG and were designated as intermediate to high risk for recurrence and BCG failure. Variables with a Mann-Whitney U value of <0.1 were considered candidates for multivariate logistic regression. Various combinations of multivariate logistic regression were tested using the generalized linear model function in the stats package in R, and the one with the highest area under the receiver operating characteristic curve was selected.

Results

Of the 1331 patients, 855 (64.24%) were intermediate to high risk according to the 2016 AUA guidelines, among whom 183 (21.4%) received an induction course of BCG (Figure 1; Table 2). Of the patients classified as intermediate to high risk who lost to follow-up (Figure 1), only 38 had a last check-in within 180 days of the index TUR (13 lost in less than 30 days; 8 lost between day 31 and day 60; 4 lost between day 61 and day 90; 6 lost between day 91 and day 120; and 7 lost between day 121 and day 180). In this cohort of 1331 patients with NMIBC, 105 (7.8%) progressed; however, all but the 5 included in Figure 1 followed at least one NMIBC recurrence event. The mean and median dates of BCG administration were 88 and 89 days, respectively, after the index TUR. White blood cell, monocyte and neutrophil counts as well as neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio measured between 1 and 180 days after BCG instillation were predictive of cancer recurrence in patients classified as intermediate and high risk who received BCG following an initial TUR (Table 3; Multimedia Appendix 1).

Figure 1. Patient flowchart. AUA: American Urological Association; BCG: bacillus Calmette-Guérin; TUR: transurethral resection of a bladder tumor.


Table 2.	Next event and cohort	characteristics at the	initial transurethral	resection of the blac	dder tumor by bacil	us Calmette-Guérin status.
----------	-----------------------	------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	---------------------	----------------------------

Characteristic	Received BCG ^a (n=183), n (%)	No BCG (n=672), n (%)	P value
Sex (male)	143 (78.1)	507 (75.5)	.45
White	175 (95.6)	652 (97)	.35
African American	6 (3.3)	14 (2.1)	.34
Hispanic ethnicity	3 (1.6)	9 (1.3)	.73
Other ethnicity	2 (1.1)	6 (0.9)	.68
Stage Ta	81 (44.3)	433 (64.4)	<.001
Stage T1	104 (56.8)	241 (35.7)	<.001
Low grade	34 (18.6)	320 (47.6)	<.001
High grade	149 (81.4)	354 (52.7)	<.001
Carcinoma in situ	99 (54.1)	99 (14.7)	<.001
Re-TUR ^b	32 (17.5)	63 (9.4)	.002
Mitomycin ^c	33 (18)	44 (6.5)	<.001
Cisplatin ^c	1 (0.5)	2 (0.3)	.51
Gemcitabine ^c	0 (0)	2 (0.3)	.99
Recurrence	76 (41.5)	309 (45.9)	.28
Progression	1 (0.5)	4 (0.6)	.99
Death	21 (11.5)	158 (23.5)	<.001

^aBCG: bacillus Calmette-Guérin.

^bRe-TUR: second-look transurethral resection of a bladder tumor.

 c Chemotherapy agent used -30 to 90 days of initial index transurethral resection of the bladder tumor. There were no records of the use of lenalidomide, thiotepa, valrubicin, atezolizumab, and pembrolizumab.

Table 3. Club Urológico Español de Tratamiento Oncológico scoring model or statistically significant clinicopathological criteria in univariate analysisamong patients with intermediate- or high-risk non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer who received bacillus Calmette-Guérin (N=183) +1 to 180 daysafter induction.

Clinicopathological criterion	Missing ^a , n (%)	Recurrence (Mann-Whitney U test)	
Neutrophil count	73 (60.1)	0.009	
Derived neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio	73 (60.1)	0.03	
CUETO ^b , continuous	182 (99.5)	0.10	
CUETO, categorical ^c	182 (99.5)	0.07	
CUETO, gender	182 (99.5)	0.61	
CUETO, number of tumors	182 (99.5)	0.05	
CUETO, CIS ^d	182 (99.5)	0.33	
CUETO, high-grade tumor	182 (99.5)	0.34	
CUETO, age	183 (0)	0.75	

^aWe have complete data for CUETO and age (N=183), and 0% of the data are missing. For other CUETO, we have data for 182 patients, and the data are 99.5% complete. We have 60.1% of data (from 73 patients) for neutrophil count within that time span, with 39.9% not having a recorded lab test for this in the timespan.

^bCUETO: Club Urológico Español de Tratamiento Oncológico.

^cCUETO, categorical: ≤4, 0 points; 5 or 6, 1 point; 7-9, 2 points; and ≥10, 3 points.

^dCIS: carcinoma in situ.

XSL•FO

A univariate model with only a neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio of +1 to 180 days after BCG induction had an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of 64.55% (Figure 2).

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25800

Neither the CUETO scoring model nor any of its elements were found to be significant in univariate analysis in this cohort (Table 3) or when used as components in multivariate analysis

with the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio of +1 to 180 days after BCG induction (Table 4).

Figure 2. Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve for recurrence prediction. Time span: 1-180 days after bacillus Calmette-Guérin induction. CUETO: Club Urológico Español de Tratamiento Oncológico; Neutrophil: neutrophil count (differential); Lymphocyte: lymphocyte count (differential); Neutrophil Lymphocyte: derived neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio.



Table 4. Coefficients from multivariate regression with Club Urológico Español de Tratamiento Oncológico scoring model elements.

Coefficients	Estimate	SE	t test (df)	P value
(Intercept)	0.64586	0.18476	3.496 (66)	<.001
Gender	0.02581	0.04944	0.522 (175)	.60
Number of tumors	0.0927	0.08056	1.151 (175)	.25
Carcinoma in situ	-0.02382	0.07126	-0.334 (175)	.74
High-grade tumor	-0.07384	0.05686	-1.299 (175)	.20
Age	-0.12589	0.07109	-1.771 (175)	.08
Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio	0.03017	0.01492	2.022 (66)	.047

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our main finding was that in patients with intermediate- or high-risk NMIBC who received BCG, the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio measured between +1 and 180 days after BCG instillation was predictive of subsequent BCG failure. Early detection of BCG failure could prevent metastatic NMIBC progression by intervening earlier in tumor development. In addition, in the era of BCG shortages around the country, if patients elect to switch to BCG-salvage regimes,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25800
```

RenderX

early detection of BCG failure would also preserve BCG supply for the patients who truly need it. In this study, we evaluated whether common clinicopathological variables might be predictive of BCG failure in patients with elevated risk. BCG failure is broadly categorized as refractory, relapsing (ie, recurrence), unresponsive, and intolerant cases [24-26]. However, we did not have information on BCG intolerance and, therefore, did not include this information in our analysis. These results suggest that white blood cell, monocyte, and neutrophil counts as well as the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio measured between 1 and 180 days after BCG instillation were as predictive of cancer recurrence in patients classified as intermediate and

high risk who received BCG following an initial TUR while adjusting for the CUETO score. This suggests that monitoring blood panels is useful in the first 6 months after BCG instillation to evaluate whether BCG failure is likely to occur. In addition, neutrophil count alone, when measured within 180 days of BCG instillation, provides predictive performance equivalent to that of monocyte count, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, or combinations of these variables.

For patients who undergo BCG therapy, the CUETO risk model was designed to predict the probability of cancer recurrence and progression. However, in this cohort, the CUETO score was not a statistically significant differentiator for predicting recurrence after patients classified as low risk (AUA risk guidelines) were excluded from the cohort. This could be due to the poor generalizability of the CUETO scoring model. When external data were previously applied to these scores, the CUETO scoring model overestimated disease recurrence and demonstrated a poor ability to predict recurrence [10-12]. Perhaps, most importantly, these results show that even when the CUETO elements were included in the multivariate analysis, the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio remains a robust predictor. This provides preliminary evidence that in a diverse cohort of patients with NMIBC treated with BCG. the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio could help guide treatment decision making, particularly for NMIBC surveillance. If patients with elevated risk demonstrate а neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio indicative of BCG failure, they might benefit from more frequent cystoscopy, enhanced cystoscopy techniques, or additional imaging procedures. This is similar to current AUA guideline recommendations for patients with high-risk disease who show positive cytology during surveillance [22]. Additional prospective studies are warranted to determine the predictive power of the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in a large randomized sample of patients with NMIBC.

The clinicopathological criteria—neutrophils and lymphocytes—are consistent with those in the study by Vartolomei et al [15]; however, the time frame of measurement differs, which deserves further investigation. As BCG is known to be immunostimulatory, markers of net functional immunity, such as the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, are affected by its use. Although these markers of net functional immunity are nonmodifiable, they can be useful clinically to predict the failure of the BCG treatment strategy by informing the clinician that recurrence is likely, and another clinical intervention is required.

A second course of BCG induction may be reasonable for refractory or relapsing cases because approximately 25%-50% of these patients will respond to this subsequent induction [24-27]. We concur with Zamboni et al [10] that the completeness of BCG schedules may be useful to include in future models for optimizing BCG use across the entire course, rather than just the induction. Future studies with sufficient power to capture data for all subclassifications of BCG failure (particularly progression) or following a second course of BCG induction may provide additional insights into predicting BCG efficacy.

Plasek et al

Our data sets only contain data for patients before the halt in the production of the Connaught BCG strain by Sanofi Pasteur, thus precluding any impact analysis, although we expect that these effects are likely more recent than the 2017 stoppage, and we are unaware of the date corresponding to when stockpiles of that strain became unavailable [3,28]. Several clinical recommendations on how to manage patients with NMIBC when BCG supplies are low can be found in the clinical literature [1,2]. Patients at increased risk for BCG failure could undergo additional surveillance, receive maintenance intravesical chemotherapy in addition to induction BCG, or become candidates for timely cystectomy. Given the poor generalizability of the CUETO scoring model in the literature [10-12], external validation of these results is warranted before recommending additional expenditure on complete blood panels that are requested outside of the current standard of care.

Continuous monitoring of a patient's clinicopathological criteria for the duration of NMIBC treatment to predict future recurrence events is a unique aspect of this study. Another unique aspect was to account for differences in markers of net functional immunity (eg, neutrophil count and lymphocyte count) over time, effectively evaluating whether the changes are predictive. Although the changes in neutrophil count were significant in univariate analysis (Table 3), the value of the neutrophil count at +1 to 180 days after BCG induction was sufficient to account for this change in the multivariate analysis. The temporality of when things are measured with respect to an event (eg, BCG induction) is important when considering risk factors because the time period from -90 to 0 days before BCG induction and >180 days after BCG induction were not found to be predictive of recurrence when considering these clinicopathological criteria (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Limitations

Prior research by Tazeh et al [29] suggests that race-specific differences should be considered when interpreting the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio at the time of TUR. However, the study population lacks sufficient diversity to thoroughly investigate this finding [29]. As only data from one health system were included, these statistics may not generalize elsewhere without adaptation to the local institution's EHR. The disadvantage of a retrospective cohort design is that data may be incomplete or inadequately captured in the available medical record data [30]. For example, BCG dose information was scarce in these data because only a portion of the records was associated with pharmaceutical records, and the proportion of patients with a known lower dose (eg, a one-third dose) was too small for a subgroup analysis to be performed. Outside of a clinical trial, it is unlikely that missing data would be collected more frequently in future clinical workflows without changes to meaningful use requirements or documentation guidelines; thus, the statistics are more robust when applied to typical clinical environments. The consumption of steroids or the presence of an infection or thromboembolism, any of which may affect the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, were not considered in this study. Smoking status, which has been shown to predict recurrence [31,32], was also not considered because our retrospective data lacked completeness and granularity of smoking status.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25800

Conclusions

In patients with intermediate- or high-risk NMIBC who received BCG, the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio measured between +1 and 180 days after BCG instillation was predictive of subsequent BCG failure. In conjunction with existing risk stratification scores such as the CUETO score, the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte

ratio could be used to predict BCG failure. Patients at increased risk for BCG failure could undergo additional surveillance, receiving maintenance intravesical chemotherapy instead of BCG, thereby preserving limited BCG supplies, or be considered for timely cystectomy. Additional retrospective and prospective studies are needed to validate these findings.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Advocate Aurora Oncology award. Mary Kissinger and Lisa Robinson, Advocate Aurora Health Care Cancer Registry, and Advocate Aurora Research Institute Research Analytics assisted with data extraction. Glenn Allen reviewed the data. The authors acknowledge the significant efforts of Lorene Schweig for copyediting and manuscript formatting.

Authors' Contributions

All authors provided substantial contributions to the conception and design of this work, its data analysis and interpretation, and helped draft and revise the manuscript. All authors are accountable for the integrity of this study. JP, JW, and K Ravvaz had access to all of the data. TD and K Richards did not have access to the data.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Additional statistical analysis at different time points. [DOCX File, 78 KB - cancer v7i2e25800 app1.docx]

References

- Mostafid AH, Redorta JP, Sylvester R, Witjes JA. Therapeutic options in high-risk non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer during the current worldwide shortage of bacille Calmette-Guérin. Eur Urol 2015 Mar;67(3):359-360. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eururo.2014.11.031</u>] [Medline: <u>25442053</u>]
- 2. Abufaraj M, Mostafid H, Shariat SF, Babjuk M. What to do during Bacillus Calmette-Guérin shortage? Valid strategies based on evidence. Curr Opin Urol 2018 Nov;28(6):570-576. [doi: 10.1097/MOU.00000000000544] [Medline: 30138122]
- Khanna A, Yerram N, Zhu H, Kim S, Abouassaly R. Utilization of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin for nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer in an era of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin supply shortages. Urology 2019 Feb;124:120-126. [doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2018.07.055] [Medline: 30219556]
- 4. Svatek RS, Hollenbeck BK, Holmäng S, Lee R, Kim SP, Stenzl A, et al. The economics of bladder cancer: costs and considerations of caring for this disease. Eur Urol 2014 Aug;66(2):253-262. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2014.01.006] [Medline: 24472711]
- 5. Zlotta AR, Fleshner NE, Jewett MA. The management of BCG failure in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: an update. Can Urol Assoc J 2009 Dec 01;3(6 Suppl 4):199-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5489/cuaj.1196] [Medline: 20019985]
- Mukherjee N, Wheeler KM, Svatek RS. Bacillus Calmette-Guérin treatment of bladder cancer: a systematic review and commentary on recent publications. Curr Opin Urol 2019 May;29(3):181-188. [doi: <u>10.1097/MOU.000000000000595</u>] [Medline: <u>30762672</u>]
- 7. Brausi M, Oddens J, Sylvester R, Bono A, van de Beek C, van Andel G, et al. Side effects of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) in the treatment of intermediate- and high-risk Ta, T1 papillary carcinoma of the bladder: results of the EORTC genito-urinary cancers group randomised phase 3 study comparing one-third dose with full dose and 1 year with 3 years of maintenance BCG. Eur Urol 2014 Jan;65(1):69-76. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2013.07.021] [Medline: 23910233]
- Liu Y, Lu J, Huang Y, Ma L. Clinical spectrum of complications induced by intravesical immunotherapy of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin for bladder cancer. J Oncol 2019 Mar 10;2019:6230409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2019/6230409] [Medline: 30984262]
- Alameddine M, Kineish O, Ritch C. Predicting response to intravesical therapy in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. Eur Urol Focus 2018 Jul;4(4):494-502. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.euf.2018.07.032</u>] [Medline: <u>30098938</u>]
- Zamboni S, Moschini M, Simeone C, Antonelli A, Mattei A, Baumeister P, et al. Prediction tools in non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. Transl Androl Urol 2019 Feb;8(1):39-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.21037/tau.2019.01.15</u>] [Medline: <u>30976567</u>]

RenderX

- Xylinas E, Kent M, Kluth L, Pycha A, Comploj E, Svatek RS, et al. Accuracy of the EORTC risk tables and of the CUETO scoring model to predict outcomes in non-muscle-invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. Br J Cancer 2013 Sep 17;109(6):1460-1466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.372] [Medline: 23982601]
- 12. Vedder MM, Márquez M, de Bekker-Grob EW, Calle ML, Dyrskjøt L, Kogevinas M, et al. Risk prediction scores for recurrence and progression of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer: an international validation in primary tumours. PLoS One 2014 Jun 6;9(6):e96849 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0096849] [Medline: 24905984]
- Joshua JM, Vijayan M, Pooleri GK. A retrospective analysis of patients treated with intravesical BCG for high-risk nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. Ther Adv Urol 2019 Mar 05;11:1756287219833056 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1756287219833056] [Medline: 30858894]
- 14. Ferro M, Vartolomei MD, Russo GI, Cantiello F, Farhan AR, Terracciano D, et al. An increased body mass index is associated with a worse prognosis in patients administered BCG immunotherapy for T1 bladder cancer. World J Urol 2019 Mar 10;37(3):507-514. [doi: 10.1007/s00345-018-2397-1] [Medline: 29992381]
- Vartolomei MD, Ferro M, Cantiello F, Lucarelli G, Di Stasi S, Hurle R, et al. Validation of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in a multi-institutional cohort of patients with T1G3 non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. Clin Genitourin Cancer 2018 Dec;16(6):445-452. [doi: 10.1016/j.clgc.2018.07.003] [Medline: 30077463]
- Lenis AT, Asanad K, Blaibel M, Donin NM, Chamie K. Association between metabolic syndrome and recurrence of nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer following Bacillus Calmette-Guérin treatment. Urol Pract 2018 Mar;5(2):132-138
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.urpr.2017.02.012] [Medline: 29577063]
- 17. Ravvaz K, Walz ME, Weissert JA, Downs TM. Predicting nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer recurrence and progression in a United States population. J Urol 2017 Oct;198(4):824-831. [doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2017.04.077] [Medline: 28433642]
- Amin M, Greene F, Edge S, Compton C, Gershenwald J, Brookland R, et al. The Eighth Edition AJCC Cancer Staging Manual: continuing to build a bridge from a population-based to a more "personalized" approach to cancer staging. CA Cancer J Clin 2017 Mar;67(2):93-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21388] [Medline: 28094848]
- 19. Oosterlinck W, Decaestecker K. Managing the adverse events of intravesical Bacillus Calmette–Guérin therapy. Res Rep Urol 2015 Oct:157. [doi: 10.2147/rru.s63448]
- 20. Rayn K, Hale G, Grave G, Agarwal P. New therapies in nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer treatment. Indian J Urol 2018;34(1):11. [doi: <u>10.4103/iju.iju_296_17</u>]
- 21. Ferro M, Katalin MO, Buonerba C, Marian R, Cantiello F, Musi G, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus predicts worse outcomes in patients with high-grade T1 bladder cancer receiving bacillus Calmette-Guérin after transurethral resection of the bladder tumor. Urol Oncol 2020 May;38(5):459-464. [doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2020.02.016] [Medline: 32173242]
- Chang SS, Boorjian SA, Chou R, Clark PE, Daneshmand S, Konety BR, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer: AUA/SUO guideline. J Urol 2016 Oct;196(4):1021-1029. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.juro.2016.06.049</u>] [Medline: <u>27317986</u>]
- 23. Fernandez-Gomez J, Madero R, Solsona E, Unda M, Martinez-Piñeiro L, Gonzalez M, et al. Predicting nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer recurrence and progression in patients treated with Bacillus Calmette-Guerin: the CUETO scoring model. J Urol 2009 Nov;182(5):2195-2203. [doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2009.07.016] [Medline: 19758621]
- Martini T, Wezel F, Löbig N, Mitterberger M, Colleselli D. [Systematic review on conservative treatment options in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer patients refractory to Bacillus Calmette-Guérin instillation therapy]. Aktuelle Urol 2017 Aug 13;48(4):314-328. [doi: 10.1055/s-0043-108944] [Medline: 28609792]
- Peyton CC, Chipollini J, Azizi M, Kamat AM, Gilbert SM, Spiess PE. Updates on the use of intravesical therapies for non-muscle invasive bladder cancer: how, when and what. World J Urol 2019 Oct;37(10):2017-2029. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00345-018-2591-1</u>] [Medline: <u>30535583</u>]
- 26. Kamat AM, Sylvester RJ, Böhle A, Palou J, Lamm DL, Brausi M, et al. Definitions, end points, and clinical trial designs for non–muscle-invasive bladder cancer: recommendations from the international bladder cancer group. J Clin Oncol 2016 Jun 01;34(16):1935-1944. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2015.64.4070]
- 27. Herr HW, Milan TN, Dalbagni G. BCG-refractory vs. BCG-relapsing non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: a prospective cohort outcomes study. Urol Oncol 2015 Mar;33(3):1-4. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.02.020</u>] [Medline: <u>25813144</u>]
- Davies BJ, Hwang TJ, Kesselheim AS. Ensuring access to injectable generic drugs the case of intravesical BCG for bladder cancer. N Engl J Med 2017 Apr 13;376(15):1401-1403. [doi: 10.1056/nejmp1615697]
- 29. Tazeh NN, Canter DJ, Damodaran S, Rushmer T, Richards KA, Abel EJ, et al. Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio (NLR) at the time of transurethral resection of bladder tumor: a large retrospective study and analysis of racial differences. Bladder Cancer 2017 Apr 27;3(2):89-94. [doi: 10.3233/blc-160085]
- 30. Portney L, Watkins M. Foundations of Clinical Research: Applications to Practice. New York: Pearson; 2007:1-912.
- Rink M, Xylinas E, Babjuk M, Hansen J, Pycha A, Comploj E, et al. Impact of smoking on outcomes of patients with a history of recurrent nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. J Urol 2012 Dec;188(6):2120-2127. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.juro.2012.08.029</u>] [Medline: <u>23083868</u>]
- Grotenhuis AJ, Ebben CW, Aben KK, Witjes JA, Vrieling A, Vermeulen SH, et al. The effect of smoking and timing of smoking cessation on clinical outcome in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. Urol Oncol 2015 Mar;33(2):9-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.06.002] [Medline: 25023787]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25800

RenderX

Abbreviations

AUA: American Urological Association BCG: bacillus Calmette-Guérin CIS: carcinoma in situ CUETO: Club Urológico Español de Tratamiento Oncológico EHR: electronic health record IRB: institutional review board NMIBC: non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer TUR: transurethral resection of a bladder tumor

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 16.11.20; peer-reviewed by M Racioppi; comments to author 13.03.21; revised version received 25.03.21; accepted 28.03.21; published 22.06.21.

Please cite as:

Plasek J, Weissert J, Downs T, Richards K, Ravvaz K Clinicopathological Criteria Predictive of Recurrence Following Bacillus Calmette-Guérin Therapy Initiation in Non–Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer: Retrospective Cohort Study JMIR Cancer 2021;7(2):e25800 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2021/2/e25800 doi:10.2196/25800 PMID:34156341

©Joseph Plasek, John Weissert, Tracy Downs, Kyle Richards, Kourosh Ravvaz. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 22.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

